
 

 

 

 

  
Notice of Meeting: 

Council 
 

Meeting Location:  Council Chamber, Ealing Town Hall, New 
Broadway, Ealing W5 2BY 
 

   
Date and Time:  Wednesday, 8 March 2023 at 7.00 pm 

 
   

Contact for Enquiries:  Email: democraticservices@ealing.gov.uk 
 
Telephone: 020 8825 6253 
 

   
Chief Executive:  Tony Clements 

 
 

 
This meeting will be held in public. If you would like attend in person and 

have any special requirements in order to attend, please email 
democraticservices@ealing.gov.uk or telephone on 020 8825 6253 at least 

three clear working days in advance wherever possible. 
 
 

 
 
Committee Membership: Councillors 
 
M Ahmed, S Ahmed, J Anand, P Anand, J Ball, J Blacker, G Busuttil, J Gallant, 
K Sahota, K Bains, C Anderson, T Sidhu, B Rai, R Dheer, B Mahfouz, C Summers, 
L Brett, D Crawford, A Young, P Driscoll, V Alexander, Y Gordon, H Haili, M Hamidi, 
B Hashani, C Hersch, M Iqbal, A Jammu, S Jassal, Y Johnson, H Kaur Dheer, 
A Kelly, S Khan, I Kingston, P Knewstub, S Kohli, S Kumar, K Dhindsa, T Mahmood, 
G Malcolm, S Manro, D Martin, J Martin, P Mason, M Midha (Mayor), F Mohamed, 
K Mohan, G Murtaza, K K Nagpal, K Nagpal, I Nijhar, S Padda, G Quansah, F Conti, 
A Raza, M Rice, R Baaklini, C Sharma, G Shaw, D Costigan, G Stafford, A Steed, 
K Crawford, H Tailor (Deputy Mayor), C Tighe, L Wall, R Wall, B Wesson, S Donnelly 
and A Zissimos 

 
 

 

Public Document Pack

Page 1



 

 

AGENDA 
  
1   Apologies for Absence and Attendance 

 
 

 
2   Declarations of Interest 

 
 

 
3   Minutes of the Meeting held on 13 December 2022 

 
To approve as a correct record the minutes of the 
meeting held on 13 December 2022. 
 

(Pages 5 - 20) 

 
4   Mayor's Announcements 

 
 

 
5   Petitions from Members of the Public 

 
 

 
6   Petitions from Members of the Council 

 
 

 
7   Questions from Members of the Public 

 
Notice has been given that Joe Stean wishes to ask the 
following question of Councillor Deirdre Costigan, 
Deputy Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for 
Climate Action: 

  
Will Ealing council follow in the wake of 
other councils and support Electronic 
Vehicle adoption by allowing residents to run a 
3cm buried cable channel across the pavement? 
This will: 
  

       Mitigate health and safety objections 
       Avoid utilities as it will only need to be 

depth of charging cable (3cm) 
       Be aesthetically pleasing / consistent with 

existing channels in Ealing 
       And crucially, allow residents to charge 

from home 
  
  
 

 

 
8   Questions from Members of the Council 

 
(Pages 21 - 22) 

 
9   2023-24 Budget Strategy and Council Tax 

Resolution 
 

(Pages 23 - 282) 

 
10   2023-24 Members Allowances Scheme 

 
(Pages 283 - 

312)  
11   2023-24 Pay Policy Statement 

 
(Pages 313 - 

356)  

Page 2



 

 

12   Appointments to Committees and Other Bodies 
 

 
 
13   Urgent Key Decisions Exempted from Call-in 

 
There were no urgent key decisions exempted from call-
in since the last Council meeting. 
  
 

 

 
Published: Tuesday, 28 February 2023 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Minutes of the meeting of the Council 
 
Date: Tuesday, 13 December 2022 
 
Venue: Council Chamber, Ealing Town Hall, New Broadway, Ealing W5 

2BY 
 
Attendees (in person): Councillors  
 
M Midha (Mayor)M Ahmed, J Anand, P Anand, J Ball, J Blacker, G Busuttil, J Gallant, 
K Sahota, C Anderson, T Sidhu, B Rai, R Dheer, B Mahfouz, L Brett, A Young, 
P Driscoll, V Alexander, Y Gordon, H Haili, M Hamidi, B Hashani, C Hersch, 
A Jammu, S Jassal, Y Johnson, H Kaur Dheer, A Kelly, I Kingston, P Knewstub, 
S Kohli, S Kumar, K Dhindsa, T Mahmood, G Malcolm, S Manro, J Martin, P Mason, 
F Mohamed, K Mohan, K K Nagpal, S Padda, G Quansah, F Conti, A Raza, M Rice, 
R Baaklini, C Sharma, G Shaw, D Costigan, G Stafford, A Steed, K Crawford, 
C Tighe, L Wall, R Wall, B Wesson, S Donnelly and A Zissimos 
 
Apologies: 
 
S Ahmed, D Crawford, M Iqbal, S Khan, G Murtaza and H Tailor (Deputy Mayor) 
  
1 Apologies for Absence and Attendance 

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Alexander, D 
Crawford, Khan, S Ahmed, Iqbal, Murtaza and Tailor. 
  
Councillors Summers, D Martin, Bains, Kim Nagpal and Nijhar were in 
attendance virtually. 
  
  

2 Dispensations 
 
There were no dispensations required. 
  
  

3 Declarations of Interest 
 
Councillor Busuttil declared that he was a housing association tenant but that 
he did not consider this a pecuniary interest and would therefore participate in 
the Opposition Group motion for debate. 
  
  

4 Minutes of the Meeting held on 1 November 2022 
 
RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meeting held on 1 November 2022 are 
approved as a correct record of proceedings. 
  
  

5 Mayor's Announcements 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



 

 

 
The Mayor updated Council on important civic events and occasions. Council 
noted that: 
  

       Councillor Sahota was congratulated on the naming of her baby boy 
who had been born in October. 
  

       The Mayor had attended many Christmas events, and had enjoyed 
helping to decorate the Christmas tree in Southall. 
  

       The Mayor was holding a fundraising dinner at Royal Nawaab in 
January and asked Councillors to consider attending. 
  

       It was noted that it had been Guru Nanak’s birthday in November and 
the Mayor hoped everyone would have a happy Christmas. 

  
  

6 Petitions from Members of the Public 
 
There were no petitions from members of the public. 
  
  

7 Petitions from Members of the Council 
 
There were no petitions from members of the Council. 
  
  

8 Questions from Members of the Public 
 
There were no questions from members of the public. 
  
  

9 Questions from Members of the Council 
 
Councillor Tighe asked Councillor Costigan: 
  

Can the portfolio holder outline how the draft Local Plan, out for 
consultation right now, will help to meet our manifesto 
commitments/Council Plan commitments? 

  
Councillor Costigan responded: 
  

The mission of Ealing’s new administration is simple: we want to 
ensure every family has a decent living income and can afford a 
genuinely affordable home. That everyone can live a long, happy and 
healthy life, in communities full of pride and identity. Where every child 
can reach their potential and achieve their dreams. This is why our 
Council Plan has three cross-cutting core themes: ‘tackling the climate 
crisis’, ‘fighting inequality’, and ‘creating good jobs and growth’. 
  

Page 6



 

 

Our draft Local Plan, currently out to consultation with residents and 
stakeholders, is just one mechanism to realising these bold ambitious 
but our core values are reinforced throughout the document. It 
provides a platform enabling a new conversation with our communities 
on how our towns, neighbourhoods, and their local economies grow 
and evolve. It is also a key tool in addressing the many challenges we 
face as a borough, as well as unlocking its many opportunities/ 
Consequently, it must be underpinned by a strong set of values, 
underpinned by those in the Council Plan, that are well understood and 
relevant to the everyday lives of our residents, businesses and those 
who visit the borough to study, work or socialise. 
  
Practically, the Spatial Strategy of the draft new Local Plan (outlined in 
Chapter 3 of the document) demonstrates how the nine Priorities of the 
Council Plan are integrated within the four strategic policies. 
  
Ultimately the Local Plan will help inform and shape decisions taken by 
the council, developers, landowners and others about new homes, 
infrastructure, tackling climate change, creating good jobs and how we 
address health and inequalities in the Ealing. The Local Plan, like our 
Council Plan, belongs to everyone, and will help shape Ealing for the 
better over the next 15 years. 

  
Councillor Ball asked Councillor Costigan: 
  

Can the portfolio holder please outline proposals for the 
pedestrianisation of Bond Street, High Street and/or Springbridge 
Road and advise what consultation and feasibility work has taken 
place on them so far? 

  
Councillor Costigan responded: 
  

There are no plans to pedestrianize Bond Street, High Street or 
Springbridge Road.  

  
I am aware of an article appearing in a couple of local media outlets 
which discusses a recent meeting of the Local Development Plan 
Advisory Committee and a report on the Local Plan’s Transport Topic 
Paper. 
  
Unfortunately, this article does not fully capture what is contained in 
the transport topic paper, nor does it capture the subsequent 
discussion that was had at the meeting. Cllr Ball was actually present 
at this meeting, and he will recall this. 
  
The transport topic paper contains the title “Pedestrianisation of High 
Streets” as a heading for potential transport interventions. Cllr Ball will 
also recall that this was one potential transport intervention discussed 
out of many options, including “traffic calming, reducing the number of 
lanes and widening pavements, timed restrictions, restrictions on 

Page 7



 

 

general traffic (bus and taxi only) or full pedestrianisation”. These were 
unfortunately also not included in the media report. 
  
The idea comes from an old bid that we submitted in the previous 
Council term to Transport for London for a Liveable Neighbourhood for 
Ealing Town Centre, which contained a previous objective to 
significantly improve pedestrian facilities, flexible space and improving 
links to the green spaces from the town centre. However, due to 
COVID, the Liveable Neighbourhood fund was, and remains 
suspended and there have been no new rounds of funding from TfL. 
   
As outlined in our recently published Travel in Ealing Charter that was 
developed following extensive consultation with local people, we’re 
committed to being open, transparent, and inclusive in how we engage 
with local people, including on transport and active travel projects.  

  
We’re determined to ensure that the decision-making processes for 
future transport proposals enable participation by as many people as 
possible from all ages, backgrounds and circumstances. 
  
This is because we also know that schemes will be all the better with 
local input. When they command the support of residents, when 
everyone has had the opportunity to shape and influence decisions, 
and we’ve all made the necessary compromises we need to make to 
live in sustainable and cohesive communities. 

  
Councillor Gallant asked Councillor Costigan: 
  

Given the rising cost of energy due to the war in Ukraine, will the 
Council not follow the example of numerous other local authorities and 
augment the monthly grant payments to Ealing families that continue to 
host Ukrainians on the Homes for Ukraine scheme? 

  
Councillor Costigan responded: 
  

Here in Ealing we have a long and proud history of supporting 
refugees. To date, we have welcomed over 400 guests under the 
Homes for Ukraine scheme and given hosts £297,000 in ‘thank you’ 
payments. 
  
As you will well be aware, Cllr Gallant, the support offered to Ukrainian 
families under the Governments ‘Homes for Ukraine’ scheme was 
mise. 
  
Under the so-called ‘phased approach’ we saw the website crash 
within a matter of minutes; Ukrainian families bogged down with 50-
page applications in a sea of bureaucracy; a scheme that offered no 
plan B for refugees if their accommodation arrangements fell apart; 
and a scheme that gave no security or certainty for the future after 
those first six months. 

Page 8



 

 

  
So, I must say I find it rich, Madam Mayor, that this evening Cllr Gallant 
would ask such a question that implies that Ealing Labour does not 
support Ukrainian refugees adequately when his own party have failed 
to support them, their hosts, and families across the country in the Tory 
made cost-of-living crisis. 
  
To directly support hosts for Ukrainians, we are increasing the financial 
support we provide to hosts so that they can continue to keep their 
guests, in safe accommodation, and help them in the face of the cost-
of-living and energy crisis pressures. 
  
If a host has one refugee, they will receive an additional £50 extra per 
month, on top of their £350 monthly ‘thank you’ payment. If they have 2 
refugees, they will get an extra £150 per month. And for every 
additional person hosted, an extra £100 will be given to the host. 
  
As home to the second-largest Ukrainian population in London, we are 
more than willing to play our part and offer more than just words of 
encouragement. These payments will be delivered to host households 
in the next month, and are part of our commitment to support refugees, 
our kind residents who home them and people everywhere that 
everyone is welcome here in Ealing. 

  
Councillor Kingston asked Councillor Donnelly: 
  

Can the portfolio holder outline what the Government’s Autumn 
Statement means for Londoners and for local Government? 

  
Councillor Donnelly responded: 
  

Unfortunately, and yet unsurprisingly, the Government’s autumn 
statement will make things worse for many Londoners, and it has 
certainly not made things better for local Government. 
  
Whilst the allocations for individual boroughs won’t be known until the 
provisional local government settlement that is expected next week, 
the autumn statement confirmed that Council budgets would be 
maintained in line with the budgets set out at the Spending Review in 
2022. This means a real terms cuts in funding for Councils with 
inflation running at 11.1%. 
  
The subtext of this is clear – the Government expects Councils to 
make efficiencies to manage inflationary pressures. 
  
After twelve years of Tory rule, having our budgets slashed is 
becoming the norm. However, the autumn statement could have been 
a real opportunity for the Government to work in partnership with local 
councils to tackle the serious challenges that we face as a city. 
  

Page 9



 

 

For instance, the Government provided more, welcome funding to the 
NHS. However, this was not matched with more funding for public 
health budgets in Councils. Considering that the years have taught us 
that Councils are key in public health and inequality can both 
exacerbate existing health challenges, it seems like a real oversight – 
or punishment – to not provide Councils with the resource that we 
would need to support the NHS. 
  
Furthermore, whilst the Government did announce additional funding 
for social care, this falls significantly short of pressures facing our 
services. Instead, the Government expect us to meet these pressures 
by relying on council tax and the social care precept. I don’t know why 
the penny hasn’t yet dropped for the Government – Council Tax 
increases imposed on Councils should not be the solution to social 
care funding. What we need is a sustainable, guaranteed funding level 
for the future, and Council Tax rises do not provide this. 
  
Local Councils, as the last few years have proved, are the fabric of this 
country. And in Ealing, like with Councils across London, we are going 
to continue to do all we can to deliver for our residents, who need our 
services more than ever. London faces enormous challenges, and 
Councils are key to this. It is deeply disappointing that the Government 
chooses to punish us instead of working together in what is one of the 
toughest climates in living memory. 

  
Councillor Malcolm asked Councillor Costigan: 
  

Thank you, Cllr Malcolm, for your question. It’s great that instead of 
using this opportunity to ask about what Ealing Council is doing on 
flooding management, you instead want to ask about what an entirely 
different borough is doing. 

  
However, I’d like to be clear that, at Ealing Council, we’re committed to 
tackling the climate crisis and becoming more resilient to flooding risk.  
In direct response to Councillor Malcolm’s question, Ealing will be 
engaging with Richmond Council with regards to the flooding sensors 
trial. 
  
But, as I’m sure that Councillor Malcolm will appreciate, it is more 
important than ever that we are delivering value for money for 
residents and businesses. So we will be waiting for any outcomes and 
recommendations from the trial study so that make an informed 
decision with regards to implementing an appropriate solution to 
flooding that works for our borough. 
  
The Liberal Democrats will also be pleased to know that we also 
already have several facilities in place to identify high risk flooding and 
prevent it. 
  
We know that as the climate crisis worsens, it is more important than 

Page 10



 

 

ever that we get this right – which is why there is already significant 
resource in Ealing Council allocated to making sure we mitigate the 
risk of flooding. 
  
Firstly, our officers are continuously working to identify high-risk 
flooding locations, using a combination of our flood studies and our 
own knowledge of historical flooding sites.  
  
We have also delivered a number of sustainable drainage schemes in 
areas such as North Acton Square, Greenford Gurnell Greenway, 
Hanwell Station and Acton Mainline Station, and we’re programming 
delivery of more sustainable drainage schemes in Deans Gardens 
SuDS, Baron’s Pond, Belvue SuDS Project, Glade Lane, etc. in the 
coming months. 
  
In addition, we have undertaken a gully trial to provide a risk-based 
approach to monitoring and maintaining our gullies. The objective of 
the trial is to develop a more targeted approach to gully cleansing that 
delivers appropriate and sustainable service levels as well as build a 
forward plan and annual program of maintenance and replacement 
based on hierarchy and risk. 
  
We also work in partnership with our highway maintenance contractors 
to inspect high risk flood sites, as well as coordinating and working 
collaboratively with other high risk management authorities such as 
Thames Water.  
  
In the future, we’re also looking to work together with the management 
of the Metropolitan Business Park in Greenford to see if we can deploy 
flood sensors there. These would be connected radar-based depth 
sensors, which would help us better understand where there is sewer 
capacity being exceeded and a risk of flooding.  
  
In 2019, we declared a Climate Emergency as this is one of the 
biggest issues affecting our borough and beyond. Tackling flooding as 
it becomes more and more frequent is part of our strategy to mitigate 
the worst effects of climate change and ensure that we have a more 
sustainable, fairer borough. 

  
Councillor Gordon asked Councillor Kamaljit Kaur Nagpal: 
  

Can the portfolio holder update members on the outcome of the  
recent Ofsted inspection on Ealing’s Children’s Services? 

  
Councillor Kamaljit Kaur Nagpal responded: 
  

In October, we received a two-day focussed visit from Ofsted, which 
looked at our ‘front door’ arrangements, which is the point where local 
authorities, alongside other agencies, consider and respond to 
referrals relating to children who may be in need or at risk of harm. 

Page 11



 

 

  
I am pleased to update you that the council’s hard work, perseverance, 
and dedication have not gone unnoticed! 
  
We have been credited for an improved service, that provides good 
quality, a clear focus, timely responses to referrals and a well-
developed response to support the most vulnerable families and young 
people. 
  
Our comprehensive early help offer was singled out, for providing 
children and families with access to a range of targeted and accessible 
services. Alongside, including and tailoring our approach based on the 
unique identity and cultural needs of the children and families, which 
can be too often side-lined. 
  
The levels of inventions we provide were deemed appropriate and 
‘well-embedded in practice’, so much so that when immediate risks to 
children are identified the response is swift and effective. 
  
The support offered to children with health conditions or impairments 
was recognised as detailed and thorough, as we include both their 
needs, with the impact of their relationships with their immediate 
family, as part of our wrap-around support. 
  
Our schools were also in praise of our service, stating that the service 
has helped them to build stronger relationships with parents and it has 
enabled them to work together to support their children.  
Which is fantastic! 
  
I am delighted that the hard work, dedication, and vital service that we 
provide in supporting our most vulnerable young people and their 
families during sensitive and challenging times has been recognised by 
Ofsted. 
  
This Labour council works tirelessly to offer wrap-around support to 
those who need it. Our service, as the inspector said, has improved 
significantly, but we are not taking our foot off the pedal madam mayor, 
not until every young person in Ealing has the chance to reach their full 
potential. We will continue to work with them, for them. 

  
Councillor Hashani asked Councillor Mahfouz: 
  

Can the portfolio holder give an update on the commitment to provide  
10,000 new jobs? 

  
Councillor Mahfouz responded: 
  

As you know, we set ourselves an ambitious target to secure and 
deliver 10,000 good new jobs to people in Ealing. We were very clear 
in our commitment, that we wanted to support local businesses, 

Page 12



 

 

address the obstacles for residents in securing good work and support 
people into jobs that provided a decent living income.  
And I am so proud of the work we have already achieved just a few 
months in. 
  
To date we have delivered 6 jobs fairs, engaging over 1,200 residents 
this year. We have provided 55 apprenticeships, as well as expanding 
our youth offer to support people in to employment, education, or 
training. We have launched Southall Manor House, the Creative 
Enterprise Zone in Park Royal and the Forge which all support 
businesses and residents alike through recruitment, upskilling and 
wrap-around support. We have delivered over 1,5000 new 
qualifications and training programmes for people wanting to upskill. 
We have launched new learning zones at our community hubs in 
Northolt and Southall and are delivering our Digital Inclusion project to 
240 unemployed residents to help them into work. 
  
And as of September, over 1,100 new jobs have already been 
delivered! 
  
That is over a thousand residents, who have been supported, listened 
to, and had their lives changed by a Labour council that cares. 
  
To give you an example, we have a care leaver in Ealing, who studied 
at Birmingham University. They wanted to find a placement or 
internship that would support their career in finance, but faced with 
barrier after barrier, he was supported by one of our youth advisers. 
They got them a job in Pret, and as they looked for a placement, they 
helped them develop their CV, forwarded them a range of 
opportunities, and got them an interview with the Crown Estate!  
  
Their interview, following dedicated support, preparation, and practice 
from the youth advisor, was a resounding success and the care leaver 
received a contract with the Crown Estate and will go on to achieve 
amazing things. 
  
Stories like this are why Ealing Labour was elected for a fourth 
historical term with its largest mandate. Stories like this show the 
importance of working with residents. Stories like this show how much 
Ealing Labour cares and how dedicated we truly are in supporting our 
residents. 

  
10 Opposition Group Motion for Debate 

 
Councillor Ball moved, and Councillor Busuttil seconded, the Opposition 
motion for debate. 
  
Councillors L Wall, Manro, Stafford, Brett, Driscoll, Gallant, Kamaljit Kaur 
Nagpal, Rice, J Anand, Johnson and Donnelly responded to the motion. 
  

Page 13



 

 

Councillor L Wall moved, and Councillor Manro seconded, and amendment to 
the motion. 
  
A vote was taken and the amendment was carried. 
  
A vote was taken on the substantive motion and it was  
  
RESOLVED: That 
  
Ealing Council notes: 
  

       Many Ealing residents live in rented properties or properties managed 
by Housing Associations.  

       As the Government continues to fail to fund social housebuilding, 
Housing Associations have grown in number and their stock has vastly 
increased.   

       Councillors are aware of issues in private rented properties as well as 
within buildings managed by Housing Associations and that the four 
years during which a Conservative Government imposed a 1% social 
rent cut on Housing Associations have inevitably taken their toll.  

       Nationally, tenant engagement and involvement has been withdrawn 
by Government. This means that communication between tenants and 
Housing Associations can be poor, resulting in long periods of time 
passing before issues are identified and resolved. 

       The Homes Act (2018) does not give local authorities enough resource 
to take adequate enforcement action against social housing providers 
who are not fulfilling obligations to their tenants and leaseholders, 
tenants and shared owners can often feel their concerns are ignored.   

       Building repairs identified in individual homes and communal areas 
should be identified and resolved in a timely manner but, similarly to 
local authorities, social housing providers have been hit with 16% 
annual inflation in repairs and maintenance costs meaning that these 
repairs can take unacceptably long to rectify.  

  
Ealing Council believes that: 
  

       The Government must legislate to ensure that Housing Associations 
are properly resourced to deliver for their tenants, some of whom are 
vulnerable and have specific housing and care needs.  

       That Housing Associations have both a legal and moral duty to ensure 
that their tenants’ needs are met and all issues are addressed in a 
timely manner. 

 While we recognise that there are many social landlords who could do 
better when it comes to repairs and maintenance, social landlords do 
not operate in a vacuum and have been impacted by years of under-
funding, Brexit, the impact of COVID-19 as well the failure of the 
Government to build new socially let homes. 

 As a direct result of the coalition Government’s closure of the Tenant 
Services Authority in 2012 and National Tenant Voice in 2010, it can 
be difficult for some tenants to make and escalate complaints when 

Page 14



 

 

issues persist and are left unresolved as it is hard to know who is 
responsible for different issues that arise. 

 The Government must do more to address the crisis in social 
housebuilding and the funding crisis for local authorities which is 
impacting social housing. 

 There is a greater systemic issue of unfit housing in the private rented 
sector, which Ealing Council is working to rectify through campaigning 
for the powers we need to extend our landlord licensing scheme 
across 100% of the borough, to ensure we put an end to rogue slum 
landlords taking advantage of tenants (Council Plan 2022) 

  
Ealing Council resolves to: 
  

1.     Campaign to strengthen proposals in the Social Housing (Regulation) 
Bill so that residents who are currently experiencing issues with their 
Housing Association have greater protection. 
  

2.     Continue to signpost residents to their specific Housing Association 
officer who would be best placed to help resolve ongoing issues in 
their homes or communal spaces in their building. 
  

3.     Continue our planned roundtables with all registered Housing 
Associations which have stock in Ealing in order for a frank and open 
conversation to take place between Councillors, officers and 
representatives from Housing Associations about how we can work 
collaboratively to maximise the delivery of much needed safe, 
sustainable and genuinely affordable homes in the borough and 
maintain existing stock to high standards. 
  

4.     Campaign for greater enforcement and regulatory powers to Councils 
can work constructively with Housing Associations which have 
significant issues and take action when needed, particularly those 
which do not address building defects within their existing stock. 
  

5.     Ensure that our community safety continues to work with Housing 
Associations to protect their tenants from anti-social behaviour.  

  
6.   Continue to support local people in holding their Housing Association 

to account by seeking to democratise the relationship between tenant 
and Housing Association through campaigning to reinstate 
organisations like the Tenants Services Authority and National Tenants 
Voice that were taken away by the coalition government, as well as 
continuing to ask housing associations to offer lifetime tenancies for 
their tenants. This will allow residents and their families to benefit from 
security of tenure as, for example, tenants will not occupy in unsuitable 
accommodation to retain their security of tenure (Tenancy Strategy 
2021). 

  
11 Majority Group Motion for Debate 

 

Page 15



 

 

Councillor Blacker proposed, and Councillor Mason seconded, the majority 
group motion for debate. 
 
 
Councillors Steed, Raza, Mohammed, Conti, Rai, Wesson, Malcolm, 
Mahfouz, Baaklini, Gallant, Shaw and Stafford responded to the motion. 
  
RESOLVED: That 
  
This Council recognises that Accident and Emergency Departments across 
the country are facing huge pressures. We are proud to have saved the A&E 
department at Ealing Hospital from closure. 
  
A decade of Tory Mismanagement and broken promises about no more top-
down NHS reorganisations led former Culture Secretary, Nadine Dorries, to 
admit that the health service was found “wanting and inadequate” when the 
pandemic struck. As a result, this Council notes that recent figures from the 
NHS reveal that 7,953 people had to wait more than four hours for emergency 
care at A&Es in Northwest London University Healthcare Trust including at 
Ealing Hospital. 
  
Shockingly, 372 people locally had to wait more than 12 hours to be admitted 
to accident and emergency. Just 73% of patients admitted to A&E in North 
West London were seen within 4 hours – the NHS says that 95% of patients 
should be admitted, transferred, or discharged in that time. 
  
There are now also 6.73 million people on the NHS waiting list in England as 
of June 2022. This is the highest ever recorded. At the outbreak of the Covid 
pandemic, following a decade of Tory mismanagement there were 4.4 million 
people on the NHS waiting list in England, then a record high. Nationally, the 
standard of 92% of people seen within 18 weeks of a referral has not been 
met since 2016. Now, 1 in every 9 people in England are on the NHS waiting 
list. 
  
Our hard-working local NHS staff are making preparations for winter and are 
expanding home settlement capacity, making space for 32 additional beds at 
hospital sites across Ealing and increasing staffing across medical, nursing, 
therapies, diagnostic and support services. However, thanks to the effects of 
inflation, the NHS is already facing a £7billion shortfall in its budget this year. 
The Autumn Statement doesn’t even cover half of the deficit and offers no 
respite for a chronically overstretched health and care service. It is clear that 
the Government must work to tackle the underlying challenges they created.  
  
This Council notes that one in four people experiences a mental health 
problem in any given year and strongly believe that mental health should be 
taken as seriously as physical health. 
  
This Council resolves that the NHS remains understaffed and overstretched 
as a result of years of Tory Government. Everybody is having to pay more but 
is getting less. The Government is raising taxes on working people in the 

Page 16



 

 

middle of a cost-of-living crisis, yet patients are waiting ever-longer for 
hospital care. You cannot trust the Tories with the NHS. The longer there is a 
Conservative Government the longer patients will have to wait. 
  
  

12 Motions not for Debate 
 
Motion not for Debate 1 – Local Electricity Bill 
  
RESOLVED: That 
  
Ealing Council recognises the need to reduce greenhouse gas emissions and 
promote renewable energy. 
  
Ealing Council further recognises: 

       That the very large financial setup and running costs involved in selling 
locally generated renewable electricity to local customers result in it 
being impossible for local renewable electricity generators to do so. 

       That making these financial costs proportionate to the scale of a 
renewable electricity supplier’s operation would enable and empower 
new local businesses, or Councils, to be providers of locally generated 
renewable electricity directly to local customers. 

       That revenues received by new local renewable electricity providers 
could be used to help improve the local economy, local services and 
facilities and to reduce local greenhouse gas emissions. 
  

Ealing Council resolves that it signed up to support the Local Electricity Bill in 
2021, supported by over 300 MPs which, if made law, would establish a Right 
to Local Supply which would promote local renewable electricity supply 
companies and co-operatives by making the setup and running costs of 
selling renewable electricity to local customers proportionate to the size of the 
supply operation. 
  
Ealing Council further resolves to: 

       Continue to work with the three local MP’s, all of whom have already 
expressed their support for the Bill.  

       Use our local influence to encourage other neighbouring councils to 
support the Bill who have not yet done so. 

  
Motion not for debate 2: Biodiversity and Schools 
  
RESOLVED: That 
  
Ealing Council notes that: 

       There are several initiatives existing in Ealing designed to encourage 
children to learn more about nature and biodiversity.  

       For example, Ealing Council supports a network of forest schools and 
recently put on a number of Biodiversity workshops.  

Page 17



 

 

       Ealing Council are also rolling out a Green Schools Network, recently 
launched, that is a free programme designed to help schools become 
greener and carbon neutral.  

       As well as this, the existing Royal Horticultural Society (RHS) 
Campaign for School Gardening offers incentives for schools to involve 
children in gardening. 

       A new scheme involving the RHS, the Natural History Museum and the 
Department for Education called the National Education Nature Park 
will encourage children to learn about biodiversity and nature in 
schools. 

       There will also be a new climate action award scheme for schools 
which are particularly creative in teaching their pupils about biodiversity 
from the same bodies. 
  

Ealing Council therefore resolves continue working with schools to 
encourage learning about biodiversity and nature, and also resolves to 
encourage all local schools to sign up to the Green Schools network and 
to apply for the RHS support and funding. 

  
  

13 Treasury Management Mid-Year Update 2022/23 
 
RESOLVED: That Council 
  

1.     Noted the Treasury Management activities and performance against 
targets for the period to 30 September 2022. 
  

2.     Noted the Council’s investment balance of £ 591.989m as at 30 
September 2022 of which £516.000m was invested in Debt 
Management Office (DMO). 
  

  
  

14 Appointments to Committees and Other Bodies 
 
RESOLVED: That Councillors Blacker (Chair), Mason, Kamaljit Kaur Nagpal, 
Raza, Wall and Steed be appointed to the Health and Wellbeing Board. 
  
  

15 Urgent Key Decisions Exempted from Call-in 
 
There were no urgent key decisions exempted from call-in since the last 
Council meeting. 
  

 Meeting commenced: 7.00 pm 
 
Meeting finished: 9.32 pm 
 

 Signed: 
 

Dated: Wednesday, 8 March 2023 

Page 18



 

 

M Midha (Mayor) 
 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



ORAL QUESTIONS – 8 MARCH 2023 

 
 
 
From 
 

 
To Cabinet Member 

 
Question 

1.  Cllr Tariq Mahmood 
(Labour) 

Councillor Manro  
(Good Growth)  
 

Can the portfolio holder provide an update on how the council is progressing on providing 
accommodation for homeless households in the borough?    
 

2.  Cllr Connie Hersch 
(Liberal Democrat) 

Councillor Manro  
(Good Growth)  

 

We have seen that John Lewis are consulting on a development for the Waitrose site that 
includes very tall towers up to 19 storeys. Was the pre-application advice by the council in line 
with the new local plan’s site specific guidance regarding tall buildings? 
 

3.  Cllr Anthony Young 
(Conservative) 

Councillor Costigan  
(Climate Action)  
 

At the last Council meeting, I asked: 'If the recent proposal to pedestrianise Bond Street, High 
Street and Springbridge Rd were implemented, how would traffic travel from North to South 
Ealing?' I was told that 'There are no such proposals. Cllr Young should not believe everything 
he reads on the internet.' 
 
Given that I read these proposals on the Council's website, as part of the supporting 
documentation for the New Local Plan, please could the Portfolio Holder tell me which parts of 
that documentation I should or should not believe? 
 

4.  Cllr Callum Anderson 
(Labour) 

Councillor Costigan  
(Climate Action)  
 

Can the portfolio holder provide an update on how many electric vehicle charging points are in 
the borough?  
 

5.  Cllr Julian Gallant 
(Conservative) 

Councillor Manro  
(Good Growth)  
 

When was the replacement of Gurnell Leisure Centre first the subject of a Cabinet Report? 
 

6.  Cllr Monica Hamidi 
(Labour) 

Councillor Raza  
(Tackling Inequalities)  
 

Can the portfolio holder provide an update on the progress that the council has made to meet 
the demands of the Race Equality commission?  
 

7.  Cllr Kanwal Bains 
(Labour) 

Councillor Blacker  
(Healthy Lives)  
 

Can the portfolio holder provide an update for how the council is supporting provision for young 
people’s mental health in the borough?   
 

 

P
age 21

A
genda Item

 8



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

 

 

 
Report for: DECISION  

Item Number: 

Contains Confidential 
or Exempt Information 

No 

Title 2023/24 BUDGET STRATEGY AND COUNCIL TAX 
RESOLUTION 

Responsible Officers Emily Hill, Interim Strategic Director of Corporate Resources 
(Section 151 Officer) 

Authors 
Shabana Kausar, Assistant Director Strategic Finance 
Baljinder Sangha, Finance Manager Financial Planning & 
Monitoring 

Portfolio Councillor Steve Donnelly, Cabinet Member for Inclusive 
Economy 

For Consideration By Council 

Date to be Considered 8 March 2023 

Implementation Date if 
Not Called In Not applicable for recommendations to Council 

Affected Wards All 
Keywords/Index Budget Strategy, Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS), 

GLA Precept, Capital Strategy, Treasury Management 
Strategy, Savings, Council Tax, Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme 

 
Purpose of Report 
 
In times of unprecedented political turmoil and economic uncertainty, the Council has 
acted decisively to invest in the delivery of key services to residents in the year 
ahead whilst ensuring a balanced budget and a more secure financial footing for 
future years. 
 
The Council’s operating environment is highly uncertain. The financial challenges sit 
against the context of significant inflation, the cost of living crisis, the global energy 
crisis and rising utilities costs, increasing demand for services and complexity of 
demand, the continued impact of COVID-19, and a lack of clarity of future 
Government funding reforms and plans. Although the financial backdrop for setting a 
balanced budget has been challenging, the Council has continued to ensure that 
both existing service challenges are appropriately funded and where new demand is 
forecast, proportionate growth is allocated to meet that expected demand whilst 

Page 23

Agenda Item 9



2

 

 

meeting Council priorities for investment.  
 
Cabinet have looked to utilise the local taxation powers granted by the Government 
within the Core Spending Power which makes the assumption councils will increase 
both Council Tax and the Social Care Precept by 2.99% and 2% respectively and to 
use additional funding made available as part of the final Local Government finance 
settlement to balance its budget for 2023/24. The utilisation of the local taxation powers 
will yield the Council recurring Council Tax income funding of c£8m. 
 
The report sets recommendations for Full Council to approve following budget 
decisions taken by Cabinet on 22 February 2023: 
 
• Revenue budget 2023/24; 
• Capital programme; 
• Treasury management and capital strategies (including associated policies); 
• increase to Council Tax and the Social Care Precept by 2.99% and 2% 

respectively; 
• Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2023/24 and to the distribution of the 

additional Council Tax Support Fund for 2023/24; and 
• continuing with an additional premium on top of the standard Council Tax for 

properties which have been empty for more than 2 years and to agree in principle 
to commence an additional 100% charge for the properties empty for more than 
one year from 1 April 2024. 

 
The report also seeks Full Council approval of the basic amount of Council Tax at Band 
D for Ealing’s element of £1,406.75 and the Council Tax Resolution, formal statutory 
calculation required for setting the Council Tax for 2023/24. 
 
The report fulfils the legislative requirement for the interim Strategic Director of 
Corporate Resources (Section 151 Officer) to report formally on the robustness of 
estimates, the adequacy of the reserves and on the risks in the Council’s budget 
strategy. The report also includes recommendations on prudential borrowing for the 
Council to approve to comply with statutory requirements. 
 

 

 
 
 

Page 24



3

 

 

Index to Report: 2023/24 Budget Strategy and Council Tax Resolution 
 
1. Recommendations 4 

2. Reason for Decision and Options Considered 7 

3. Updates Since Cabinet Publication 8 

4. Legal 8 

5. Value for Money 10 

6. Sustainability Impact Assessment 10 

7. Risk Management 10 

8. Community Safety 11 

9. Links to Three Key Priorities for the Borough 12 

10. Equalities, Human Rights and Community Cohesion 12 

11. Staffing / Workforce and Accommodation Implications 13 

12. Property and Assets 13 

13. Consultation 13 

14. Timetable for Implementation 13 

15. Appendices 13 

16. Background Information 14 

 

Page 25



4

 

 

1. Recommendations 
 

Cabinet Recommended Budget Decisions 
1.1. Council is asked to approve the following budget decisions as recommended 

by Cabinet on 22 February 2023: 
 

1) Revenue Budget 2023/24 and Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2023/24 
to 2026/27 
a) Considers and approves the Revenue Budget for 2023/24 as 

summarised in Appendix 1. 
b) Considers the advice of the Strategic Director of Corporate 

Resources (Section 151 Officer) on the levels of reserves and 
robustness of estimates in setting the budget as required by Section 
25 of the Local Government Act 2003 (Appendix 0, section 10). 

c) Notes the financial risks and pressures set out in the report to 
Cabinet on 22 February 2023 (Appendix 0, section 4 and section 14). 

d) Approves the Parking Account 2023/24 (Appendix 0, paragraph 5.12 
and Appendix 5). 

e) Approves the draft Schools budget of £310.595m and agrees that 
any changes to the budget reasonably required as a result of the final 
2023/24 Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) settlement are delegated 
for decision to the Strategic Director of Children following 
consultation with the Strategic Director of Corporate Resources 
(Section 151 Officer) (Appendix 0, section 6). 

f) Approves the Strategic Director of Corporate Resources (Section 151 
Officer) to agree appropriate actions to comply with the DSG 
guidance, including agreeing the appropriate Deficit Recovery Plan 
(Appendix 0, section 6). 

 
2) Capital Programme 2023/24 – 2027/28  

a) Approves the updated profile of the Capital Programme totalling 
£1,296.633m (before additions and schemes to be decommissioned), 
as set out in Appendix 0 (section 8), Appendix 6 and Appendix 7. 

b) Approves the new General Fund capital programme additions 
totalling £12.850m and schemes to be decommissioned totalling 
£12.574m (Appendix 0, paragraph 8.3 to 8.4 and Appendix 6). 

 
3) Capital Strategy, Treasury Management and Pension Fund  

a) Approves the Treasury Management Strategy including the 
associated Prudential Indicators and Annual Investment Strategy 
(Appendix 0, section 9 and Appendix 9). 

b) Approves the Treasury Management Policy Statement (Appendix 9). 
c) Notes the Strategic Director of Corporate Resources (Section 151 

Officer) will implement the Treasury Management Strategy under 
existing officer delegated powers (Appendix 9). 

d) Approves the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) policy (Appendix 

Page 26



5

 

 

9). 
e) Notes that the Council manages the cash on behalf of the Pension 

Fund and West London Waste Authority in accordance with the 
Treasury Management Strategy (Appendix 9). 

f) Approves the Capital Strategy (Appendix 8). 
g) Approves the Flexible Use of Capital Receipts policy for 2023/24 

over the new MTFS period, subject to meeting Department for 
Levelling Up Housing and Communities (DLUHC) criteria (Annex A of 
Appendix 8). 

h) Approves for the Strategic Director of Corporate Resources (Section 
151 Officer) to agree commencement of the programme and sub-
projects to be funded form the Flexible Use of Capital Receipts 
following DLUHC criteria being met (Annex A of Appendix 8). 

 
4) Council Tax and Business Rates  

a) Approves an increase of 2% for the Social Care Precept and an 
increase of 2.99% for Council Tax in 2023/24 (Appendix 0, paragraph 
5.7.4). 

b) Notes the Greater London Authority (GLA) Band D precept of 
£434.14 for 2023/24 (Appendix 0, paragraph 5.6.2). 

c) Notes that the Strategic Director of Corporate Resources (Section 
151 Officer) calculated under delegated authority on 9 January 2023 
the amount of 121,612.9 as the Council Tax Base, being the number 
of properties in Bands A-H in the Borough, expressed as an 
equivalent number of Band D units for the year 2023/24; in 
accordance with regulation 3 of the Local Authorities Calculation of 
Council Tax Base Regulations 1992 as amended made under 
Section 335 and 344 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 
(Appendix 0, paragraph 5.7.1). 

d) Notes the forecast Collection Fund position for 2022/23 (Appendix 0, 
paragraph 5.9). 

e) Notes the Council’s share of the Council Tax and business rates 
income forecast for 2023/24 as approved by the Strategic Director of 
Corporate Resources (Section 151 Officer) (Appendix 0, section 5.9 
to 5.10 and Appendix 1). 

f) Approves the continuation of an additional premium on top of 
standard Council Tax for properties which have been empty for more 
than 2 years and agree in principle to commence an additional 100% 
charge for the properties empty for more than one year from 1 April 
2024 (Appendix 0, paragraph 5.7.7). 

g) Approves the revised Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme for the 
financial year 2023/24 as approved by Cabinet 7 December 2022  
(Appendix 0, paragraph 5.7.15 and Appendix 4).  

 
 

 

Page 27



6

 

 

Council Tax Resolution  
1.2. In respect of the calculation and setting of Council Tax, the Council considers 

and approves: 
 

1) the Council Tax requirement for the Council’s own purposes for 2023/24 is 
£171,078,947 [Item R in the formula in Section 31B of Local Government 
Finance Act 1992, as amended (the “Act”)] 

2) acceptance of the social care precept of 2% on council tax; 
3) a basic amount of council tax at Band D for Ealing’s services for 2023/24 

of £1,406.75 - a 2% increase for the social care precept and a 2.99% 
increase for Ealing’s share; and 

4) an overall Band D council tax of £1,840.88 including the GLA precept. 
 

1.3. Agrees the calculations as set out in Table 1 below for 2023/24 that has been 
prepared in accordance with Sections 31A and 31B of the amended Local 
Government Finance Act (LGFA) 1992: 

 
Table 1: Section 31A (LGFA 1992 - amended) Calculation 

Aggregate of the amounts which the Council estimates for the 
items set out in Section 31A (2) (a) to (f) of the LGFA 1992 

(A) 

(a) = Council's gross expenditure and transfers to reserves. 
£1,104,358,603 

Aggregate of the amounts which the Council estimates for the 
items set out in Section 31A (3) (a) to (d) of the LGFA 1992 

(B) 

(b) = Council's gross income and transfers from reserves. This includes 
RSG and surpluses transferred from the Collection Fund. 

£933,279,656 

Calculation of the Council Tax requirement under section 31A 
(4), being the amount by which the sum aggregated at (A) 
(above) exceeds the aggregate of (B) (above). 

(C) 

(c)  = Council's council tax requirement. 

£171,078,947 

 
1.4. Agrees the calculation of the basic amount of Council Tax required is as follows 

(see Table 2), calculated by dividing the Council Tax requirement by the 
Council Tax base for 2023/24 (referred to as Items R and T respectively, in 
Section 31B of the LGFA 1992 (amended)): 
 

Table 2: Section 31B (LGFA 1992 - amended) Calculation 
 Council Tax Requirement (see Table 1 (C)) £171,078,947 

(D) Council tax base for 2022324 121,612.9 

(E) Tax per Band D Property £1,406.75 
 
1.5. Agrees the calculation made in accordance with Section 36 of the Local 

Government Finance Act 1992, the following amounts for Ealing's services in 

Page 28



7

 

 

2023/24 (see Table 3). These being the amounts given by multiplying the 
amount shown as ‘Tax per Band D Property’ (Table 2 above) by the number 
which, in the proportion set out in Section 5(1) of the Act, is applicable to 
dwellings listed in a particular valuation band divided by the number which in 
that proportion is applicable to dwellings listed in valuation Band D, as the 
amounts to be taken into account for the year in respect of categories of 
dwellings listed in different valuation bands. 

 
1.6. Notes that for 2023/24 the GLA, the major Precepting Authority, has approved 

the following amounts of precepts issued to the Council, in accordance with 
Section 40 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, for each of the 
categories of dwellings shown in Table 3 below. 

 
Table 3: Ealing’s Council Tax and GLA Precept by band of property 
Valuation 
Band A B C D E F G H 

Banding Factor 6/9 7/9 8/9 9/9 11/9 13/9 15/9 18/9 

Ealing's 
Council Tax £937.84 £1,094.14 £1,250.45 £1,406.75 £1,719.36 £2,031.97 £2,344.59 £2,813.50 

GLA Precept £289.43 £337.66 £385.90 £434.14 £530.62 £627.09 £723.57 £868.28 

2023/24 Total 
Council Tax £1,227.27 £1,431.80 £1,636.35 £1,840.89 £2,249.98 £2,659.06 £3,068.16 £3,681.78 

 
1.7. Having calculated the aggregate in each case of the amounts in 

recommendations 1.5 and 1.6 above, in accordance with Section 30(2) of the 
Local Government Finance Act 1992, approves the amounts in Table 3 to be 
set as the amounts of Council Tax for 2023/24 for each of the categories of 
dwellings, as set out in table above. 

 
1.8. Determines that, with reference to principles approved by the Secretary of 

State under Section 52ZB and 52ZC of the Local Government Finance Act 
1992, the level of Council Tax for Ealing is not excessive and as such no 
referendum is required (Appendix 0, paragraph 5.7.2). 

 
1.9. Determines that, as the billing authority, the Council has not been notified by 

the GLA that its relevant basic amount of council tax for 2023/24 is excessive 
and therefore the Council is not required to hold a referendum in accordance 
with Section 52ZK of the Local Government Finance Act 1992. 
 

2. Reason for Decision and Options Considered 
 
2.1. The main purpose of this report is to enable Council to approve the 2023/24 

General Fund revenue budget, recommendations and set the Council Tax. It 

Page 29



8

 

 

follows a series of reports submitted previously to Cabinet on developing 
budget proposals for 2023/24 and sets out the final position. 

 
2.2. The report’s recommendations include the formal statutory calculation required 

for setting the Council Tax for 2023/24, as set out in Sections 30, 31 and 36 of 
the Local Government Finance Act 1992. These recommendations are being 
made because under the Council’s budget and policy framework, Full Council 
is required to consider Cabinet’s budget recommendations and formally set the 
budget and Council Tax for 2023/24, in line with statutory requirements. 
 

2.3. The Council has continued to invest in services that experience significant and 
continued demand pressures, with prioritisation being given to the most 
vulnerable groups.  Due to the complexity of the service provision, against the 
backdrop of continuing declined funding in real terms notwithstanding the 
indicative projected increase in funding as a result of the final Local 
Government finance settlement, these services continue to experience budget 
pressures. 

 
2.4. In recognition of the continuing social care pressures, acceptance of the 2% 

social care precept flexibility in 2023/24 has been factored in. In addition, a 
2.99% increase in Council Tax is recommended. This increase is necessary to 
mitigate the impacts of cost of living and high levels of inflation and demand 
led service pressures, especially across social care. This raises local council 
tax for Band D in 2023/24 to £1,406.75 (an increase of £66.86 from 2022/23). 

 
3. Updates Since Cabinet Publication 
 
3.1. With the exception of the following, there are no updates to report since the 

publication of the Budget Strategy and MTFS 2023/24 to 2026/27 presented 
to Cabinet on 22 February 2023: 
 
• Minor change to Table 14 in Appendix 0; 
• Minor clarification in Appendix 2; 
• Extension of the Housing Support Fund for another 12 months, with Ealing 

receiving an allocation of £5.318m; and 
• The GLA budget and Council Tax precept for 2023/24 was approved by the 

London Assembly on 23 February 2023. 
 

3.2. The above changes and updates have a net nil impact on both the Council’s 
Council Tax requirement set out in Table 1 above and the 2023/24 Revenue 
Budget as set out in Appendix 1. 
 

3.3. At this point, the Council is still awaiting notification of the 2023/24 Public 
Health grant allocation. 

 
 

Page 30



9

 

 

 
4. Legal 

 
4.1. The Council has a legal duty to set a balanced budget. 

 
4.2. In regard to Council Tax Referendum and Social Care Precept 
 

4.2.1. The Localism Act 2011 abolished Council Tax capping but instead provided 
for council tax rises at or above a certain threshold to be subject to a local 
referendum giving local residents a power to veto an ‘excessive increase. The 
House of Commons approved the referendums relating to Council Tax 
increases (Principles) (England) for 2023/24 on 6 February 2023 (2.99% 
including a 2% social care precept).  
 

4.2.2. The proposed 4.99% increase (including the 2% social care precept) in the 
relevant amount of Band D Council Tax in 2023/24 is not ‘excessive’ in terms 
of the Localism Act. The Council must formally determine this at the time of 
setting its Council Tax for 2023/24 and a recommendation to that effect is 
included in this report. 

 
4.3. In relation to Council Tax Empty Property Premium 
 

4.3.1. Since April 2013, Local Authorities in England have been given delegated 
powers under Section 11B of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 to 
increase Council Tax on a local level. These powers allowed Ealing to increase 
Council Tax by adding up to 50% to the Council Tax charge on some long-
term empty properties. This is commonly known as the ‘Empty Property 
Premium’ or ‘Long Term Empty Premium’. 
 

4.3.2. From 1 April 2019, legislation allowed an increase in the premium, initially to a 
maximum of 100% and then extended this maximum to increase to 300%. This 
was contained in Rating (Property in Common Occupation) and Council Tax 
(Empty Dwellings) Act 2018. 

 
4.4. In relation to Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

 
 

4.4.1. Section 13A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (c.14), (“the 1992 
Act”), substituted by Section 10 of the Local Government Finance Act 2012 
(c.17), (“the 2012 Act”), requires each billing authority in England to make a 
scheme specifying the reductions which are to apply to amounts of Council 
Tax payable by persons, or classes or persons, whom the authority considers 
are in financial need. 
 

4.4.2. Paragraph 2 of Schedule 1A to the 1992 Act, as amended by Schedule 4 of 
the 2012 Act, sets out matters that must be included in a scheme and gives 
the Secretary of State power to prescribe by regulations additional 

Page 31

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/17/section/12/enacted


10

 

 

requirements, including classes of persons, which must or must not be 
included in a scheme. 

 
4.5. In regard to Schools Funding and Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) 
 
4.5.1. The Council currently receives funding for schools through the Dedicated 

Schools Grant (DSG) and has the statutory responsibility under the Schools 
and Early Years Finance Regulations for allocating this funding to schools. 
 

4.5.2. The Schools Forum Regulations 2012, SI 2012/2261, School and Early Years 
Finance (England) Regulations 2018, SI 2018/1185 and the School and Early 
Years Finance (England) Regulations 2015, SI 2015/2033 set out the matters 
on which the Council must consult the Schools Forum or seek the approval of 
the Schools Forum or the approval of the Secretary of State. 

 
5. Value for Money 

 
5.1. The budget setting process addresses the Council’s performance in delivering 

national and local priorities and focuses on the needs of its communities. The 
budget process will require services to demonstrate this through their budget 
proposals submissions. 
 

5.2. The budget proposals include examples of delivering Value for Money such 
as: 
• General efficiencies within services and departments. 
• Review of charges, maximising income opportunities, but considering the 

legal restrictions upon the Council’s ability to charge for its services. 
 

5.3. Where possible, savings proposals have been made that impact minimally on 
service delivery despite the challenges presented by the budget pressures. 
 

5.4. The Council consistently monitors performance and finance in tandem, to 
ensure that value for money services are commissioned and provided for, as 
well regularly adjusting its activities to improve performance and achieve better 
value for money. The budget process sets the approach, providing the 
framework in which the Council can look to improve performance and achieve 
better value for money. 

 
6. Sustainability Impact Assessment 

 
6.1. Any sustainability impacts will be taken into account before final decisions are 

taken on whether or not to implement each proposal. All capital budget 
proposals are required to set out how the proposal contributes towards carbon 
emission reduction. 

 
 
 

Page 32



11

 

 

7. Risk Management 
 

7.1. It is important that spending is contained within budget so that the Council can 
maintain its financial standing in the face of further pressure on resources in 
2023/24 and beyond as set out in the annual review of the MTFS in this report. 

 
7.2. The current final Local Government finance settlement only provides certainty 

for 2023/24, beyond this there remains a great deal of uncertainty. The MTFS 
therefore includes various assumptions on future funding which is based on 
Government announcements made to date. 
 

7.3. The MTFS model will continue to be updated as greater clarity is provided by 
the Government on their medium-term funding plans. 
 

7.4. Given the uncertainties of the economic environment impact of cost of living, 
high levels of inflation, long term impact of COVID-19 and the anticipated scale 
of the expenditure reductions required, there are inevitably significant risks 
involved in delivering balanced budgets over the medium term. Key strategic 
risks are: 

 
• included in the Corporate Risk Register; 
• regularly reported to Audit Committee; and 
• reviewed through updated Budget reports to Cabinet. 
 

7.5. Since 2013/14, the balancing of the budget in-year depends upon the Council 
achieving its Council Tax and business rates projections which are closely 
monitored by the Financial Strategy Group. 
 

7.6. As explained in Appendix 0, the most immediate risk to the budget process 
are: 

• unfunded income loss pressures as a result of the long-term impact of 
the pandemic particularly in relation to Council Tax and Business rates 
income. The Council will continue to closely monitor the impact of these 
income streams and support lobbying to government as a region to 
ensure the Council can be full compensated for these losses; 

• non-delivery of the approved savings; and 
• social care placement pressures, which continue to be partly mitigated 

by spend controls, cost reduction programmes and close monitoring by 
SLT and by the Leader and the portfolio holders for Inclusive Economy, 
A Fairer Start and Healthy Lives. 

 
7.7. The Council is faced with an uncertain financial climate over the medium to 

long term which presents a high risk to the authority and there remains 
potential for further, as yet unrecognised, risks. For this reason, a prudent 
approach to the level of reserves held by the Council remains sensible and 
necessary. The Strategic Director of Corporate Resources, as the Council’s 

Page 33



12

 

 

Section 151 Officer, is required to state whether the reserves are adequate as 
part of the annual budget setting process. 
 

7.8. The Council’s MTFS is continually under review and builds in projections for 
the MTFS period and beyond as further details and analysis become available. 
These updates are regularly reviewed by SLT and the portfolio holder and 
updates on the financial environment the Council is operating in are provided. 
Any sustainability impacts will be considered before final decisions are taken 
on whether or not to implement each proposal. 

 
8. Community Safety 

 
8.1. Not applicable. 

 
9. Links to Three Key Priorities for the Borough 

 
9.1. The Council’s MTFS, budgets, capital programme and capital strategy are 

designed to deliver the Council’s strategic priorities of fighting inequality, 
fighting the climate crisis and creating good jobs. The budget set for 2023/24 
will address the delivery of national and local priorities. 

 
10. Equalities, Human Rights and Community Cohesion 

 
10.1. Budget proposals have been developed and impacts considered in line with 

the principles set out under S149 Equality Act 2010 and Human Rights Act 
1988, including the need to protect elderly, disabled, children and young 
people who are the most vulnerable residents of the borough. 
 

10.2. Implementation of each of the proposals will follow the Council’s processes, 
policies and local terms and conditions to ensure fair selection, assimilation 
and recruitment and to ensure on-going monitoring of diversity. 

 
10.3. Where proposals will have equalities implications an Equalities Analysis 

Assessment (EAA) is required. EAAs are tools that help the Council make sure 
its policies, and the ways it carries out its functions, do what they are intended 
to do and for everybody.  If an EAA is required, it will be prepared and 
considered prior to the final decision on whether to proceed with the proposal 
being taken. 

 
10.4. A full Equalities Analysis Assessment has been carried out in relation to the 

equalities impacts of the Council Tax increase recommendations in 
paragraphs 1.1(4a) to 1.1(4c), 1.2 and 1.3..  This is attached as Appendix 11. 

 
10.5. When making decisions the Council must act reasonably and rationally. It must 

consider all relevant information and disregard all irrelevant information and 
consult those affected, taking into account their views before final decisions 
are made. It must also comply with its legal duties, including those relating to 

Page 34



13

 

 

equalities as referred to above. Many proposals will impact upon third parties 
and where this is the case there may be a requirement for the Council to 
consult those affected before a final decision is taken on whether to implement 
the proposal or to amend the proposal prior to implementation. 

 
11. Staffing / Workforce and Accommodation Implications 

 
11.1. Not applicable. 

 
12. Property and Assets 

 
12.1. The Capital investment proposals set out in this report for approval in principle 

reflect the need to make efficient use of the Council’s property and assets at 
an affordable cost to support the delivery of Council priorities. 

 
13. Consultation 
 
13.1. Consultation may be required in relation to some savings proposals. Where 

this is the case, the consultation will be undertaken in accordance with legal 
requirements and within a timetable appropriate to the individual 
circumstances of the proposal in question, including with recognised trade 
unions and affected individuals. The outcomes from each consultation 
undertaken will be taken into account before a final decision is taken on 
whether or not to proceed with the proposal in question, either as presently 
proposed or in an amended form. 

 
13.2. Overview and Scrutiny Committee considered the Budget Strategy and MTFS 

2023/24 to 2026/27 report on 21 February 2023 and endorsed all the 
recommendations within the report to Cabinet (Appendix 0). 
 

13.3. Consultation with the Ealing Business Partnership took place on 16 February 
2023, who also endorsed the recommendations set out in the Cabinet report 
(Appendix 0). 

 
14. Timetable for Implementation 

 
14.1. Details of the timetable are set out in Appendix 0, section 22. 

 
15. Appendices 
 

Appendix  Appendix Title 
0 Budget Strategy and MTFS 2023/24 to 2025/26 
1 Summary Revenue Budget 2023/24 
2 New Savings to be considered - 2023/24 to 2026/27 
3 2023/24 Fees and Charges Schedule 
4 Council Tax Reduction Scheme  

Page 35



14

 

 

Appendix  Appendix Title 
5 2023/24 Parking Account 
6 New Capital Schemes and Schemes to be Decommissioned  
7 Summary of Capital Programme 2022/23 to 2027/28 
8 2023/24 Capital Strategy and Flexible Capital Receipts Policy 

9 Treasury Management Strategy Statement, MRP Statement and 
Annual Investment Statement 

10 Reserves Forecast and Analysis over the MTFS Period  
11 Equality Analysis Assessment – Council Tax Increase 

 
16. Background Information 
 

Report Name Date 
Council Reports 
Treasury Management Mid Year Update 2022/23 13 December 2022 
Cabinet Reports 
Budget Strategy and MTFS 2023/24 to 2026/27 22 February 2023 
2022/23 Budget Update Report 22 February 2023 
Council Tax Support Fund 2023/24 22 February 2023 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan 
2023/24 25 January 2023 

Revised Council Tax Reduction scheme for 2023/24 7 December 2022 
2022/23 Budget Amendment 18 May 2022 
Budget Strategy and MTFS 2022/23 to 2024/25 9 February 2022 
Schools Forum Reports 
Schools Funding 2023/24 19 January 2023 
Schools Funding 2023/24 10 November 2022 
Audit Committee 
Treasury Update – Quarter 2 29 November 2022 
Ealing Business Partnership Committee 
2023/24 Budget Strategy and MTFS 16 February 2023 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
2023/24 Budget Strategy 21 February 2023 
Officer Decision Reports 
2021/22 Collection Fund Estimated Deficit as at 31 
March 2023 12 January 2023 

2023/24 Council Tax Base 9 January 2023 
 
 

Page 36



15

 

 

Consultation 
 

Name of 
consultee Department Date sent to 

consultee 
Date response 
received from 
consultee 

Comments 
appear in report 
para: 

Internal 

Emily Hill Strategic Director of 
Corporate Resources Continuous Continuous Throughout 

Helen Harris Director of Legal and 
Democratic Services 24/02/2023 27/02/2023 Throughout 

Councillor Steve 
Donnelly 

Cabinet Member for 
Inclusive Economy 24/02/2023 27/02/2023 Throughout 

Nick Rowe 
Assistant Director of 
Local Tax & Accounts 
Receivable 

Continuous Continuous 

Recommendation 
1.1(4); Appendices 
0 (Paragraphs: 
4.5; 5.6 to 5.9), 4 
and11 

Joanna Pavlides Head of Financial 
Assessments 

 
Continuous 

 
Continuous 

Recommendation 
1.1(4g); 
Appendices 0 
(paragraph 5.7), 4 
and 11 

 
Report History 
 
Decision Type: Urgency Item? 
For Decision No 
Authorised by Cabinet Date:  Report Deadline: Date Report Sent: 
 
Member: 
 

  

 

Report no: Report authors and contact queries: 

Shabana Kausar, Assistant Director Strategic Finance, 020 8825 7549 
Baljinder Sangha, Finance Manager, 020 8825 5579 

 Katherine Ball. Finance Manager, 020 8825 5757 
 

 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



1

 

 

 
Report for: DECISION  

Item Number: 

Contains Confidential or 
Exempt Information 

No 

Title BUDGET STRATEGY AND MTFS 2023/24 TO 2026/27 

Responsible Officers Emily Hill, Interim Strategic Director of Corporate Resources 
(Section 151) 

Authors Shabana Kausar, Assistant Director Strategic Finance 

Portfolio Councillor Steve Donnelly, Cabinet Member for Inclusive 
Economy 

For Consideration By Cabinet 

Date to be considered 22 February 2023 

Implementation Date if 
Not Called In 8 March 2023 

Affected Wards All 

Area Committees All 
Keywords/Index Budget strategy, Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS), 

Capital Strategy, Treasury Management Strategy, Business 
Rates, Savings, Council Tax 

 
Purpose of Report 
 
In times of unprecedented political turmoil and economic uncertainty, the Council has 
acted decisively to invest in the delivery of key services to residents in the year 
ahead whilst ensuring a balanced budget and a more secure financial footing for 
future years. 
 
The Council’s operating environment is highly uncertain. The financial challenges sit 
against the context of significant inflation, the cost of living crisis, the global energy 
crisis and rising utilities costs, increasing demand for services and complexity of 
demand, the continued impact of COVID-19, and a lack of clarity of future 
Government funding reforms and plans. Although the financial backdrop for setting a 
balanced budget has been challenging, the Council has continued to ensure that 
both existing service challenges are appropriately funded and where new demand is 
forecast, proportionate growth is allocated to meet that expected demand whilst 
meeting Council priorities for investment.  

Page 39



2

 

 

 
This report sets a balanced budget for 2023/24, it brings forward new savings and 
income proposals and sets out the proposals to invest in Council services. Savings 
continue to be delivered although this is increasingly difficult after over a decade of 
austerity. The Council has also looked to utilise local taxation powers within the 
Government’s Core Spending Power which assumes councils will increase both 
Council Tax and the Social Care Precept by 2.99% and 2% respectively and to use 
additional funding made available as part of the final Local Government finance 
settlement to balance its budget for 2023/24. The predicated utilisation of the local 
taxation powers will yield the Council a recuring Council Tax income of £8m. 
 
In total, this report sets out direct revenue investment plans of over £46.368m for 
2023/24 with £3.5m being set aside to instil additional resilience in face of a 
continuing uncertain financial climate; putting prudent and proportionate new funding 
into services to meet the significant increase in inflation and demand led pressures 
and continued capital investment. It also sets out how the Council continues to act 
prudently in highly uncertain times, with amounts retained to address and unforeseen 
pressures or events that may arise, compounded by another single year Government 
funding allocation. 
 
The report also sets out key issues faced by the Council when planning a balanced 
budget for beyond 2023/24 including the impact of the cost of living, inflation and 
energy crisis, and the continued impact of the pandemic on our communities and 
demand for services. The uncertain operating and financial challenges faced by the 
Council against the context of prolonged underfunding of both children’s and adult 
social care and unknown impact of potential future Government funding reforms 
cause an acute challenge to the Council’s financial planning decision process. 
 
The report seeks Cabinet approval of the specific revenue budget proposals and the 
capital programme for recommendation to Full Council at the statutory budget setting 
meeting on 8 March. The report presents new savings proposals for approval. It 
presents the refreshed Medium-Term Financial Strategy for approval and provides an 
update on the economic climate, funding position following the 2023/24 final Local 
Government finance settlement and provides an update on schools funding. It also 
seeks approval for both the Council Tax Reduction Scheme and Business Rates 
discount for 2023/24.  
 
The report fulfils the legislative requirement for the Section 151 Officer to report 
formally on the robustness of the estimates, the adequacy of reserves and on the 
risks in the budget strategy. The report also includes recommendations on treasury 
management and prudential borrowing for Full Council to approve to comply with 
statutory requirements. 
 

 

 

Page 40



3

 

 

Index to Report: Budget Strategy and MTFS 2023/24 to 2026/27 
 
1. Recommendations 4 

2. Reason for Decision and Options Considered 8 

3. Approach to Budget Setting 8 

4. Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 10 

5. 2023/24 General Fund Revenue Budget 25 

6. Schools Budget 37 

7. Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Budget 42 

8. Capital Budget 42 

9. Treasury Management 45 

10. Statutory Declarations on Robustness of Budget Estimates and Adequacy 
of Reserves 46 

11. Legal 49 

12. Value for Money 52 

13. Sustainability Impact Appraisal 52 

14. Risk Management 52 

15. Community Safety 53 

16. Links to Three Key Priorities for the Borough 54 

17. Equalities, Human Rights and Community Cohesion 54 

18. Staffing / Workforce and Accommodation Implications 54 

19. Property and Assets 54 

20. Consultation 55 

21. Timetable for Implementation 55 

22. Appendices 55 

23. Background Information 56 

 

Page 41



4

 

 

1. Recommendations 
 
1.1. It is recommended that Cabinet: 
 

Revenue Budget 
1.2. Approves total General Fund savings of £14.729m over the MTFS period 

2023/24 to 2026/27, submitted as part of the 2023/24 budget review process. 
This includes £7.396m savings from the General Fund over the same period 
of which £7.184m is to be delivered from the General Fund in 2023/24 (section 
5.2 and Appendix 2). 

 
1.3. Authorises the Strategic Director or Director with responsibility for each 

proposal (including fees and charges) to: 
 

a) carry out all steps required in relation to each proposal, including carrying 
out any consultation. 

b) consider any consultation outcomes and other detailed implications.  
c) complete and consider the implications of any equalities analysis 

assessment required. 
d) following completion of 1.3(a), 1.3(b) and 1.3(c) above: 

i) determine whether to amend any proposal prior to implementation;  
ii) determine whether a further report needs to be considered by Cabinet 

or the relevant officer or portfolio holder before a final decision is taken 
on implementation; and 

iii) where a decision is taken not to proceed with any proposal then 
alternative proposal(s) will be brought forward for consideration. 

 
1.4. In relation to savings proposals that are significantly cross cutting across more 

than one service, authorises the Strategic Director or Director with primary 
responsibility for the savings proposal to complete any required equalities 
analysis assessments and to consider the outcome, and any other cross-
cutting implications, following consultation with the Strategic Directors or 
Directors of the other services significantly impacted by the proposals, prior to 
taking any decisions to implement such proposals. 

 
1.5. Notes in relation to 1.3 and 1.4 above, that where appropriate any key 

decisions will be brought back to Cabinet. 
 
1.6. Notes the latest Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) for 2023/24 to 

2026/27 (Section 4). 
   
1.7. Approves £46.368m of revenue growth for 2023/24 (paragraph 5.2.2) and 

authorises the Strategic Director of Corporate Resources (Section 151), 
following consultation with the Portfolio Holder and Strategic Leadership Team 
(SLT) to agree and allocate the service growth as part of the detailed service 
budget setting process.  

Page 42



5

 

 

 
1.8. Notes that the Council is in a position to agree a balanced budget for 2023/24 

and that any remaining budget gap following the Council Tax decision by Full 
Council on 8 March 2023 will be closed using reserves. 
 
Fees and Charges 

1.9. Approves the schedule of fees and charges for 2023/24 (paragraph 5.3 and 
Appendix 3). 

 
Council Tax 

1.10. Considers and recommends to Full Council an increase of 2% for the Social 
Care Precept and an increase of 2.99% for Council Tax in 2023/24 (paragraph 
5.7.4). 

 
Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

1.11. Notes the changes to the current Council Tax Reduction Scheme (paragraph 
5.7.15 and Appendix 4) as approved by Cabinet on 7 December 2022 for 
recommendation to Full Council on 8 March 2023. 
 

1.12. Notes that elsewhere on this agenda, Cabinet is being asked to approve the 
distribution of the additional Council Tax Support Fund for 2023/24. 

 
Council Tax Empty Property Premium Charge  

1.13. Approves to continue with an additional premium on top of the standard council 
tax for properties which have been empty for more than 2 years and to agree 
in principle to commence an additional 100% charge for the properties empty 
for more than one year from 1 April 2024 (paragraph 5.7.7). 
 
Business Rates Discount 

1.14. Approves (in accordance with powers granted under Section 47 of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1988) the continued offering of a discount in National 
Non-Domestic Rates (NNDR) of two times the cost of accreditation to the first 
100 businesses in Ealing which are, or which will become accredited with the 
Living Wage Foundation and who meet the criteria as set out in the February 
2016 Cabinet report: Discretionary Discount Scheme for Businesses 
accredited to Living Wage Foundation and extend the offer to new applicants, 
for 2023/24 (paragraph 5.10.3). 

 
1.15. Authorises the Strategic Director of Corporate Resources (Section 151) 

to make determinations in relation to applications for such NNDR discounts, in 
accordance with the Council’s adopted criteria. 

 
Schools Budget 

1.16. Notes the outcome of 2023/24 School Funding Formula changes as agreed in 
consultation with Schools Forum (Section 6) and authorises the Strategic 
Director of Corporate Resources (Section 151) to consider and, following 

Page 43



6

 

 

consultation with the portfolio holder for a Fairer Start to take on behalf of the 
Council any actions necessary for the Council to fulfil requirements for 
Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) budgets. 
 

1.17. Approves the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) Early Years Funding Formula 
Factors for 2023/24 (paragraph 6.2.12). 

 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 

1.18. Notes the HRA revenue budget for 2023/24, as presented to Cabinet on 25 
January 2023 (Section 7). 

 
Capital Programme 2023/24 – 2027/28  

1.19. Notes the new General Fund capital programme additions totalling £12.850m 
to be approved by Full Council on 8 March 2023 and decommissioning of 
£12.574m (Section 8 and Appendix 6). 

 
1.20. Notes the capital programme additions relating to the HRA (Section 8) that 

were considered as part of the HRA Business Plan by Cabinet on 25 January 
2023. 
 

1.21. Endorses and approves the following recommendations to Full Council, on 8 
March 2023, that it: 

 
1. Revenue Budget 2023/24 and Medium-Term Financial Strategy 

2023/24 to 2026/27: 
a) Considers and approves the Revenue Budget for 2023/24 as 

summarised in Appendix 1. 
b) Considers the advice of the Strategic Director of Corporate Resources 

(Section 151) on the levels of reserves and robustness of estimates in 
setting the budget as required by Section 25 of the Local Government 
Act 2003 (Section 10). 

c) Notes the financial risks and pressures set out in the report (Section 4 
and Section 14). 

d) Approves the Parking Account 2023/24 (paragraph 5.12 and Appendix 
5). 

e) Approves the draft Schools budget of £310.595m and agrees that any 
changes to the budget reasonably required as a result of the final 
2023/24 DSG settlement are delegated to the Strategic Director of 
Children’s following consultation with the Strategic Director of Corporate 
Resources (Section 151) (Section 6). 

f) Approves for the Strategic Director of Corporate Resources (Section 
151) to agree appropriate actions to comply with the revised DSG 
guidance, including agreeing the appropriate Deficit Recovery plan for 
DSG (Section 6). 

g) Notes that the General Fund balance is scheduled to remain the same 
at £15.919m for 2022/23 and notes the forecast levels of earmarked 

Page 44



7

 

 

reserves (Section 10 and Appendix 10). 
 

2. Capital Programme 2023/24 – 2027/28 
a) Approves the new General Fund capital programme additions totalling 

£12.850m (paragraph 8.3 and Appendix 6) and £12.574m of budgets to 
be decommissioned. 

b) Approves the updated profile of the current Capital Programme, as set 
out in Section 8 and Appendix 7. 

 
3. Capital Strategy, Treasury Management and Pension Fund  

a) Approves the Treasury Management Strategy including the associated 
Prudential Indicators and Annual Investment Strategy (Section 9 and 
Appendix 9). 

b) Approves the Treasury Management Policy Statement (Appendix 9). 
c) Notes the Strategic Director of Corporate Resources (Section 151) will 

implement the Treasury Management Strategy under existing officer 
delegated powers (Appendix 9). 

d) Approves the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) policy (Appendix 9). 
e) Notes that the Council manages cash on behalf of the Pension Fund 

and West London Waste Authority in accordance with the Treasury 
Management Strategy (Appendix 9). 

f) Approves the Capital Strategy (Appendix 8). 
g) Approves the Flexible Use of Capital Receipts policy for 2023/24 over 

the new MTFS period, subject to meeting Department for Levelling Up 
Housing and Communities (DLUHC) criteria (Appendix 8). 

h) Authorises for the Strategic Director of Corporate Resources (Section 
151) to agree commencement of the programme and sub-projects to be 
funded from the Flexible Use of Capital Receipts (Annex A of Appendix 
8). 
 

4. Council Tax and Business Rates  
a) Approves the officer recommendation of an increase of 2% for the 

Social Care Precept and an increase of 2.99% for Council Tax in 
2023/24 (paragraph 5.7.4). 

b) Notes the Greater London Authority (GLA) Band D precept of £434.14 
for 2023/24 (paragraph 5.6.2). 

c) Notes that the Strategic Director of Corporate Resources (Section 151) 
calculated under delegated authority on 9 January 2023 the amount of 
121,612.9 as the Council Tax Base, being the number of properties in 
Bands A-H in the Borough, expressed as an equivalent number of Band 
D units for the year 2023/24; in accordance with regulation 3 of the Local 
Authorities Calculation of Council Tax Base Regulations 1992 as 
amended made under Section 335 and 344 of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1992 (paragraph 5.7.1). 

d) Notes the forecast Collection Fund position for 2022/23 (paragraph 5.9). 
e) Notes the Council’s share of the council tax and business rates income 

forecast for 2023/24, as approved by the Strategic Director of Corporate 

Page 45



8

 

 

Resources (Section 151) (paragraphs 5.9 to 5.10 and Appendix 1). 
f) Approves to continue an additional premium on top of the standard 

council tax for properties which have been empty for more than 2 years 
and to agree in principle to commence an additional 100% charge for 
the properties empty for more than one year from 1 April 2024 
(paragraph 5.7.7) 

g) Notes the revised Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme for the financial 
year 2023/24 as approved by Cabinet on 7 December 2022 (paragraph 
5.7.15, Appendix 4). 

h) Notes that elsewhere on this agenda Cabinet is being asked to approve 
the Additional Council Tax Support Fund for 2023/24. 
 

1.22. Notes the verbal feedback from the Portfolio Holder for the following meetings 
with regards to the budget proposals: 
 
a) Ealing Business Partnership meeting held on 16 February 2023; and 
b) Overview and Scrutiny meeting held on 21 February 2023. 

 
2. Reason for Decision and Options Considered 
 
2.1. This report to Members on the 2023/24 Budget and Medium-Term Financial 

Strategy (MTFS) finalises the position since the last budget strategy report to 
Cabinet in July 2022 and brings together a number of significant issues for 
Cabinet decision. The main purpose is to enable Cabinet to consider the 
budget proposals and make recommendations to Full Council for when it 
finalises the budget and sets the council tax on 8 March 2023. 
 

2.2. The Council has continued to invest in services that experience significant and 
continued demand pressures, with prioritisation being given to the most 
vulnerable groups.  Due to the complexity of the service provision, against the 
backdrop of a pandemic, continuing uncertainty of long-term Government 
funding notwithstanding the increase in funding as a result of the final Local 
Government finance settlement, these services continue to operate in a 
challenging resource environment where small demand changes can lead to 
material budget variances. 

 
2.3. The proposals in this report will contribute to the savings agreed in the budget 

strategy. Some of the savings’ proposals will have more detailed implications 
which will only emerge following consultation. Where this is the case, those 
detailed implications will be considered before a final decision is taken on 
implementing the proposal, including whether a proposal should be amended 
prior to implementation. Where proposals when considered in more detail 
result in a lower financial saving, it is the responsibility of the respective 
Director to find alternative savings to the equivalent value to replace the 
reduced amount. 

 

Page 46



9

 

 

2.4. Any consultation in relation to proposals will be carried out as required and in 
accordance with the Council’s legal duties and responsibilities.  

 
3. Approach to Budget Setting 
 
3.1. The Council’s approach to setting the budget was originally set out in the 

Budget Strategy Report to Cabinet on 13 July 2022. 
 

3.2. Delivering the Administration’s Priorities 
 
3.2.1. The budget process is priority-led, aligning the allocation of resources with the 

priorities of the Administration. There are three key new Administration 
priorities for Ealing supported by nine priority outcomes covering the MTFS 
period: 

 
• Creating good jobs; 
• Tackling the climate crisis; and 
• Fighting inequality. 

 
3.3. 2023/24 Budget Approach 

 
3.3.1. The budget strategy focussed on identifying opportunities in the following 

strands: 
 
• Transformation and Change opportunities; 
• Department/ Service-led savings, income opportunities and efficiency; 
• Review of corporate budgets; and 
• Growth mitigation measures, for example through demand management 

and other mitigating actions. 
 

3.4. Key Objectives and Deliverables 
 

1) Set and deliver a balanced budget and improve financial resilience. 
2) Supporting the delivery of the Administration’s manifesto and priorities. 
3) Maximise transformation and medium-term decision-making to deliver 

savings and improve outcome for residents. 
 
3.5. 2023/24 Budget Process 
 
3.5.1. The last update to Cabinet in July 2022 showed a revised indicative budget 

gap of £38.276m.  
 
3.5.2. As part of the budget process, the review of corporate budgets and service-led 

Page 47



10

 

 

savings reviews have contributed towards addressing the MTFS challenge. In 
addition, a number of mitigating actions have been identified to reduce the 
growth requirements. Significant savings are increasingly hard to identify with 
a number of savings in 2023/24 being of a one-off or short-term nature, with 
some new savings identified for future years whilst demand pressures continue 
to rise. The table below summarises how the Council is looking to close the 
2023/24 budget gap. 

 
Table 1: 2023/24 Indicative Budget Gap as at February 2023 

2023/24  2023/24 Budget Gap as at February 2023 £M 
Budget Gap as at July 2022 38.276 
General Fund Savings (appendix 4) (7.184) 
General Fund Growth above £35m gap assumption 11.366 
Subtotal: Budget Gap 42.458 
Updated grant income assumptions following final Local 
Government Finance Settlement (19.920) 

Updated core funding income assumptions for Business Rates and 
Council Tax (9.887) 

Income from proposed increase to core Council Tax and Social 
Care Precept  (8.131) 

Concessionary fares levy and other corporate items (4.521) 
2023/24 Budget Gap as at February 2023 0.000 

 
4. Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 
 
4.1. Financial Context and Overview 
 
4.1.1. The aim of the MTFS is to ensure a stable and sustainable financial position 

that will allow the Council to achieve its vision and strategic objectives. It 
reflects the impact of Government funding decisions, analysis of advice and 
information and the impacts of the national and local economic context. It 
provides a robust financial framework to support the achievement of the 
Council’s overall objectives and delivery of services. 
 

4.1.2. In broad terms although the final settlement was better than had been feared 
for much of the year, there still is a high degree of uncertainty around levels of 
funding in future years. The postponement of funding reforms and the absence 
of Government spending plans mean that there is significant funding 
uncertainty, making the preparation of medium-term financial plans 
complicated and speculative. 

 
4.1.3. Uncertainty regarding the impact of Local Government funding reforms 

Page 48



11

 

 

(business rates baseline funding reset and the Fair Funding review), the 
deferred health and social care reforms and the wider economic turmoil 
including the cost of living crisis present significant risks. This in turn creates a 
high degree of uncertainty both within and beyond 2023/24. As such the MTFS 
and budget strategy is being compiled in a period of unprecedented financial 
uncertainty and any estimates beyond one-year need to be viewed with a 
degree of caution. 

 
4.1.4. In addition to the uncertainty, there is also the potential for significant spending 

pressures from demand-led services, new burdens which impact on the budget 
and recurring pressures seen as a result of cost of living, utility cost increases, 
inflation and COVID-19. Although growth has been built into the MTFS to help 
alleviate some of these pressures, they continue to present a significant budget 
risk, particularly in respect of the inflationary, demographic and contractual 
pressures. 

 
4.1.5. By design the MTFS is agile and moves to reflect the changing circumstances 

faced by the Council, updated priorities and ambitions, the latest financial 
situation and external factors such as national pay settlements (section 4.4 to 
4.7).  Members are asked to consider and agree the updated MTFS for 
2023/24 and beyond as set out in table below, noting that the Council, in 
common with all local authorities, continues to face a challenging financial 
outlook. A more accurate forecast will need to be developed as and when 
further information is released by the Government, however initial plans will be 
prepared for following financial years on the basis of prudent scenarios in the 
absence of such clarity. 

 
4.1.6. Over the last MTFS period the Council’s budget approach has focused on 

driving efficiencies to deliver a balanced budget in the face of real terms 
Government funding cuts. At the end of this period the Council has continued 
to be successful in delivering a savings programme without adversely 
impacting on the most vulnerable. The MTFS has also been successful in 
building investment opportunities that have allowed the Council to adequately 
fund growth pressures resulting from both demographic pressures and also 
the changing needs of its vulnerable residents particularly social care 
pressures, with the Council using its precept powers to raise additional council 
tax income.  

 
4.1.7. Noting the limitations in the ability to determine a budget gap with a reasonable 

degree of accuracy due to no certainty on future funding, an issue further 
compounded due to the uncertainty on services due to the pandemic and cost 
of living crisis, the table below summarises the MTFS forecast (including 
budget gap) for the period 2023/24 to 2026/27. 

 

Page 49



12

 

 

Table 2: Medium Term Financial Strategy Summary 
2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 MTFS 2023/24 to 2026/27 £M £M £M £M 

Funding (286.681) (290.748) (292.476) (294.221) 
Net Services Expenditure 208.189 209.473 208.255 207.761 
Levies 25.401 30.711 34.594 34.594 
Inflation 20.748 30.725 43.552 55.379 
Contingency 2.000 2.000 2.000 2.000 
Corporate Items 40.195 52.442 68.547 83.818 
Treasury Management 33.184 41.691 43.528 45.280 
Grants Held Centrally (46.537) (51.382) (51.382) (51.382) 
Net Centrally Held Budgets 74.991 106.188 140.839 169.689 
Net Budget Requirement 283.181 315.661 349.094 377.450 
Contributions to (+) / from (-) reserves 3.500 3.500 3.500 3.500 
Net Budget Requirement after Reserves 286.681 319.161 352.594 380.950 
Forecasted Budget Gap - Incremental 0.000 28.413 31.706 26.610 
Forecasted Budget Gap - Cumulative 0.000 28.413 60.119 86.729 

 
4.2. As set out in 4.1.7 due to the continued uncertainty of Government funding 

beyond 2023/24, it is challenging for the Council to estimate an accurate 
2024/25 budget gap. As such the budget gap set out in Table 2 should be seen 
as an indicator of direction of travel. Over the last three years, the Council has 
received late notification of additional grant that has facilitated the Council in 
closing its budget gap albeit it has been announced as typically one-off 
funding. Whilst the Local Government finance policy statement 2023/24 to 
2024/25 seeks to provide some clarity over government funding intentions for 
2024/25, the complex nature of the grant regime and the omission of key 
funding streams such as the New Home Bonus means that it is difficult to 
estimate the expected impact on Ealing’s expected grant funding levels and 
amounts will not be known until mid-December 2023. At this time, it is 
financially prudent for the Council to look to work within the current estimate. 
The budget gap estimate will therefore be updated throughout the year as part 
of the development of the Budget Strategy for 2024/25. 
 

4.3. Principles underpinning the MTFS 
 

• Robust budget setting, taking account of known pressures, prepared in 
consultation with Strategic Directors.  

• Regular monitoring of budgets and robust management and mitigating 
actions to address any unplanned variances that arise in-year and reporting 
to the Strategic Leadership Team (SLT) and Cabinet. 

Page 50



13

 

 

• Appropriate levels of income generated with effective debt management 
processes that allow for prompt collection of sums owed to the Council and 
monitoring of debt levels. 

• Prudent assessment of future resources and unfunded cost pressures. 
• Production of detailed implementation plans for all savings proposals and 

monitoring of delivery. 
• Maximisation of external grant funding that meets the Council’s priorities. 
• Prudent assessment of provisions required to mitigate future liabilities. 
• Risk assessed level of reserves and balances held to mitigate potential 

financial liabilities and commitments and enable investment in 
transformation and change to deliver future savings. 

• Prudent and planned use of reserves to fund one-off expenditure. 
• Effective forecasting and management of the Council’s cash flow 

requirements. 
• Full integration of revenue and capital financial decision processes, to 

ensure the revenue implications of capital projects are appropriately 
reflected in the MTFS. 

• Effective management of treasury management risks and opportunities, 
including smoothing out the debt maturity profile and borrowing only when 
necessary (in accordance with the Treasury and Capital Strategies). 

• Prudent and proportional use of the Council’s borrowing powers to 
undertake capital investment that is not funded by capital receipts or 
contributions from third parties. 

 
4.4. Final Local Government Finance Settlement 
 

4.4.1. The final Local Government finance settlement was announced on 7 February 
2023 for one-year only and reconfirmed previous announcements included 
within the 2021 Spending Round (November 2021) updated for the 2022 
Autumn Budget statement announcements, Local Government Provisional 
Settlement and the Local Government technical consultation (December 
2022). The settlement included the following key announcements: 

 
a) Local Government 

• Settlement Funding Assessment (SFA) to increase by £789m (5.3%) 
of which £154m relates to London. SFA includes business rates 
baseline, business rates top-up grant and revenue support grant. 

• Revenue Supports Grant (RSG) to increase in line with September CPI 
(10.1%). Three grants were consolidated into the RSG keeping their 
existing distribution: 
o Council Tax Discounts Family Annex (£7.4m) 
o Local Council Tax Support Administration Subsidy (£69m) 
o Natasha’s Law (£1.5m) 

• Business Rates: 
o Business rates multiplier to be frozen. 

Page 51



14

 

 

o Under-indexing multiplier grant has increased (by £930m), as 
compensation for lost income that would have been generated 
from an increase to the multiplier. 

o Implementation of 2023 business rates revaluation, consulted in 
September 2022 with any adjustment of any gains or losses from 
this to be reflected with the tariff levy or top-up grant. 

o Transitional protection provided over the next three years before 
commencement of the next revaluation cycle. 

• Councils will be able to increase their core council tax threshold by 3% 
and Adult Social Care precept by 2%. 

• Continuation of New Homes Bonus (NHB) grant on same basis as 
2022/23, attracting no new legacy payments with new scheme to be 
confirmed before the 2024/25 local government finance settlement. 
Overall the grant will be reduced by £265m in England of which £38m 
relates to London. 

• Lower Tier Services grant to be discontinued in 2023/24. 
• ‘Services Grant’ reduced by £464m across England (44%), of which 

£86m relates to London boroughs. 
• ‘Independent Living Fund’ grant (£161m) will be rolled up in the social 

care grant. 
• Fair Funding review (review of relative needs and resources) and 

business rates reset have been deferred for another two years. 
 

b) Health and Social Care: 
• As set out in the Autumn 2022 Budget Statement the adult social care 

funding reforms have been pushed back to October 2025. 
• Social Care Grant to increase by £1.345bn of which £1.285bn is 

funded by money previously earmarked for adult social care funding 
reform, with an additional £80m redistributed from within the 
settlement. £1.185bn of this new funding will be allocated using the 
ASC Relative Needs Formula (RNF), with the remainder (£160m) used 
to equalise for the variation in yield that can be generated from the 
social care precept. 

• Market Sustainability and Fair Cost of Care Fund grant totalling £162m 
has now been rolled up into a new ‘Adult Social Care Market 
Sustainability and Improvement Fund’ ring-fenced grant totalling 
£562m to address discharge delays, social care waiting times, low fee 
rates, workforce pressures, and to promote technological innovation in 
the sector. Further details on the conditions of this funding will be 
announced in due course.  

• Continuation of Improved Better Care Fund at same level as 2022/23. 
• A new Adult Social Care Discharge Fund grant worth £300m in 

2023/24, aimed at reducing delayed transfers of care will be required 
to be pooled as part of the Better Care Fund. London boroughs will 
receive £49m (16.3%). Further details on the conditions of this funding 
will be announced in due course. The funding is expected to be made 

Page 52



15

 

 

available for the next two years. 
 

c) Education and Skills 
• Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG): 

o England will receive a 6.9% increase in total funding from 2022/23 
(£3.8bn), while London will see only a 6.1% increase (£579m).  

o Schools Block funding will see an increase of 6.33% (£2.639bn) 
nationally which includes £1.45bn of supplementary grant for 
mainstream schools. For London the increase will be 0.89% 
(£370m), mainly supplementary funding for mainstream schools 
(£240m). 

o High Needs Block (HNB) funding will see an increase of 10.74% 
totalling £965m which includes £400m of supplementary funding. 
Overall London will see 10% increase (£177m of which £79m 
relates to the supplementary funding). 

o Early Years Block funding will see a 5.4% increase from 2022/23 
with London to see a 4.9% increase. 

o The Central Schools Service Block funding continues to decline, 
falling by 2.6% (£10.3m). London will experience a 4% drop in 
funding. 

 
d) Housing: 

• Homelessness Prevention Grant in 2023/24 has been increased by 
£8.863m (2.90%) nationally of which London will receive £2.680m 
(1.78%), with a further increase of £8.150m expected in 2024/25. The 
grant includes funding for councils to meet the burdens following the 
expansion of priority need to those who are homeless as a result of 
domestic abuse, which came into force in July 2021 following the 
landmark Domestic Abuse Act 2021. 

 
e) Welfare 

• National Living Wage (NLW) and National Minimum Wage (NMW) 
increases from April 2023: 
o NLW – 9.7% for individuals aged 23 and over from £9.50 to £10.42 
o NMW (16 to 22 year-old) – between 9.7% to 10.9%, depending on 

age and role 
o NMW Apprentice rate – 9.7% from £4.81 to £5.28 

• Benefits including Universal Credit and state pension to increase by 
10.1%. 

 
4.4.2. The health of the economy has direct and indirect impacts on the Council’s 

MTFS. The comprehensive spending review (CSR) provides a high-level 
funding outlook over the short to medium term considering the latest economic 
performance and projections of GDP, borrowing, taxation levels and 
employment rates. However, a one-year finance settlement makes it difficult 
to assess the financial impact of the current MTFS assumptions in the medium 

Page 53



16

 

 

term. It is made even more difficult due to the pandemic and wider global and 
particularly national economic volatility and their impact in the long term on the 
national and local economy. 

 
4.4.3. Many service pressures continue to increase. Adult and Children’s social care 

and children with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND) demand 
and increasing complexity and cost of care needs continue to drive growth 
requirements along with increasing housing and accommodation challenges. 
As an example, in Adult Social Services alone the Council continues to spend 
over £0.276m per day (equivalent to £8.375m per month) providing care for 
eligible residents. 
 

4.5. Inflation 
 
4.5.1. Currently inflation stands at 10.5% (CPI December 2022) which is 8.5% above 

the Bank of England inflation target rate of 2%, and the highest rate for 40 
years.  

 
4.5.2. The impact of the on-going high levels of inflation combined with the cost of 

living crisis and rising energy prices have a significant impact on the local and 
national economy, local businesses and residents. The Council is not immune 
to this and is experiencing significant increases in costs. Below is a list of key 
service areas or contracts that have been identified to have a financial impact 
in-year. 

 
a) Social care - both adults and children services are expected to be faced 

with additional in-year costs in relation to higher fees to care providers to 
offset their rising costs of running care homes and providing care. 
 

b) Home to School Transport - cost increases driven predominantly by the 
rising fuel prices. 
 

c) Construction - the soaring cost of construction materials means the costs 
of delivering capital projects is at risk of increasing which will impact both 
the General Fund and Housing Revenue Account (HRA) programmes. At 
the moment most contractors are trying to absorb such costs within their 
project budgets through the use of project contingency. However, as 
inflation keeps rising there is a higher probability that developers/providers 
will pass on some of these costs to the Council and new contracts are 
procured at significantly higher costs than anticipated 18 months ago. 
Although this will be dependent on individual negotiations and contract 
terms such cost increases could have an impact on the Council’s treasury 
management budgets and borrowing requirements which may require the 
Council to review, defer and/or reprioritise capital projects to balance the 
overall budget. 
 

Page 54



17

 

 

d) Private Sector Rental - landlords may seek to increase rents in line with 
inflation which can lead to additional costs due to the availability of 
genuinely affordable private rented properties which could lead to 
increased homelessness requiring the need for temporary accommodation 
and use of bed and breakfast. In addition, the Local Housing Allowance 
was frozen which has an impact on council budgets due to the differential 
between the rent income from housing benefits and cost of property lease 
in relation to temporary accommodation. 

 
4.5.3. As part of the annual budget process for 2023/24 the following inflation has 

been set aside in-year for inflation: 
 
• £9.4m for pay inflation. 
• £10.6m for contract inflation. 

 
4.5.4. Due to uncertainty over the nationally negotiated staff pay-award and wider 

economic volatility impacting on prices, it is recognised that although this may 
not be sufficient to fully fund all inflation driven pressures borne by the Council, 
officers will flag pressures to the SLT and Members via the in-year financial 
monitoring process to ascertain the impact. Where required SLT will look to 
put in place measures and corrective action that continues to deliver a 
balanced budget for the year. Where such actions cannot fully meet the 
financial pressures, the Council will need to use its cash reserves to balance 
its budget in 2023/24. Any recurring cost pressures will need to be considered 
as part of the 2024/25 MTFS and budget process. The 2023/24 pay inflation 
growth includes the unfunded element of the 2022/23 pay award due to the 
higher than expected impact of the flat rate pay award. 
 

4.5.5. Global price increases and spiralling inflation are having a major impact on 
these day-to-day services and construction projects and the Council could be 
faced with extraordinary additional costs at a time when budgets are already 
under strain. Councils have a legal obligation to balance their budgets and 
have very little scope for meeting these pressures without cutting services, 
cancelling or delaying major infrastructure projects, proposing council tax rises 
next year or using one-off reserves. With inflation likely to rise even further and 
remain high for the foreseeable future, councils face a winter of difficult 
decisions unless financial support is provided by government to offset these 
extraordinary additional extra costs. 
 

4.6. Interest Rates 
 

4.6.1. Over the last year the Bank of England has increased interest rates eight times, 
from 0.50% in February 2022 to 4% in February 2023. The Bank of England 
Monetary Policy Committee are expected to review this next on 23 March 
2023. 
 

Page 55



18

 

 

4.6.2. Officers have been observing the increase in interest rates on the Council’s 
investment income and borrowing requirement and have fed this into the 
Treasury Management Strategy for 2023/24. They will continue to monitor this 
closely and feed this into the quarterly financial position during 2023/24. 
 

4.7. Children’s Social Care Reforms 
 

4.7.1. On 2 February 2023 the Government published its vision for children’s social 
care accompanied by a consultation. The ‘Stable Homes, Built on love’ 
implementation strategy is based on recommendations from the following 
three independent reviews: 
 
• Alister's Independent Review of Children's Social Care; 
• The Competition and Markets Authority report on children's residential 

homes; and 
• The Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel report into the murders of 

Arthur Labinjo-Hughes and Star Hobson. 
 

4.7.2. The published strategy commits to additional investment of c£200m over the 
next two years for a number of measures relevant to local authorities.  
 

4.7.3. The financial impact of any changes to funding distribution for children’s social 
care and other proposals are not yet quantifiable. As further details emerge a 
financial assessment will be undertaken to understand the impact on councils 
general fund budgets. 
 

4.8. Budget Planning Assumptions 
 

Council Tax and Social Care Precept Options 
4.8.1. The MTFS assumes council tax will be raised by the officer recommended 

maximum of 4.99% (including a 2% rise in the social care precept) in 2023/24. 
This will increase the level of Ealing’s element of council tax from £1,339.89 to 
£1,406.75 (£1,735.48 to £1,840.89 including the GLA precept) at Band D. No 
council tax increases are assumed in future years. However, Council Tax level 
is subject to an annual Full Council decision which may vary from this 
assumption. As such, the MTFS assumes no increases to council tax beyond 
2023/24. 
 

4.8.2. Each year the government determines the limit at which council tax increases 
would be excessive and therefore require a referendum.  The referendum limit 
for 2023/24 is 2.99% for core Council Tax and up to 2% for the Social Care 
Precept. These increases are assumed in the Government’s Core Spending 
Power calculations for councils and approximately 3.3% of the 9.9% increase 
for Ealing. 

 

Page 56

https://childrenssocialcare.independent-review.uk/final-report/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/childrens-social-care-market-study-final-report/final-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/childrens-social-care-market-study-final-report/final-report
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1078488/ALH_SH_National_Review_26-5-22.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1078488/ALH_SH_National_Review_26-5-22.pdf


19

 

 

4.8.3. The financial value of additional income to Ealing of each 1% increase in 
Council Tax is approximately £1.6m.  The table below shows the weekly impact 
of each rise on the Band D value of the Ealing element of the Council Tax. 

 
 

Table 3: Council Tax Scenarios 

Ealing Band D 
Council Tax 

Council Tax 
Increase 

(including Social 
Care Precept) (£) 

Weekly Band 
D Increase 

Impact 
(£) 

Annual Band 
D Increase 
Impact (£) 

0.00%  1,339.89  0.00 0.00 
1.00%  1,353.29  0.26 13.40 
2.00%  1,366.69  0.52 26.80 
3.00%  1,380.09  0.77 40.20 
4.00%  1,393.49  1.03 53.60 
5.00%  1,406.88  1.29 66.99 

 
Retained Business Rates 

4.8.4. From 1 April 2023 the locally retained share will continue to be 67% of the 
business rates income (37% GLA and 30% Ealing’s share). 

 
Government Grants  

4.8.5. The final Local Government finance settlement confirmed the allocation of the 
following grants, and details of the grants and MTFS assumptions are 
summarised below: 

 
a) Services Grant 

In the 2022/23 Local Government finance settlement, the Government 
introduced this as non-ringfenced one-off allocation provided in recognition 
of the vital services, including social care, delivered at every level of local 
government and also included funding for local government costs for the 
increase in employer National Insurance Contributions. The grant has been 
continued for 2023/24, albeit reduced to reflect the reversal of the 1.25% 
increase in national insurance originally envisaged to fund the health and 
social care reforms and funding that has been redistributed to other grants. 
The MTFS continues to assume this grant will continue. 
 

b) New Homes Bonus (NHB) 
The government have confirmed new rounds of payments in 2023/24, 
although, as with 2022/23 these will not attract new legacy payments.  
Overall, there is an increase to the current funding of £0.396m. A 
consultation was launched after the 2021/22 settlement on the future of 
NHB. the consultation on the future of NHB concluded in April 2021, there 
has been no official response. The MTFS assumes for the funding to be 
phased out with an alternative funding to be provided at the minimum level 

Page 57



20

 

 

assumed in the MTFS.  
 

c) Improved Better Care Fund (iBCF) 
The final Local Government finance settlement confirmed the Council’s 
2023/24 allocation of iBCF will remain the same as the 2022/23 allocation. 
Councils can spend the grant following agreement of local plans with their 
Integrated Care Boards (ICB) partners. Ealing has agreed a local plan for 
the funding which it will continue to use to deliver adult social care 
placements and services. The MTFS assumes this grant will continue. 
  

d) Social Care Grant 
The final Local Government finance settlement confirmed an increase in 
the Social Care Grant for 2023/24. The MTFS assumes this grant will 
continue and increase in 2024/25 in line with announced increases in 
funding. 
 

e) Lower Tier Service Grant 
The Lower Tier Service Grant has been abolished as part of the 2023/24 
final Local Government finance settlement. 
 

f) Market Sustainability and Fair Cost Fund 
This has now been rolled into the Adult Social Care Market Sustainability 
and Improvement Fund, set out below.  
 

g) Adult Social Care (ASC) Market Sustainability and Improvement Fund 
The 2023/24 final Local Government finance settlement confirmed a new 
grant to address discharge delays; social care waiting times; low fee rates; 
workforce pressures; and to promote technological innovation in the sector. 
The MTFS assumes this grant will continue and increase in 2024/25 in line 
with announced increases in funding. 

 
h) Adult Social Care Discharge Grant 

  The 2023/24 final Local Government finance settlement confirmed a new 
grant will be required to be pooled as part of the Better Care Fund to 
support improvements to adult social care and in particular to address 
discharge delays, social care waiting times, low fee rates and workforce 
pressures in the adult social care sector. The MTFS assumes this grant will 
continue and increase in 2024/25 in line with announced increases in 
funding. 
 

Table 4: Centrally Held Grants Income Expected 
MTFS Forecast £M 

Centrally Held Grants 
2022/23 
Budget 

£M 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 
Services Grant (5.315) (3.118) (3.118) (3.118) (3.118) 
New Homes Bonus (4.492) (4.888) (1.520) (1.520) (1.520) 

Page 58



21

 

 

MTFS Forecast £M 
Centrally Held Grants 

2022/23 
Budget 

£M 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 
Improved Better Care Fund1 (12.679) (14.457) (15.643) (15.643) (15.643) 
Children's and Adults Social Care 
Grant (14.584) (22.532) (26.110) (26.110) (26.110) 

Lower Tier Service Grant (0.725) 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 
Market Sustainability and Fair Cost of 
Care Fund (0.957) 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 

ASC Market Sustainability and 
Improvement Fund 0.000 (3.319) (4.991) (4.991) (4.991) 

Total Expected Grant Income Held 
Centrally (38.752) (48.315) (51.382) (51.382) (51.382) 

1 As the new Adult Social Care Discharge grant of £1.778m in 2023/24 and an additional £2.963m in 
2024/25 are included as part of the pooled Improved Better Care Fund total. 

 
Budget Factors 

4.8.6. The table below sets out the pressures that could have an impact on the 
budget.  

 
Table 5: Factors that are likely to impact the Budget 

Factors Impact 
Delivery of 
agreed savings 

The budget for 2023/24 and over the medium-term requires the Council 
to deliver on all the savings set out in this report. These savings will be 
closely monitored on a regular basis throughout the financial year to 
ensure that they are on track to be achieved. Where savings are unlikely 
to be achieved then substitute proposals will need to be taken to ensure 
the overall budget can be achieved. 

Inflation differing 
from assumptions 

As the National Joint Committee (NJC) is negotiating with 
representatives of public sector unions at the time of setting the budget 
for 2023/24 the pay awards are unknown. The MTFS has assumed an 
estimated pay increase cost of £9m for 2023/24. £9.5m has been 
estimated for price inflation of contracts and utilities, including £3.8m for 
adult social care. 

School pay 
inflation and 
associated on-
costs 

This can result in additional pressures on schools’ budgets that can lead 
to pressures manifesting through either an increase in school deficits 
and/or DSG overspend. 

Contractual risks For example, contractor viability, non-delivery of commissioned services, 
impact of national minimum wage increases from April 2023 to name a 
few. 

Page 59



22

 

 

Factors Impact 
Demographic and 
demand-led 
pressures 

a) Children and Adults  
The Children’s and Adults’ budgets are under pressure due to the 
demand led nature of these services. One of the main risks in the 
budget relates to demographic change: 
• Adults – Residents are living longer, and many have increasingly 

complex care needs, particularly following the pandemic. 
Residents are being discharged from hospital with more acute 
and complex needs leading to additional costs. Although the 
Council has good monitoring and forecasting tools, it remains 
extremely difficult to forecast both numbers and need resulting in 
a risk that current forecasts could be understated, that may give 
rise to budget pressures. 

• Children – There are ongoing pressures in respect of expensive 
care placements due to the increased complexities of children in 
care and sufficiency of placements in the market. There also 
remain pressures in respect of SEN transport relating to the 
increased Education Health and Care Plan (EHCP) outcomes that 
results in more children requiring support. 

b) Homelessness 
There is a risk that levels of homelessness increase in the borough 
particularly due to the cost-of living crisis, increasing rents and 
landlords leaving the market with the subsequent requirement for the 
Council to support individuals in Temporary Accommodation at high 
cost. 

Income Levels of Council income are impacted by both businesses and 
individuals’ responses to the pandemic, economic climate and as people 
may cut back on areas of discretionary spending in a cost of living crisis. 
This could impact on levels of rental (HRA and temporary 
accommodation), planning, property, leisure services and car park 
income. 
 
Increased risks of collection and bad debts including for significant 
funding sources of business rates and council tax. 

School SEN 
expansions 

Due to the steep increase in the number of EHCPs, the service is 
experiencing pressures across SEN placement (DSG) and transport 
budgets (General Fund) due to the lack of adequate SEN places in the 
borough.  

Academisation Pressures caused by schools who are required to move to Academy 
status and the resultant financial liability upon transfer being the 
responsibility of the Council i.e., the Council having to fund any school 
deficit balances upon transfer. 

Page 60



23

 

 

Factors Impact 
Levies paid to 
external bodies 

Levy payments are outside the Council’s control and need to be met 
from its budget requirement. Key cost drivers leading to any budget 
pressure will be due to: 
• volume-led levy payments such as the West London Waste ‘Pay as 

You Throw’ (PAYT) 
• inflation and cost increases above inflation assumed within the 

MTFS. 
Pension Fund Employer contributions into the Pension Fund can fluctuate depending 

on the net liability of the fund and an agreed deficit repayment plan. An 
actuarial review of the pension fund assets and liabilities is carried out 
every three years with the outcome feeding into the MTFS for the 
following three years. A valuation was undertaken during 2022 
concluding no recommended change to Council’s budgeted contribution. 

Government 
grant income 
differing from 
assumptions 

With the Local Government Finance Settlement only announcing a one-
year funding announcement it is difficult to predict whether grants are to 
continue, at what level and its impact – a significant risk to the Council is 
the continuation of the new Home Bonus which will be consulted on 
during 2023/24. 

Business rates 
revaluation 

Previously, the revaluation cycle has varied from 6 to 7 years with the 
last business rates revaluation being 1 April 2017. The Government 
have introduced a shorter three-year revaluation cycle period which will 
look to align property valuations more closely with the current market 
rental values and will come into force on 1 April 2023.  There remains a 
risk of an overall reduction to the Council’s income from business rates 
due to the volatility of appeals and the impact of COVID-19, inflation and 
wider economic downturn on businesses. In parallel the Council may 
see a budget pressure for revised business rates liability for its own 
premises. 

Local 
Government 
funding reform 

• Funding Fair Funding Review and Business Rates Baseline Reset – 
The Department of Levelling up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) 
Local Government finance policy statement 2023/24 to 2024/25 
indicated that in the longer-term it would seek to update Local 
Government funding with a review to be undertaken in the next 
Parliament. 

• This causes significant uncertainty regarding Ealing’s funding 
baselines for future years after 2024/25 and in undertaking any 
medium term financial planning. In the absence of implementation 
timeline and details of proposed funding reforms, the MTFS currently 
makes an assumption with regards to Fair Funding budgetary impact 
on the General Fund. The lack of details on the proposed change 
and an updated timeline for implementation causes considerable 
uncertainty when undertaking meaningful financial planning to 
determine future funding assumptions. 

Page 61



24

 

 

Factors Impact 
COVID 19 and 
economic 
downturn 

The potential long-term impact on the local economy, particular in 
relation to council tax and business rates income and fees and charges 
can pose a considerable budget pressure. In addition, the medium and 
long term effect of Covid on demand for services is still unknown.  

Health and Social 
Care Reforms 

The Chancellor has deferred the implementation of the Health and 
Social care reforms for the next 2 years, especially changes proposed 
around charging and caps of care funding contributions. 

New Waste 
Recycling 
Legislation 

On 24 March 2021, the Government published the second round of the 
Resources and Waste Strategy consultation on the DRS (Deposit Return 
Scheme) and EPR (Extended Producer Responsibility).  The impact of 
the schemes will have financial implications on the collection and 
separation of certain items, collections from difficult to reach properties 
etc.  As details of the policy are released a financial implication 
assessment will need to be undertaken in collaboration with the West 
London Waste Authority to determine the impact on the Council’s 
finances. 

Children’s Social 
Care Reform 

As set out above on 2 February 2023 the Department for Education 
(DfE) published ‘Stable Homes, Built on Love’ its implementation 
strategy and consultation in response to three independent reviews. 
 
The published strategy commits to additional investment over the next 
two years relating to Phase One of the Government’s reforms, taking 
these to the end of the current Spending Review period. Phase One 
focuses on making immediate improvements with subsequent phases to 
follow subject to funding, outcome of consultation and parliamentary 
approval focussing on fundamental reforms everywhere. 
 
Before the next spending review the Government is intending to publish 
and consult on a new Local Government funding formula distribution 
with regards to children and young people services aim of which is to 
improve support for vulnerable children and families, reduce the need for 
crisis response and providing more early support to families. As details 
of the funding reforms are known a financial implication assessment will 
need to be undertaken to determine the impact on the General Fund. 

 
4.9. Monitoring and Review 

 
4.9.1. Cabinet receives regular budget update reports during the year on how the 

Council is progressing against its MTFS. All processes and procedures relating 
to the monitoring of the budget are set out in the Council’s Financial 
Regulations. 

Page 62



25

 

 

 
4.9.2. The strategy is published on the Council’s website and communicated to staff 

and stakeholders. 
 

5. 2023/24 General Fund Revenue Budget 
 
5.1. The Council’s General Fund Revenue Budget and Capital Programme 

proposals are the outcome of work through the budget and service review 
process.  Appendix 1 provides a summary of the 2023/24 Revenue Budget. 
 

5.2. 2023/24 Budget Assumptions  
 
5.2.1. Budgets reflecting cost increases identified between 2022/23 and 2023/24 

have been prepared in consultation with the Strategic Director of Corporate 
Resources (Section 151), Strategic Leadership Team (SLT), service budget 
leads and other officers within the Council’s departments. For 2023/24 there 
will be no automatic inflationary increase of budgets. The assumptions are set 
out below: 

 
a) Inflation – The overall inflation fund set aside centrally is for both pay and 

contractual inflation. The NJC are currently in negotiation with public sector 
unions to agree 2023 pay inflation. Pay increases will be prioritised against 
the funds initially with the remaining budget being made available to fund 
any contractual increases.  The Commercial Hub will lead on reviewing and 
assessing the contractual inflation and upon their recommendation a 
budgetary uplift will be considered and provided by the Strategic Director 
of Corporate Resources (section 151 officer) within the available funding 
envelope. 

b) Income – a review was undertaken of all fees and charges as part of the 
annual budget process. For 2023/24 increases are recommended in 
response to cost inflation pressures on the underlying service delivery 
budgets and to ensure that charges are set to recover costs (except for 
those that are set under statute or subsidised). 

 
Growth Proposals 

5.2.2. Budget growth proposals have been considered as part of the budget review 
process under five broad categories. As part of this process a general fund 
growth provision of £46.368m for 2023/24 has been made centrally, 
summarised in the table below. 

 
Table 6: Centrally held revenue growth 
2023/24 Growth held Centrally £M 
Organisational Change 1.791 
Delivery of Savings 0.065 
Service Growth and Pressures 21.047 

Page 63



26

 

 

2023/24 Growth held Centrally £M 
Inflation 19.959 
Capital Investment (revenue support) 0.506 
Council Plan – Real Living Wage 3.000 
Total MTFS Growth 46.368 

 
5.2.3. Significant increases in inflation experienced during 2022/23 were not 

envisaged in February 2022 when the 2022/23 budget was being set. At that 
time inflation was running at 5.5% compared to 10.5% in December 2022. 
Whilst the sector has campaigned for additional in-year funding from 
Government to meet this extraordinary inflationary pressure, this has not been 
forthcoming. Therefore the 2023/24 budget includes significant service growth 
required to meet the 2022/23 unfunded price increases experienced in-year. 

 
5.2.4. The growth is derived from sensitivity budget modelling, with the ‘realistic’ case 

assumptions being included within the final budget. The growth budget being 
set aside is to fund key service which is reflected in the third quarter monitor 
for 2022/23 and adjusted for one-off mitigations, in particular inflationary 
pressures across social care, cost of nursing and hospital discharges. 
Placement costs for Children with Disabilities (CWD) and SEN transport are 
being reported as significant pressures in the Budget Update 2023/24 report 
to the same Cabinet meeting.  
 

5.2.5. In consultation with the Portfolio Holder and Strategic Leadership Team (SLT), 
the Strategic Director of Corporate Resources (Section 151) will agree an 
allocation framework of growth as part of the detailed service budget setting 
process. 
 

5.2.6. Social care grant increases and precept growth will be used to fund inflationary 
and growth pressures in Adult social care. The additional funding for social 
care for both Adults and Children has been used to focus on addressing 
unbudgeted expenditure and use of reserves across these areas. This has 
enabled the Council to set a balanced budget without the use of a planned 
transfer from reserves. 

 
New Saving proposals 

5.2.7. Members should note that the net savings proposals are presented as 
incremental changes to the 2023/24 base budget. Each subsequent year’s 
proposals are then shown as incremental changes to the preceding year. 
 

5.2.8. Officers have continued to work on proposals to close the gap across a range 
of Council Plan Priorities and specific service programmes. In total there are 
£14.729m of savings proposed as part of this report, of which of £7.396m relate 

Page 64



27

 

 

to General Fund. Details are contained with Appendix 2 with a summary of the 
saving proposals presented for approval set out in Tables 7 and 8. 

 
Table 7: Summary of Saving Proposals 

2023/24  2024/25  2025/26  2026/27  Total MTFS 
Savings  Savings Summary 

£M £M £M £M £M 
General Fund Savings 7.184 (1.169) 1.037 0.344 7.396 
Cost Avoidance Savings 2.968 0.864 2.662 0.839 7.333 
Total Gross Savings 10.152 (0.304) 3.699 1.183 14.729 

 
Table 8a: Net Saving Proposals relating to General Fund 

2023/24  2024/25  2025/26  2026/27  Total MTFS 
Savings  General Fund Savings 

Summary By Department 
£M £M £M £M £M 

Children’s Services 0.733 (0.733) 0.000 0.000 0.000 
Housing & Environment 3.167 1.018 0.954 0.261 5.400 
Economy 1.787 (1.787) 0.000 0.000 0.000 
Corporate Resources (0.011) 0.288 0.038 0.038 0.353 
Strategy & Change 0.095 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.095 
Council Wide 1.412 0.045 0.045 0.045 1.547 
Total Net General Fund 
Savings  7.184 (1.169) 1.037 0.344 7.396 

 
Table 8b: Cost Avoidance Proposals 

2023/24  2024/25  2025/26  2026/27  Total MTFS 
Savings  Cost Avoidance Savings 

Summary By Department 
£M £M £M £M £M 

Children’s Services 2.284 1.355 2.246 0.717 6.602 
Adults Service & Public 
Health (0.316) 0.509 0.416 0.122 0.731 

Housing & Environment 1.000 (1.000) 0.000 0.000 0.000 
Total Cost Avoidance 
Savings  2.968 0.864 2.662 0.839 7.333 

 
5.3. Fees and Charges 
 
5.3.1. The Council charges for a range of services. Approval of fees and charges is 

dependent on relevant legislation so decisions may be made by Cabinet, 
General Purposes Committee or by Officer decision under delegated authority. 
 

5.3.2. Any significant changes must take account, from an equalities perspective, of 
the impact on paying customers of not only the proposed change in question 
but also of changes to other council fees and charges for which that individual 
may be liable. 

Page 65



28

 

 

 
5.3.3. The Council’s approach to setting fees and charges for 2023/24 has been to 

increase any discretionary charges (where possible) by inflation or in line with 
previously approved savings or to recover full costs. As part of the MTFS and 
budget process, reviews are planned during 2024/25 as part of the Council’s 
continuous assessment of recovery of full costs. 

 
5.3.4. The proposed fees and charges schedule for 2023/24 is attached as Appendix 

3. 
 
5.4. Specific Grants 

 
5.4.1. In 2022/23, Ealing expects to receive £45m in specific Government grants 

excluding RSG, retained business rates grants (section 31 and top-up 
funding), DSG, housing benefit payments, Pupil Premium grant, other schools 
funding and monies for Public Health responsibilities. 

 
5.4.2. At this point, not all Government grants have been announced for 2023/24. 

Ealing is therefore awaiting notification of what some grants will be in 2023/24, 
the most significant grant allocation outstanding is for Public Health. 

 
5.5. Levies  
 

5.5.1. Levies in 2023/24 make up 8% of the Council’s net budget. Set out in Table 9 
are details of the levies which, although outside of the Council’s direct control, 
need to be considered when setting the budget and council tax. At the time of 
writing final figures are still awaited; any adverse changes will be met by a 
balancing adjustment on council-wide budgets held centrally. The main 
change in levies is to do with concessionary fares because of the reduction in 
number of passenger journeys over the last years which has been used by 
London Councils to determine an estimate for the following year.  
 

Table 9: Provisional Levies Budget 
2022/23 
Budget 

2023/24 
Indicative Movement Authority 

£M £M £M % 

Provisional / 
Final 

Concessionary Fares 9.443 10.220 0.778 8.23% Provisional 
West London Waste Authority 13.044 13.734 0.690 5.29% Provisional 
London Pension Fund 
Authority 0.398 0.411 0.013 3.19% Provisional 

Coroners Service 0.441 0.441 0.000 0.00% Provisional 
Lee Valley Regional Park 
Authority 0.281 0.306 0.025 9.01% Provisional 

Page 66



29

 

 

2022/23 
Budget 

2023/24 
Indicative Movement Authority 

£M £M £M % 

Provisional / 
Final 

National Rivers Authority 0.280 0.288 0.008 3.04% Provisional 
Total 23.887 25.401 1.514 6.34%   

 
5.6. Greater London Authority Precept 
 
5.6.1. The Mayor of London issued a consultation document on 18 January 2023 

proposing an increase in the council tax precept of £38.55p from the 2022/23 
level of £395.59 per Band D council taxpayer, rising to £434.14 in 2023/24. 
The precept represents 23.58% of the overall headline council tax bill. At the 
time of writing the Greater London Authority’s (GLA) final draft budget is 
scheduled to be considered by the London Assembly on 23 February 2023. 
Should the Assembly agree a precept other than the amount set out in this 
report, which is considered unlikely, then a revised Council Tax Resolution will 
be tabled at the Full Council meeting on 8 March 2023. Otherwise, the amounts 
in this report are final. 
 

5.6.2. The amount of GLA precept per council tax band is set out in Table 10. 
 
Table 10: GLA Proposed 2023/24 Council Tax by Band D 
Valuation 

Band A B C D E F G H 

£ £289.43 £337.66 £385.90 £434.14 £530.62 £627.09 £723.57 £868.28 
 
5.7. Council Tax 
 

Council Tax Base 
5.7.1. The council tax base is the number of properties in Bands A-H in the borough 

expressed as an equivalent number of Band D units. The Strategic Director of 
Corporate Resources (Section 151) has calculated under delegated authority 
on 9 January 2023 the amount of 121,612.9 as the council tax base for the 
year 2023/24 at a collection rate of 98%. 

 
Council Tax Increase 2023/24 

5.7.2. Each year the Government determines the limit at which council tax increases 
would be excessive and therefore require a referendum.  The referendum limit 
for 2023/24 is 2.99% for core Council Tax and 2% for the Social Care Precept. 

 
5.7.3. Final decisions on the budget and council tax will be taken on 8 March 2023 

by Full Council. The level of council tax is a matter of political judgment, having 
due regard to the professional advice of Officers, and in particular to the advice 

Page 67



30

 

 

of the Strategic Director of Corporate Resources (Section 151) on the 
robustness of the budget and on reserves and balances. 

 
5.7.4. Over the last decade the Council has successfully delivered low council tax 

levels significantly below both the national and outer London average and high-
quality services with 2018/19 being the first rise in Ealing’s element of the core 
Council Tax in eight years. However, for 2023/24, to deliver a balanced budget, 
the MTFS is based on a recommended increase of the Adult Social Care 
Precept by 2% and the core Council Tax by 2.99%. This increase is necessary 
to mitigate the impacts of ongoing social care demand pressures and 
inflationary increases. The council tax income that will be generated is 
estimated to be around £8m. 

 
5.7.5. Table 11 sets out the Indicative Basic Amounts of Ealing's council tax for 

2023/24 excluding GLA based on the 2% Social Care Precept increase plus a 
2.99% core Council Tax increase. Officers recommend that this increase is 
necessary to mitigate the impacts of inflationary cost pressures and social care 
growth. 

 
Table 11: Ealing’s Proposed 2023/24 Council Tax by Band D 
Valuation 

Band A B C D E F G H 

£ £937.84 £1,094.14 £1,250.45 £1,406.75 £1,719.36 £2,031.97 £2,344.59 £2,813.50 
 

5.7.6. As set out in paragraph 4.8.3 and Table 3 above, for every 1% increase in the 
2023/24 council tax, an additional £1.6m of council tax revenue is raised and 
therefore for every 1% variation in the proposed council tax increase, further 
savings of £1.6m would be required. 

 
Council Tax Empty Property Premium 

5.7.7. From April 2013, the Government introduced legislation allowing authorities to 
charge a premium on top of the normal council tax for dwellings that have been 
empty and substantially unfurnished for at least two years (excluding those 
exempted from paying such as those under probate or where occupation is 
prohibited by law). This allowed the Council to introduce a premium of 50% to 
be added to the Council Tax bill. The drive behind this was to reduce the 
number of properties left empty for long periods of time, to bring back 
properties into use particularly given the challenges of housing shortages seen 
in many areas. 
 

5.7.8. In 2018, the Government announced the extension of the empty property 
premium to double the amount of the premium to be levied and allow 
authorities to charge a 100% additional amount from 1 April 2019. This was 
contained in the Rating (Property in Common Occupation) and Council Tax 

Page 68



31

 

 

(Empty Dwellings) Act 2018.  
 
5.7.9. This charge could be levied on all long-term empty properties that had been 

empty for more than 2 years. Full Council on 26 February 2019 agreed to 
charge a 100% premium (increased from 50% extra) on top of standard council 
tax for properties which have been empty for more than 2 years, with effect 
from 1 April 2019. 

 
5.7.10. Further to this change, the new Government Bill introduced formal legislation 

for this premium to be extended to allow authorities to charge a 200% premium 
from April 2020 for properties empty for over 5 years, and then a 300% 
premium from April 2021 for properties empty for over 10 years.  

 
5.7.11. From April 2020, Ealing Full Council decided that in addition to the 100% 

premium being charged on properties empty for over 2 years, to be able 
(subject to full council resolution) to charge a further 100% (300% in total) for 
those properties empty for more than 5 years. 

 
5.7.12. From 1 April 2021, Ealing Full Council further extended this charge in line with 

legislation, with a 300% premium to be charged (400% in total) for all qualifying 
properties empty for more than 10 years. 

 
5.7.13. The recommendation is to continue to extend the Empty Property Premium 

Charge as detailed above.  
 

5.7.14. The Government have now announced that an empty property premium 
(100%) can be charged on properties that have been empty for more than a 
year with effect from 1st April 2024. The Council intends to charge this 
premium to encourage the return to use of these properties. A final decision 
will be taken before the commencement of the 2024/25 financial year. 

 
Localised Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

5.7.15. On 7 December 2022, Cabinet approved to increase the maximum council tax 
reduction for the non-protected category from 75% to 80% for those who fall in 
the lowest income band (band 1) and their weekly income is below £136.89. 
Full Council will be asked to ratify the scheme on 8 March 2023.  
 

5.7.16. The change will increase the Council Tax Reduction (CTR) entitlement for 
4,933 households that currently receive 75% council tax award.  Those in the 
protected category are already entitled to up to 100% of CTR.  
 

5.7.17. The income bands have also been uprated in line with September 2022 CPI of 
10.1%. No other changes to income bands were made and the income bands, 
effective from 1 April 2023 will therefore be as follows:  

Page 69



32

 

 

 
Table 12: CTR Scheme Income Bands  

Protected Non-protected 

Band Income Bands 
(weekly income) 

Council Tax 
Reduction 

Award 

Income Bands 
(weekly income) 

Council Tax 
Reduction 

Award 
1 £0.00 - £136.89 100% £0.00 - £136.89 80% 
2 £136.90 - £159.70 75% £136.90 - £159.70 60% 
3 £159.71 - £182.51 60% £159.71 - £182.51 50% 
4 £182.52 - £205.34 50% £182.52 - £205.34 40% 
5 £205.35 - £228.15 40% £205.35 - £228.15 30% 
6 £228.16 - £250.96 30% £228.16 - £250.96 20% 
7 £250.97 - £273.79 20% £250.97 - £273.79 10% 
8 £273.80 - £296.60 10% £273.80+ 0% 
9 £296.61+ 0%   

 
5.7.18. The local CTR scheme also stipulates that the following items will be increased 

by the September CPI (or equivalent replacement) each year and applied to 
CTR calculations the following April: 
 
• Earnings disregard 
• Non-dependant deductions  
• Banded incomes. 

 
5.7.19. Full details of the scheme can be found at Appendix 4. 

 
CTR Caseload 

5.7.20. The makeup of the CTR caseload for the last 18 months is broken down in the 
table below: 

 
Table 13: CTR Caseload Numbers 

Scheme Group 
2020/21 
Actual 

2021/22 
Actual 

2022/23 
Estimate 

Pensioner 7,955 7,918 7,974 
Working age non/protected (non-vulnerable) 8,840 7,404 6,744 
Working age protected (vulnerable) 8,776 9,080 9,226 
Total Caseload 25,571 24,402 23,944 

 
5.7.21. Pensioner caseload accounts for 33% of the caseload, and working age for 

67% of the caseload. 
 

5.7.22. Prior to the introduction of the income band scheme on 1st April 2020, the CTR 

Page 70



33

 

 

caseload had been reducing year on year since CTR was introduced in April 
2013.  The caseload on 31st March 2020 was at 22,486.  There was a sharp 
increase in CTR caseload at the start of the Covid pandemic and the demand 
for CTR has remained high. Since April 2022, the caseload has been reducing 
and the current trend is now showing a 5.57 % decline.  
 
CTR expenditure 

5.7.23. Based on the current caseload and Council Tax Liability, it is estimated that 
the increase in CTR from 75% to 80% will increase CTR expenditure by 
£0.318m.  

  
5.7.24. The Council uprated the income bands in line with the September 2022 CPI, 

10.1%. This will result in many customers, who fall into other income bands, 
being entitled to more CTR as from April 2023 unless they also have a pay 
increase in line with inflation. This will further increase the CTR expenditure by 
£0.363m.  

 
5.7.25. The combined effect of the increase in maximum CTR for non-vulnerable 

groups from 75% to 80% and an uprating of income bands in line with inflation 
will increase the CTR expenditure in total by £0.682m, which is a 2.4% 
increase. This excludes any potential increases in Council Tax from 2023/24.  

 
5.7.26. The breakdown of forecasted expenditure for Council Tax Reduction for 

2022/23 and 23/24 is below: 
 
Table 14: CTR Expenditure  

Scheme Group 
2022/23 

Estimate (£M) 
2023/24 

Estimate (£M) 
Pensioner 11.030 11.030 
Working Age 17.700 17.700 
Combined increase of maximum CTR 
and uprating of income bands n/a 0.680 

Total Expenditure 28.730 29.410 
 
5.7.27. The expenditure does not take into account any potential council tax increases. 

A 1% increase in Council Tax will increase CTR expenditure by around 
£0.294m. 

  
5.7.28. The actual Council Tax Reduction expenditure depends on the caseload for 

2023/24 and any increase or decrease in CTR caseload will impact the CTR 
expenditure accordingly. 

 
5.7.29. The Council will be considering the decision to adopt the amended scheme 

Page 71



34

 

 

from 1 April 2023 at the Full Council meeting on 8 March 2023. 
 
5.8. Additional Council Tax Support Fund 2023/24 
 
5.8.1. On 23 December 2022, the Government announced funding and guidance for 

its Council Tax Support Fund for 2023/24. This allows the Council to reduce 
Council Tax bills by up to £25 for those in receipt of Council Tax Support (CTS) 
and to use the remaining funding as they see fit to further support households 
in need. 
 

5.8.2. The Government has advised that the mechanism which should be used to 
make these reductions in Council Tax liability is by relying on section 13A(1)(c) 
of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (“1992 Act”). Therefore, this report 
recommends an amendment to the Council’s existing 13A(1)(c) policy 
provided as Appendix 4 to this report. 

 
5.8.3. The Council’s funding allocation for the additional Council Tax Support funding 

is £630,896. 
 
5.8.4. The funding will be distributed under the policy which sets out the way in which 

the Council’s discretion to make council tax reductions under section 13A(1)(c) 
of the 1992 Act will be utilised in 2023/24 and in subsequent years.  This is 
distinct from the Council’s Council Tax Reduction Scheme set out in 5.7.  

 
5.8.5. The policy sets out two classes of taxpayer as eligible for the funding:  

 
1) Those in receipt of CTS who will be entitled to an award of up to £40 off 

their Council Tax bill for 2023/24 under the Government’s CTS fund. This 
will apply to all awards of CTS for the 2023/24 financial year. These 
reductions are made to qualifying Council Tax accounts without the need 
for application.  

2) Any excess Council Tax Support Fund provided to the Council and not 
used in a) will be provided to supplement the Council’s Council Tax 
Discretionary Discount scheme from which households are able claim 
support under 13A(1)(c). 

 
5.8.6. The £40 award consists of a £25 statutory maximum payment required by the 

Government and an additional £15 discretionary award which has been 
determined locally to support CTS claimants during the cost of living crisis. The 
award will be a maximum of £40, limited to the actual Council tax liability of the 
individual CTS recipient.  

 
5.8.7. It is expected that the 2023/24 reductions under this policy will benefit around 

9,926 households. This includes 1,934 pensioner households and 7,992 

Page 72



35

 

 

working age households. 
 

5.9. Collection Fund 
 
5.9.1. Statutory regulations require councils to account for annual council tax and 

business rates income in a manner different to normal accounting 
arrangements as would apply if using International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS). This means any difference between the budgeted net 
council tax and business rates income and the actual is held on the Council’s 
balance sheet to be distributed in subsequent years.  
 

5.9.2. Councils are required to calculate an estimated position of the Collection Fund 
in January each year which is used by the precepting authorities in setting its 
budget for the forthcoming year. 

 
Phasing of the in-year 2020/21 Collection Fund Deficit 

5.9.3. On 5 November 2020 Parliament passed legislation allowing local authorities 
to phase 2020/21 collection fund deficits.  The change in legislation was a 
direct result of the pressure placed on council tax and business rates collection 
rates due to the economic downturn caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. The 
2020/21 deficits on the Collection Fund were allowed to be spread over three 
years to smooth the financial impact for councils. 2023/24 is the last year of 
phasing of the 2020/21 deficit. 
 
Estimated Collection Fund Balance as at 31 March 2023 

5.9.4. The net estimated deficit as at 31 March 2023 is £12.022m, of which Ealing’s 
share is £3.003m.  

 
Table 15a: Net Estimated Collection Fund Deficit as at 31 March 2023 
Net Estimated deficit on Collection Fund as at 31 
March 2023 

Council 
Tax (£M) 

Business 
Rates (£M) Total (£M) 

London Borough of Ealing (1.012) 4.015 3.003 
Greater London Authority (GLA) (0.350) 4.952 4.602 
Department of Levelling Up, Housing and 
Communities (DLUHC)   4.417 4.417 

Collection Fund Net Surplus (+) / Deficit (-) (1.362) 13.385 12.022 
 

5.9.5. At the time of writing the report the Business Rates element of the Collection 
Fund deficit included in the table above has been included within the final 
2022/23 NNDR 1 return to DLUHC. 
 
2023/24 General Fund Budget Impact 

5.9.6. The net impact of the collection fund position on the budget is a net deficit of 
c£3m to be funded by the General Fund in 2023/24. 

Page 73



36

 

 

 
Table 15b: Collection Fund Net Deficit (+) / Surplus (-) as at 31 March 2023 Budget Impact 

General Fund Impact for Ealing 
Council 

Tax  
(£M) 

Business 
Rates  

(£M) 

2023/24 
Total  
(£M) 

% Share 78.80% 30.00%   
2020/21 Year 3 Deficit Phased 1.870 2.197 4.067 
2021/22 Outturn Adjustment 0.432 0.333 0.765 

Total 2021/22 Deficit Balance 2.302 2.530 4.832 
2022/23 Estimated in-year Surplus (-) / 
Deficit (+) (3.314) 1.485 (1.829) 

2022/23 Estimate Surplus (-) / Deficit (+) 
Balance (1.012) 4.015 3.003 

 
5.10. Business Rates  
 
5.10.1. The current Business Rates Retention scheme was implemented from 1 April 

2013. The table below sets out the retained business rates share for 2022/23 
and 2023/24. 

 
Table 16: Retained Business Share 

2022/23 2023/24 Retained Business Rates Share % % 
Ealing’s Share 30% 30% 
GLA Share 37% 37% 
Total Retained 67% 67% 
Central Government Share 33% 33% 
Total 100% 100% 

 
5.10.2. The Council’s MTFS has assumes retention of 30% of the estimated business 

rates for 2023/24. 
 

Real Living Wage Business Rates Discretionary Discount 
5.10.3. On 16 February 2016, Cabinet decided to introduce a Real Living Wage 

(formerly known as London Living Wage) Business Rates Discretionary 
Discount scheme which encouraged employers to pay their employees a 
minimum of the London Living Wage. This scheme gave employers who pay 
business rates on property in the borough the opportunity to apply for a rating 
discount equal to two times the Living Wage Foundation accreditation fee for 
2016/17, upon presentation of accreditation documentation issued, or 
renewed, during the 2016/17 financial year. The scheme was limited to the first 
100 employers to apply. The decision made on 16 February 2016 was that the 
scheme was initially limited to one-year 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017 and that 
its success would be reviewed. The scheme has since been extended to 31 

Page 74



37

 

 

March 2023. 
 

5.10.4. Approval is now sought to extend the scheme for a further year from 1 April 
2023 to 31 March 2024. This extended period only covers new applications for 
the discount and any ratepayers already receiving the discount could not apply 
again. The rest of the scheme rules remain the same. 

 
5.11. Central Contingency 

 
5.11.1. As part of developing the budget proposals it would be prudent to allow for a 

contingency within the base revenue budget. This approach is designed to 
enable the risks associated with the uncertainty and process to be effectively 
managed. Officers deem it prudent to continue to sustain a central contingency 
budget of £2.000m for 2023/24, given the service pressures experienced in the 
current year and those identified for the coming year as set out in this report 
above particularly given economic volatility, volatility of energy prices and 
significant demand pressures.  

 
5.12. Parking Account 
 
5.12.1. The budget also includes a contribution from the Parking Account. All charges 

against the Parking Account are bound by the rules set out in section 95 of the 
Traffic Management Act 2004 which limits the areas on which a surplus can 
be spent to include: 

 
• Off street car parks 
• Highway maintenance and improvements 
• Controlled parking zones 
• Meeting the cost of public passenger transport services 
• Environmental improvements. 

 
5.12.2. The parking contribution to concessionary fares for 2023/24 is £10.220m. A 

breakdown of the parking account for 2023/24 is provided at Appendix 5. 
 
6. Schools Budget 
 
6.1. As an education authority the Council receives the following funding to either 

passport/administer funds to local schools and spend on any centrally retained 
functions: 
 
• Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) 
• Pupil Premium Grant (PPG) 
• Universal Infant Schools Meals (UIFSM) 
• School Supplementary Grant 

Page 75



38

 

 

 
6.2. Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) Allocation 

 
6.2.1. The DSG is a specific ring-fenced grant to support the schools’ budgets. In 

2018/19 the National Funding Formula (NFF) was introduced which distributed 
the grant according to a formula based on the individual needs and 
characteristics of every school in the country. To provide stability for schools 
during the transition to the NFF, local authorities continued to be responsible 
for distributing money between schools in their area.  2023/24 is the first year 
of the transition to the direct schools NFF, with local authorities only allowed 
to use NFF factors in their local formula, excluding locally determined premises 
factors, and a requirement for local authorities to move their formula closer to 
the NFF and/ or where they are already mirroring the NFF to continue to do 
so. 
 

6.2.2. The DSG is currently split into the following four blocks: 
 

(i) Schools Block (SB) 
(ii) Early Years Block (EYB) 
(iii) High Needs Block (HNB) 
(iv) Central School Services Block (CSSB) 

 
6.2.3. In December 2022 the Government published the Council's 2023/24 DSG 

allocation. 
 

6.2.4. The table below sets out the 2023/24 DSG indicative budget which has been 
consulted and agreed by the Schools Forum at the November 2022 and 
January 2023 meetings. 

 
6.2.5. With the agreement of the Schools Forum the Council have retained elements 

of central funding and moved 0.5% of the SB (a continuation of funding 
agreements made in previous years), from the SB to HNB in 2023/24. 

 
6.2.6. The 2023/24 DSG allocation is set out in the table below. 
 

Table 17: DSG Allocation 
2022/23 
Revised 2023/24 Variance DSG Blocks 

£M £M £M 
Status 

Schools Block 274.247 291.294 17.027 Confirmed 
Academy Recoupment (79.343) (84.955) (5.612) Provisional 
Deduction for ESFA payments to 
billing authorities for NNDR (3.986) (4.007) (0.021) Confirmed 

Subtotal: School Block Allocation 190.918 202.332 11.414   

Page 76



39

 

 

2022/23 
Revised 2023/24 Variance DSG Blocks 

£M £M £M 
Status 

High Needs Block 70.660 77.368 6.708 Provisional 
Central Schools Service Block 2.565 2.498 (0.067) Confirmed 
Early Years Block 26.965 28.397 1.432 Provisional 
Total Allocation 291.107 310.595 19.488   

 
6.2.7. Below is a summary of the school funding with further detail to be found in the 

School Funding 2023/24 report presented by the Council at the January 2023 
Schools Forum meeting. 

 
Schools Block (SB) 

6.2.8. Listed below are the decisions the Schools Forum has taken in respect of the 
Schools DSG Block: 
 
• 2023/24 Minimum Funding Guarantee (MFG) has been set at 0.0%. 
• Continuation of funding transfer of £1.456m, 0.5% of SB to the HNB. 
• Growth fund rules were agreed, and the rates uplifted to reflect the 

increased age weighted pupil funding rates that will be used in the 2023/24 
funding formula. 

• Schools that gain may be capped and scaled for affordability purposes. The 
local formula will be scaled back if needed through the Prior Attainment 
factor and deprivation factors. 

 
Early Years Block (EYB) 

6.2.9. From 2017/18 a new method of allocating early years funding to local 
authorities was introduced through a National Early Years Funding Formula 
EYFF. The EYB comprises: 
 
• 3 & 4-year-old entitlement 15 hours; 
• 3 & 4-year-old entitlement additional 15 hours; 
• Maintained nursery school supplement lump sum; 
• Disadvantaged two-year olds; and 
• Early Years Pupil Premium 

 
6.2.10. The proposed funding arrangements for 2023/24 are set out below.  The 

funding arrangements for 2023/24 guiding the structure of the formula remain 
unchanged. The maximum a Local Authority will be able to retain for central 
spend remains set at 5%. 
 

6.2.11. Whilst the table outlines the proposed allocation of the EYB for 2023/24, the 
final grant value will be determined based on pupil numbers in the January 

Page 77



40

 

 

census results for 2023 and 2024. 
 
Table 18: Provisional Early Years DSG Block Allocation 
Projection of Provisional Early Years Block in 2023/24 £M 
Central Spend 5% Allowance 1.186 
Early Years Inclusion Fund 2.118 
Nursery Education Grant Spend 19.651 
Contingency 0.773 
Total 3-4-Year-Old Budget  23.728 
Early Years Pupil Premium/Disability Access Funding/Maintained 
Nursery School Supplement 

1.028 

2-Year-old Grant Spend 3.641 
Total Early Years Block 28.397 

 
6.2.12. The table below outlines the hourly funding rates for the Local Funding formula 

2022/23 and proposed rates for 2023/24: 
 

Table 19: Proposed Hourly Rates for Early Years 
Early Years Funding Formula 
Factor – All Nursery Providers 2022/23 2023/24 

Base Rate 90% of funding 90% of funding 
Universal 15 hours £4.63 £4.73 
Additional 15 hours £4.63 £4.73 

5% of supplement 
funding 

5% of supplement 
funding Deprivation mandatory £0.26 £0.26 

5% of supplement 
funding 

5% of supplement 
funding Quality £0.26 £0.26 

 
High Needs Block (HNB) 

6.2.13. The HNB is a single block for local authorities’ high needs pupils/ students 
aged 0-24. This block includes hospital education. This is allocated to local 
authorities on a national formula which is not driven by pupil numbers.  
 

6.2.14. The Council is currently faced with a projected pressure which is being 
mitigated through one-off management actions including the 0.5% transfer 
from the School Block in 2023/24. The DfE has consulted widely on requiring 
overspends on the High Needs Block to be treated as deficit on the DSG. 
Where this amounts to more than 1% of the DSG, councils will need to prepare 
a deficit recovery plan.  Officers are undertaking further work in this area and 
will report to the next Schools Forum meeting in April 2023. 
 
Central School Services Block 

6.2.15. From 2018/19 all centrally retained budgets for primary and high schools were 

Page 78



41

 

 

included in a separate block and now include the former Education Services 
Grant for retained services in respect of all schools and academies in the 
borough. 

 
6.3. Other Funding 

 
6.3.1. Below is a list of other key grants the schools and the Council receive in 

addition to the DSG: 
 
a) Pupil Premium Grant (PPG) provides funding for 2 policies: 

• raising the attainment of disadvantaged pupils of all abilities to reach 
their potential; and 

• supporting children and young people with parents in the regular armed 
forces. 

It is allocated for all pupils who have been eligible or are eligible for free 
school meals during the last six years, looked after children and service 
pupils. Pupil Premium rates have increased by 5% this year. 

 
b) Universal Infant School Meals (UIFSM)  

Schools will also receive funding for UIFSM for eligible children in year 
reception, year 1 and year 2 on the schools roll on October 2022 and 
January 2023 census days.  

 
c) Mainstream School Additional Grant 

Additional funding for 2023/24 to provide mainstream schools with support 
for the additional cost pressures which were not foreseen when the original 
SB allocations were calculated. Allocations will be determined by the DfE 
in Spring 2023 based on updated pupil numbers and FSM6 rates, but the 
indicative allocation across all Ealing mainstream schools is £9.74m. 
 

6.4. DSG Account 
 

6.4.1. From 1 April 2021, local authorities have been required to hold DSG balances 
(under and overspends) in a ring-fenced DSG account.  

 
6.4.2. At the end of 2020/21 the Council held a net surplus balance of (£0.371m) on 

its DSG account which includes a HNB deficit of £1.999m. At the end of 
Quarter 3 of 2022/23, Children’s and Schools service are forecasting a net 
deficit of £1.582m for the year, detailed in the Budget Update report being 
presented at the same Cabinet meeting. 

 
6.4.3. The Council along with many other authorities continues to experience 

pressures on the HNB flowing from the increase in children with EHCPs and 
due to the level of need within that co-hort.  The DSG High Needs Deficit 
Recovery Plan continues to be refined, and the Council is continuing to work 

Page 79



42

 

 

with London Councils in participating in surveys on the increased demand 
being experienced to lobby for additional funding. 

 
6.4.4. The Council continues to manage and recover the High Needs Deficit in a 

prudent way, despite the ESFA providing local authorities with much higher 
deficits with additional funds to write off their deficits. 
 

7. Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Budget 
 
7.1. The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 2023/24 Budget, 5 Year MTFS and 30 

Year Business Plan were approved by Cabinet on 25 January 2023. 
 

7.2. The table below summarises the 2023/24 HRA revenue budget. 
 

Table 20: 2022/23 HRA Revenue Budget 
2022/23 2023/24 HRA Revenue Budget £M £M 

Total Income (73.624) (76.767) 
Total Expenditure 73.610 78.975 
HRA Net (Surplus)/Deficit Before Contribution to 
Balances (0.015) 2.208 

Contribution to/(from) HRA Balances 0.015 (2.208) 

HRA Net (Surplus)/Deficit 0.000 0.000 
 
7.3. The HRA 5-year Capital Programme is included in section 8 below. 

 
8. Capital Budget 
 
8.1. Current Capital Programme Budget 
 
8.1.1. The current approved capital programme budget for 2022/23 to 2027/28 is 

£1,296.633m. Subsequently the programme included within this report has 
been revised to reflect approved changes and decisions such as the net 
slippage being considered at this meeting in the 2022/23 Budget Update 
report. 

 
8.2. Budget Approach to Capital 
 

8.3. Additions to the Capital Programme 
 
8.3.1. As part of the 2023/24 budget process new General Fund capital proposals 

have been identified, taking into consideration the Council’s priorities. These 
additions are valued at £12.850m of which £6.717m will be funded from 
borrowing. The revenue costs of borrowing has been built into MTFS budget 

Page 80



43

 

 

forecasts. The proposals have been assessed against the legislative 
requirements set out in the Treasury Management and Capital Strategy to 
ensure that the Council can afford to support the on-going revenue costs. 
 

8.3.2. Appendix 7 reflects the updated capital programme, including the revised HRA 
capital investments that were considered by Cabinet on 25 January 2023. 
 

8.3.3. The additions to the General Fund programme are detailed in Appendix 6, as 
are the capital schemes to be decommissioned. 

 
8.3.4. As part of the 2023/24 budget process there is a recognition that in principle 

agreement for some of the additions requires the service leads to undertake a 
detailed business case and option appraisal. To ensure that the capital 
investment is spent in line with capital spending legislative framework (as set 
out in the Capital Strategy), Cabinet and Full Council are asked to approve the 
incorporation of the additions into the capital programme and provide 
delegation to the Strategic Director of Corporate Resources (Section 151) to 
release budget (thereby giving authority to spend) upon approval of a detailed 
business case and option appraisal. 

 
8.4. Updated Capital Programme  
 
8.4.1. The Capital Programme is summarised in the table below with details in 

Appendices 6 and 7. The updated programme reflects: 
 
• HRA 5-year capital programme agreed at the Cabinet meeting on 25 

January 2023. 
• Changes in spending profiles between years, considered at this meeting in 

the 2022/23 Budget Update report and changes approved by Officers. 
• General Fund additions and schemes to be decommissioned set out in 

Appendix 6 that are being recommended for approval at this meeting. 
 

Table 21: Capital Programme 2022/23 to 2027/28 
Capital Programme 2023/24 - 2027/28 £M Capital Programme 

Summary 
2022/23

£M 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 Total £M 

General Fund 164.728 303.452 145.437 56.603 20.079 15.460 712.759 
HRA 82.241 137.741 153.790 98.754 50.148 61.201 583.874 
Approved Capital 
Programme1 246.968 441.193 308.227 153.357 70.227 76.660 1,296.633  

Additions 0.000 8.525 1.990 1.065 1.270 0.000 12.850 
Decommissioning (0.355) (12.219) 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 (12.574) 
Revised Capital 
Programme Total 246.613 437.500 310.217 154.422 71.497 76.660 1,296.909 

Mainstream Funding 119.454 276.017 261.878 104.619 13.777 49.856 825.602 
Capital Receipts 24.051 21.346 15.649 21.645 39.063 8.593 130.348 

Page 81



44

 

 

Capital Programme 2023/24 - 2027/28 £M Capital Programme 
Summary 

2022/23
£M 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 Total £M 

Grants 84.057 90.294 13.662 11.484 0.000 0.000 199.498 
S106 2.699 9.728 2.260 0.000 0.000 0.000 14.687 
Partnership 
Contributions 4.035 21.161 0.800 0.500 0.500 0.500 27.496 

Revenue Reserves 1.301 3.069 0.170 0.170 0.170 0.000 4.880 
Revenue Contribution 0.193 0.011 0.060 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.264 
Major Repairs Reserve 10.157 15.454 15.329 15.003 14.987 14.711 85.641 
HRA Contribution 0.666 0.419 0.409 1.000 3.000 3.000 8.494 
Total Programme 
Funding  246.613 437.500 310.217 154.422 71.497 76.660 1,296.909 

1 The total approved value reflects updates since Quarter 3 such as reflection of slippage considered by Cabinet at the same 
meeting as set out on the 2022/23 Budget Update report 
 

8.4.2. Cabinet and Full Council are asked to approve the Capital Programme 
commencing from 1 April 2023 and note that the Council's Financial 
Regulations specify that inclusion of a scheme in the Capital Programme does 
not indicate automatic approval to proceed, and schemes are still subject to 
submission of a detailed report to Cabinet seeking formal approval and the 
release of funding. 

 
8.5. Capital Strategy 
 
8.5.1. The Local Government Act 2003 and supporting regulations require the 

Council to have regard to the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Prudential Code to ensure that the Council’s capital 
investment plans are affordable, prudent and sustainable. 

 
8.5.2. The Prudential Code requires that the Council produce an annual Capital 

Strategy which provides a long-term context in which capital decisions are 
made and the approach for governance for those decisions. 

 
8.5.3. The Council’s Capital Strategy is the framework for the allocation and 

management of capital resources within the Council, which take account of the 
Council’s key priorities in the Corporate Plan. It forms a key part of the 
Council’s integrated revenue, capital, and balance sheet planning with a view 
towards deliverability, affordability, and risk. 

 
8.5.4. Both the Treasury Management Strategy and Capital Strategy are required to 

comply with the Prudential Code. Whilst the Capital Strategy sets out the 
framework in which investments should be taken, the Treasury Management 
Strategy sets the Council’s financing requirements. 
 

8.5.5. The Council’s existing strategy has been reviewed to ensure compliance with 
the latest Prudential Code. Appendix 8 sets out the 2023/24 Capital Strategy 
which is recommended for approval by Full Council. 

Page 82



45

 

 

 
 

9. Treasury Management 
 

9.1. The Local Government Act 2003 and supporting regulations require the 
Council to have regard to the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Prudential Code and Treasury Management Code of 
Practice to set prudential and treasury indicators for the next three years to 
ensure that the Council’s capital investment plans are affordable, prudent and 
sustainable. 

 
9.2. In pursuit of the above the Council must produce as a minimum three key 

reports: 
 
• Treasury Strategy, prudential and treasury indicators, a requirement 

fulfilled by the production of this report (Appendix 9). The report covers; 
o Capital plans including prudential indicators. 
o Minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy. 
o The treasury management and investment strategy. 

• A mid-year report which updates Members on treasury progress, the 
capital position, the prudential indicators and whether any strategies or 
policies require revision. 

• An annual treasury outturn report. 
 

9.3. The Council’s existing Treasury Management Strategy has been reviewed to 
ensure compliance with the latest Prudential and Treasury Management Code 
of Practice. Appendix 9 sets out the Treasury Management Strategy and 
Prudential Indicators for 2023/24 which are recommended for approval by 
Cabinet. 

 
9.4. Changes to the Treasury Management Code 
 
9.4.1. As set out above, CIPFA published an updated Treasury Management and 

Prudential Code in December 2021 requiring implementation from 2023/24. 
The main changes to the updated Treasury Management Code are as follows: 
 
• Investment management practices and other recommendations relating to 

non-treasury investments are included within the Treasury Management 
Practices (TMPs). 

• Introduction of the Liability Benchmark as a treasury management 
indicator for Local Government bodies. 

• Incorporation of Environmental, Social and Governance risks. 
• The purpose and objective of each category of investments should be 

described within the Treasury Management Strategy. 
 

9.4.2. Some of these Prudential Code changes were already reflected within 

Page 83



46

 

 

Council’s strategy in 2022/23. The key changes between 2022/23 and 2023/24 
Council’s treasury management strategy is the introduction of the Liability 
Benchmark demonstrating the net loan requirement. Where actual loans are 
less than the benchmark. this indicates a future borrowing requirement and 
where loans outstanding exceed the benchmark, this represents an 
overborrowed position, which will result in excess cash requiring investment. 
 

10. Statutory Declarations on Robustness of Budget Estimates and 
Adequacy of Reserves 
 

10.1. Section 25 of Local Government Act 2003 requires that the Chief Financial 
Officer (Section 151) in Ealing’s case, the Strategic Director of Corporate 
Resources (Section 151) report to the authority on two areas: 
 
• The adequacy of the proposed reserves; and 
• The robustness of the estimates. 

 
10.2. It also states that the authority must have regard to this report when council 

tax is set.  
 

10.3. The Strategic Director of Corporate Resources (Section 151) therefore advises 
that, in relation to the financial year 2023/24, the proposed budget is robust 
and the level of reserves and balances in the draft budget is adequate.  

 
10.4. The 2023/24 budget setting process is designed to produce robust medium-

term revenue budget estimates which have been subject to considerable 
examination by the Council's Members and Officers. As a result: 
 
• The budget and service planning cycles are in line, so that resources are 

aligned with service objectives through the budget setting process. 
• The revenue impact of decisions concerning capital spending is 

considered and incorporated in the budget proposals. 
• Risks are fully considered and appropriately budgeted for. 
• The budget includes a proposed contribution to general reserves to build 

financial reliance recognising the comparatively low level of reserve 
balances and in light of the current financial outlook. 

• The Ealing Business Partnership receives and comments upon the budget 
report before the Council meets to set the budget. 

• The Cabinet receives and comments upon the budget report before the 
Council meets to set the budget. 

• The Council’s scrutiny function has had the opportunity to consider and 
comment upon the budget proposals to the Cabinet. 

 
10.5. Adequacy of Reserves and Balances  
 
10.5.1. Under the 2003 Local Government Act, the Section 151 Officer, the Council’s 

Page 84



47

 

 

statutory Finance Officer - the Strategic Director of Corporate Resources, must 
be satisfied that the level of the General Fund balance is adequate. This un-
earmarked reserve the sum held centrally for unavoidable cost increases 
above expected inflation levels, other unforeseen items and spending 
pressures, acts as a financial safety net. 

 
10.5.2. There is no statutory definition of a minimum level of reserves and it is for this 

reason that the matter falls to the judgement of the Section 151 officer. In 
coming to a judgement on this matter the Section 151 officer has considered 
matters such as: 

 
• Risks inherent in the budget strategy. 
• Risk management policies and strategies. 
• Past financial performance against budget. 
• Current budget projections. 
• The robustness of estimates contained within the budget. 
• The adequacy of financial controls and budget monitoring procedures. 
• Spending pressures. 
• Increases in Social Care Precept and council tax. 
• Impact of cost of living, energy prices and inflation. 
• Impact of COVID-19 and the economic downturn on council tax and 

business rates. 
 

10.5.3. The Council’s General Fund balance is at its target risk-assessed level of 
£15.919m and whilst there is a planned contribution in the base budget to 
increase general reserves there is no further contribution planned for 
increasing the General Fund balance for 2023/24. £15.919m is 6% of the total 
net budget for 2023/24 of £283.181m (before reserves). The Strategic Director 
of Corporate Resources (Section 151) considers that a balance of £15.919m 
at 31 March 2023 is adequate as the minimum sum given the risks the Council 
is facing and considering Ealing’s spending history and level of other 
earmarked reserves. The adequacy of reserves will continue to be reviewed 
annually. 

 
10.5.4. The recommendation of the Strategic Director of Corporate Resources 

(Section 151) on balances is therefore that the MTFS should ensure that the 
General Fund balance is maintained at £15.919m, which is the estimated 
balance as at 31 March 2023. No budgeted contribution to top-up the General 
Fund balance is being proposed as part of the 2023/24 budget process. 

 
10.5.5. The Strategic Director of Corporate Resources (Section 151) advises 

Members that the level of reserves had previously reduced significantly year 
on year and as a result no longer provides the level of flexibility in managing 
budgets that was previously available. For this reason, the base budget 
continues to include an annual contribution of £3.500m to build financial 
reserves to provide protection against financial uncertainty of Local 

Page 85



48

 

 

Government funding, substantial losses in core income and in-year pressures. 
It is still essential that the Council’s spending is contained within budget in all 
areas of the Council and Officers and Members must take robust steps to 
ensure that this discipline is maintained. 

 
10.5.6. The opportunity cost of holding the recommended General Fund balance of 

£15.919m in 2023/24 in terms of investing in services or limiting the council tax 
rise is offset by the flexibility that it allows to deal with risk and adverse 
expenditure variations. 
 

10.5.7. The opportunity has also been taken to review all significant earmarked 
reserves monies set aside for a specific purpose. Earmarked reserves reduce 
over the medium term as the sums built up in these are deployed, as shown in 
Appendix 10. 

 
10.5.8. The earmarked reserves exclude locally managed school balances, which are 

not available for use by the Council. The Council has a number of earmarked 
reserves as shown in Appendix 10 (summary at Table 22 below). 
 

10.5.9. The Council has forecasted to transfer funds to and from earmarked reserves 
over the medium term, this is reflected in Appendix 10.  

 
Table 22: Forecast of Reserves over the MTFS Period 2023/24 to 2026/27 

31 March 
2023 

31 March 
2024 

31 March 
2025 

31 March 
2026 

31 March 
2027 MTFS Reserves Forecast 

£M £M £M £M £M 
Controllable Ring-Fenced 
Reserves (30.355) (29.900) (29.900) (29.900) (29.900) 

Controllable Non-Ringfenced 
Reserves (40.447) (43.615) (47.265) (50.905) (54.545) 

Sub-total Earmarked reserves (70.802) (73.516) (77.166) (80.806) (84.446) 
General Fund Balance (15.919) (15.919) (15.919) (15.919) (15.919) 
Total General Fund Reserves 
and Balance (86.721) (89.435) (93.085) (96.725) (100.365) 

Ringfenced Technical Reserves (10.393) (8.303) (8.303) (8.303) (8.303) 
Housing Revenue Account 
Reserves and Balances (20.175) (17.967) (17.967) (17.967) (17.967) 

Schools Balances (20.294) (20.294) (20.294) (20.294) (20.294) 
Sub-total Other Reserves and 
Balances (50.862) (46.563) (46.563) (46.563) (46.563) 

Total Reserves and Balances (137.583) (135.998) (139.648) (143.288) (146.928) 
 
10.5.10. The forecast of the reserve movements summarised in the table above and in 

more detail in Appendix 10, reflect funds set aside for capital schemes, agreed 
invest to save proposals, earmarked grants, technical and statutory 

Page 86



49

 

 

adjustments relating to the collection fund and insurance. The use of reserves 
is regularly reviewed throughout the year and may result in further drawdowns 
over and above of what is shown in Table 22.  
 

10.5.11. If an unplanned opportunity or challenge arises during any financial year that 
requires funding or investment outside of existing budgeted or planned 
drawdown of reserves, then reserves such as the Economic Volatility or Invest 
to Save reserves are accessed. This is not reflected in the forecast above. 

 
10.6. Financial Management Code  
 
10.6.1. The FM Code identifies risks to financial sustainability and introduces a 

framework of assurance. This framework is built on existing successful 
practices and sets explicit standards of financial management. It is for an 
individual council to determine whether it meets the standards and to make 
any changes that may be required to ensure compliance.  Compliance to the 
code is seen as a collective responsibility of the organisational leadership.  
 

10.6.2. It should be noted that although there is no legal requirement for the Council 
to comply with the code, compliance to the code will be a key requirement 
which will be assessed by the Council’s external auditors as part of the Value 
for Money audit. 

 
10.6.3. An update of progress and compliance against the code will be provided to the 

Audit Committee at its next meeting. 
 

11. Legal 
 

11.1. The Council has a legal duty to set a balanced budget. 
 

11.2. Some savings proposals will have more detailed legal or practical implications. 
Where this is the case, these detailed implications will need to be considered 
before a final decision is taken on whether to implement the proposals or to 
implement them in a revised format. 

 
11.3. In regard to the Council’s employment law duties 
 

11.3.1. Directors, including the Strategic Directors and the Chief Executive, have the 
delegated authority to delete vacant posts and create new posts within their 
service, within budgetary constraints. Strategic directors have the delegated 
authority (following, in relation to proposals to delete filled posts, consultation 
with the relevant cabinet Portfolio Holder and with the Chief Executive) to 
approve reorganisations and restructuring of their own departments, which 
may or may not lead to redundancies, including approving deletions of filled 
posts. That is why Cabinet is not being asked to approve as part of this report 
any of the staffing change proposals that will be required to deliver the budget 

Page 87



50

 

 

proposals. Strategic Directors must, when taking any decisions on staffing 
change proposals, follow the law and principles set out in this section and in 
section 17 below (Equalities, Human Rights and Community Cohesion). 
 

11.3.2. Under s188 of the Trade Union and Labour Relations Act 1992, the Council 
has a legal obligation to consult if there are proposals to dismiss 20 or more 
employees (within 90 days of each other). 
 

11.3.3. Employees have the right not to be unfairly dismissed. The Council’s policies 
and practices reflect this right. Contractual arrangements for matching and 
redeployment will be applied to minimise the need for compulsory 
redundancies. 
 

11.3.4. The Council has a legal obligation to make redundancy payments to any 
employees with more than 2 years’ service who are dismissed by reason of 
redundancy. This arises from the Employment Rights Act 1996 and contracts 
of employment. 
 

11.3.5. Employees whose posts are deleted are contractually entitled to pay protection 
in certain circumstances. 
 

11.4. In relation to Discretionary Relief to payers of the National Non-Domestic 
Rates (NNDR) 

 
11.4.1. Section 69 of The Localism Act 2011 amended section 47 of the Local 

Government Finance Act 1988 to allow authorities to grant discretionary relief 
to business rates. Under this provision authorities can create their own 
discount schemes for example to promote growth and jobs in its area, or in 
specified areas. The relief is to be awarded daily. Any such scheme needs to 
be approved by the Council’s Cabinet. 
 

11.4.2. By virtue of section 47(5C) of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 when 
deciding to fix criteria for relief, the Council must have regard to any relevant 
guidance issued by the Secretary of State.  
 

11.4.3. Under Section 47 Local Government Finance Act 1988, a decision to set 
criteria for discretionary relief is not limited to charitable or non-profit making 
organisations. However, where, as with this proposal, the criteria would allow 
relief to be granted to businesses which are other than charitable, or non-profit 
making, the Council may make the decision only if it is satisfied that it would 
be reasonable for it to do so, having regard to the interests of persons liable to 
pay council tax set by the Council.  
 

11.4.4. The Non-Domestic Rating (Discretionary Relief) Regulations 1989 contain 
provisions in relation to the notices which the Council must give when making 
decision and determinations under Section 47 of the Local Government 

Page 88



51

 

 

Finance Act 1988. 
 

11.5. In relation to Council Tax Empty Property Premium 
 
11.5.1. Since April 2013 Local Authorities in England have been given delegated 

powers under Section 11B of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 to 
increase Council Tax on a local level. These powers allowed the Council to 
increase Council Tax by adding up to 50% to the Council Tax charge on some 
long-term empty properties. This is commonly known as the ‘Empty Property 
Premium’ or ‘Long Term Empty Premium’. 
 

11.5.2. From 1 April 2019 legislation allowed an increase in the premium, initially to a 
maximum of 100% and then extended this maximum to increase to 300%. This 
was contained in Rating (Property in Common Occupation) and Council Tax 
(Empty Dwellings) Act 2018. 

 
11.6. In relation to Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

 
11.6.1. Section 13A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (c. 14), (“the 1992 

Act”), substituted by Section 10 of the Local Government Finance Act 2012 
(c.17), (“the 2012 Act”), requires each billing authority in England to make a 
scheme specifying the reductions which are to apply to amounts of council tax 
payable by persons, or classes or persons, whom the authority considers are 
in financial need. 
 

11.6.2. Paragraph 2 of Schedule 1A to the 1992 Act, as amended by Schedule 4 of 
the Local Government Finance Act 2012, sets out matters that must be 
included in a scheme and gives the Secretary of State power to prescribe by 
regulations additional requirements, including classes of persons, which must 
or must not be included in a scheme. 

 
11.7. In relation to Phasing of 2020/21 Collection Fund deficits 

 
11.7.1. The Local Authorities (Collection Fund: Surplus and Deficit) (Coronavirus) 

(England) Regulations 2020, which came into effect 1 December 2020. These 
regulations allow local authorities to spread any deficit arising in 2020/21 in 
relation to the Collection Fund over the next three years. 

 
11.8. In regard to Schools Funding and Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) 

 
11.8.1. The Council currently receives funding for schools through the Dedicated 

Schools Grant (DSG) and has the statutory responsibility under the Schools 
and Early Years Finance Regulations for allocating this funding to schools. 
 

11.8.2. The Schools Forum Regulations 2012, SI 2012/2261, School and Early Years 
Finance (England) Regulations 2018, SI 201/10 and the School and Early 
Years Finance (England) Regulations 2015, SI 2015/2033 set out the matters 

Page 89

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/17/section/12/enacted


52

 

 

on which the council must consult the Schools Forum or seek the approval of 
the Schools Forum or the approval of the Secretary of State. 

 
12. Value for Money 

 
12.1. The budget setting process addresses the Council’s performance in delivering 

national and local priorities and focuses on the needs of its communities. The 
budget process will require services to demonstrate this through their budget 
proposals submissions. 
 

12.2. The budget proposals include examples of delivering Value for Money such 
as: 
• General efficiencies within services and departments. 
• Review of charges, maximising income opportunities, but considering the 

legal restrictions upon the Council’s ability to charge for its services. 
 

12.3. Where possible, savings proposals have been made that impact minimally on 
service delivery despite the challenges presented by the budget pressures 
outlined above. 
 

12.4. The Council consistently monitors performance and finance in tandem, to 
ensure that value for money services are commissioned and provided for, as 
well regularly adjusting its activities to improve performance and achieve better 
value for money. The budget process sets the approach, providing the 
framework in which the Council can look to improve performance and achieve 
better value for money. 

 
13. Sustainability Impact Appraisal 

 
13.1. Any sustainability impacts will be considered before final decisions are taken 

on whether to implement each proposal. All capital budget proposals are 
required to set out how the proposal contributes towards carbon emission 
reduction. 

 
14. Risk Management 

 
14.1. It is important that spending is contained within budget so that the Council can 

maintain its financial standing in the face of further pressure on resources in 
2023/24 and beyond as set out in the annual review of the MTFS in this report. 

 
14.2. The current final Local Government finance settlement only provides certainty 

for 2023/24, beyond this there remains a great deal of uncertainty. The MTFS 
therefore includes various assumptions on future funding which is based on 
Government announcements made to date. 
 

14.3. The MTFS model will continue to be updated as greater clarity is provided by 
the Government on their medium-term funding plans. 

Page 90



53

 

 

 
14.4. Given the uncertainties of the economic environment, impact of COVID-19 and 

the anticipated scale of the expenditure reductions required, there are 
inevitably significant risks involved in delivering balanced budgets over the 
medium term. Key strategic risks are: 

 
• included in the Corporate Risk Register; 
• regularly reported to Audit Committee; and 
• reviewed through updated Budget and MTFS Strategy reports to Cabinet. 
 

14.5. Since 2013/14, the balancing of the budget in-year depends upon the Council 
achieving its council tax and business rates projections which are closely 
monitored by the Financial Strategy Group. 
 

14.6. As explained in the report, the most immediate risks to the budget process are: 
 
• unfunded income loss pressures as a result of the long-term impact of the 

pandemic particularly in relation to Council Tax and Business rates 
income. The Council will continue to closely monitor the impact of these 
income streams and support lobbying to Government as a region to ensure 
the Council can be full compensated for these losses; 

• non-delivery of the approved savings; and 
• social care placement pressures, which continue to be partly mitigated by 

spend controls, transformational cost reduction programmes and close 
monitoring by SLT and by the Leader and the portfolio holders for Inclusive 
Economy, A Fairer Start and Healthy Lives. 

 
14.7. The Council is faced with an uncertain financial climate over the medium to 

long term which presents a high risk and there remains potential for further, as 
yet unrecognised, risks. For this reason, a prudent approach to the level of 
reserves held by the Council remains sensible and necessary. The Strategic 
Director of Corporate Resources, as the Council’s Section 151 Officer, is 
required to state whether the reserves are adequate as part of the annual 
budget setting process. 
 

14.8. The Council’s MTFS is continually under review and builds in projections for 
the MTFS period and beyond as further details and analysis become available. 
These updates are regularly reviewed by SLT and the portfolio holder and 
updates on the financial environment the Council is operating in are provided 
in Budget Strategy reports to Cabinet. Any sustainability impacts will be 
considered before final decisions are taken on whether to implement each 
proposal. 

 
15. Community Safety 

 
15.1. Not applicable. 

Page 91



54

 

 

 
 

16. Links to Three Key Priorities for the Borough  
 

16.1. The Council’s MTFS, budgets, capital programme and capital strategy are 
designed to deliver the Council’s strategic priorities of fighting inequality, 
fighting the climate crisis and creating good jobs. The budget set for 2023/24 
will address the delivery of national and local priorities. 

 
17. Equalities, Human Rights and Community Cohesion 

 
17.1. Budget proposals have been developed and impacts considered in line with 

the principles set out under S149 Equality Act 2010 and Human Rights Act 
1988, including the need to protect elderly, disabled, children and young 
people who are the most vulnerable residents of the borough. 
 

17.2. Implementation of each of the proposals will follow the Council’s processes, 
policies and local terms and conditions to ensure fair selection, assimilation, 
and recruitment and to ensure on-going monitoring of diversity. 

 
17.3. Where proposals will have equalities implications an Equalities Analysis 

Assessment (EAA) is required. EAAs are tools that help the Council make sure 
its policies, and the ways it carries out its functions, do what they are intended 
to do and for everybody.  If an EAA is required, it will be prepared and 
considered prior to the final decision on whether to proceed with the proposal 
being taken. 

 
17.4. A full Equalities Analysis Assessment has been carried out in relation to the 

equalities impacts of the council tax increase recommendations in paragraphs 
1.10 and 1.21(4).  This is attached as Appendix 11. 

 
17.5. When making decisions the Council must act reasonably and rationally. It must 

consider all relevant information and disregard all irrelevant information and 
consult those affected, taking into account their views before final decisions 
are made. It must also comply with its legal duties, including those relating to 
equalities as referred to above. Many proposals will impact upon third parties 
and where this is the case there may be a requirement for the Council to 
consult those affected before a final decision is taken on whether to implement 
the proposal or to amend the proposal prior to implementation. 

 
18. Staffing / Workforce and Accommodation Implications 

 
18.1. Not applicable. 

 
19. Property and Assets 

 

Page 92



55

 

 

19.1. The Capital investment proposals set out in this report for approval in principle 
reflect the need to make efficient use of the Council’s property and assets at 
an affordable cost to support the delivery of Council priorities. 

 
20. Consultation 
 
20.1. Consultation may be required in relation to some savings proposals. Where 

this is the case, the consultation will be undertaken in accordance with legal 
requirements and within a timetable appropriate to the individual 
circumstances of the proposal in question, including with recognised trade 
unions and affected individuals. The outcomes from each consultation 
undertaken will be considered before a final decision is taken on whether to 
proceed with the proposal in question, either as presently proposed or in an 
amended form. 

 
20.2. Budget Consultation and Scrutiny Process 

 
20.2.1. The Council’s budget framework sets out the need for the Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee to be consulted in the budget process. Furthermore, the 
Council is required to undertake statutory budget consultation with Business 
Rates payers in the borough. 
 

20.2.2. On 16 February 2023, meeting with the Ealing Business Partnership will look 
to consult with the local business rate payers. Following which any feedback 
will be either circulated to Cabinet as an addendum to the report or a verbal 
update provided at the Cabinet meeting by the Portfolio Holder. 

 
20.2.3. Meeting with the Overview and Scrutiny Committee (OSC) will be held a day 

before Cabinet on 21 February 2023. Feedback from this meeting will be 
submitted either in writing by the OSC Chair and/or Vice-Chair or provided 
verbally to Cabinet. 

 
21. Timetable for Implementation 

 
21.1. The budget timetable is set out above. 

 
Table 23: Timetable of Pending Key Budget Activities 

Date Key Activities 

February 2023 • Consultation with Ealing Business Partnership 
 
• Budget proposals to Cabinet and Overview & 

Scrutiny Committee 
 

• Cabinet considers final budget proposals and 
makes recommendations to Full Council 

Page 93



56

 

 

Date Key Activities 

 
March 2023 • Council approves Budget & Council Tax for 2023 

 
22. Appendices 
 

Appendix  Appendix Title 

1 Summary Revenue Budget 2023/24 

2 New Savings to be considered - 2023/24 to 2026/27 

3 2023/24 Fees and Charges Schedule 

4 Council Tax Reduction Scheme  

5 2023/24 Parking Account 

6 New Capital Schemes and Schemes to be Decommissioned 

7 Summary of Capital Programme 2022/23 to 2027/28 

8 2023/24 Capital Strategy and Flexible Capital Receipts Policy 

9 Treasury Management Strategy Statement, MRP Statement and 
Annual Investment Statement 

10 Reserves Forecast and Analysis over the MTFS Period 

11 Equality Analysis Assessment – Council Tax Increase 

 
23. Background Information 

 

Report Name Date 

Council Reports 

Treasury Management Mid Year Update 2022/23 13 December 2022 

Cabinet Reports 

2022/23 Budget Update Report 22 February 2023 

Council Tax Support Fund 2023/24 22 February 2023 

Page 94



57

 

 

Report Name Date 

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan 
2023/24 25 January 2023 

Revised Council Tax Reduction scheme for 2023/24 7 December 2022 

2022/23 Budget Amendment 18 May 2022 

Budget Strategy and MTFS 2022/23 to 2024/25 9 February 2022 

Schools Forum Reports 

Schools Funding 2023/24 19 January 2023 

Schools Funding 2023/24 10 November 2022 

Audit Committee 

Treasury Update – Quarter 2 29 November 2022 

Officer Decision Reports 

2021/22 Collection Fund Estimated Deficit as at 31 
March 2023 12 January 2023 

2023/24 Council Tax Base 9 January 2023 

 
Consultation 

 

Name of 
consultee Department 

Date sent 
to 
consultee 

Date 
response 
received 
from 
consultee 

Comments 
appear in report 
para: 

Internal 

Emily Hill 
Interim Strategic 
Director of Corporate 
Resources 

Continuous Continuous Throughout 

Tony Clements Chief Executive Continuous Continuous Throughout 
Carolyn Fair 
Kerry Stevens 
Kieran Read 
Sandra Fryer 
Darren Henaghan 

Interim / Acting 
Strategic Directors 

Continuous 
 

Continuous 
 

Throughout 
 

Page 95



58

 

 

Name of 
consultee Department 

Date sent 
to 
consultee 

Date 
response 
received 
from 
consultee 

Comments 
appear in report 
para: 

Helen Harris Director of Legal and 
Democratic Services    

Councillor Steve 
Donnelly 

Cabinet Member for 
Inclusive Economy Continuous Continuous Throughout 

Councillor Peter 
Mason Leader of the Council Continuous Continuous Throughout 

Emma Horner Assistant Director of 
Technical Finance Continuous Continuous 

Paragraph 5.9, 
Section 9, 
Appendix 9 

Bridget Uku Finance Manager – 
Pensions and Treasury Continuous Continuous Section 9, 

Appendix 9 

Russell Dyer Assistant Director of 
Accountancy Continuous Continuous 

Recommendation: 
1.9,16,17,18 & 
1.21(1e & 1f); 
Section 5,6,7,8; 
Appendices 
2,3,5,6&7 

Nick Rowe 
Assistant Director of 
Local Tax & Accounts 
Receivable 

Continuous Continuous 
Recommendations;  
Paragraphs 4.7 and 
5.7 to 5.10 

Joanna Pavlides Assistant Director of 
Financial Assessments Continuous Continuous Recommendations; 

Para- 5.7 to 5.8 

Tamara Quinn 
Assistant Director 
Schools, Planning & 
Resource 

Continuous Continuous Recommendations;  
Section 6 

 
Report History 
 
Decision Type: Urgency Item? 
For Decision No 
Authorised by Cabinet Date:  Report Deadline: Date Report Sent: 
 
Member: 
 

  

 

Report no: Report authors and contact queries: 

Page 96



59

 

 

 
Shabana Kausar, Assistant Director Strategic Finance, 020 8825 7549 

 Baljinder Sangha, Finance Manager, 020 8825 5579 
Katherine Ball, Finance Manager, 020 8825 5757 
 

 

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 - Draft Revenue Budget Summary

2022/23 Revised 

Budget

2023/24 Draft 

Budget

£M £M

Children's Service 66.610 65.369

Adults Service and Public Health 85.483 84.775

Economy 5.362 2.730

Housing & Environment 17.422 13.190

Corporate Resources 33.683 33.939

Strategy and Change 7.985 7.718

Chief Executive Office 0.467 0.464

West London Alliance 0.000 0.000

Net Service Department Budget 217.012 208.185

Levies 23.887 25.401

Centrally held Grants (37.254) (46.537)

Corporate Items (including Treasury Management, bad debt provision) 48.461 47.765

Centrally Held Budgets (growth, inflation, rates) (1.018) 46.367

Contingency 2.000 2.000

Total Centrally Held Budgets 36.076 74.996

Contribution to (+) / from (-) reserves 3.500 3.500

Net Budget Requirement 256.588 286.681

Retained Business Rates (including S31, RSG and top-up grant) (101.680) (118.605)

Council Tax (158.976) (171.079)

Collection Fund surplus (-) / deficit (+) 4.068 3.003

Total Funding (256.588) (286.681)

Budget Total 0.000 0.000

Budget Headings

* budgets provide an indicative cashlimit per department. This is subject to change as budget responsibilities are reviewed and signed 

off by Strategic Leadership Team at the start of the year in accordance with the new management structure.

Page 99



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix - 2 New Savings 2023-2027

2023/24 2024/25 £M 2025/26 £M 2026/27 £M
Net Savings 

Total

£'m £'m £'m £'m £'m

General Fund Savings 7.184 (1.169) 1.037 0.344 7.396

Cost Avoidance / Cost Containment / Cost Reductions 2.968 0.864 2.662 0.839 7.333

Total Gross Savings 10.152 (0.304) 3.699 1.183 14.729

Type of Proposal 2023/24 2024/25 £M 2025/26 £M 2026/27 £M
Net Savings 

Total

£'m £'m £'m £'m £'m

2. Climate Action Budget Saving Service Redesign/ Reviews Efficiency FE1-2314 Housing & Environment Productivity increases in parking.  Look at moving Serco into LATCO not insourcing.  Infrastructure to stay inhouse 0.000 0.354 0.354 0.354 1.062

2. Climate Action Budget Saving Service Reviews Income Generation FE1-2316 Housing & Environment Street Trading Increase the number of designated fixed pitches across the borough and expansion of service through marketing and sales campaign. 0.030 0.307 0.307 0.007 0.651

2. Climate Action Budget Saving Service Reviews Income Generation FE1-2326 Housing & Environment Waste disposal -  share of income earned by the Waste Disposal contractor from the energy from waste plant 1.200 (1.200) 0.000 0.000 0.000

2. Climate Action Budget Saving Service Reviews Service Reductio/.Cessation FE1-2327a Housing & Environment Increased effectiveness through the use of improved working practices and intelligence led deployment of Street Cleansing resource 0.000 0.559 0.000 0.000 0.559

2. Climate Action Budget Saving Service Reviews Service Reductio/.Cessation FE1-2327b Housing & Environment Maximising Opportunities of the appointment system for Household Waste and Recycling Centre at Greenford 0.000 0.098 0.102 0.000 0.200

2. Climate Action Budget Saving Service Reviews Service Reductio/.Cessation FE1-2327c Housing & Environment More effective seasonal deployment of the garden waste collection service 0.000 0.097 0.000 0.000 0.097

2. Climate Action Budget Saving Service Reviews Efficiency FE1-2328 Housing & Environment Effiency in weed spraying service. Efficiency in Commercial waste collection teams. reduce food waste collection by one round and  Collections - flats reduce loader by one per team.  Refuse and Recycling Service reconfiguation. 0.021 0.253 0.291 0.000 0.565

2. Climate Action Budget Saving Service Reviews Efficiency FE1-2329 Housing & Environment Progressive transfer of further frontline environmental services (starting with Graffiti and Flyposting service in 23/24)  to the highly successful Greener Ealing Limited, Local Authority Trading Company. 0.016 0.750 0.000 0.000 0.766

2. Climate Action Budget Saving Service Reviews Income Generation FE1-2315 Housing & Environment
Productivity increases in the parking service by focusing enforcement on areas of concern raised by local communities. Including income generated by focussing resource on areas where utility companies are flouting parking 

restrictions and blocking parking space intended for residents, and income generated through the enforcement of new restrictions delivered with the community through the Council's Active Travel and school streets programmes. 
1.900 (0.200) (0.100) (0.100) 1.500

Council Priority 2. Climate Action Sub Total 3.167 1.018 0.954 0.261 5.400

4. A Fairer Start Budget Saving Asset Review Income Generation FE1-2332 Children's/Schools Selling the Council's Share in a BSF PFI & reviewing PFI reserves (one off) 0.733 (0.733) 0.000 0.000 0.000

Council Priority 4. A Fairer Start Sub Total 0.733 (0.733) 0.000 0.000 0.000

6. Inclusive Economy Budget Saving Demand Management Income Generaton FE1-2317 Cross Cutting Recruit 3 additional officers to improve Adult SC income, 1 for parked debt, 2 for financial assesments 0.265 0.045 0.045 0.045 0.400

Council Priority 6. Inclusive Economy Sub Total 0.265 0.045 0.045 0.045 0.400

8. Good Growth Budget Saving Asset Review Income Generation FE1-2333 Corporate Resources Increase in advertising income generation 0.040 0.020 0.020 0.020 0.100

8. Good Growth Budget Saving Service Reviews Income Generation FE1-2301 Cross Cutting Fees and Charges - Inflationary Increase 1.147 0.000 0.000 0.000 1.147

Council Priority 8. Good Growth Sub Total 1.187 0.020 0.020 0.020 1.247

10. Organisational Priorities Budget Saving Asset Review Income Generation FE1-2307 Economy Strategic use of s106 funds 1.787 (1.787) 0.000 0.000 0.000

10. Organisational Priorities Budget Saving Service Reviews Service Reductio/.Cessation FE1-2334 Corporate Resources Reorganisation of ICT & PS staffing reduction 0.003 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.003

10. Organisational Priorities Budget Saving Asset Review Income Generation FE1-2305 Corporate Resources Sublet space in Greenford Depot (0.054) 0.268 0.018 0.018 0.250

10. Organisational Priorities Budget Saving Service Redesign Funding Substituion FE1-2331 Strategy & Change Saving on Pure 360 email send costs followning implementation of MS Dynamics Marketing module 0.020 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.020

10. Organisational Priorities Budget Saving Service Reviews Income Generation FE1-2318 Strategy & Change Increase WLFO ratecard as basis for commercial negotatiation 0.025 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.025

10. Organisational Priorities Budget Saving Service Reviews Service Reductio/.Cessation FE1-2330 Strategy & Change Review of directorate wide discretionary budgets 0.050 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.050

Council Priority 10. Organisational Priorities Sub Total 1.831 (1.519) 0.018 0.018 0.348

7.184 (1.169) 1.037 0.344 7.396

Type of Proposal 2023/24 2024/25 £M 2025/26 £M 2026/27 £M
Net Savings 

Total

£'m £'m £'m £'m £'m

4. A Fairer Start 
Cost 

Avoidance
Demand Management Transformation/Innovation FE1-2302 Children's

Reduction in Looked After Children  numbers and high cost placements through supporting adolescents to stay/move out of residential care. Includes increase of kinship and in house placements to support reduction of IFA/residential 

in overall mix. Stretch of existing programme target.
1.192 0.433 0.817 0.418 2.860

4. A Fairer Start 
Cost 

Avoidance
Service Redesign Transformation/Innovation FE1-2324 Children's Children's Home 1:  commissioned provision using council asset. 5-6 bed property will be an enabler of ref Opp-1 and deliver additional commissioning savings. (0.060) 0.106 0.168 0.066 0.280

4. A Fairer Start 
Cost 

Avoidance
Service Redesign Transformation/Innovation FE1-2335 Children's Children's Home 2: commissioned provision using council asset. 5-6 bed property will be an enabler of ref Opp-1 and deliver additional commissioning savings. 0.000 0.125 0.250 0.000 0.375

4. A Fairer Start 
Cost 

Avoidance
Demand Management

Transformation/Innovation & 

Efficiency
FE1-2325 Children's Stretch target on existing programme - travel assessment, reassessment, travel training, personal budgets 0.462 0.527 0.732 0.163 1.884

4. A Fairer Start 
Cost 

Avoidance
Demand Management Transformation/Innovation FE1-2303 Children's Increase permanent social workers and reduce agency spend - ASYE academy, recruitment & retention improvements, international recruitment. 0.020 0.120 0.210 0.050 0.400

4. A Fairer Start 
Cost 

Avoidance
Demand Management Transformation/Innovation FE1-2304 Children's CWD inhouse short breaks expansion, sitting, family links in CC setting, and package reviews 0.140 0.020 0.020 0.020 0.200

4. A Fairer Start 
Cost 

Avoidance
Service Redesign Service Reduction/Cessation FE1-2323 Children's Reduction of SAFE overspend - staffing reductions / funding transfers, to bring back in line with previous service offer 0.350 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.350

4. A Fairer Start 
Cost 

Avoidance
Service Reviews Efficeincy FE1-2310 Children's Redesign Looked After Children step down model 0.157 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.157

4. A Fairer Start 
Cost 

Avoidance
Service Reviews Efficeincy FE1-2313 Children's Foster Carer Recruitment 0.023 0.024 0.049 0.000 0.096

Council Priority 4. A Fairer Start Sub Total 2.284 1.355 2.246 0.717 6.602

7. Genuinely Affordable Homes 
Cost 

Avoidance
Demand Management Efficiency FE1-2336 Housing & Environment Use of Voids as Temporary Accomodation to reduce HB subsidy loss 1.000 (1.000) 0.000 0.000 0.000

Council Priority 7. Genuinely Affordable Homes Sub Total 1.000 (1.000) 0.000 0.000 0.000

9. Thriving Communities 
Cost 

Avoidance
Demand Management FE1-2311 Adults & Public Health Mental health step down housing (0.133) 0.382 0.230 0.061 0.540

9. Thriving Communities 
Cost 

Avoidance
Demand Management FE1-2312 Adults & Public Health Sheltered Accommodation for Older Adults (0.183) 0.127 0.186 0.061 0.191

Council Priority 10. Thriving Communities Sub Total (0.316) 0.509 0.416 0.122 0.731

2.968 0.864 2.662 0.839 7.333

Type of 

Proposal

Type of 

Proposal

Saving Summary

Table 1: General Fund Savings

Total General Fund

Council Plan Priority Focus Area Saving Ref Department Title of Saving Proposal (Cabinet)

Total Cost Avoidance / Cost Containment / Cost Reductions

Table 2: Cost Avoidance / Cost Containment / Cost Reduction

Council Plan Priority Focus Area Saving Ref Saving Ref Title of Saving Proposal (Cabinet)

P
age 101



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 3 - 2023/24 Draft Fees and Charges Schedule

2023/24 FEES & CHARGES SCHEDULE

 2022/23 Updated 

Charges 

 2023/24 Proposed 

Charge 

 £  £ 

(a) (b) (c)  (d)  (e)  (f) 

CHILDREN'S AND ADULTS SERVICE

Schools Service
Planning & Resources

Schools Bursarial Service Schools Bursarial Service - Level 1 Full Cost Recovery £3,250.00 Per school £3,400.00

Schools Bursarial Service Schools Bursarial Service - Level 2 Full Cost Recovery £5,950.00 Per school £6,200.00

Schools Bursarial Service Schools Bursarial Service - Level 3 Full Cost Recovery £7,750.00 Per school £8,050.00

Schools Bursarial Service Schools Bursarial Service - Bespoke Full Cost Recovery Quote on request Per school Quote on request

Schools Bursarial Service Schools Bursarial Service - Day rate (Short term for schools that already buy in to service) Full Cost Recovery £395.00 Per day £410.00

Performance

Research & Statistics Team
Fischer Family Trust (FFT) Data Access - Fixed rate for infant school (to be combined with per pupil 

rate below)
External £540.00 Per high school £540.00

Research & Statistics Team Fischer Family Trust (FFT) Data Access - price per pupil (in addition to fixed price above) External £0.23 Per pupil £0.23

Schools Effectiveness

Ealing Education Centre Meeting Room Hire (incl. Servicing and all multimedia equipment): Capacity 6-80 people Subsidised £24.20 - £45.30 per room £24.97 - £46.66

Ealing Education Centre Training CPD pay as you go per session per person ELP rate Subsidised £172.00 per full day £177.16

Ealing Education Centre Training CPD pay as you go per session per person ELP rate Subsidised £119.00 per half day £122.57

Ealing Education Centre Training CPD pay as you go per session per person ELP rate Subsidised £90.00 up to 2 hours £92.70

Ealing Education Centre Training CPD pay as you go per session per person non ELP rate Subsidised £189.00 per full day £194.67

Ealing Education Centre Training CPD pay as you go per session per person non ELP rate Subsidised £131.00 per half day £134.93

Ealing Education Centre Training CPD pay as you go per session per person non ELP rate Subsidised £97.00 up to 2 hours £99.91

Ealing Education Centre Training Offered on Pay As You Go rates - ELP rate Subsidised £172.00 per person per session £177.16

Ealing Education Centre Training Offered on Pay As You Go rates - non ELP rate Subsidised £189.00 per person per session £194.67

Ealing Education Centre CPD/Training SLA for School  - ELP rate Subsidised £76.00 per Staff per year £78.28

Ealing Education Centre CPD/Training SLA for School - cap for Primary School - ELP rate Subsidised £5,618.00
per School Staff (January 

Census)
£5,786.54

Ealing Education Centre CPD/Training SLA for School - cap for Special School - ELP rate Subsidised £2,659.00
per School Staff (January 

Census)
£2,738.77

Ealing Education Centre CPD/Training SLA for School  - non ELP rate Subsidised £108.00
per School Staff (January 

Census)
£111.24

Governance External review of governance - ELP rate Subsidised £1,650.00 per package £1,699.50

Governance External review of governance - non ELP rate Subsidised £1,800.00 per package £1,854.00

Governance Governing Board bespoke training (1 day)- ELP rate Subsidised £615.00 per day £633.45

Governance Governing Board bespoke training (half day) - ELP rate Subsidised £325.00 per half day £334.75

Governance Governing Board bespoke training (1 day) - non ELP rate Subsidised £710.00 per day £731.30

Governance Governing Board bespoke training (half day) - non ELP rate Subsidised £375.00 per half day £386.25

Governance New chairs - mentoring,support and if required one to one training -ELP rate Subsidised £325.00 up to half a day £334.75

Governance New chairs - mentoring,support and if required one to one training -non ELP rate Subsidised £375.00 up to half a day £386.25

School workforce Workforce network two year commitment 2021 - 2023 -ELP rate Subsidised £850.00 per 2 years £875.50

School workforce Workforce network two year commitment 2021 - 2023 - non ELP rate Subsidised £995.00 per 2 years £1,024.85

School workforce Coaching headteacher ELP rate Subsidised £1,650.00 £1,699.50

 Charge basis (e.g. per 

hour, per day etc) 
Service Description of Fee/Charge Charging Policy

Page 1 of 31

Page 103



Appendix 3 - 2023/24 Draft Fees and Charges Schedule

2023/24 FEES & CHARGES SCHEDULE

 2022/23 Updated 

Charges 

 2023/24 Proposed 

Charge 

 £  £ 

(a) (b) (c)  (d)  (e)  (f) 

 Charge basis (e.g. per 

hour, per day etc) 
Service Description of Fee/Charge Charging Policy

School workforce Coaching staff ELP rate Subsidised £1,150.00 £1,184.50

School workforce Team building ELP rate Subsidised £895.00 £921.85

School workforce Headship finance ELP rate Subsidised £750.00 £772.50

School workforce Mentoring headteacher ELP rate Subsidised £895.00 £921.85

School workforce Performamnce management teacher/support staff ELP rate Subsidised £350.00 £360.50

School workforce Income generation ELP rate Subsidised £895.00 £921.85

School workforce Grant funding ELP rate Subsidised £895.00 £921.85

School workforce Marketing ELP rate Subsidised £895.00 £921.85

School workforce Coaching headteacher non ELP rate Subsidised £1,795.00 £1,848.85

School workforce Coaching staff non ELP rate Subsidised £1,295.00 £1,333.85

School workforce Team building non ELP rate Subsidised £995.00 £1,024.85

School workforce Headship finance non ELP rate Subsidised £895.00 £921.85

School workforce Mentoring headteacher non ELP rate Subsidised £995.00 £1,024.85

School workforce Performamnce management teacher/support staff non ELP rate Subsidised £495.00 £509.85

School workforce Income generation non ELP rate Subsidised £995.00 £1,024.85

School workforce Grant funding non ELP rate Subsidised £995.00 £1,024.85

School workforce Marketing non ELP rate Subsidised £995.00 £1,024.85

School workforce Pay As You Go Half day - ELP rate Subsidised £340.00 half a day £350.20

School workforce Pay As You Go Full day - ELP rate Subsidised £630.00 full day £648.90

School workforce Pay As You Go Half day - non ELP rate Subsidised £370.00 half a day £381.10

School workforce Pay As You Go Full day - non ELP rate Subsidised £695.00 full day £715.85

Health improvement 4 day bespoke package - ELP rate Subsidised £1,920.00 £1,977.60

Health improvement 4 day bespoke package - non ELP rate Subsidised £2,112.00 £2,175.36

Health improvement Healthy schools awards and training package - ELP rate Subsidised £1,020.00 per package £1,050.60

Health improvement Healthy schools awards and training package - non ELP rate Subsidised £1,122.00 per package £1,155.66

Health improvement Reducing obesity package - ELP rate Subsidised £1,630.00 per package £1,678.90

Health improvement Reducing obesity package - non ELP rate Subsidised £1,793.00 per package £1,846.79

Health improvement Mental health and emotional wellbeing package - ELP rate Subsidised £1,630.00 per package £1,678.90

Health improvement Mental health and emotional wellbeing package - non ELP rate Subsidised £1,793.00 per package £1,846.79

Health improvement Relationship and sex education package - ELP rate Subsidised £1,630.00 per package £1,678.90

Health improvement Relationship and sex education package - non ELP rate Subsidised £1,793.00 per package £1,846.79

Health improvement PHSE package - ELP rate Subsidised £1,450.00 per package £1,493.50

Health improvement PHSE package - non ELP rate Subsidised £1,595.00 per package £1,642.85

Ealing Learning Partnership Primary lump sum Subsidised £4,040.00 per school £4,161.20

Ealing Learning Partnership Primary variable based on number of pupil Subsidised £5.60 per pupil £5.77

Page 2 of 31

Page 104



Appendix 3 - 2023/24 Draft Fees and Charges Schedule

2023/24 FEES & CHARGES SCHEDULE

 2022/23 Updated 

Charges 

 2023/24 Proposed 

Charge 

 £  £ 

(a) (b) (c)  (d)  (e)  (f) 

 Charge basis (e.g. per 

hour, per day etc) 
Service Description of Fee/Charge Charging Policy

Ealing Learning Partnership Secondary lump sum Subsidised £6,565.00 per school £6,761.95

Ealing Learning Partnership Secondary variable based on number of pupil Subsidised £5.60 per pupil £5.77

Ealing Learning Partnership Special lump sum Subsidised £4,545.00 per school £4,681.35

Ealing Music Service Whole class Ensemble Tuition (WCET) First Access option 1 Subsidised £825.00 per class per year £825.00

Ealing Music Service Whole class Ensemble Tuition (WCET) First Access option 2 Subsidised £1,995.00 per class per year £1,995.00

Ealing Music Service Whole class Ensemble Tuition (WCET) Continued Access option 3 Subsidised £1,980.00 per class per year £1,980.00

Ealing Music Service Whole class Ensemble Tuition (WCET) Continued Access option 4 Subsidised £3,150.00 per class per year £3,150.00

Ealing Music Service Ensembles leaders Subsidised £45.00 per hour £45.00

Ealing Music Service Classroom Curriculum teaching Subsidised £48.00 per hour £48.00

Ealing Music Service Instrument Hire Band A Subsidised £22.00 per term £22.00

Ealing Music Service Instrument Hire Band B Subsidised £27.00 per term £27.00

Ealing Music Service Instrument Hire Band C Subsidised £35.00 per term £35.00

Ealing Music Service Instrument Hire Class set Subsidised £250.00 per term £250.00

Ealing Music Service Instrumental/vocal tuition Subsidised £40.00 per hour £40.00

Ealing Music Service Half day workshop Subsidised £230.00 per half a day £230.00

Ealing Music Service Full day workshop Subsidised £395.00 per day £395.00

Ealing Music Service Half day workshop + instrument hire for 1 term Subsidised £395.00 per half a day £395.00

Ealing Music Service Full day workshop + instrument hire for 1 term Subsidised £565.00 per day £565.00

Ealing Music Service In house CPD for schools who purchase regular EMS teaching provision Subsidised £600.00 per 6 hours £600.00

Ealing Music Service In house CPD for schools who purchase regular EMS teaching provision Subsidised £330.00 per 3 hours £330.00

Ealing Music Service In house CPD for schools who purchase regular EMS teaching provision Subsidised £235.00 per 2 hours £235.00

Ealing Music Service In house CPD for other schools Subsidised £725.00 per 6 hours £725.00

Ealing Music Service In house CPD for other schools Subsidised £420.00 per 3 hours £420.00

Ealing Music Service In house CPD for other schools Subsidised £295.00 per 2 hours £295.00

School Partnership and 

enrichment
4 days consultancy package - ELP rate Subsidised £1,877.00 per package £1,933.31

School Partnership and 

enrichment
4 days consultancy package - non ELP rate Subsidised £2,065.00 per package £2,126.95

School Partnership and 

enrichment
Curriculum enrichment ELP rate Subsidised £104.00 £107.12

School Partnership and 

enrichment
Curriculum enrichment non ELP rate Subsidised £114.00 £117.42

School Partnership and 

enrichment
Bespoke fundraising and grant writing - ELP rate Subsidised £1,877.00 per package £1,933.31

School Partnership and 

enrichment
Bespoke fundraising and grant writing - non ELP rate Subsidised £2,065.00 per package £2,126.95

School Partnership and 

enrichment
Engaging parents in early reading ELP rate Subsidised £1,200.00 £1,236.00

School Partnership and 

enrichment
Family school partnership awards ELP rate Subsidised £500.00 £515.00

School Partnership and 

enrichment
Primary careers package ELP rate Subsidised £950.00 £978.50

School Partnership and 

enrichment
Engaging parents in early reading non ELP rate Subsidised £1,320.00 £1,359.60

School Partnership and 

enrichment
Family school partnership awards non ELP rate Subsidised £550.00 £566.50

School Partnership and 

enrichment
Primary careers package non ELP rate Subsidised £1,045.00 £1,076.35

School improvement support Standard ELP bespoke support and consultancy full day ELP rate Subsidised £615.00 per day £633.45

School improvement support Standard ELP bespoke  and consultancy half day ELP rate Subsidised £325.00 half a day £334.75

School improvement support Standard ELP bespoke and consultancy per hour ELP rate Subsidised £88.00 per hour £90.64

School improvement support Standard ELP bespoke support and consultancy full day non ELP rate Subsidised £710.00 per day £731.30

School improvement support Standard ELP bespoke  and consultancy half day non ELP rate Subsidised £375.00 half a day £386.25

School improvement support Standard ELP bespoke and consultancy per hour non ELP rate Subsidised £102.00 per hour £105.06

Page 3 of 31

Page 105



Appendix 3 - 2023/24 Draft Fees and Charges Schedule

2023/24 FEES & CHARGES SCHEDULE

 2022/23 Updated 

Charges 

 2023/24 Proposed 

Charge 

 £  £ 

(a) (b) (c)  (d)  (e)  (f) 

 Charge basis (e.g. per 

hour, per day etc) 
Service Description of Fee/Charge Charging Policy

School improvement support 

in all schools
Bespoke full day ELP rate Subsidised £615.00 per day £633.45

School improvement support 

in all schools
Bespoke half day ELP rate Subsidised £325.00 half a day £334.75

School improvement support 

in all schools
Bespoke per hour ELP rate Subsidised £88.00 per hour £90.64

School improvement support 

in all schools
Bespoke full day non ELP rate Subsidised £710.00 per day £731.30

School improvement support 

in all schools
Bespoke half day non ELP rate Subsidised £375.00 half a day £386.25

School improvement support 

in all schools
Bespoke per hour ELP rate Subsidised £102.00 per hour £105.06

Children's Service

Education Psychology

Education Psychology Service Education Psychology Schools Levy - Level 1 Full Cost Recovery £1,509.95 per school £1,600.55

Education Psychology Service Education Psychology Schools Levy - Level 2 Full Cost Recovery £2,015.96 per school £2,136.92

Education Psychology Service Education Psychology Schools Levy - Level 3 Full Cost Recovery £2,988.59 per school £3,167.91

Education Psychology Service Education Psychology Schools Levy - Level 4 Full Cost Recovery £3,975.36 per school £4,213.88

Education Psychology Service Education Psychology Daily buy back (schools) ad hoc Full Cost Recovery Various per day Various

Play Service

Play Service After schools club (parental charges) - per day Full Cost Recovery £9.45 Per day £9.83

Adults Service

Community Offer

Choice Scheme Outreach Service
Subsidised - subject to 

Financial Assessment
£15.73 per hour £15.73

Choice Scheme Supported Living Service
Subsidised - subject to 

Financial Assessment
£907.25 per week £907.25

Community Road and Group 

Homes
Supported Living Service

Subsidised - subject to 

Financial Assessment
£641.43 per week £641.43

Ealing Shared Lives Scheme Low Need Placement
Subsidised - subject to 

Financial Assessment
£67.92 per night £67.92

Ealing Shared Lives Scheme Ealing Shared Lives Scheme - Moderate Need Placement
Subsidised - subject to 

Financial Assessment
£75.58 per night £75.58

Ealing Shared Lives Scheme Ealing Shared Lives Scheme - High Need Placement
Subsidised - subject to 

Financial Assessment
£85.81 per night £85.81

Ealing Shared Lives Scheme Ealing Shared Lives Scheme - Sessional Support
Subsidised - subject to 

Financial Assessment
£10.86 per hour £10.86

Day Centre

Cowgate Day Centre 1:5 support needs (half day)
Subsidised - subject to 

Financial Assessment
£50.08 per half day £50.08

Cowgate Day Centre 1:5 support needs (full day)
Subsidised - subject to 

Financial Assessment
£100.16 per full day £100.16

Cowgate Day Centre 1:3 support needs (half day)
Subsidised - subject to 

Financial Assessment
£72.26 per half day £72.26

Cowgate Day Centre 1:3 support needs (full day)
Subsidised - subject to 

Financial Assessment
£144.51 per full day £144.51

Cowgate Day Centre 1:1 support needs (half day)
Subsidised - subject to 

Financial Assessment
£78.41 per half day £78.41

Cowgate Day Centre 1:1 support needs (full day)
Subsidised - subject to 

Financial Assessment
£156.81 per full day £156.81

Cowgate Day Centre Transport (return trip)
Subsidised - subject to 

Financial Assessment
£37.80 per return trip £37.80

Cowgate Day Centre Hall Hire
Subsidised - subject to 

Financial Assessment
Quote on request Room Hire Quote on request

Cowgate Day Centre Service User Fee - Meal
Subsidised - subject to 

Financial Assessment
£3.00 Meal £3.00

Michael Flanders Day Centre Attendance at Day Centre -Half Day
Subsidised - subject to 

Financial Assessment
£35.22 per half day £35.22

Michael Flanders Day Centre Attendance at Day Centre - Full Day
Subsidised - subject to 

Financial Assessment
£70.44 per full day £70.44

Michael Flanders Day Centre Transport Charge (return trip)
Subsidised - subject to 

Financial Assessment
£29.95 per return trip £29.95

Michael Flanders Day Centre Hall Hire
Subsidised - subject to 

Financial Assessment
£15.00 per full day £15.00

Michael Flanders Day Centre Service User Fee - Meal
Subsidised - subject to 

Financial Assessment
£3.00 Meal £3.00

Respite Care

Ealing Short Breaks Service 

Scheme
Ealing Short Breaks Service Scheme - High Support Needs

Subsidised - subject to 

Financial Assessment
£227.87 per night £227.87

Ealing Short Breaks Service 

Scheme
Ealing Short Breaks Service Scheme - Low Support Needs

Subsidised - subject to 

Financial Assessment
£154.28 per night £154.28

Page 4 of 31

Page 106



Appendix 3 - 2023/24 Draft Fees and Charges Schedule

2023/24 FEES & CHARGES SCHEDULE

 2022/23 Updated 

Charges 

 2023/24 Proposed 

Charge 

 £  £ 

(a) (b) (c)  (d)  (e)  (f) 

 Charge basis (e.g. per 

hour, per day etc) 
Service Description of Fee/Charge Charging Policy

Reablement Service

Reablement Service Up to 6 weeks Free Free for for first 6 weeks Free

Reablement Service Over 6 weeks
Subsidised - subject to 

Financial Assessment

Subject to 

Financial 

Assessment

over 6 weeks
Subject to Financial 

Assessment

Residential / Nursing Care

Self Funder Admin Fee Self Funder Arrangement Fee Full Cost Recovery £214.00 per agreement £235.60

Residential / Nursing Care - 

Adults
Deferred Payment Agreement Set-Up Fee Full Cost Recovery £288.90 per agreement £318.10

Residential / Nursing Care - 

Adults
Deferred Payment Scheme - Interest Rate Chargeable on deferred care costs Statutory £0.01 per agreement £0.01

PLACE

Growth & Sustainability
Planning

Pre-Planning Applications

Pre-Application Pre-Application Advice - Minor Full Cost Recovery £4,050.00 per application £4,459.10

Pre-Application Pre-Application Advice - Major Full Cost Recovery £10,100.00 per application £11,120.10

Pre-Application Pre-Application Advice - Strategic Full Cost Recovery £20,200.00 per application £22,240.20

Pre-Application Pre-Application - Planning Advice Full Cost Recovery £155.00 per application £170.70

Pre-Application Pre-Application Advice - Enhanced Service Full Cost Recovery £10,100.00 per application No Longer Offered

Outline Applications

Outline Application All Outline Applications not more than 2.5 hectares Statutory £462.00 per 0.1 hectare £462.00

Outline Application All Outline Applications more than 2.5 hectares (Fixed fee and per hextre) Statutory £11,432.00
per application over 2.5 

hectares
£11,432.00

Outline Application Statutory £138.00 per 0.1 hectare £138.00

Householder Application

Households
Householder Applications - Alterations/extensions to a single dwelling house, including works within 

boundary
Statutory £206.00 per application £206.00

Full Applications

Full Application Alterations/extensions to two or more dwelling houses, including works within boundaries Statutory £407.00 per application £407.00

Full Application New dwelling houses (up to and including 50) Statutory £462.00 per application £462.00

Full Application New dwelling houses - for more than 50 homes Statutory £22,859.00 per application £22,859.00

Full Application Statutory £138.00 per additional dwelling £138.00

Full Application Statutory £300,000.00
Maximum Fee 

Chargeable
£300,000.00

Erection Of Buildings

Erection of Buildings
Gross floor space to be created by the development: No increase in gross floor space or no more 

than 40 sq. m
Statutory £234.00 per application £234.00

Erection of Buildings Gross floor space to be created by the development: More than 40 sq. m but no more than 75 sq. m Statutory £462.00 per application £462.00

Erection of Buildings
Gross floor space to be created by the development: More than 75 sq. m but no more than 3750 sq. 

m
Statutory £462.00

for each 75 sq m (or part 

thereof)
£462.00

Erection of Buildings Gross floor space to be created by the development: More than 3750 sq. m Statutory £22,859.00 per application £22,859.00

Erection of Buildings Statutory £138.00
for each 75 sq m in 

excess of 3750 sq m
£138.00

Erection of Buildings Statutory £300,000.00
Maximum Fee 

Chargeable
£300,000.00

The Erection Of Buildings (Land For Agricultural Purposes)

Erection of Buildings
Gross floor space to be created by the development: No increase in gross floor space or no more 

than 465 sq. m
Statutory £96.00 per application £96.00

Erection of Buildings
Gross floor space to be created by the development: More than 465 sq. m but no more than 540 sq. 

m
Statutory £462.00 per application £462.00

Erection of Buildings
Gross floor space to be created by the development: More than 540 sq. m but no more than 4,215 

sq. m
Statutory £462.00 for first 540 sq m £462.00

Erection of Buildings Statutory £462.00

for every 75 sq m (or part 

thereof) in excess of 540 

sq m

£462.00

Erection of Buildings Gross floor space to be created by the development: More than 4,215 sq. m Statutory £22,859.00 per application £22,859.00

Erection of Buildings Statutory £138.00
for each 75 sq m in 

excess of 4215 sq m
£138.00

Erection of Buildings Statutory £300,000.00
Maximum Fee 

Chargeable
£300,000.00

Erection Of Glasshouses

Erection of Glasshouses Gross floor space to be created by the development: Not more than 465 sq. m Statutory £96.00 per application £96.00

Erection of Glasshouses Gross floor space to be created by the development: More than 465 sq. m Statutory £2,580.00 per application £2,580.00

Erection/Alterations/Replacement Of Plant And Machinery

Erection/alterations/replaceme

nt of plat and machinery
Site Area not more than 5 hectares Statutory £462.00

per 0.1 hectare (or part 

thereof)
£462.00

Erection/alterations/replaceme

nt of plat and machinery
Site Area more than 5 hectares Statutory £22,859.00 per application £22,859.00

Erection/alterations/replaceme

nt of plat and machinery
Statutory £138.00

per 0.1 hectare (or part 

thereof) in excess of 5 

hectares 

£138.00

Erection/alterations/replaceme

nt of plat and machinery
Statutory £300,000.00

Maximum Fee 

Chargeable
£300,000.00

Car Parks, Service Roads Or Other Accesses

Car parks, service roads or 

other accesses
For existing uses Statutory £234.00  £234.00

Use Of Land For Waste

Waste Sites Site Area not more than 15 hectares Statutory £234.00
per 0.1 hectare (or part 

thereof)
£234.00

Waste Sites Site Area more than 15 hectares Statutory £34,934.00 per application £34,934.00

Waste Sites Statutory £138.00

per 0.1 hectare (or part 

thereof) in excess of 15 

hectares 

£138.00

Waste Sites Statutory £78,000.00
Maximum Fee 

Chargeable
£78,000.00

Exploratory Drilling For Oil Or Natural Gas Operation

Page 5 of 31

Page 107



Appendix 3 - 2023/24 Draft Fees and Charges Schedule

2023/24 FEES & CHARGES SCHEDULE

 2022/23 Updated 

Charges 

 2023/24 Proposed 

Charge 

 £  £ 

(a) (b) (c)  (d)  (e)  (f) 

 Charge basis (e.g. per 

hour, per day etc) 
Service Description of Fee/Charge Charging Policy

Exploratory drilling for oil or 

natural gas
Site Area not more than 7.5 hectares Statutory £507.00

per 0.1 hectare (or part 

thereof)
£507.00

Exploratory drilling for oil or 

natural gas
Site Area more than 7.5 hectares Statutory £38,070.00 per application £38,070.00

Exploratory drilling for oil or 

natural gas
Statutory £151.00

per 0.1 hectare (or part 

thereof) in excess of 7.5 

hectares 

£151.00

Exploratory drilling for oil or 

natural gas
Statutory £300,000.00

Maximum Fee 

Chargeable
£300,000.00

Operations For Winning And Working Of Oil Or Natural Gas

Operations for the winning and 

working of oil or natural gas
Site Area not more than 15 hectares Statutory £256.00

per 0.1 hectare (or part 

thereof)
£256.00

Operations for the winning and 

working of oil or natural gas
Site Area more than 15 hectares Statutory £38,520.00 per application £38,520.00

Operations for the winning and 

working of oil or natural gas
Statutory £151.00

per 0.1 hectare (or part 

thereof) in excess of 15 

hectares 

£151.00

Operations for the winning and 

working of oil or natural gas
Statutory £78,000.00

Maximum Fee 

Chargeable
£78,000.00

Other Operations (Winning And Working Of Minerals)

Other operations - winning and 

working of minerals, excluding 

oil and natural gas

Site Area not more than 15 hectares Statutory £234.00
per 0.1 hectare (or part 

thereof)
£234.00

Other operations - winning and 

working of minerals, excluding 

oil and natural gas

Site Area more than 15 hectares Statutory £34,934.00 per application £34,934.00

Other operations - winning and 

working of minerals, excluding 

oil and natural gas

Statutory £138.00

per 0.1 hectare (or part 

thereof) in excess of 15 

hectares 

£138.00

Other operations - winning and 

working of minerals, excluding 

oil and natural gas

Statutory £78,000.00
Maximum Fee 

Chargeable
£78,000.00

Other Operations

Other operations Any size site area Statutory £234.00
per 0.1 hectare (or part 

thereof)
£234.00

Other operations Statutory £2,028.00
Maximum Fee 

Chargeable
£2,028.00

Lawful Development Certificate

Lawful Development 

Certificate
Existing use or operation Statutory Same as full  Same as full

Lawful Development 

Certificate
Existing use or operation - lawful not to comply with any condition or limitation Statutory £234.00  £234.00

Lawful Development 

Certificate
Proposed use or operation Statutory

Half the normal 

planning fee
 

Half the normal planning 

fee

Prior Approval

Prior Approval Agricultural and Forestry buildings & operations or demolition of buildings Statutory £96.00  £96.00

Prior Approval Telecommunications Code Systems Operators Statutory £462.00  £462.00

Prior Approval Proposed Change of Use to State Funded School or Registered Nursery Statutory £96.00  £96.00

Prior Approval Proposed Change of Use of Agricultural Building to a State-Funded School or Registered Nursery Statutory £96.00  £96.00

Prior Approval 

Proposed Change of Use of Agricultural Building to a flexible use within Shops, Financial and 

Professional services, Restaurants and Cafes, Business, Storage or Distribution, Hotels, or 

Assembly or Leisure

Statutory £96.00  £96.00

Prior Approval 
Proposed Change of Use of a building from Office (Use Class B1) Use to a use falling within Use 

Class C3 (Dwelling house)
Statutory £96.00  £96.00

Prior Approval 
Proposed Change of Use of Agricultural Building to a Dwelling house (Use Class C3), where there 

are no Associated Building Operations
Statutory £96.00  £96.00

Prior Approval 
Proposed Change of Use of Agricultural Building to a Dwelling house (Use Class C3), and 

Associated Building Operations
Statutory £206.00  £206.00

Prior Approval 

Proposed Change of Use of a building from a Retail (Use Class A1 or A2) Use or a Mixed Retail 

and Residential Use to a use falling within Use Class C3 (Dwelling house), where there are no 

Associated Building Operations

Statutory £96.00  £96.00

Prior Approval 

Proposed Change of Use of a building from a Retail (Use Class A1 or A2) Use or a Mixed Retail 

and Residential Use to a use falling within Use Class C3 (Dwelling house), and Associated Building 

Operations

Statutory £206.00  £206.00

Prior Approval 
Notification for Prior Approval for a Change Of Use from Storage or Distribution Buildings (Class 

B8) and any land within its curtilage to Dwelling houses (Class C3)
Statutory £96.00  £96.00

Prior Approval 
Notification for Prior Approval for a Change of Use from Amusement Arcades/Centres and Casinos, 

(Sui Generis Uses) and any land within its curtilage to Dwelling houses (Class C3)
Statutory £96.00  £96.00

Prior Approval 

Notification for Prior Approval for a Change of Use from Amusement Arcades/Centres and Casinos, 

(Sui Generis Uses) and any land within its curtilage to Dwelling houses (Class C3), and Associated 

Building Operations

Statutory £206.00  £206.00

Prior Approval 

Notification for Prior Approval for a Change of Use from Shops (Class A1), Financial and 

Professional Services (Class A2), Betting Offices, Pay Day Loan Shops and Casinos (Sui Generis 

Uses) to Restaurants and Cafés (Class A3)

Statutory £96.00  £96.00

Prior Approval 

Notification for Prior Approval for a Change of Use from Shops (Class A1), Financial and 

Professional Services (Class A2), Betting Offices, Pay Day Loan Shops and Casinos (Sui Generis 

Uses) to Restaurants and Cafés (Class A3), and Associated Building Operations

Statutory £206.00  £206.00

Page 6 of 31

Page 108



Appendix 3 - 2023/24 Draft Fees and Charges Schedule

2023/24 FEES & CHARGES SCHEDULE

 2022/23 Updated 

Charges 

 2023/24 Proposed 

Charge 

 £  £ 

(a) (b) (c)  (d)  (e)  (f) 

 Charge basis (e.g. per 

hour, per day etc) 
Service Description of Fee/Charge Charging Policy

Prior Approval 

Notification for Prior Approval for a Change of Use from Shops (Class A1) and Financial and 

Professional Services (Class A2), Betting Offices, Pay Day Loan Shops (Sui Generis Uses) to 

Assembly and Leisure Uses (Class D2)

Statutory £96.00  £96.00

Reserved Matters

Reserved Application for approval of reserved matters following outline approval Statutory Full fee due  Full fee due

Reserved Statutory

OR if full fee 

already paid then 

£462 due

 
OR if full fee already 

paid then £462 due

Approval/Variation/Discharge Of Condition

Approval/Variation/discharge 

of condition
Application for removal or variation of a condition following grant of planning permission Statutory £234.00  £234.00

Approval/Variation/discharge 

of condition

Householder Request for confirmation that one or more planning conditions have been complied 

with
Statutory £34.00 per Householder Request £34.00

Approval/Variation/discharge 

of condition

Non Householder Request for confirmation that one or more planning conditions have been 

complied with
Statutory £116.00 per Request £116.00

Change Of Use Of A Building

Change of Use of a buildings
Change of Use of a building to use as one or more separate dwelling houses, or other cases - No 

more than 50 dwelling houses
Statutory £462.00 per application £462.00

Change of Use of a buildings
Change of Use of a building to use as one or more separate dwelling houses, or other cases - More 

than 50 dwelling houses
Statutory £22,859.00 per application £22,859.00

Change of Use of a buildings Statutory £138.00
for each dwelling house in 

excess of 50
£138.00

Change of Use of a buildings Statutory £300,000.00
Maximum Fee 

Chargeable
£300,000.00

Change of Use of a buildings Other Changes of Use of a building or land Statutory £462.00  £462.00

Advertising

Advertising Advertising relating to the business on the premises Statutory £132.00  £132.00

Advertising
Advertising relating to advance signs which are not situated on or visible from the site, directing the 

public to a business
Statutory £132.00  £132.00

Advertising Other advertisements Statutory £462.00  £462.00

Application For A Non-Material Amendment Following Grant Of Planning Permission

Non-material Amendment 

Following a Grant of Planning 

Permission

Applications in respect of householder developments Statutory £34.00  £34.00

Non-material Amendment 

Following a Grant of Planning 

Permission

Applications in respect of other developments Statutory £234.00  £234.00

Permission In Principle

Permission in Principle Permission in Principle Statutory £402.00
per 0.1 hectare of the site 

area
£402.00

Community Development
Arts, Heritage and Libraries

Community Centres

Hanwell Community Centre Small Meeting Room: (Private, Mon to Fri) Subsidised £27.00 per hour £30.00

Hanwell Community Centre Medium Meeting Room (Private, Mon to Fri) Subsidised £33.80 per hour £37.00

Hanwell Community Centre Small Meeting Room  (Weekend) Subsidised £33.80 per hour £37.00

Hanwell Community Centre Medium Meeting Room  (Weekend) Subsidised £40.50 per hour £45.00

Hanwell Community Centre Large Meeting Room  (Weekend) Subsidised £47.30 per hour £52.00

Hanwell Community Centre Sports Hall (Private, Mon to Fri) Full Cost Recovery £67.50 per hour £74.00

Hanwell Community Centre Sports Hall (Charity, Mon to Fri) Subsidised £60.30 per hour £66.00

Hanwell Community Centre Sports Hall Evening Function (Weekend) Subsidised £109.10 per hour £120.00

Hanwell Community Centre Sports Hall Children's Party (Weekend) Subsidised £67.50 per hour £74.00

Hanwell Community Centre Badminton Hall 4 Courts (Private, Mon to Fri) Full Cost Recovery £12.30 per hour £13.50

Hanwell Community Centre Badminton Hall  4 Courts (Weekend) Subsidised £12.30 per hour £13.50

Hanwell Community Centre Badminton Hall Full Room (Private, Mon to Fri) Full Cost Recovery £60.30 per hour £66.00

Hanwell Community Centre Badminton Hall Full Room (Weekend) Subsidised £60.30 per hour £66.40

Hanwell Community Centre Boxing Studio (Private, Mon to Fri) Full Cost Recovery £46.70 per hour £51.00

Hanwell Community Centre Judo Studio (Private, Mon to Fri) Full Cost Recovery £40.30 per hour £44.00

Hanwell Community Centre Judo Studio  (Weekend) Subsidised £40.30 per hour £44.00

Hanwell Community Centre Art Wing Room  (Private, Mon to Fri) Full Cost Recovery £33.80 per hour £37.00

Hanwell Community Centre Art Wing Room   (Weekend) Subsidised £33.80 per hour £37.00

Hanwell Community Centre Pottery Room (Private, Mon to Fri) Full Cost Recovery £47.10 per hour £52.00

Hanwell Community Centre Pottery Room  (Weekend) Subsidised £47.10 per hour £52.00

Hanwell Community Centre Upholstery (Private, Mon to Fri) Full Cost Recovery £33.80 per hour £37.00

Hanwell Community Centre Upholstery  (Weekend) Subsidised £33.80 per hour £37.00

Hanwell Community Centre Hanwel CC Boxing Training room 1 & 2 Subsidised £23.40 per hour £26.00

Hanwell Community Centre Badminton Hall alternative uses Subsidised £13.50 £15.00

Dominion Centre Community Suite (Small) - Normal Rate Mon - Fri Subsidised £32.80 per hour £36.00

Dominion Centre Community Suite (Small) - Charity / Internal Rate Mon - Fri Subsidised £24.60 per hour £27.00

Dominion Centre Community Suite (Small) - Weekend Rates Sat - Sun Subsidised £32.80 per hour £36.00

Dominion Centre Community Suite (Large) - Normal Rate Mon - Fri Subsidised £52.00 per hour £57.00

Dominion Centre Community Suite (Large) - Charity / Internal Rate Mon - Fri Subsidised £39.00 per hour £43.00

Dominion Centre Community Suite (Large) - Weekend Rates Sat - Sun Subsidised £52.00 per hour £57.00

Dominion Centre Conference Room 1 - Normal Rate Mon - Fri Subsidised £26.00 per hour £29.00

Dominion Centre Conference Room 1 - Charity / Internal Rate Mon - Fri Subsidised £19.50 per hour £21.50

Dominion Centre Conference Room 1 - Weekend Rates Sat - Sun Subsidised £26.00 per hour £29.00

Dominion Centre Conference Room 2 - Normal Rate Mon - Fri Subsidised £26.00 per hour £29.00

Dominion Centre Conference Room 2 - Charity / Internal Rate Mon - Fri Subsidised £19.50 per hour £21.50

Dominion Centre Conference Room 2 - Weekend Rates Sat - Sun Subsidised £26.00 per hour £29.00

Dominion Centre Conference Rooms 1 & 2 Together - Normal Rate Mon - Fri Subsidised £41.60 per hour £46.00

Dominion Centre Conference Rooms 1 & 2 Together - Charity / Internal Rate Mon - Fri Subsidised £31.20 per hour £34.00

Dominion Centre Conference Rooms 1 & 2 Together - Weekend Rates Sat - Sun Subsidised £41.60 per hour £46.00

Dominion Centre Room 2 - Normal Rate Mon - Fri Subsidised £32.80 per hour £36.00

Dominion Centre Room 2 - Charity / Internal Rate Mon - Fri Subsidised £24.60 per hour £27.00

Page 7 of 31

Page 109



Appendix 3 - 2023/24 Draft Fees and Charges Schedule

2023/24 FEES & CHARGES SCHEDULE

 2022/23 Updated 

Charges 

 2023/24 Proposed 

Charge 

 £  £ 

(a) (b) (c)  (d)  (e)  (f) 

 Charge basis (e.g. per 

hour, per day etc) 
Service Description of Fee/Charge Charging Policy

Dominion Centre Room 2 - Weekend Rates Sat - Sun Subsidised £32.80 per hour £36.00

Dominion Centre Main Hall with Kitchen & Servery - Normal Rate Mon - Fri Subsidised £135.10 per hour £149.00

Dominion Centre Main Hall with Kitchen & Servery - Charity / Internal Rate Mon - Fri Subsidised £101.30 per hour £111.50

Dominion Centre Main Hall with Kitchen & Servery - Weekend Rates Sat - Sun Subsidised £135.10 per hour £149.00

Dominion Centre Main Hall - Normal Rate Mon - Fri Subsidised £103.90 per hour £114.00

Dominion Centre Main Hall - Charity / Internal Rate Mon - Fri Subsidised £77.90 per hour £86.00

Dominion Centre Main Hall - Weekend Rates Sat - Sun Subsidised £103.90 per hour £114.00

Dominion Centre Servery - Normal Rate Mon - Fri Subsidised £20.80 per hour £23.00

Dominion Centre Servery - Charity / Internal Rate Mon - Fri Subsidised £15.60 per hour £17.00

Dominion Centre Servery - Weekend Rates Sat - Sun Subsidised £20.80 per hour £23.00

Dominion Centre Kitchen - Normal Rate Mon - Fri Subsidised £31.20 per hour £34.00

Dominion Centre Kitchen - Charity / Internal Rate Mon - Fri Subsidised £23.40 per hour £26.00

Dominion Centre Kitchen - Weekend Rates Sat - Sun Subsidised £31.20 per hour £34.00

Dominion Centre Foyer Area (+Private Exhibitions) - Normal Rate Mon - Fri Full Cost Recovery £52.00 per hour £57.00

Dominion Centre Foyer Area (+Private Exhibitions) - Charity / Internal Rate Mon - Fri Full Cost Recovery £39.00 per hour £43.00

Dominion Centre Foyer Area (+Private Exhibitions) - Weekend Rates Sat - Sun Full Cost Recovery £52.00 per hour £57.00

Dominion Centre Car Park  - Normal Rate Mon - Fri Subsidised £103.20 daily £114.00

Dominion Centre Car Park  - Charity / Internal Rate Mon - Fri Subsidised £103.20 daily £114.00

Dominion Centre Car Park  - Weekend Rates Sat - Sun Subsidised £103.20 daily £114.00

Libraries

Libraries Reservations  Concession Free Free  Free

Libraries Items not in stock in Ealing or Consortium Subsidised £4.10  £4.50

Libraries Reservations  British Library Subsidised £16.20  £18.00

Libraries Periodical articles Subsidised £7.10  £7.80

Libraries DVD hire week loan Subsidised £2.40  £2.60

Libraries DVD hire  week loan(Children's) Subsidised £1.50  £1.70

Libraries CD Hire single 2 week loan Subsidised £1.30  £1.40

Libraries CD Hire Double 2 week loan Subsidised £2.60  £2.80

Libraries CD Multiple set 2 week loan Subsidised £2.60  £2.80

Libraries Adult talking books 3plus (on cassette) Subsidised £2.00  £2.20

Libraries Adult talking books on CD (new category) Subsidised £2.60  £2.80

Libraries Foreign language 1/2 CD's Subsidised £1.70  £1.90

Libraries Foreign language CDs 3plus Subsidised £3.10  £3.40

Libraries Overdue charges books/CDs Full Cost Recovery £0.20  £0.25

Libraries overdue charges DVD Full Cost Recovery £1.00  £1.10

Libraries replacement library card - children's Full Cost Recovery £1.00  £1.10

Libraries replacement library card - adults Full Cost Recovery £2.30  £2.50

Libraries Replacement for lost/damaged items Full Cost Recovery
Current cost of 

replacement
 

Current cost of 

replacement

Libraries photocopies A4 Full Cost Recovery £0.20  £0.20

Libraries Photocopies A3 Full Cost Recovery £0.30  £0.30

Libraries printing A4 Full Cost Recovery £0.20  £0.20

Libraries Printing A3 Full Cost Recovery £0.30  £0.30

Libraries photocopies A4 colour Full Cost Recovery £0.30  £0.30

Libraries Photocopies A3 colour Full Cost Recovery £0.60  £0.70

Libraries Room Hire - Northolt Library - various Full Cost Recovery Various  Various

Libraries Room Hire - Central Library - various Full Cost Recovery Various  Various

Libraries Room Hire - Other rental income Full Cost Recovery £862.50 Monthly £950.00

Libraries Music Scores Full Cost Recovery £26.00  £28.00

Adult Learning

Adult Learning Adult Learning all courses - Full fees Full Cost Recovery £6.70  
Replaced with new 

charging structure

Adult Learning Adult Learning all courses - concessionary fees Subsidised £4.90  
Replaced with new 

charging structure

Adult Learning
courses aimed at ESFA/GLA priorities e.g. Covid priorities, digitally disadvantaged, low incomes, 

ESOL, LLDD, first steps into learning, social inclusion, etc.
Per Hr Nil - £2.45

Adult Learning Courses leading to qualifications which attract a higher level of ESFA/GLA funding Per Hr £3.70

Adult Learning Full cost fee for students not resident in EU and not eligible for ESFA/GLA funding Per Hr £12.00

Parks and Leisure

Sports Pitches

Sports Pitches Sports Pitches A Football - 11-side single (price is inclusive of VAT) Subsidised £105.00 per match £116.00

Sports Pitches Sports Pitches A Football - 11-side seasonal (VAT exempt) Subsidised £71.70 per match season hire £79.00

Sports Pitches Sports Pitches B Football - 11-side single (price is inclusive of VAT) Subsidised £71.70 per match £79.00

Sports Pitches Sports Pitches B Football - 11-side seasonal (VAT exempt) Subsidised £47.80 per match season hire £53.00

Sports Pitches Sports Pitches A Football - 9-side single (price is inclusive of VAT) Subsidised £47.80 per match £53.00

Sports Pitches Sports Pitches A Football - 9-side seasonal (VAT exempt) Subsidised £39.50 per match season hire £43.50

Sports Pitches Sports Pitches B Football - 9-side single (price is inclusive of VAT) Subsidised £42.90 per match £47.00

Sports Pitches Sports Pitches B Football - 9-side seasonal (VAT exempt) Subsidised £35.90 per match season hire £39.50

Sports Pitches Sports Pitches A Football - 7-side single (price is inclusive of VAT) Subsidised £39.70 per match £44.00

Sports Pitches Sports Pitches A Football - 7-side seasonal (VAT exempt) Subsidised £33.00 per match season hire £36.00

Sports Pitches Sports Pitches B Football - 7-side single (price is inclusive of VAT) Subsidised £35.90 per match £39.50

Sports Pitches Sports Pitches B Football - 7-side seasonal (VAT exempt) Subsidised £29.90 per match season hire £33.00

Sports Pitches Sports Pitches A Football - 5-side single (price is inclusive of VAT) Subsidised £31.90 per match £35.00

Page 8 of 31

Page 110



Appendix 3 - 2023/24 Draft Fees and Charges Schedule

2023/24 FEES & CHARGES SCHEDULE

 2022/23 Updated 

Charges 

 2023/24 Proposed 

Charge 

 £  £ 

(a) (b) (c)  (d)  (e)  (f) 

 Charge basis (e.g. per 

hour, per day etc) 
Service Description of Fee/Charge Charging Policy

Sports Pitches Sports Pitches A Football - 5-side seasonal (VAT exempt) Subsidised £26.50 per match season hire £29.00

Sports Pitches Sports Pitches B Football - 5-side single (price is inclusive of VAT) Subsidised £25.00 per match £27.50

Sports Pitches Sports Pitches B Football - 5-side seasonal (VAT exempt) Subsidised £20.80 per match season hire £23.00

Sports Pitches Sports Pitches A Cricket - single (price is inclusive of VAT) Subsidised £137.20 per match £151.00

Sports Pitches Sports Pitches A Cricket - seasonal (VAT exempt) Subsidised £107.50 per match season hire £118.00

Sports Pitches Sports Pitches B Cricket - single (price is inclusive of VAT) Subsidised £99.80 per match £110.00

Sports Pitches Sports Pitches B Cricket - seasonal (VAT exempt) Subsidised £80.50 per match season hire £88.50

Allotments

Allotments Standard A Allotment Full Cost Recovery £13.30 Per pole £14.50

Allotments Srandard A Allotment concession Subsidised £6.65 Per pole £7.30

Allotments Standard B Allotment Full Cost Recovery £16.60 Per pole £18.00

Allotments Srandard B Allotment concession Subsidised £8.30 Per pole £9.00

Allotments Standard C Allotment Full Cost Recovery £19.30 Per pole £21.00

Allotments Srandard C Allotment concession Subsidised £9.65 Per pole £10.60

Festival and Events

Festival & Events Comedy (Exclusive of booking fees) External - Subsidised £20 - £28  £22.00 - £30.83

Festival & Events Jazz/ Blues per day (Sat & Sun) Early Bird (Exclusive of booking fees) External - Subsidised £10.00  £11.00

Festival & Events Jazz/ Blues per day (Sat & Sun)(Exclusive of booking fees) External - Subsidised £12.00  £13.00

Festival & Events Jazz/ Blues/ Weekends Early Bird(Exclusive of booking fees) External - Subsidised £15.00  £18.00

Festival & Events Jazz/ Blues/ Weekends (Exclusive of booking fees) External - Subsidised £20.00  £22.00

Festival & Events Acton Carnival External - Subsidised £2.05  £2.20

Festival & Events Family carnival tickets External - Subsidised £5.10  £5.50

Festival & Events Small scale Street Event External - Subsidised £400.00  £440.00

Festival & Events Medium scale Street Event External - Subsidised £1,200.00  £1,300.00

Festival & Events Large scale and special Street Event External - Subsidised Quote on request  Quote on request

Festival & Events Small scale Park Event External - Subsidised £630.00  £660.00

Festival & Events Medium scale Park Event External - Subsidised £3,000.00  £3,250.00

Festival & Events Large scale Park Event (price is per day) External - Subsidised £5,000.00  £5,500.00

Festival & Events Special Park Event External - Subsidised Quote on request  Quote on request

Festival & Events Non-operating days Park Event External - Subsidised £315.00  £350.00

Festival & Events Fitness and Training in Parks: 3-10 Less than £6 Annual External £545.00  £580.00

Festival & Events FIP: 3-10 Less than £6 Summer External £410.00  £425.00

Festival & Events FIP: 3-10 Less than £6 Winter External £280.00  £300.00

Festival & Events FIP: 3-10 Less than £11 Annual External £1,090.00  £1,150.00

Festival & Events FIP: 3-10 Less than £11 Summer External £825.00  £875.00

Festival & Events FIP: 3-10 Less than £11 Winter External £545.00  £600.00

Festival & Events FIP: 3-10 Less than £16 Annual External £1,650.00  £1,750.00

Festival & Events FIP: 3-10 Less than £16 Summer External £1,235.00  £1,300.00

Festival & Events FIP: 3-10 Less than £16 Winter External £825.00  £875.00

Festival & Events FIP: 11-20 Less than £6 Annual External £1,090.00  £1,150.00

Festival & Events FIP: 11-20 Less than £6 Annual External £825.00  £875.00

Festival & Events FIP: 11-20 Less than £6 Annual External £545.00  £600.00

Festival & Events FIP: 11-20 Less than £11 Annual External £2,190.00  £2,300.00

Festival & Events FIP: 11-20 Less than £11 Summer External £1,650.00  £1,750.00

Festival & Events FIP: 11-20 Less than £11 Winter External £1,090.00  £1,150.00

Festival & Events FIP: 11-20 Less than £16 Annual External £3,285.00  £3,500.00

Festival & Events FIP: 11-20 Less than £16 Summer External £2,460.00  £2,650.00

Festival & Events FIP: 11-20 Less than £16 Winter External £1,650.00  £1,750.00

Festival & Events FIP: 21-30 Less than £6 Annual External £1,650.00  £1,650.00

Festival & Events FIP: 21-30 Less than £6 Annual External £1,150.00  £1,250.00

Festival & Events FIP: 21-30 Less than £6 Annual External £825.00  £875.00

Festival & Events FIP: 21-30 Less than £11 Annual External £3,285.00  £3,500.00

Festival & Events FIP: 21-30 Less than £11 Summer External £2,460.00  £2,650.00

Festival & Events FIP: 21-30 Less than £11 Winter External £1,650.00  £1,750.00

Festival & Events FIP: 21-30 Less than £16 Annual External £4,930.00  £5,200.00

Festival & Events FIP: 21-30 Less than £16 Summer External £3,695.00  £3,900.00

Festival & Events FIP: 21-30 Less than £16 Winter External £2,460.00  £2,650.00

Festival & Events FIP: 30+ External Quote on request  Quote on request

Festival & Events FIP: More than £16 External Quote on request  Quote on request

Festival & Events Commercial Dog walking licence External £185.00  £200.00

Leisure Centres

Northolt Leisure Centre Swimming - Adult External £4.90 £5.35

Northolt Leisure Centre Swimming - Junior External £2.15 £2.35

Northolt Leisure Centre Swimming - Parent & Toddler External £3.65 £4.00

Northolt Leisure Centre Swimming - Group Lessons Junior External £7.50 £8.50

Northolt Leisure Centre Swimming - Group Lessons  Adult External £7.50 £8.50

Northolt Leisure Centre Swimming - Swimming Lessons 1-2-1 30 minutes External £30.00 £34.00

Northolt Leisure Centre Fitness Training - Adult GYM External £8.75 £9.60

Northolt Leisure Centre Fitness Training - Junior Induction External £10.00 £10.00

Northolt Leisure Centre Fitness Training - Aerobics External £7.05 £7.75

Northolt Leisure Centre Fitness Training - Pilates External £8.25 £9.05

Northolt Leisure Centre Fitness Training - Zumba External £8.25 £9.05

Northolt Leisure Centre Fitness Training - 50+ Staying Active External £6.85 £7.50

Northolt Leisure Centre Room Hire - Community Hall Full External £76.45 £84.10

Northolt Leisure Centre Room Hire - Community Hall Half External £38.20 £42.00

Northolt Leisure Centre Room Hire - Dance Studio External £38.20 £42.00

Northolt Leisure Centre Junior courses - Boot camp drop in External £6.55 £7.20

Northolt Leisure Centre Birthday Pool Parties - Up to 30 children External £182.50 £200.00

Northolt Leisure Centre Main Pool Hire - Regular use External £187.55 £206.30

Northolt Leisure Centre Teaching Pool Hire - Regular use External £98.95 £108.85

Northolt Leisure Centre Galas/Events for clubs - Main pool External £174.85 £192.30

Northolt Leisure Centre Galas/Events for clubs - Teaching pool External £109.25 £120.15

Northolt Leisure Centre Galas/Events for non clubs - Main pool External £218.50 £240.35

Northolt Leisure Centre Galas/Events for non clubs - Teaching pool External £109.25 £120.15

Northolt Leisure Centre Swimming: discounted with leisure pass - Adult External £2.40 £2.50

Northolt Leisure Centre Swimming: discounted with leisure pass - Junior External £1.45 £1.50

Northolt Leisure Centre Swimming: discounted with leisure pass -  Parent & Toddler External £2.40 £2.50

Northolt Leisure Centre Fitness Training: discounted with leisure pass - Adult GYM External £6.00 £6.30

Northolt Leisure Centre Fitness Training: discounted with leisure pass - Junior GYM External £2.90 £3.00

Page 9 of 31

Page 111



Appendix 3 - 2023/24 Draft Fees and Charges Schedule

2023/24 FEES & CHARGES SCHEDULE

 2022/23 Updated 

Charges 

 2023/24 Proposed 

Charge 

 £  £ 

(a) (b) (c)  (d)  (e)  (f) 

 Charge basis (e.g. per 

hour, per day etc) 
Service Description of Fee/Charge Charging Policy

Northolt Leisure Centre Fitness Training: discounted with leisure pass - Junior Induction External £6.50 £6.80

Northolt Leisure Centre Fitness Training: discounted with leisure pass - Aerobics External £4.25 £4.45

Northolt Leisure Centre Fitness Training: discounted with leisure pass - Pilates External £5.65 £5.90

Northolt Leisure Centre Fitness Training: discounted with leisure pass - Zumba External £5.65 £5.90

Northolt Leisure Centre Fitness Training: discounted with leisure pass - 50+ Staying Active External £2.70 £2.80

Northolt Leisure Centre Adult Activities - 50+ Bowls / Table Tennis (drop in) External £2.70 £2.95

Northolt Leisure Centre Birthday Inflatable Parties - Up to 24 children External £182.50 £200.00

Northolt Leisure Centre Birthday Bouncy Castle Parties - Up to 24 children External £182.50 £200.00

Northolt Leisure Centre Standard Group Exercise Classes External £7.05 £7.75

Northolt Leisure Centre Standard Group Exercise Classes Concession External - Concession £4.25 £4.45

Northolt Leisure Centre Soft play pay and play External £4.50 £4.95

Northolt Leisure Centre Soft play party with food External £208.00 £228.00

Northolt Leisure Centre Soft play private hire with food External £260.00 £285.00

Northolt Leisure Centre Table tennis External £8.20 £9.00

Northolt Leisure Centre Joining Fee External £40.00 £40.00

Northolt Leisure Centre Joining Fee Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £20.00 £20.00

Northolt Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult DD freeze fee External £5.00 £5.00

Northolt Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult DD freeze fee Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £5.00 £5.00

Northolt Leisure Centre Fitness membership junior DD freeze fee External £5.00 £5.00

Northolt Leisure Centre Fitness membership junior DD freeze fee Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £5.00 £5.00

Northolt Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult multi site monthly DD External £29.99 £32.99

Northolt Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult multi site PIF External £299.90 £329.90

Northolt Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult multi site monthly DD Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £24.99 £27.49

Northolt Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult multi site monthly PIF Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £249.99 £274.90

Northolt Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult single site monthly DD External £29.99 £32.99

Northolt Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult single site PIF External £299.90 £329.90

Northolt Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult single site monthly DD Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £24.99 £27.49

Northolt Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult single site monthly PIF Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £249.99 £274.90

Northolt Leisure Centre Fitness membership junior multi site monthly DD External £19.99 £22.99

Northolt Leisure Centre Fitness membership junior multi site monthly PIF External £199.90 £229.90

Northolt Leisure Centre Fitness membership junior multi site monthly DD Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £19.99 £22.99

Northolt Leisure Centre Fitness membership junior multi site monthly PIF Leisure Centre / Concession External - Concession £199.90 £222.90

Northolt Leisure Centre Fitness Training - Junior GYM External £3.60 £3.95

Northolt Leisure Centre GYM - Induction (standard 30 mins) External £17.50 £19.00

Perivale Track Fitness Training - Track adult (full) External £3.50 £3.85

Perivale Track Fitness Training - Junior External £1.75 £1.90

Perivale Track Fitness Training - Adult track season ticket - full External £77.30 £85.00

Perivale Track Fitness Training - Junior track season ticket External £38.85 £42.70

Perivale Track Fitness Training - Gym adult (full) External £6.00 £6.60

Perivale Track Fitness Training - Gym junior External £2.90 £3.15

Perivale Track Fitness Training - Junior gym induction External £6.50 £7.15

Perivale Track Fitness Training - Adult Track & Gym Season Ticket (full) External £145.00 £159.50

Perivale Track Fitness Training - Junior Track & Gym Season Ticket External £74.85 £82.30

Perivale Track Perivale Park - Summer Star:track (5 day - 18hr) External £52.00 £54.50

Perivale Track Activities - Junior coached activities (1hr) External £2.80 £3.05

Perivale Track Activities - 40+ session (2hr) External £5.40 £5.90

Perivale Track Activities - Adult coached activities (1 hr) External £2.80 £3.05

Perivale Track Fitness Training: discounted with leisure pass - Track adult (full) External £1.85 £1.90

Perivale Track Fitness Training: discounted with leisure pass - Junior External £1.55 £1.60

Perivale Track Fitness Training: discounted with leisure pass - Adult track season ticket (full) External £40.30 £42.30

Perivale Track Fitness Training: discounted with leisure pass - Junior track season ticket External £31.25 £32.80

Perivale Track Fitness Training: discounted with leisure pass - Gym adult (full) External £3.05 £3.20

Perivale Track Fitness Training: discounted with leisure pass - Gym junior External £2.50 £2.60

Perivale Track Fitness Training: discounted with leisure pass - Junior gym induction External £6.50 £6.80

Perivale Track Fitness Training: discounted with leisure pass - Adult Track & Gym Season Ticket (full) External £80.00 £84.00

Perivale Track Fitness Training: discounted with leisure pass - Junior Track & Gym Season Ticket External £60.45 £63.45

Perivale Track Activities: discounted with leisure pass - Summer Star:track (5 day - 18hr) External £43.75 £45.90

Perivale Track Activities: discounted with leisure pass - Junior coached activities (1hr) External £1.65 £1.70

Perivale Track Activities: discounted with leisure pass - 40+ session (2hr) External £2.80 £2.90

Perivale Track Athletics club track hire External £66.15 £72.75

Perivale Track community group track hire External £66.15 £72.75

Perivale Track School Hire + 4 hours External £34.15 £37.55

Perivale Track school Hire under 4 hours External £39.60 £43.55

Perivale Track 12+ weeks club booking External £28.30 £31.10

Perivale Track social area Hire hourly External £27.05 £29.75

Perivale Track social area weekly External £317.80 £349.55

Perivale Track Birthday Parties External £135.50 £149.00

Perivale Track GYM - Induction (standard 30 mins) External £17.50 £19.00

Twyford Leisure Centre Fitness Classes - Aerobics External £6.55 £7.20

Twyford Leisure Centre Fitness Classes - Yoga 1.5hrs External £9.50 £10.45

Twyford Leisure Centre Fitness Classes - Activity Room, Club room, studio External £33.95 £37.30

Twyford Leisure Centre Fitness Classes - Sports hall (4 cts) External £63.55 £69.90

Page 10 of 31

Page 112



Appendix 3 - 2023/24 Draft Fees and Charges Schedule

2023/24 FEES & CHARGES SCHEDULE

 2022/23 Updated 

Charges 

 2023/24 Proposed 

Charge 

 £  £ 

(a) (b) (c)  (d)  (e)  (f) 

 Charge basis (e.g. per 

hour, per day etc) 
Service Description of Fee/Charge Charging Policy

Twyford Leisure Centre Fitness Classes - Sports hall (2cts) External £34.55 £38.00

Twyford Leisure Centre Fitness Classes - Sports hall (1cts) External £13.30 £14.60

Twyford Leisure Centre Junior Courses - Drop in External £6.35 £6.95

Twyford Leisure Centre Junior Courses - Prebooked course (per session) External £5.30 £5.80

Twyford Leisure Centre Junior Courses  - Floodlit Area/hr External £30.00 £33.00

Twyford Leisure Centre Junior Courses - Floodlit Area-lights on External £33.10 £36.40

Twyford Leisure Centre Junior Courses - Netball court External £25.00 £27.50

Twyford Leisure Centre Junior Courses - Netball court-lights on External £32.20 £35.40

Twyford Leisure Centre Junior Courses - Tennis court External £10.40 £11.40

Twyford Leisure Centre Junior Courses - Tennis court-lights on External £11.25 £12.35

Twyford Leisure Centre Birthday parties - Up to 30 children External £198.00 £215.00

Twyford Leisure Centre Birthday parties - 30 - 40 children External £208.50 £225.00

Twyford Leisure Centre Fitness Classes: discounted with leisure pass - Aerobics External £3.75 £3.90

Twyford Leisure Centre Fitness Classes: discounted with leisure pass - Yoga 1.5hrs External £5.35 £5.60

Twyford Leisure Centre Junior Courses: discounted with leisure pass - Drop in External £4.15 £4.35

Twyford Leisure Centre Junior Courses: discounted with leisure pass - Prebooked course (per session) External £3.35 £3.50

Twyford Leisure Centre Joining Fee External £20.00 £20.00

Twyford Leisure Centre Joining Fee Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £10.00 £10.00

Twyford Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult DD freeze fee External £5.00 £5.00

Twyford Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult DD freeze fee Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £5.00 £5.00

Twyford Leisure Centre Fitness membership junior DD freeze fee External £5.00 £5.00

Twyford Leisure Centre Fitness membership junior DD freeze fee Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £5.00 £5.00

Twyford Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult multi site monthly DD External £29.99 £32.99

Twyford Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult multi site PIF External £299.99 £329.99

Twyford Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult multi site monthly DD Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £24.99 £27.49

Twyford Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult multi site monthly PIF Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £249.90 £274.90

Twyford Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult single site monthly DD External £19.99 £21.99

Twyford Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult single site PIF External £199.90 £219.90

Twyford Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult single site monthly DD Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £19.99 £21.99

Twyford Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult single site monthly PIF Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £199.90 £219.90

Twyford Leisure Centre Fitness membership junior multi site monthly DD External £19.99 £22.99

Twyford Leisure Centre Fitness membership junior multi site monthly PIF External £199.90 £229.90

Twyford Leisure Centre Fitness membership junior multi site monthly DD Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £19.99 £16.99

Twyford Leisure Centre Fitness membership junior multi site monthly PIF Leisure Centre / Concession External - Concession £199.90 £169.90

Elthorne Leisure Centre Fitness - Aerobics External £5.80 £6.35

Elthorne Leisure Centre Fitness - Yoga 1 hr External £6.65 £7.30

Elthorne Leisure Centre Fitness - Sports hall (4 cts) External £63.55 £69.90

Elthorne Leisure Centre Fitness - Sports hall (2cts) External £34.55 £38.00

Elthorne Leisure Centre Fitness - Sports hall (1cts) External £13.30 £14.60

Elthorne Leisure Centre Elthorne - Prebooked course (per session) Trampoline, Football, Basketball External £5.20 £5.70

Elthorne Leisure Centre Junior courses - Prebooked course (per session) Netball External £4.35 £4.75

Elthorne Leisure Centre Junior courses - MUGA 4G External £56.45 £62.05

Elthorne Leisure Centre Junior courses - MUGA without floodlights External £29.15 £32.05

Elthorne Leisure Centre Junior courses - MUGA with floodlights External £31.25 £34.35

Elthorne Leisure Centre Junior courses - Tennis court External £10.40 £11.40

Elthorne Leisure Centre Junior courses - Tennis court-lights on External £11.25 £12.35

Elthorne Leisure Centre Junior courses - Table Tennis External £9.35 £10.25

Elthorne Leisure Centre Birthday Parties - Up to 30 children External £198.00 £215.00

Elthorne Leisure Centre Birthday Parties - 30 - 40 children External £208.50 £225.00

Elthorne Leisure Centre Birthday Parties - Up to 30 children + Tramps External £224.00 £245.00

Elthorne Leisure Centre Fitness & Gym - Adult Gym Session External £6.65 £7.30

Elthorne Leisure Centre Fitness & Gym - Junior Gym Session External £3.30 £3.60

Elthorne Leisure Centre Equipment Hire - Badminton Racquets External £1.00 £1.10

Elthorne Leisure Centre Equipment Hire - Table Tennis Bats External £1.00 £1.10

Elthorne Leisure Centre Fitness: discounted  with leisure pass - Aerobics External £4.45 £4.65

Elthorne Leisure Centre Fitness: discounted  with leisure pass - Yoga 1 hr External £4.90 £5.10

Elthorne Leisure Centre Fitness: discounted  with leisure pass - Circuit External £4.90 £5.10

Elthorne Leisure Centre Fitness: discounted  with leisure pass - Adult Gym Session External £3.30 £3.45

Elthorne Leisure Centre Fitness: discounted  with leisure pass - Junior Gym Session External £2.45 £2.55

Elthorne Leisure Centre Fitness: discounted  with leisure pass - Junior Gym Induction External £6.50 £6.80

Elthorne Leisure Centre Fitness & Gym - Junior Gym Induction External £10.00 £10.00

Elthorne Leisure Centre Joining Fee External £20.00 £20.00

Elthorne Leisure Centre Joining Fee Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £10.00 £10.00

Elthorne Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult DD freeze fee External £5.00 £5.00

Elthorne Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult DD freeze fee Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £5.00 £5.00

Elthorne Leisure Centre Fitness membership junior DD freeze fee External £5.00 £5.00

Elthorne Leisure Centre Fitness membership junior DD freeze fee Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £5.00 £5.00

Elthorne Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult multi site monthly DD External £29.99 £32.99

Elthorne Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult multi site PIF External £299.99 £329.90

Elthorne Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult multi site monthly DD Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £24.99 £27.49

Elthorne Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult multi site monthly PIF Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £249.90 £274.90

Elthorne Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult single site monthly DD External £19.99 £21.99

Elthorne Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult single site PIF External £199.90 £219.90

Elthorne Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult single site monthly DD Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £19.99 £21.99

Elthorne Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult single site monthly PIF Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £199.90 £219.90

Page 11 of 31

Page 113



Appendix 3 - 2023/24 Draft Fees and Charges Schedule

2023/24 FEES & CHARGES SCHEDULE

 2022/23 Updated 

Charges 

 2023/24 Proposed 

Charge 

 £  £ 

(a) (b) (c)  (d)  (e)  (f) 

 Charge basis (e.g. per 

hour, per day etc) 
Service Description of Fee/Charge Charging Policy

Elthorne Leisure Centre Fitness membership junior multi site monthly DD External £19.99 £22.99

Elthorne Leisure Centre Fitness membership junior multi site monthly PIF External £199.90 £229.90

Elthorne Leisure Centre Fitness membership junior multi site monthly DD Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £19.99 £16.99

Elthorne Leisure Centre Fitness membership junior multi site monthly PIF Leisure Centre / Concession External - Concession £199.90 £169.90

Acton Leisure Centre Swimming - Adult External £4.90 £5.35

Acton Leisure Centre Swimming - Junior External £2.10 £2.30

Acton Leisure Centre Swimming - Wet & Wild Session External £3.10 £3.40

Acton Leisure Centre Swimming - Swimming Lessons 1-2-1 30 minutes External £30.00 £34.00

Acton Leisure Centre Swimming - Parent & Toddler External £3.65 £4.00

Acton Leisure Centre Fitness Training - Adult GYM External £8.75 £9.60

Acton Leisure Centre Fitness Training - Junior GYM External £3.65 £4.00

Acton Leisure Centre Fitness Training - Junior Induction External £10.00 £10.00

Acton Leisure Centre Fitness Training - Aerobics External £7.05 £7.75

Acton Leisure Centre Fitness Training - Pilates External £8.25 £9.05

Acton Leisure Centre Fitness Training - Zumba External £8.25 £9.05

Acton Leisure Centre Room Hire (per hour) - Community Office External £27.25 £29.95

Acton Leisure Centre Room Hire (per hour) - Community Room 1 External £30.55 £33.60

Acton Leisure Centre Room Hire (per hour) - Community Room 2 External £30.55 £33.60

Acton Leisure Centre Room Hire (per hour) - Community Room 1 & 2 External £61.15 £67.25

Acton Leisure Centre Room Hire (per hour) - Community Room 3 External £30.55 £33.60

Acton Leisure Centre Room Hire (per hour) - Community Room 4 External £32.65 £35.90

Acton Leisure Centre Room Hire (per hour) - Community Room 5 External £32.65 £35.90

Acton Leisure Centre Room Hire (per hour) - Community Room 4 & 5 External £65.65 £72.20

Acton Leisure Centre Room Hire (per hour) - Community Room 6 (Dance Studio) External £32.80 £36.05

Acton Leisure Centre Room Hire (per hour) - Studio 1 External £32.80 £36.05

Acton Leisure Centre Swimming: discounted with leisure pass - Adult External £2.40 £2.50

Acton Leisure Centre Swimming: discounted with leisure pass - Junior External £1.45 £1.50

Acton Leisure Centre Swimming: discounted with leisure pass - Parent & Toddler External £2.40 £2.50

Acton Leisure Centre Fitness Training: discounted with leisure pass - Adult GYM External £6.00 £6.30

Acton Leisure Centre Fitness Training: discounted with leisure pass - Junior GYM External £2.90 £3.00

Acton Leisure Centre Fitness Training: discounted with leisure pass - Junior Induction External £6.50 £6.80

Acton Leisure Centre Fitness Training: discounted with leisure pass - Aerobics External £4.25 £4.45

Acton Leisure Centre Fitness Training: discounted with leisure pass - Pilates External £5.65 £5.90

Acton Leisure Centre Fitness Training: discounted with leisure pass - Zumba External £5.65 £5.90

Acton Leisure Centre Birthday Parties - Pool Party Teaching Pool External £167.00 £180.00

Acton Leisure Centre Birthday Parties - Pool Party Main Pool External £182.50 £200.00

Acton Leisure Centre Birthday Parties - Bouncy Castle Party External £156.50 £170.00

Acton Leisure Centre Sports Activities - Table Tennis External £8.00 £8.80

Acton Leisure Centre Sports Activities - Table Tennis Bat Deposit External £5.00 £5.00

Acton Leisure Centre Pool Hire Regular use (Per hour) - Main pool whole External £208.40 £229.20

Acton Leisure Centre Pool Hire Regular use (Per hour) - Teaching pool External £104.20 £114.60

Acton Leisure Centre Birthday Inflatable Parties - Up to 24 children External £182.50 £200.00

Acton Leisure Centre Swimming - Swimming Lessons 2-2-1 30 minutes External £41.65 £47.20

Acton Leisure Centre Standard Group Exercise Classes External £7.05 £7.75

Acton Leisure Centre Standard Group Exercise Classes Concession External - Concession £4.25 £4.45

Acton Leisure Centre Fitness Training - Adult GYM - Concession External - Concession £6.00 £6.30

Acton Leisure Centre Forever Fit External £2.70 £2.95

Acton Leisure Centre Swimming - Group Lessons Junior External £7.50 £8.50

Acton Leisure Centre Joining Fee External £40.00 £40.00

Acton Leisure Centre Joining Fee Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £20.00 £20.00

Acton Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult DD freeze fee External £5.00 £5.00

Acton Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult DD freeze fee Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £5.00 £5.00

Acton Leisure Centre Fitness membership junior DD freeze fee External £5.00 £5.00

Acton Leisure Centre Fitness membership junior DD freeze fee Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £5.00 £5.00

Acton Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult multi site monthly DD External £29.99 £32.99

Acton Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult multi site PIF External £299.90 £329.90

Acton Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult multi site monthly DD Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £24.99 £27.49

Acton Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult multi site monthly PIF Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £249.99 £274.90

Acton Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult single site monthly DD External £29.99 £32.99

Acton Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult single site PIF External £299.90 £329.90

Acton Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult single site monthly DD Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £24.99 £27.49

Acton Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult single site monthly PIF Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £249.99 £274.90

Acton Leisure Centre Fitness membership junior multi site monthly DD External £19.99 £22.99

Acton Leisure Centre Fitness membership junior multi site monthly PIF External £199.90 £229.90

Acton Leisure Centre Fitness membership junior multi site monthly DD Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £19.99 £22.99

Acton Leisure Centre Fitness membership junior multi site monthly PIF Leisure Centre / Concession External - Concession £199.90 £229.90

Acton Leisure Centre GYM - Induction (standard 30 mins) External £17.50 £19.00

Southall Leisure Centre Fitness Training (Leisure Pass) - Adult GYM External £4.25 £4.25

Southall Leisure Centre Fitness Training (Leisure Pass) - Junior GYM External £2.90 £2.90

Southall Leisure Centre Fitness Training (Leisure Pass) - Junior Induction External £6.50 £6.50

Southall Leisure Centre Fitness Training (Leisure Pass) - Aerobics External £4.35 £4.35

Southall Leisure Centre Fitness Training (Leisure Pass) - Pilates External £4.30 £4.30

Southall Leisure Centre Fitness Training (Leisure Pass) - Zumba External £4.35 £4.35

Southall Leisure Centre Fitness Training - Adult GYM External £7.80 £7.80

Southall Leisure Centre Fitness Training - Junior GYM External £3.65 £3.65

Southall Leisure Centre Fitness Training - Junior Induction External £10.00 £10.00

Southall Leisure Centre Fitness Training - Aerobics External £6.85 £6.85

Page 12 of 31

Page 114



Appendix 3 - 2023/24 Draft Fees and Charges Schedule

2023/24 FEES & CHARGES SCHEDULE

 2022/23 Updated 

Charges 

 2023/24 Proposed 

Charge 

 £  £ 

(a) (b) (c)  (d)  (e)  (f) 

 Charge basis (e.g. per 

hour, per day etc) 
Service Description of Fee/Charge Charging Policy

Southall Leisure Centre Fitness Training - Pilates External £6.85 £6.85

Southall Leisure Centre Fitness Training - Zumba External £6.85 £6.85

Southall Leisure Centre Junior courses (Leisure Pass) - Football drop in External £3.00 £3.00

Southall Leisure Centre Junior courses (Leisure Pass) - Basketball drop in External £3.00 £3.00

Southall Leisure Centre Junior courses (Leisure Pass) - Cricket drop in External £3.00 £3.00

Southall Leisure Centre Junior courses (Leisure Pass) - Badminton drop in External £3.00 £3.00

Southall Leisure Centre Junior courses (Leisure Pass) - Street Dance drop in External £3.00 £3.00

Southall Leisure Centre Junior courses - Football drop in External £3.10 £3.10

Southall Leisure Centre Junior courses - Basketball drop in External £4.05 £4.05

Southall Leisure Centre Junior courses - Cricket drop in External £4.05 £4.05

Southall Leisure Centre Junior courses - Badminton drop in External £4.05 £4.05

Southall Leisure Centre Junior courses - Street Dance drop in External £4.05 £4.05

Southall Leisure Centre Birthday Parties - Up to 24 children General Party External £167.00 £167.00

Southall Leisure Centre Birthday Parties - Up to 24 children Bouncy Castle Party External £177.00 £177.00

Southall Leisure Centre Sauna - Sauna Leisure Pass External £4.20 £4.20

Southall Leisure Centre Sauna - Sauna External £7.80 £7.80

Southall Leisure Centre Sauna - Sauna Card External £6.40 £6.40

Southall Leisure Centre Room Hire - Sports Hall External £62.50 £62.50

Southall Leisure Centre Room Hire - Sports hall (2cts) External £31.95 £31.95

Southall Leisure Centre Room Hire - Ct Hire External £13.10 £13.10

Southall Leisure Centre Room Hire - Spinning Studio External £38.20 £38.20

Southall Leisure Centre Room Hire - Dance Studio External £38.20 £38.20

Southall Leisure Centre Table Tennis hire External £6.40 £6.40

Southall Leisure Centre Equipment hire External £1.00 £1.00

Southall Leisure Centre Equipment deposit External £5.00 £5.00

Southall Leisure Centre Junior Holiday Programme - 6-14 full day External £13.00 £13.00

Southall Leisure Centre Junior Holiday Programme - 6-12 half day External £10.00 £10.00

Southall Leisure Centre Junior Holiday Programme - 6-12 full week External £65.10 £65.10

Southall Leisure Centre Adult Activities - 50+ Bowls / Table Tennis (drop in) External £2.70 £2.70

Southall Leisure Centre Joining Fee External £20.00 £20.00

Southall Leisure Centre Joining Fee Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £10.00 £10.00

Southall Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult DD freeze fee External £5.00 £5.00

Southall Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult DD freeze fee Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £5.00 £5.00

Southall Leisure Centre Fitness membership junior DD freeze fee External £5.00 £5.00

Southall Leisure Centre Fitness membership junior DD freeze fee Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £5.00 £5.00

Southall Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult multi site monthly DD External £29.99 £29.99

Southall Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult multi site PIF External £299.99 £299.99

Southall Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult multi site monthly DD Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £24.99 £24.99

Southall Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult multi site monthly PIF Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £249.90 £249.90

Southall Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult single site monthly DD External £19.99 £19.99

Southall Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult single site PIF External £199.90 £199.90

Southall Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult single site monthly DD Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £19.99 £19.99

Southall Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult single site monthly PIF Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £199.90 £199.90

Southall Leisure Centre Fitness membership junior multi site monthly DD External £19.99 £19.99

Southall Leisure Centre Fitness membership junior multi site monthly PIF External £199.90 £199.90

Southall Leisure Centre Fitness membership junior multi site monthly DD Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £19.99 £19.99

Southall Leisure Centre Fitness membership junior multi site monthly PIF Leisure Centre / Concession External - Concession £199.90 £199.90

Southall Leisure Centre GYM - Induction (standard 30 mins) External £17.50 £17.50

Greenford Leisure Centre Fitness Training - Adult Gym Session External £5.95 £6.50

Greenford Leisure Centre Fitness Training - Junior Gym session External £3.65 £4.00

Greenford Leisure Centre Fitness Training - Junior Induction External £10.00 £10.00

Greenford Leisure Centre Fitness Classes - Adult Fitness Classes External £6.55 £7.20

Greenford Leisure Centre Birthday Parties - Basic External £198.00 £215.00

Greenford Leisure Centre Birthday Parties - Football External £198.00 £215.00

Greenford Leisure Centre Birthday Parties - Trampoline External £219.00 £240.00

Greenford Leisure Centre Room Hire - Sports hall (4 cts) External £63.55 £69.90

Greenford Leisure Centre Room Hire - Sports hall (2cts) External £34.55 £38.00

Greenford Leisure Centre Room Hire - Court Hire External £13.30 £14.60

Greenford Leisure Centre Room Hire - Table tennis External £9.35 £10.25

Greenford Leisure Centre Room Hire - Muga External £30.00 £33.00

Greenford Leisure Centre Room Hire - Muga floodlights External £33.10 £36.40

Greenford Leisure Centre Room Hire - Tennis court External £10.40 £11.40

Greenford Leisure Centre Room Hire - Tennis court floodlights External £11.25 £12.35

Greenford Leisure Centre Active Kids/ Teens & Schools Out Programmes: - Active Kids External £6.25 £6.85

Greenford Leisure Centre Fitness Training: discounted with leisure pass - Adult Gym Session External £3.25 £3.40

Greenford Leisure Centre Fitness Training: discounted with leisure pass - Junior Gym session External £2.85 £2.95

Greenford Leisure Centre Fitness Training: discounted with leisure pass - Junior Induction External £6.50 £6.80

Greenford Leisure Centre Fitness Training: discounted with leisure pass - Active Kids External £5.00 £5.25

Greenford Leisure Centre Joining Fee External £20.00 £20.00

Greenford Leisure Centre Joining Fee Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £10.00 £10.00

Greenford Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult DD freeze fee External £5.00 £5.00

Greenford Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult DD freeze fee Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £5.00 £5.00

Greenford Leisure Centre Fitness membership junior DD freeze fee External £5.00 £5.00

Greenford Leisure Centre Fitness membership junior DD freeze fee Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £5.00 £5.00

Greenford Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult multi site monthly DD External £29.99 £32.99

Greenford Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult multi site PIF External £299.99 £329.90

Greenford Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult multi site monthly DD Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £24.99 £27.49

Greenford Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult multi site monthly PIF Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £249.90 £274.90

Page 13 of 31

Page 115



Appendix 3 - 2023/24 Draft Fees and Charges Schedule

2023/24 FEES & CHARGES SCHEDULE

 2022/23 Updated 

Charges 

 2023/24 Proposed 

Charge 

 £  £ 

(a) (b) (c)  (d)  (e)  (f) 

 Charge basis (e.g. per 

hour, per day etc) 
Service Description of Fee/Charge Charging Policy

Greenford Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult single site monthly DD External £19.99 £21.99

Greenford Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult single site PIF External £199.90 £219.90

Greenford Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult single site monthly DD Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £19.99 £21.99

Greenford Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult single site monthly PIF Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £199.90 £219.90

Greenford Leisure Centre Fitness membership junior multi site monthly DD External £19.99 £22.99

Greenford Leisure Centre Fitness membership junior multi site monthly PIF External £199.90 £229.90

Greenford Leisure Centre Fitness membership junior multi site monthly DD Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £19.99 £16.99

Greenford Leisure Centre Fitness membership junior multi site monthly PIF Leisure Centre / Concession External - Concession £199.90 £169.90

Greenford Leisure Centre GYM - Induction (standard 30 mins) External £17.50 £19.00

Reynolds Leisure Centre Fitness Training - GYM External £5.80 £6.35

Reynolds Leisure Centre Fitness Training - Junior Gym External £3.75 £4.10

Reynolds Leisure Centre Fitness Training - Junior Induction External £10.00 £10.00

Reynolds Leisure Centre Fitness Training - Aerobics External £6.55 £7.20

Reynolds Leisure Centre Fitness Training - Pilates External £7.40 £8.10

Reynolds Leisure Centre Room Hire - Activity Room, Club room, studio External £33.95 £37.30

Reynolds Leisure Centre Fitness - Sports hall (4 cts) External £63.55 £69.90

Reynolds Leisure Centre Fitness - Sports hall (2cts) External £34.55 £38.00

Reynolds Leisure Centre Room Hire - Ct Hire External £13.30 £14.60

Reynolds Leisure Centre Outdoor Courts - Floodlit Area/hr External £30.00 £33.00

Reynolds Leisure Centre Outdoor Courts - Floodlit Area-lights on External £33.10 £36.40

Reynolds Leisure Centre Block Bookings - Netball court External £25.00 £27.50

Reynolds Leisure Centre Block Bookings - Netball court-lights on External £32.20 £35.40

Reynolds Leisure Centre Block Bookings - Tennis court External £10.40 £11.40

Reynolds Leisure Centre Block Bookings - Tennis court-lights on External £11.25 £12.35

Reynolds Leisure Centre Fitness Training: discounted with leisure pass - GYM External £3.25 £3.40

Reynolds Leisure Centre Fitness Training: discounted with leisure pass - Junior External £2.90 £3.00

Reynolds Leisure Centre Fitness Training: discounted with leisure pass - Junior Induction External £6.50 £6.80

Reynolds Leisure Centre Fitness Training: discounted with leisure pass - Aerobics External £3.75 £3.90

Reynolds Leisure Centre Fitness Training: discounted with leisure pass - Pilates External £3.95 £4.10

Reynolds Leisure Centre Joining Fee External £20.00 £20.00

Reynolds Leisure Centre Joining Fee Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £10.00 £10.00

Reynolds Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult DD freeze fee External £5.00 £5.00

Reynolds Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult DD freeze fee Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £5.00 £5.00

Reynolds Leisure Centre Fitness membership junior DD freeze fee External £5.00 £5.00

Reynolds Leisure Centre Fitness membership junior DD freeze fee Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £5.00 £5.00

Reynolds Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult multi site monthly DD External £29.99 £32.99

Reynolds Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult multi site PIF External £299.99 £329.90

Reynolds Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult multi site monthly DD Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £24.99 £27.49

Reynolds Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult multi site monthly PIF Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £249.90 £274.90

Reynolds Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult single site monthly DD External £19.99 £21.99

Reynolds Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult single site PIF External £199.90 £219.90

Reynolds Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult single site monthly DD Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £19.99 £21.99

Reynolds Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult single site monthly PIF Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £199.90 £219.90

Reynolds Leisure Centre Fitness membership junior multi site monthly DD External £19.99 £22.99

Reynolds Leisure Centre Fitness membership junior multi site monthly PIF External £199.90 £229.90

Reynolds Leisure Centre Fitness membership junior multi site monthly DD Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £19.99 £16.99

Reynolds Leisure Centre Fitness membership junior multi site monthly PIF Leisure Centre / Concession External - Concession £199.90 £169.90

Reynolds Leisure Centre GYM - Induction (standard 30 mins) External £17.50 £19.00

Dormers Wells Leisure Centre Swimming - Adult Swim External £4.80 £5.25

Dormers Wells Leisure Centre Swimming - Junior Swim External £2.10 £2.30

Dormers Wells Leisure Centre Swimming - Adult Group Lessons External £7.20 £8.20

Dormers Wells Leisure Centre Swimming - Junior Group Lessons External £7.20 £8.20

Dormers Wells Leisure Centre Swimming - Adult 1-1 External £28.80 £32.80

Dormers Wells Leisure Centre Swimming - Adult 1-2 External £40.00 £45.55

Dormers Wells Leisure Centre Swimming - Junior 1-1 External £28.80 £32.80

Dormers Wells Leisure Centre Swimming - Junior 1-2 External £40.00 £45.55

Dormers Wells Leisure Centre Classes - Aerobics External £7.05 £7.75

Dormers Wells Leisure Centre Classes - Yoga 90 mins External £8.65 £9.50

Dormers Wells Leisure Centre Classes - Other exercise class (60 min) External £7.05 £7.75

Dormers Wells Leisure Centre GYM - Casual session (no swim) External £8.10 £8.90

Dormers Wells Leisure Centre GYM - Induction (standard 30 mins) External £17.70 £19.00

Dormers Wells Leisure Centre GYM - Junior Induction External £10.00 £10.00

Dormers Wells Leisure Centre GYM - Junior session External £4.00 £4.40

Dormers Wells Leisure Centre Sports hall (3 cts) All sessions External £50.00 £55.00

Dormers Wells Leisure Centre Sports Hall (6 cts) All sessions External £100.00 £110.00

Dormers Wells Leisure Centre Sports Hall - single Ct hire External £12.80 £14.05

Dormers Wells Leisure Centre Swimming: discounted with leisure pass - Adult Swim External £2.40 £2.50

Dormers Wells Leisure Centre Swimming: discounted with leisure pass - Parent & Babe Lessons (now Adult and Child) External £2.30 £2.40

Dormers Wells Leisure Centre Swimming: discounted with leisure pass - Aerobics External £3.65 £3.80

Dormers Wells Leisure Centre Swimming: discounted with leisure pass - Yoga 90 mins External £5.40 £5.65

Dormers Wells Leisure Centre Swimming: discounted with leisure pass - Other exercise class (60 min) External £3.65 £3.80

Dormers Wells Leisure Centre Swimming: discounted with leisure pass - Casual session (no swim) External £4.50 £4.70

Dormers Wells Leisure Centre Swimming: discounted with leisure pass - Junior session External £2.85 £2.95

Dormers Wells Leisure Centre Adult Leisure pass gym session External £4.35 £4.55

Dormers Wells Leisure Centre Junior leisure pass gym session External £2.85 £2.95

Page 14 of 31

Page 116



Appendix 3 - 2023/24 Draft Fees and Charges Schedule

2023/24 FEES & CHARGES SCHEDULE

 2022/23 Updated 

Charges 

 2023/24 Proposed 

Charge 

 £  £ 

(a) (b) (c)  (d)  (e)  (f) 

 Charge basis (e.g. per 

hour, per day etc) 
Service Description of Fee/Charge Charging Policy

Dormers Wells Leisure Centre Pool hire whole pool External £93.75 £103.10

Dormers Wells Leisure Centre Pool party External £145.85 £160.00

Dormers Wells Leisure Centre Sports Party External £145.85 £160.00

Dormers Wells Leisure Centre Joining Fee External £20.00 £20.00

Dormers Wells Leisure Centre Joining Fee Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £10.00 £10.00

Dormers Wells Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult DD freeze fee External £5.00 £5.00

Dormers Wells Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult DD freeze fee Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £5.00 £5.00

Dormers Wells Leisure Centre Fitness membership junior DD freeze fee External £5.00 £5.00

Dormers Wells Leisure Centre Fitness membership junior DD freeze fee Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £5.00 £5.00

Dormers Wells Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult multi site monthly DD External £29.99 £32.99

Dormers Wells Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult multi site PIF External £299.99 £329.90

Dormers Wells Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult multi site monthly DD Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £24.99 £27.49

Dormers Wells Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult multi site monthly PIF Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £249.90 £274.90

Dormers Wells Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult single site monthly DD External £19.99 £21.99

Dormers Wells Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult single site PIF External £199.90 £219.90

Dormers Wells Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult single site monthly DD Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £19.99 £21.99

Dormers Wells Leisure Centre Fitness membership adult single site monthly PIF Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £199.90 £219.90

Dormers Wells Leisure Centre Fitness membership junior multi site monthly DD External £19.99 £22.99

Dormers Wells Leisure Centre Fitness membership junior multi site monthly PIF External £199.90 £229.90

Dormers Wells Leisure Centre Fitness membership junior multi site monthly DD Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £19.99 £16.99

Dormers Wells Leisure Centre Fitness membership junior multi site monthly PIF Leisure Centre / Concession External - Concession £199.90 £169.90

Swift Road Leisure Centre Birthday Parties External £101.00 £110.00

Swift Road Leisure Centre Entire Studio - Meeting room External £26.75 £29.40

Swift Road Leisure Centre Pitch hire regular booking (11 a side) 90 mins External £65.00 £71.50

Swift Road Leisure Centre Pitch Hire Regular Booking (11 a side) 60 mins External £49.80 £54.75

Swift Road Leisure Centre Pitch Hire (9 a side) 60 mins External £49.80 £54.75

Swift Road Leisure Centre Pitch Hire (9 a side) 90 mins External £60.95 £67.00

Swift Road Leisure Centre 1/3 pitch 7v7 (60 mins) External £41.15 £45.25

Swift Road Leisure Centre 1/3 pitch 7v7 (90  mins) External £61.25 £67.35

Swift Road Leisure Centre MUGU - Floodlit Area -  5v5 a side (7 - Swift) External £28.45 £31.25

Swift Road Leisure Centre MUGU - Netball court (MUGA - Swift) External £15.00 £16.50

Swift Road Leisure Centre MUGU - Tennis court External £11.55 £12.70

Brent Valley Joining Fee External £20.00 £20.00

Brent Valley Joining Fee Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £10.00 £10.00

Brent Valley Fitness membership adult DD freeze fee External £5.00 £5.00

Brent Valley Fitness membership adult DD freeze fee Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £5.00 £5.00

Brent Valley Fitness membership junior DD freeze fee External £5.00 £5.00

Brent Valley Fitness membership junior DD freeze fee Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £5.00 £5.00

Brent Valley Fitness membership adult multi site monthly DD External £29.99 £32.99

Brent Valley Fitness membership adult multi site PIF External £299.99 £329.90

Brent Valley Fitness membership adult multi site monthly DD Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £24.99 £27.49

Brent Valley Fitness membership adult multi site monthly PIF Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £249.90 £274.90

Brent Valley Fitness membership adult single site monthly DD External £19.99 £21.99

Brent Valley Fitness membership adult single site PIF External £199.90 £219.90

Brent Valley Fitness membership adult single site monthly DD Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £19.99 £21.99

Brent Valley Fitness membership adult single site monthly PIF Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £199.90 £219.90

Brent Valley Fitness membership junior multi site monthly DD External £19.99 £22.99

Brent Valley Fitness membership junior multi site monthly PIF External £199.90 £229.90

Brent Valley Fitness membership junior multi site monthly DD Leisure Pass / Concession External - Concession £19.99 £16.99

Brent Valley Fitness membership junior multi site monthly PIF Leisure Centre / Concession External - Concession £199.90 £169.90

Brent Valley Fitness Training - Adult GYM External £5.90 £6.45

Brent Valley Fitness Training - Adult Induction External £17.50 £19.00

Brent Valley Fitness Training - Junior Gym External £3.60 £3.95

Brent Valley Fitness Training - Junior Induction External £10.00 £10.00

Brent Valley Fitness Training: discounted with leisure pass - GYM External £3.25 £3.40

Brent Valley Fitness Training: discounted with leisure pass - Junior External £2.85 £2.95

Brent Valley Fitness Training: discounted with leisure pass - Junior Induction External £6.50 £6.35

Leisure pass Leisure Pass - Adult 1 year External £5.70 £5.95

Leisure pass Leisure Pass - Adult 6 months External £4.15 £4.35

Leisure pass Leisure Pass - Junior 1 year External £2.95 £3.05

Hanwell Zoo

Admission Single entrance fee for adult. Subsidised £4.60 Per ticket £5.00

Admission Single entrance fee for child. Subsidised £2.60 Per ticket £2.80

Season ticket Season ticket adult Subsidised £18.60 Per ticket £20.00

Season ticket Season ticket child Subsidised £13.40 Per ticket £14.00

Season ticket Season ticket - Concessions Subsidised £13.40 Per ticket £15.00

Season ticket Friend of Hanwell Zoo season ticket - Adult + one adult and child. Subsidised £28.90 Per ticket £31.00

Season ticket Friend of Hanwell Zoo season ticket - Child + one child. Subsidised £23.70 Per ticket £26.00

Season ticket Friend of Hanwell Zoo - season ticket - consession + one child Subsidised £22.70 Per ticket £25.00

Cemeteries

Grave Plot
GRAVE PURCHASE AND 1ST INTERMENT- this includes exclusive purchase of grave for an initial 

period of 30 years. - Resident/Non-resident purchaser and resident deceased
Full Cost Recovery £3,528.00 per unit £3,885.00

Page 15 of 31

Page 117



Appendix 3 - 2023/24 Draft Fees and Charges Schedule

2023/24 FEES & CHARGES SCHEDULE

 2022/23 Updated 

Charges 

 2023/24 Proposed 

Charge 

 £  £ 

(a) (b) (c)  (d)  (e)  (f) 

 Charge basis (e.g. per 

hour, per day etc) 
Service Description of Fee/Charge Charging Policy

Grave Plot
GRAVE PURCHASE AND 2ND INTERMENT- this includes exclusive purchase of grave for an 

initial period of 30 years. - Resident/Non-resident purchaser and resident deceased
Full Cost Recovery £3,328.50 per unit £3,665.00

Grave Plot
GRAVE PURCHASE AND 3RD INTERMENT- this includes exclusive purchase of grave for an 

initial period of 30 years. - Resident/Non-resident purchaser and resident deceased
Full Cost Recovery £3,963.75 per unit £4,365.00

Grave Plot - Cremated 

Remains

GRAVE PURCHASE AND 1ST INTERMENT (CREMATED REMAINS PLOT) - this includes 

exclusive purchase of grave for an initial period of 30 years. - Resident/Non-resident purchaser and 

resident deceased

Full Cost Recovery £1,501.50 per unit £1,650.00

Columbarium - Cremated 

Remains

NICHE PURCHASE AND 1ST INTERMENT (CREMATED REMAINS NICHE) - this includes 

exclusive purchase of niche for an initial period of 10 years - Resident/Non-resident purchaser and 

resident deceased

Full Cost Recovery £1,050.00 per unit £1,155.00

Muslim burial chamber
GRAVE PURCHASE AND 1ST INTERMENT (MUSLIM BURIAL) - this includes exclusive purchase 

of grave for an initial period of 30 years. - Resident/Non-resident purchaser and resident deceased
Full Cost Recovery £4,079.25 per unit £4,490.00

Infant burial
GRAVE PURCHASE AND 1ST INTERMENT (INFANT) - this includes exclusive purchase of grave 

for an initial period of 30 years. - Resident/Non-resident purchaser and resident deceased
Full Cost Recovery £805.00 per unit £885.00

Infant burial
GRAVE PURCHASE AND 1ST INTERMENT (INFANT) - this includes exclusive purchase of grave 

for an initial period of 30 years. - Resident purchaser and non-resident deceased
Full Cost Recovery £1,170.00 per unit £1,170.00

Grave Plot
GRAVE PURCHASE AND 1ST INTERMENT- this includes exclusive purchase of grave for an initial 

period of 30 years. - Non-resident purchaser and non-resident deceased
Full Cost Recovery £7,056.00 per unit £7,770.00

Grave Plot
GRAVE PURCHASE AND 2ND INTERMENT- this includes exclusive purchase of grave for an 

initial period of 30 years. - Non-resident purchaser and non-resident deceased
Full Cost Recovery £6,657.00 per unit £7,300.00

Grave Plot
GRAVE PURCHASE AND 3RD INTERMENT- this includes exclusive purchase of grave for an 

initial period of 30 years. - Non-resident purchaser and non-resident deceased
Full Cost Recovery £7,927.50 per unit £8,725.00

Grave Plot - Cremated 

Remains

GRAVE PURCHASE AND 1ST INTERMENT (CREMATED REMAINS PLOT) - this includes 

exclusive purchase of grave for an initial period of 30 years. - Non-resident purchaser and non-

resident deceased

Full Cost Recovery £1,501.50 per unit £1,650.00

Columbarium - Cremated 

Remains

NICHE PURCHASE AND 1ST INTERMENT (CREMATED REMAINS NICHE) - this includes 

exclusive purchase of niche for an initial period of 10 years - Non-resident purchaser and non- 

resident deceased

Full Cost Recovery £1,050.00 per unit £1,155.00

Muslim burial chamber
GRAVE PURCHASE AND 1ST INTERMENT (MUSLIM BURIAL) - this includes exclusive purchase 

of grave for an initial period of 30 years. - Non-resident purchaser and non-resident deceased
Full Cost Recovery £8,158.50 per unit £8,990.00

Infant burial
GRAVE PURCHASE AND 1ST INTERMENT (INFANT) - this includes exclusive purchase of grave 

for an initial period of 30 years. - Non-resident purchaser and non-resident deceased
Full Cost Recovery £1,915.00 per unit £2,100.00

Re-opening a grave for further 

burials
Re-opening a grave for further burials: Resident deceased - Depth for 1 Full Cost Recovery £1,123.50 per unit £1,235.00

Re-opening a grave for further 

burials
Re-opening a grave for further burials: Resident deceased - Depth for 2 Full Cost Recovery £1,181.25 per unit £1,300.00

Re-opening a grave for further 

burials
Re-opening a grave for further burials: Resident deceased - Depth for 3 Full Cost Recovery £1,302.00 per unit £1,435.00

Re-opening a grave for further 

burials
Re-opening a grave for further burials: Resident deceased - Depths for stillborn to 13 years Full Cost Recovery £63.00 per unit £70.00

Re-opening a grave for further 

burials
Re-opening a grave for further burials: Resident deceased - Cremated remains Full Cost Recovery £687.75 per unit £750.00

Re-opening a grave for further 

burials
Re-opening a grave for further burials: Resident deceased - Interments into brick graves or vaults Full Cost Recovery £1,543.50 per unit £1,700.00

Re-opening a grave for further 

burials
Re-opening a grave for further burials: Non-resident deceased - Depth for 1 Full Cost Recovery £2,247.00 per unit £2,595.00

Re-opening a grave for further 

burials
Re-opening a grave for further burials: Non-resident deceased - Depth for 2 Full Cost Recovery £2,357.25 per unit £2,595.00

Re-opening a grave for further 

burials
Re-opening a grave for further burials: Non-resident deceased - Depth for 3 Full Cost Recovery £2,604.00 per unit £2,870.00

Re-opening a grave for further 

burials
Re-opening a grave for further burials: Non-resident deceased - Depths for stillborn to 13 years Full Cost Recovery £467.25 per unit £510.00

Re-opening a grave for further 

burials
Re-opening a grave for further burials: Non-resident deceased - Cremated remains Full Cost Recovery £687.75 per unit £757.00

Re-opening a grave for further 

burials

Re-opening a grave for further burials: Non-resident deceased - Interments into brick graves or 

vaults
Full Cost Recovery £3,102.75 per unit £3,400.00

Other Permit for all subsequent memorial work Full Cost Recovery £120.75 per unit £133.00

Other Removal and replacement of memorial for further burial Full Cost Recovery £199.50 per unit £220.00

Exhumation Charges Exhumation of a body (price is exclusive of VAT) Full Cost Recovery £7,749.00 per unit £8,500.00

Exhumation Charges Exhumation of ashes (price is exclusive of VAT) Full Cost Recovery £2,205.00 per unit £2,425.00

Grave Plot Pre-purchase new grave for 1 (30yr lease) Resident Full Cost Recovery £4,809.00 per unit £5,300.00

Grave Plot Pre-purchase new grave for 2  (30yr lease) Resident Full Cost Recovery £4,294.50 per unit £4,725.00

Grave Plot Pre-purchase new grave for 3  (30yr lease) Resident Full Cost Recovery £5,323.50 per unit £5,860.00

Grave Plot Pre-purchase new grave for 1 (30yr lease) Non Resident Full Cost Recovery £9,618.00 per unit £10,590.00

Grave Plot Pre-purchase new grave for 2  (30yr lease) Non Resident Full Cost Recovery £8,589.00 per unit £9,455.00

Page 16 of 31

Page 118



Appendix 3 - 2023/24 Draft Fees and Charges Schedule

2023/24 FEES & CHARGES SCHEDULE

 2022/23 Updated 

Charges 

 2023/24 Proposed 

Charge 

 £  £ 

(a) (b) (c)  (d)  (e)  (f) 

 Charge basis (e.g. per 

hour, per day etc) 
Service Description of Fee/Charge Charging Policy

Grave Plot Pre-purchase new grave for 3  (30yr lease) Non Resident Full Cost Recovery £10,647.00 per unit £11,720.00

Other Partial Pathside burial plot Full Cost Recovery £661.50 per unit £730.00

Other Full Pathside burial plot Full Cost Recovery £1,323.00 per unit £1,455.00

Other Hire of cemetery chapel Full Cost Recovery £141.75 per unit £155.00

Other Extra charge for Saturday burial Full Cost Recovery £829.50 per unit £910.00

Other Extra charge for burial of ashes on Saturday Full Cost Recovery £241.50 per unit £265.00

Other Surveying grave to determine remaining depth Full Cost Recovery £383.25 per unit £420.00

Other Concrete sealing of grave (entombment) Full Cost Recovery £551.25 per unit £605.00

Other Transfer of grave deed Full Cost Recovery £273.00 per unit £300.00

Other Record search Full Cost Recovery £21.00 per unit £23.00

Other Scattering ashes in (Hortus Rose garden/Greenford Park woodland) Full Cost Recovery £110.25 per unit £121.40

Other Oversized coffin -7' x30" or larger Full Cost Recovery £603.75 per unit £665.00

Other Metal Casket Full Cost Recovery £1,212.75 per unit £1,335.00

Other Administration charge for two or more cremated remains Full Cost Recovery £189.00 per unit £205.00

Other Grave planting (price is exclusive of VAT) Full Cost Recovery £157.50 per unit £175.00

Regulatory Operations

Licensing

Alcohol and entertainment Alcohol Licensing Statutory £70 - £1,050 per licence £70 - £1,050

Alcohol and entertainment Gambling Act Statutory £100 - £3,500 per licence £100 - £3,500

Alcohol and entertainment Alcohol - Temporary Event Notices, variations & transfers Statutory £21 - £190 per licence £21 - £190

Animal Welfare Animal Welfare Licensing - Animal Boarding Establishment Full Cost Recovery £560.00 per licence £616.60

Animal Welfare Animal Welfare Licensing - Dangerous Wild Animals Full Cost Recovery £312.00 per licence £343.50

Animal Welfare Animal Welfare Licensing - Dog Breeding Establishment Full Cost Recovery £560.00 per licence £616.60

Animal Welfare Animal Welfare Licensing - Dog Sitting Full Cost Recovery £377- £447 per licence £415 - £492

Animal Welfare Animal Welfare Licensing - Pet Shop Full Cost Recovery £560.00 per licence £616.60

Animal Welfare Animal Welfare Licensing - Riding Establishment Full Cost Recovery £1,231.00 per licence £1,355.30

Animal Welfare Animal Welfare Licensing -  Exhibition of animals Full Cost Recovery £438.00 per licence £482.20

Massage & Other Specialist 

Treatments
License for Massage & Special Treatments including Cosmetic Piercing, Acupuncture and Tattooing Full Cost Recovery £402.00 per licence £442.60

Massage & Other Specialist 

Treatments
License massage & Special Treatments - Additional treatment/variation Full Cost Recovery £75.00 per licence £82.60

Health & Safety/Public 

Protection
Sex Establishment Licence (New, Renewal and Transfer) Full Cost Recovery £3,320.00 per licence £3,655.30

Health & Safety/Public 

Protection
Auction Houses Registration Full Cost Recovery £259.00 per licence £285.20

Health & Safety/Public 

Protection
Certification for shipment & burial Full Cost Recovery £77.00 per licence £84.80

Health & Safety/Public 

Protection
Scrap Metal Dealers Site Licence - New licence Full Cost Recovery £703.00 per licence £774.00

Health & Safety/Public 

Protection
Scrap Metal Dealers Site Licence - Renewal Full Cost Recovery £468.00 per licence £515.30

Health & Safety/Public 

Protection
Scrap Metal Dealers Site Licence - Variation Full Cost Recovery £158.00 per licence £174.00

Health & Safety/Public 

Protection
Scrap Metal Dealers Collector's Licence  - New Full Cost Recovery £351.00 per licence £386.50

Health & Safety/Public 

Protection
Scrap Metal Dealers Collector's Licence  - Renewal Full Cost Recovery £234.00 per licence £257.60

Health & Safety/Public 

Protection
Scrap Metal Dealers Collector's Licence  - Variation Full Cost Recovery £141.00 per licence £155.20

Health & Safety/Public 

Protection
Scrap Metal Dealers Duplicate Copy Full Cost Recovery £15.00 per licence £16.50

Explosives (Fireworks) 

licences
Explosives licences: From 250kg to 2000kg - New Storage Licence Statutory £185.00 per licence £185.00

Explosives (Fireworks) 

licences
Explosives licences: From 250kg to 2000kg - Storage Licence Renewal Statutory £86.00 per licence £86.00

Explosives (Fireworks) 

licences
Explosives licences: up to 250kg - New Storage Licence Statutory £109.00 per licence £109.00

Explosives (Fireworks) 

licences
Explosives licences: up to 250kg - Storage Licence Renewal Statutory £54.00 per licence £54.00

Explosives (Fireworks) 

licences
Explosives licences - Variation to Licence (Change in plans) Statutory £36.00 per variation £36.00

Explosives (Fireworks) 

licences
Explosives licences - Amending name of Licensee or Change of Site Address Statutory £36.00 per change £36.00

Explosives (Fireworks) 

licences
Explosives licences - Transfer of Licence Statutory £36.00 per licence £36.00

Explosives (Fireworks) 

licences
Explosives licences - Replacement Licence Statutory £36.00 per licence £36.00

Explosives (Fireworks) 

licences
Explosives licences - Annual Licence to sell all year around Statutory £500.00 per licence £500.00

Other Regulatory Services

Food Safety Food Safety - REHAB Course Full Cost Recovery £667.00 per candidate £734.40

Food Safety Food Safety - Food Destruction notice Full Cost Recovery £125.00 per notice £137.60

Food Safety Food Safety - Health Certificate for export Full Cost Recovery £100.00 per report £110.10

Food Safety Food Safety - Admin Fee for certificate to be issued within 48 hours Full Cost Recovery £155.00 per report £170.70

Food Safety
Food Safety - Onward transfer station import certificate and voluntary condemnation certificates fee 

(up to 3 hours)
Full Cost Recovery £125.00 per cert £137.60

Food Safety Food Safety - Additional time (for each part/hour) Full Cost Recovery £50.00 per hour £55.10

Food Safety Food Hygiene - Food premises re-rating Full Cost Recovery £240.00 Per notice £264.20

Private Housing Private Housing - Housing Act Notice Full Cost Recovery £380.00 Per notice £418.40

Place Delivery
Highways

Works
Section 50 licence - third party works (private individual to place or maintain apparatus in highway) 

(non utility)
Full Cost Recovery £525.00

It is a fixed charge per 

licence.
£578.00

Works Section 184 licence - temporary crossover (developer construction or alteration to site access) Full Cost Recovery £475.00

This licence fee will be 

dependent on the 

requirements of the 

Developer. 

£523.00

Overstay Section 74 overstay income Statutory £500.00 Statutory Charge £500.00

Page 17 of 31

Page 119



Appendix 3 - 2023/24 Draft Fees and Charges Schedule

2023/24 FEES & CHARGES SCHEDULE

 2022/23 Updated 

Charges 

 2023/24 Proposed 

Charge 

 £  £ 

(a) (b) (c)  (d)  (e)  (f) 

 Charge basis (e.g. per 

hour, per day etc) 
Service Description of Fee/Charge Charging Policy

Inspections Inspections - sample Statutory £50.00 per inspection £50.00

Inspections Inspections - defect Statutory £47.50 per inspection £47.50

Inspections Inspections - third party Statutory £68.00 per inspection £68.00

Fixed Penalty Notice Fixed Penalty Notices - incorrect permit details Statutory £100.00 per notice £100.00

Fixed Penalty Notice Fixed Penalty Notices - working with out a permit Statutory £400.00 per notice £400.00

Network Permit Network Permit Income Statutory £137.50 per permit £137.50

Traffic Orders Temp Traffic Orders - Special Event Orders (charity, street party) Subsidised £420.00 Fixed Charge £462.40

Traffic Orders
Temp Traffic Orders - Special Event Orders (other than national event, charity or street party), 

Emergency Notice, Urgent Notice, or Filming Notice
Full Cost Recovery £1,260.00 Fixed Charge £1,387.30

Traffic Orders Temp Traffic Orders - Filming Order Full Cost Recovery £1,900.00 Fixed Charge £2,091.90

Traffic Orders Temp Traffic Orders - Long Term Works Order Full Cost Recovery £4,147.50 Fixed Charge £4,566.40

Traffic Orders Temp Traffic Orders - Planned Works Order Full Cost Recovery £3,622.50 Fixed Charge £3,988.40

Street Services

Waste Service

Depots Mixed Trade Waste Full Cost Recovery £239.00 per tonne £263.10

Depots Recyclable Trade Waste Full Cost Recovery £103.90 per tonne £114.40

Depots Mixed DIY Waste Full Cost Recovery £239.00 per tonne £263.10

Commercial Charges Pre-paid Sacks Full Cost Recovery £45.40 per 20 sacks £50.00

Commercial Charges Contract Sacks Full Cost Recovery £41.30 per 20 sacks £45.50

Commercial Charges
Pre-paid Sacks - roll of 20 (75% of commercial charge for first collection for nursing 

homes/charities. Subsequent collections at full commercial charge)
Full Cost Recovery £34.05 per 20 sacks £37.50

Commercial Charges Pre Paid Stickers for Cardboard Full Cost Recovery £45.40 per pack of 20 stickers £50.00

Commercial Charges Contract Stickers for Cardboard Full Cost Recovery £41.30 per pack of 20 stickers £45.50

Commercial Charges
Stickers for Cardboard - pack of 20 (75% of commercial charge for first collection for nursing 

homes/charities. Subsequent collections at full commercial charge)
Full Cost Recovery £34.05 per pack of 20 stickers £37.50

Commercial Charges Cardboard Recycling Stickers Full Cost Recovery £20.20 per pack of 20 stickers £22.20

Commercial Charges Recycling Service (Pre paid Sacks) Full Cost Recovery £36.10  £39.70

Commercial Charges
Recycling Service (Pre paid Sacks) - (25% reduction on commercial charge for first collection for 

nursing homes/charities. Subsequent collections at full commercial charge)
Full Cost Recovery £30.00

Commercial Charges Recycling Service (Contract Sacks) Full Cost Recovery £32.20 £35.50

Commercial Charges 1100 Litre Container Bin - One Collection per week Full Cost Recovery £21.40 per bin £23.60

Commercial Charges 1100 Litre Container Bin - One Collection per week - new customers from 19th December 2022 Full Cost Recovery per bin £17.50

Commercial Charges 1100 Litre Container Bin - 2 to 3 collections per week Full Cost Recovery £20.40 per bin £22.50

Commercial Charges 1100 Litre Container Bin - 2 to 3 collections per week - new customers from 19th December 2022 Full Cost Recovery per bin £16.50

Commercial Charges 1100 Litre Container Bin 4 to 6 collections per week Full Cost Recovery £19.40 per bin £21.40

Commercial Charges 1100 Litre Container Bin 4 to 6 collections per week - new customers from 19th December 2022 Full Cost Recovery per bin £15.50

Commercial Charges 1100 Litre Container Bin - 6 or more collections per week Full Cost Recovery Quote on request per bin Quote on request

Commercial Charges
1100 Litre Container Bin (75% of commercial charge for first collection for nursing homes/charities. 

Subsequent collections at full commercial charge)
Full Cost Recovery £16.05 per bin £17.70

Commercial Charges

1100 Litre Container Bin (25% reduction on commercial charge for first collection for nursing 

homes/charities. Subsequent collections at full commercial charge)  new customers from 19th 

December 2022

Full Cost Recovery per bin £13.50

Page 18 of 31

Page 120



Appendix 3 - 2023/24 Draft Fees and Charges Schedule

2023/24 FEES & CHARGES SCHEDULE

 2022/23 Updated 

Charges 

 2023/24 Proposed 

Charge 

 £  £ 

(a) (b) (c)  (d)  (e)  (f) 

 Charge basis (e.g. per 

hour, per day etc) 
Service Description of Fee/Charge Charging Policy

Commercial Charges 660 Litre Container Bin - One collection per week Full Cost Recovery £14.70 per bin £16.20

Commercial Charges 660 Litre Container Bin - One collection per week - new customers from 19th December 2022 Full Cost Recovery per bin £11.50

Commercial Charges
660 Litre Container Bin (75% of commercial charge for first collection for nursing homes/charities. 

Subsequent collections at full commercial charge)
Full Cost Recovery £11.03 per bin £12.10

Commercial Charges

660 Litre Container Bin (25% reduction on commercial charge for first collection for nursing 

homes/charities. Subsequent collections at full commercial charge)  new customers from 19th 

December 2022

Full Cost Recovery per bin £9.00

Commercial Charges 660 Litre Container Bin - 2 to 3 collections per week Full Cost Recovery £13.60 per bin £15.00

Commercial Charges 660 Litre Container Bin - 2 to 3 collections per week - new customers from 19th December 2022 Full Cost Recovery per bin £10.50

Commercial Charges 660 Litre Container Bin - 4 to 6 collections per week Full Cost Recovery £12.60 per bin £13.90

Commercial Charges 660 Litre Container Bin - 4 to 6 collections per week - new customers from 19th December 2022 Full Cost Recovery per bin £9.50

Commercial Charges 660 Litre Container Bin - 6 or more collections per week Full Cost Recovery Quote on request per bin Quote on request

Commercial Charges Special Collection 1-3 mtrs Full Cost Recovery £92.90  £110.00

Commercial Charges Mixed Trade Waste per ton (duplicates) Statutory £195.00 per tonne No longer Offered

Commercial Charges Recyclable Trade Waste per  ton (duplicates) Statutory £97.50 per tonne No longer Offered

Commercial Charges Mixed DIY Waste per tonne (duplicates) Full Cost Recovery £201.20 per tonne No longer Offered

Commercial Charges Bulky waste up to 8 items Full Cost Recovery £45.00

Commercial Charges Fridge/Freezers Full Cost Recovery £30.00

Garden Waste 240 litre green wheeled bin Full Cost Recovery £82.10 per bin £90.40

Garden Waste 3 x 90 litre reusable green sacks Full Cost Recovery £82.10 per 3 sacks £90.40

Garden Waste Roll of 50 biodegradable sacks Full Cost Recovery £82.10 per 50 sacks £90.40

Garden Waste Roll of 25 biodegradable sacks Full Cost Recovery £41.10 per 25 sacks £45.30

Garden Waste Concessionary discount on wheeled bin Full Cost Recovery £62.80 per bin £69.10

Garden Waste Concessionary discount on reusable sacks Full Cost Recovery £62.80 per 3 sacks £69.10

Garden Waste Concessionary discount on 50 biodegradable sacks Full Cost Recovery £62.80 per 50 sacks £69.10

Street Trading

Street Trading Street. Trading Designated Site - 1-2 Days per Week Full Cost Recovery £56.00 1-2 days per week £61.70

Street Trading Street Trading Designated Site - 3-4 Days per Week Full Cost Recovery £73.00 3-4 days per week £80.40

Street Trading Street. Trading Designated Site - 5-7 Days per Week Full Cost Recovery £109.00 5-7 days per week £120.00

Street Trading Street. Trading Application fee Full Cost Recovery £64.00 per application £70.50

Street Trading Street Trading - private land Full Cost Recovery £52.00  £57.30

Street Trading Street Trading - Newspaper Vendors - 1-2 Days per Week Full Cost Recovery £19.00 1-2 days per week £20.90

Street Trading Street Trading - Newspaper Vendors - 5 or more Days per Week Full Cost Recovery £37.00 5 or more days per week £40.70

Street Trading Street. Trading Temporary Designated Site - 1-2 Days per Week Full Cost Recovery £97.00 1-2 days per week £106.80

Street Trading Street Trading Temporary Designated Site - 3-4 Days per Week Full Cost Recovery £109.00 3-4 days per week £120.00

Street Trading Street. Trading Temporary Designated Site - 5-7 Days per Week Full Cost Recovery £121.00 5-7 days per week £133.20

Street Trading Front of shop displays - Full Display Full Cost Recovery £33.00  £36.30

Street Trading Front of shop displays - Half Display Full Cost Recovery £17.00  £18.70

Street Trading Failure to Furnish Documentation (waste carrier`s licence) Statutory £300.00  £300.00

Page 19 of 31

Page 121



Appendix 3 - 2023/24 Draft Fees and Charges Schedule

2023/24 FEES & CHARGES SCHEDULE

 2022/23 Updated 

Charges 

 2023/24 Proposed 

Charge 

 £  £ 

(a) (b) (c)  (d)  (e)  (f) 

 Charge basis (e.g. per 

hour, per day etc) 
Service Description of Fee/Charge Charging Policy

Street Trading Failure to Produce Authority (waste transfer notes) Statutory £400.00  £400.00

Street Trading Displaying an Advertising in Contravention of Regulations Statutory £100.00  £100.00

Street Trading Contravention of Condition of Street Trading Licence or Temporary Licence Statutory £100.00  £100.00

Street Trading
Making False Statement in Connection with Application for a Street Trading Licence or a Temporary 

Licence 
Statutory £125.00  £125.00

Street Trading Resisting or Obstructing Authorised Officer Statutory £150.00  £150.00

Street Trading Failure to Produce Street Trading Licence on Demand Statutory £150.00  £150.00

Street Trading Unlicensed Street Trading Statutory £125.00  £125.00

Street Trading Dogs Fouling on Land Statutory £80.00  £80.00

Street Trading Skip Licence Fee-on-line Full Cost Recovery £90.00 per skip licence £99.10

Street Trading Skip Licence Fee-additional fee for CPZ zone Full Cost Recovery £140.00
per skip licence in CPZ 

zone
£154.10

Street Trading Skip Licence Fee - additional fee for Non CPZ zone Full Cost Recovery £70.00
per skip licence in non 

CPZ zone per fortnight
No longer Offered

Street Trading Pavement licences annual licence £100.00

Street Trading Fee to become approved skip company One off £175.00

Street Cleansing

Street Cleansing Depositing Litter Statutory £150.00  £150.00

Street Cleansing Graffiti & Flyposting Statutory £100.00  £100.00

Street Cleansing Flytipping Statutory £400.00 £400.00

Street Cleansing Nuisance Parking Statutory £100.00  £100.00

Street Cleansing Failure to Comply with a Waste Receptacle Notice Statutory £80.00  £80.00

Street Cleansing Abandoning a Vehicle Statutory £120.00  £120.00

Parking Service

Enforcement Civil Enforcement Officer (CEO) - Enforcement Penalty charge notice at for a lower rate offence Statutory £80.00 Per contravention £80.00

Enforcement Civil Enforcement Officer (CEO) - Enforcement Penalty charge notice at for a higher rate offence Statutory £130.00 Per contravention £130.00

Enforcement Bus Lane Enforcement Penalty charge notice at for a higher rate offence Statutory £130.00 Per contravention £130.00

Enforcement Civil Parking Enforcement - CCTV Penalty charge notice at for a higher rate offence Statutory £130.00 Per contravention £130.00

Enforcement Decriminalised Traffic Enforcement Penalty charge notice at for a higher rate offence Statutory £130.00 Per contravention £130.00

Car park lettings Car park lettings Full Cost Recovery Variable per Change Variable

Hourly rate 1 (variable discounts available for less polluting vehicles) Full Cost Recovery £0.30 Per hour £0.30

Hourly rate 2 (variable discounts available for less polluting vehicles) Full Cost Recovery £1.40 Per hour £1.40

Hourly rate 3 (variable discounts available for less polluting vehicles) Full Cost Recovery £1.60 Per hour £1.60

Pay & Display / Cashless 

Parking Emission Based 

Tariffs - Off Street Car Park 

and On-Street Parking

Page 20 of 31

Page 122



Appendix 3 - 2023/24 Draft Fees and Charges Schedule

2023/24 FEES & CHARGES SCHEDULE

 2022/23 Updated 

Charges 

 2023/24 Proposed 

Charge 

 £  £ 

(a) (b) (c)  (d)  (e)  (f) 

 Charge basis (e.g. per 

hour, per day etc) 
Service Description of Fee/Charge Charging Policy

Hourly rate 4 (variable discounts available for less polluting vehicles) Full Cost Recovery £2.10 Per hour £2.10

Hourly rate 5 (variable discounts available for less polluting vehicles) Full Cost Recovery £2.80 Per hour £2.80

Hourly rate 6 (variable discounts available for less polluting vehicles) Full Cost Recovery £4.20 Per hour £4.20

Daily rate 1 (variable discounts available for less polluting vehicles) Full Cost Recovery £4.20 Per day £4.20

Daily rate 2 (variable discounts available for less polluting vehicles) Full Cost Recovery £6.30 Per day £6.30

Daily rate 3 (variable discounts available for less polluting vehicles) Full Cost Recovery £7.00 Per day £7.00

Daily rate 4 (variable discounts available for less polluting vehicles) Full Cost Recovery £12.60 Per day £12.60

Daily rate 5 (variable discounts available for less polluting vehicles) Full Cost Recovery £16.80 Per day £16.80

Daily rate 6 (variable discounts available for less polluting vehicles) Full Cost Recovery £19.60 Per day £19.60

Daily rate 7 (variable discounts available for less polluting vehicles) Full Cost Recovery £28.00 Per day £28.00

Daily rate 8 (variable discounts available for less polluting vehicles) Full Cost Recovery £1.40 Per day £1.40

Short stay residential visitor 

parking
Paper visitor voucher for vulunerable people (all day) Full Cost Recovery £4.50 Per day £4.95

Short stay residential visitor 

parking
Paper visitor voucher for vulunerable people (1 hour) Full Cost Recovery £0.80 Per hour £0.80

Short stay residential visitor 

parking
Electronic resident visitor permit (all day zone only) (all day voucher) Full Cost Recovery £4.50 Per day £4.95

Short stay residential visitor 

parking
Electronic resident visitor voucher (1 hour voucher) Full Cost Recovery £0.80 Per hour £0.80

Short stay business visitor 

parking
Business visitor voucher / permit (1 hour voucher) Full Cost Recovery £2.40 Per hour £2.60

Parking Permit Annual Car Park Permit - Featherstone Terrace, George Street, Greenford Broadway car parks Full Cost Recovery £280.00 Per Permit £280.00

Pay & Display / Cashless 

Parking Emission Based 

Tariffs - Off Street Car Park 

and On-Street Parking

Page 21 of 31

Page 123



Appendix 3 - 2023/24 Draft Fees and Charges Schedule

2023/24 FEES & CHARGES SCHEDULE

 2022/23 Updated 

Charges 

 2023/24 Proposed 

Charge 

 £  £ 

(a) (b) (c)  (d)  (e)  (f) 

 Charge basis (e.g. per 

hour, per day etc) 
Service Description of Fee/Charge Charging Policy

Parking Permit Annual Car Park Permit - Herbert Road, Southall Market car parks Full Cost Recovery £500.00 Per Permit £500.00

Parking Permit Annual Car Park Permit - Perivale Station Car Park Full Cost Recovery £500.00 Per Permit £500.00

Parking Permit Annual Car Park Permit - Salisbury Street Car Park Full Cost Recovery £750.00 Per Permit £750.00

Parking Permit Annual Car Park Permit - Springbridge Road Car Park Full Cost Recovery £750.00 Per Permit £750.00

Parking Permit Quarterly Car Park Permit - Herbert Road, Southall Market car parks Full Cost Recovery £200.00 Per Permit £200.00

Parking Permit Quarterly Car Park Permit - Perivale Station Car Park Full Cost Recovery £200.00 Per Permit £200.00

Parking Permit Quarterly Car Park Permit - Salisbury Street Car Park Full Cost Recovery £300.00 Per Permit £300.00

Parking Permit Quarterly Car Park Permit - Springbridge Road Car Park Full Cost Recovery £300.00 Per Permit £300.00

Parking Permit CO2 emission (g/km) up to 100 Full Cost Recovery £50.00 Per Permit £50.00

Parking Permit CO2 emission (g/km) 101-110 Full Cost Recovery £76.00 Per Permit £80.00

Parking Permit CO2 emission (g/km) 111-120 Full Cost Recovery £76.00 Per Permit £80.00

Parking Permit CO2 emission (g/km) 121-130 Full Cost Recovery £76.00 Per Permit £80.00

Parking Permit CO2 emission (g/km) 131-140 Full Cost Recovery £76.00 Per Permit £80.00

Parking Permit CO2 emission (g/km) 141-150 Full Cost Recovery £102.00 Per Permit £110.00

Page 22 of 31

Page 124



Appendix 3 - 2023/24 Draft Fees and Charges Schedule

2023/24 FEES & CHARGES SCHEDULE

 2022/23 Updated 

Charges 

 2023/24 Proposed 

Charge 

 £  £ 

(a) (b) (c)  (d)  (e)  (f) 

 Charge basis (e.g. per 

hour, per day etc) 
Service Description of Fee/Charge Charging Policy

Parking Permit CO2 emission (g/km) 151-165 Full Cost Recovery £102.00 Per Permit £110.00

Parking Permit CO2 emission (g/km) 166-175 Full Cost Recovery £102.00 Per Permit £110.00

Parking Permit CO2 emission (g/km) 176-185 Full Cost Recovery £102.00 Per Permit £110.00

Parking Permit CO2 emission (g/km) 186-200 Full Cost Recovery £130.00 Per Permit £140.00

Parking Permit CO2 emission (g/km) 201-225 Full Cost Recovery £130.00 Per Permit £140.00

Parking Permit CO2 emission (g/km) 226-255 Full Cost Recovery £130.00 Per Permit £140.00

Parking Permit CO2 emission (g/km) Over 255 Full Cost Recovery £130.00 Per Permit £140.00

Parking Permit Discount for part day zone Full Cost Recovery -£5.00 Per Permit No longer Offered

Parking Permit Discount for electric vehicles Full Cost Recovery -£30.00 Per Permit -£20.00

Parking Permit Electric Vehicle floating car club discount Per Annum -£310.00

Parking Permit Multiplier applied to each additional vehicle in household Full Cost Recovery £55.00 Per Permit £60.00

Parking Permit Nitrous Oxides emissions charge Full Cost Recovery £50.00 Per Permit £55.00

Parking Permit Annual Business Permit Full Cost Recovery £806.00 Per Permit £850.00

Parking Permit Annual Doctors/Vets Permit Full Cost Recovery £806.00 Per Permit £850.00

Parking Permit Annual Car Club Permit - static Full Cost Recovery £806.00 Per Permit £806.00

Parking Permit Annual Car Club Permit - floating Full Cost Recovery £1,310.00 Per Permit £1,310.00

Parking Permit Annual All Zone Permit Full Cost Recovery £1,007.00 Per Permit £1,100.00

Parking Permit Annual Allotment Permit Full Cost Recovery £35.00 Per Permit £38.50

Parking Permit Annual Carers Permit - for friends and relatives Full Cost Recovery £48.00 Per Permit £10.00

Page 23 of 31

Page 125



Appendix 3 - 2023/24 Draft Fees and Charges Schedule

2023/24 FEES & CHARGES SCHEDULE

 2022/23 Updated 

Charges 

 2023/24 Proposed 

Charge 

 £  £ 

(a) (b) (c)  (d)  (e)  (f) 

 Charge basis (e.g. per 

hour, per day etc) 
Service Description of Fee/Charge Charging Policy

Parking Permit Annual Carers Permit - for professional carers Full Cost Recovery £48.00 Per Permit £10.00

Parking Permit Annual Disabled Bay Permit (for permit spaces) Full Cost Recovery £32.00 Per Permit £35.00

Parking Permit Annual Essential Users Permit Full Cost Recovery £365.00 Per Permit £400.00

Parking Permit Annual Religious Permit Full Cost Recovery £180.00 Per Permit £200.00

Parking Permit Annual Religious Permit
Full Cost Recovery - 

Concession
£2,700.00

Price per permit as 

above. 20 Permits for 

price of 15

£3,000.00

Administrative fee Fee for changing vehicle details on a permit / providing a refund etc Full Cost Recovery £16.00 per Change £17.60

Dispensations Dispensations for Trade - for parking bays Full Cost Recovery £10.00
Per day, per parking 

space
£11.00

Dispensations Dispensations for Trade - for yellow lines Full Cost Recovery £16.00
Per day, per 5m section 

of yellow line
£18.00

Dispensations Dispensation for Residents Full Cost Recovery £10.00
Per week, per parking 

space
£12.00

Parking Suspension - General 

Use
Suspensions (per day per bay for general uses submitting an on-time application) Full Cost Recovery £30.00

Per day, per parking 

space
£33.00

Parking Suspension - General 

Use
Suspensions (per day per bay for filming crews submitting a late application) Full Cost Recovery £30.00

Per day, per parking 

space
£30.00

Parking Suspension - Filming

Suspensions (per day per bay for filming submitting an on-time application) Full Cost Recovery £20.00
Per day, per parking 

space
£20.00

Parking Suspension - Filming

Suspensions (per day per bay for general users submitting a late application) Full Cost Recovery £40.00
Per day, per parking 

space
£45.00

Enforcement Funeral cessation of enforcement Full Cost Recovery £50.00 Per Permit £55.00

Short stay business visitor 

parking
Service Voucher / Business Visitor Permit Full Cost Recovery £2.40 Per Permit £2.60

Surveying Services

Building Control

Building Control Extension - Less than 40m2 Full Cost Recovery £689.00 per application £758.60

Building Control Extension - Less than 60m2 Full Cost Recovery £803.80 per application £885.00

Building Control Extension - More than 60m2  -each additional 40m2 or part Full Cost Recovery £114.90 per application £126.50

Page 24 of 31

Page 126



Appendix 3 - 2023/24 Draft Fees and Charges Schedule

2023/24 FEES & CHARGES SCHEDULE

 2022/23 Updated 

Charges 

 2023/24 Proposed 

Charge 

 £  £ 

(a) (b) (c)  (d)  (e)  (f) 

 Charge basis (e.g. per 

hour, per day etc) 
Service Description of Fee/Charge Charging Policy

Building Control Loft conversion - Less than 40m2 Full Cost Recovery £689.00 per application £758.60

Building Control Loft conversion - Less than 60m2 Full Cost Recovery £803.80 per application £885.00

Building Control Loft conversion - Subtract If built with an extension Full Cost Recovery £114.90 per application £126.50

Building Control Other - For dormer window(s) added to existing loft room Full Cost Recovery £344.50 per application £379.30

Building Control Other - Any development including a basement extension Full Cost Recovery Quote on request per application Quote on request

Building Control Formation of each new WC / shower room / bathroom / kitchen / utility room Full Cost Recovery £229.70 per application £252.90

Building Control OR controllable alterations each existing WC / shower room / bathroom / kitchen / utility room Full Cost Recovery £229.70 per application £252.90

Building Control Removal of chimney breast(s) Full Cost Recovery £229.70 per application £252.90

Building Control Formation of each simple structural opening in a wall.  e.g. a simple through lounge Full Cost Recovery £229.70 per application £252.90

Building Control Formation of structural opening in a wall requiring new foundations, piers, columns etc. Full Cost Recovery £344.50 per application £379.30

Building Control OR installation of a beam combination to form an open plan arrangement Full Cost Recovery £344.50 per application £379.30

Building Control
Replacement of roof weathering (not structure) - flat or pitched for each dwelling or block of flats 

including insulation
Full Cost Recovery £229.70 per application £252.90

Building Control Replacement or installation of insulated ground floor (for each 50m2 or part) Full Cost Recovery £229.70 per application £252.90

Building Control
Window / roof light installation or replacement – for the first five. Any additional window(s) / roof 

light(s) installation or replacement at discounted rate.
Full Cost Recovery £229.70 per application £252.90

Building Control
Re-plastering or re-rendering to external wall of a room including insulation where more than 25% of 

surface
Full Cost Recovery £229.70 per application £252.90

Building Control Underpinning for every 5m run or part Full Cost Recovery £344.50 per application £379.30

Building Control Discounted Rate - Formation of each new WC / shower room / bathroom / kitchen / utility room Full Cost Recovery £114.90 per application £126.50

Building Control
Discounted Rate - OR controllable alterations each existing WC / shower room / bathroom / kitchen 

/ utility room
Full Cost Recovery £114.90 per application £126.50

Building Control Discounted Rate - Removal of chimney breast(s) Full Cost Recovery £114.90 per application £126.50

Building Control
Discounted Rate - Formation of each simple structural opening in a wall.  e.g. a simple through 

lounge 
Full Cost Recovery £114.90 per application £126.50

Building Control
Discounted Rate - Formation of structural opening in a wall requiring new foundations, piers, 

columns etc.
Full Cost Recovery £229.70 per application £252.90

Building Control Discounted Rate - OR installation of a beam combination to form an open plan arrangement Full Cost Recovery £229.70 per application £252.90

Building Control
Discounted Rate - Replacement of roof weathering (not structure) - flat or pitched for each dwelling 

or block of flats including insulation
Full Cost Recovery £114.90 per application £126.50

Building Control Discounted Rate - Replacement or installation of insulated ground floor (for each 50m2 or part) Full Cost Recovery £114.90 per application £126.50

Building Control
Discounted Rate - Window / roof light installation or replacement – for the first five. Any additional 

window(s) / roof light(s) installation or replacement at discounted rate.
Full Cost Recovery £57.40 per application £63.20

Building Control
Discounted Rate - Re-plastering or re-rendering to external wall of a room including insulation where 

more than 25% of surface
Full Cost Recovery £114.90 per application £126.50

Building Control Discounted Rate - Underpinning for every 5m run or part Full Cost Recovery £114.90 per application £126.50

Building Control Electrical installation to a dwelling NOT carried out by a ‘competent person’ (a Part P electrician) Full Cost Recovery £275.60 per application £303.40

Building Control Gas installation to a dwelling NOT carried out by a ‘competent person’ (a Gas Safe installer) Full Cost Recovery £143.10 per application £157.60

Building Control Any other building work not shown in any other section – please contact us to obtain a quotation Full Cost Recovery Quote on request per application Quote on request

Building Control Attached garage into habitable use Full Cost Recovery £459.30 per application £505.70

Building Control Attached conservatory into habitable use Full Cost Recovery £574.20 per application £632.20

Building Control Conversion of building into one dwelling Full Cost Recovery Quote on request per application Quote on request

Building Control Conversion of one flat or building into two dwellings Full Cost Recovery £574.20 per application £632.20

Page 25 of 31

Page 127



Appendix 3 - 2023/24 Draft Fees and Charges Schedule

2023/24 FEES & CHARGES SCHEDULE

 2022/23 Updated 

Charges 

 2023/24 Proposed 

Charge 

 £  £ 

(a) (b) (c)  (d)  (e)  (f) 

 Charge basis (e.g. per 

hour, per day etc) 
Service Description of Fee/Charge Charging Policy

Building Control Each additional dwelling within a building Full Cost Recovery £229.70 per application £252.90

Building Control 1 new house (without a basement) Full Cost Recovery £918.70 per application £1,011.50

Building Control Additional houses or one with basement Full Cost Recovery Quote on request per application Quote on request

Building Control Erection of flats up to 2 flats Full Cost Recovery £918.70 per application £1,011.50

Building Control Additional flats Full Cost Recovery Quote on request per application Quote on request

Building Control Shops & offices - Less than 40m2 Full Cost Recovery £689.00 per application £758.60

Building Control Shops & offices - Between 40m2 & 60m2 Full Cost Recovery £803.80 per application £885.00

Building Control Shops & offices - Between 60m2 & 100m2 Full Cost Recovery £918.70 per application £1,011.50

Building Control Shops & offices - Over 100m2 but cost not over £150,000 Full Cost Recovery £1,033.50 per application £1,137.90

Building Control Residential (hotel, hostel, institution…) - Less than 40m2 Full Cost Recovery £918.70 per application £1,011.50

Building Control Residential (hotel, hostel, institution…) - Between 40m2 & 60m2 Full Cost Recovery £1,033.50 per application £1,137.90

Building Control Residential (hotel, hostel, institution…) - Between 60m2 & 100m2 Full Cost Recovery £1,148.30 per application £1,264.30

Building Control Residential (hotel, hostel, institution…) - Over 100m2 but cost not over £150,000 Full Cost Recovery £1,263.20 per application £1,390.80

Building Control Assembly & recreation (school, cinema, hospital…) - Less than 40m2 Full Cost Recovery £1,033.50 per application £1,137.90

Building Control Assembly & recreation (school, cinema, hospital…) - Between 40m2 & 60m2 Full Cost Recovery £1,148.30 per application £1,264.30

Building Control Assembly & recreation (school, cinema, hospital…) - Between 60m2 & 100m2 Full Cost Recovery £1,263.20 per application £1,390.80

Building Control Assembly & recreation (school, cinema, hospital…) - Over 100m2 but cost not over £150,000 Full Cost Recovery £1,378.00 per application £1,517.20

Building Control Industrial & storage (factory, warehouse…) - Less than 40m2 Full Cost Recovery £803.80 per application £885.00

Building Control Industrial & storage (factory, warehouse…) - Between 40m2 & 60m2 Full Cost Recovery £918.70 per application £1,011.50

Building Control Industrial & storage (factory, warehouse…) - Between 60m2 & 100m2 Full Cost Recovery £1,033.50 per application £1,137.90

Building Control Industrial & storage (factory, warehouse…) - Over 100m2 but cost not over £150,000 Full Cost Recovery £1,148.30 per application £1,264.30

Building Control All other use types - Less than 40m2 Full Cost Recovery £918.70 per application £1,011.50

Building Control All other use types - Between 40m2 & 60m2 Full Cost Recovery £1,033.50 per application £1,137.90

Building Control All other use types - Between 60m2 & 100m2 Full Cost Recovery £1,148.30 per application £1,264.30

Building Control All other use types - Over 100m2 but cost not over £150,000 Full Cost Recovery £1,263.20 per application £1,390.80

Building Control Any development including a basement extension Full Cost Recovery Quote on request per application Quote on request

Building Control

Non-domestic buildings - General internal fitting out works – including partitioning, emergency 

lighting, smoke detection, suspended ceilings, fire door replacements etc. For each 50 m2 floor 

area or part.

Full Cost Recovery £229.70 per application £252.90

Building Control Non-domestic buildings - Drainage installation e.g.) formation of WC’s / kitchen Full Cost Recovery £229.70 per application £252.90

Building Control Non-domestic buildings - Formation of simple structural opening in a wall Full Cost Recovery £229.70 per application £252.90

Building Control
Non-domestic buildings - Formation of structural opening in a wall requiring new foundations, piers, 

columns etc.
Full Cost Recovery £344.50 per application £379.30

Building Control Non-domestic buildings - OR installation of a beam combination Full Cost Recovery £344.50 per application £379.30

Building Control Non-domestic buildings - New shop front (up to 10m or part) Full Cost Recovery £229.70 per application £252.90

Building Control
Non-domestic buildings - Replacement roof weathering (not structure) - flat or pitched for each 500 

m2 or part
Full Cost Recovery £229.70 per application £252.90

Building Control
Non-domestic buildings - Window / roof light installation or replacement – for the first five. Any 

additional window(s) / roof light(s) installation or replacement at discounted rate.
Full Cost Recovery £229.70 per application £252.90

Page 26 of 31

Page 128



Appendix 3 - 2023/24 Draft Fees and Charges Schedule

2023/24 FEES & CHARGES SCHEDULE

 2022/23 Updated 

Charges 

 2023/24 Proposed 

Charge 

 £  £ 

(a) (b) (c)  (d)  (e)  (f) 

 Charge basis (e.g. per 

hour, per day etc) 
Service Description of Fee/Charge Charging Policy

Building Control Non-domestic buildings - Underpinning for each 5m run in wall length or part Full Cost Recovery £344.50 per application £379.30

Building Control

Discounted - Non-domestic buildings - General internal fitting out works – including partitioning, 

emergency lighting, smoke detection, suspended ceilings, fire door replacements etc. For each 50 

m2 floor area or part.

Full Cost Recovery £114.90 per application £126.50

Building Control Discounted - Non-domestic buildings - Drainage installation e.g.) formation of WC’s / kitchen Full Cost Recovery £114.90 per application £126.50

Building Control Discounted - Non-domestic buildings - Formation of simple structural opening in a wall Full Cost Recovery £114.90 per application £126.50

Building Control
Discounted - Non-domestic buildings - Formation of structural opening in a wall requiring new 

foundations, piers, columns etc.
Full Cost Recovery £229.70 per application £252.90

Building Control Discounted - Non-domestic buildings - OR installation of a beam combination Full Cost Recovery £229.70 per application £252.90

Building Control Discounted - Non-domestic buildings - New shop front (up to 10m or part) Full Cost Recovery £114.90 per application £126.50

Building Control
Discounted - Non-domestic buildings - Replacement roof weathering (not structure) - flat or pitched 

for each 500 m2 or part
Full Cost Recovery £114.90 per application £126.50

Building Control
Discounted - Non-domestic buildings - Window / roof light installation or replacement – for the first 

five. Any additional window(s) / roof light(s) installation or replacement at discounted rate.
Full Cost Recovery £57.40 per application £63.20

Building Control Discounted - Non-domestic buildings - Underpinning for each 5m run in wall length or part Full Cost Recovery £229.70 per application £252.90

Building Control Non-domestic buildings - New mezzanine floor for each 500 m2 floor area or part Full Cost Recovery £459.30 per application £505.70

Building Control
Non-domestic buildings - Any other building work not shown in any other section – please contact us 

to obtain a quotation
Full Cost Recovery Quote on request per application Quote on request

Land Charges

Local Land Search Land Charge register search Full Cost Recovery £35.00 per local land search £40.00

Local Land Search Land Charge register search per additional parcel of land Full Cost Recovery £6.00
per additional parcel of 

land searched
£6.00

Local Land Search Answers to the CON29R form “Enquiries of local authorities” - Standard enquiry (one parcel of land) Full Cost Recovery £105.00 per standard enquiry £105.00

Local Land Search Answers to the CON29O form “Enquiries of local authorities” - optional enquiry (each) Full Cost Recovery £15.00 per additional enquiry £15.00

Local Land Search Answers to the CON29 form “Enquiries of local authorities” - additional parcel of land (each) Full Cost Recovery £12.50
per additional parcel of 

land searched
£12.50

Local Land Search Personal Search of Local Land Charges Register Only Free Free per search Free

Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO)

Private Property Licensing
Licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation (Mandatory and Additional) - New and Renewal (fixed 

Fee plus charge per room) (licence for 5 years)
Full Cost Recovery £1,100.00 per property licence

Replaced with new 

charging structure

Private Property Licensing Full Cost Recovery £30.00 per room
Replaced with new 

charging structure

Private Property Licensing Licensing of Private Housing (Non-HMOs)  Selective Licence for 5 years Full Cost Recovery £500.00 per property per licence
Replaced with new 

charging structure

Private Property Licensing
Licensing of Private Housing (Non-HMOs)  Selective Licence for 5 years (Block or Multiple Flat 

application)
Full Cost Recovery £450.00 per property per licence

Replaced with new 

charging structure

Private Property Licensing Full Cost Recovery per property licence £1,300.00

Private Property Licensing Full Cost Recovery per habitable room £50.00

Private Property Licensing
Private Rented Property Licensing Schemes - Selective Licence.  New and Renewal.  Standard Fee 

(Max 5 Year Licence)
Full Cost Recovery per property per licence £750.00

Private Property Licensing
Private Rented Property Licensing Schemes - Selective Licence (Building Containing Self-

Contained Flats).  New and Renewal.  Standard Fee (Max 5 Year Licence)
Full Cost Recovery per flat £675.00

Private Property Licensing
Private Rented Property Licensing Schemes - Additional Charges (For All Schemes) - Applicants 

who are sent two warning letters
Full Cost Recovery

Application fee plus 

£25% additional late 

application fee

Private Rented Property Licensing Schemes - Additional Houses of Multiple Occupation Licence.  

New and Renewal. Fixed fee plus additional charge per habitable room  (Max 5 year licence)

Page 27 of 31

Page 129



Appendix 3 - 2023/24 Draft Fees and Charges Schedule

2023/24 FEES & CHARGES SCHEDULE

 2022/23 Updated 

Charges 

 2023/24 Proposed 

Charge 

 £  £ 

(a) (b) (c)  (d)  (e)  (f) 

 Charge basis (e.g. per 

hour, per day etc) 
Service Description of Fee/Charge Charging Policy

Private Property Licensing

Private Rented Property Licensing Schemes - Additional Charges (For All Schemes) - Applications 

submitted in paper form

(excluding Selective Licensing (Building containing self contained flats)

Full Cost Recovery
Application fee plus an 

additional £100

Private Property Licensing
Private Rented Property Licensing Schemes - Additional Charges (For All Schemes) - Council 

assistance to complete an application form
Full Cost Recovery

Application fee plus an 

additional £50

Private Property Licensing
Private Rented Property Licensing Schemes - Additional Charges for Selective Licence (Building 

Containing Serf-Contained Flats) - Applicants who are sent a warning letter
Full Cost Recovery per flat £750.00

Private Property Licensing
Private Rented Property Licensing Schemes - Additional Charges for Selective Licence (Building 

Containing Serf-Contained Flats) - Applicants who are sent two warning letters
Full Cost Recovery per flat £937.50

Private Property Licensing

Private Rented Property Licensing Schemes - Licence Variation Fees Applicable (For All Schemes) - 

Increase in the number of occupiers and/or households, through increasing the number of habitable 

rooms.

Full Cost Recovery
per additional habitable 

room
£50.00

Private Property Licensing
Private Rented Property Licensing Schemes - Licence Variation Fees Applicable (For All Schemes) - 

Change of Liceense Holder's Address
Full Cost Recovery £0.00

Private Property Licensing
Private Rented Property Licensing Schemes - Licence Variation Fees Applicable (For All Schemes) - 

Change of Manager's Address
Full Cost Recovery £0.00

Private Property Licensing
Private Rented Property Licensing Schemes - Licence Variation Fees Applicable (For All Schemes) - 

Change/ Appointment of Manager
Full Cost Recovery £0.00

Private Property Licensing
Private Rented Property Licensing Schemes - Licence Variation Fees Applicable (For All Schemes) - 

Change of Name (marriage/ divorce/ deed poll)
Full Cost Recovery £0.00

Private Property Licensing
Private Rented Property Licensing Schemes - Licence Variation Fees Applicable (For All Schemes) - 

Change in Amenities
Full Cost Recovery £0.00

Private Property Licensing
Private Rented Property Licensing Schemes - Other Fees and Charges Applicable (For All 

Schemes) - Revocation of Licence
Full Cost Recovery £0.00

Private Property Licensing
Private Rented Property Licensing Schemes - Other Fees and Charges Applicable (For All 

Schemes) - Application to licence following revocation of licence
Full Cost Recovery See lines ** to ** above

Private Property Licensing
Private Rented Property Licensing Schemes - Other Fees and Charges Applicable (For All 

Schemes) - Application refused or rejected by the council
Full Cost Recovery First Installment

Private Property Licensing
Private Rented Property Licensing Schemes - Other Fees and Charges Applicable (For All 

Schemes) - Application withdrawn by the applicant.
Full Cost Recovery First Installment

Private Property Licensing
Private Rented Property Licensing Schemes - Other Fees and Charges Applicable (For All 

Schemes) - Temporary Exemption Notice (TEN) made by the council
Full Cost Recovery £1.00

Private Property Licensing

Private Rented Property Licensing Schemes - Other Fees and Charges Applicable (For All 

Schemes) - Application received following the expiry of a Temporary Exemption Notice (TEN) made 

by the council

Full Cost Recovery See lines ** to ** above

Planning and Environment Enforcement

Pollution Enforcement and 

Control
Contaminated Land Searches - commercial site Full Cost Recovery £94.00 per site search £103.50

Pollution Enforcement and 

Control
Contaminated Land Searches - residential site Full Cost Recovery £66.00 per site search £72.70

Pollution Enforcement and 

Control
Pollution Permit Control (Environmental Protection Act) Registrations Statutory £78 - £1,747 per permit £78 - £1,747

Transport Planning

Transport Planning Collision Data Full Cost Recovery £103.90 per data request £114.40

Transport Planning Traffic Count Data - Turning counts Full Cost Recovery £197.40 per data request £217.30

Transport Planning Traffic Count Data - ATCs Full Cost Recovery £109.10 per data request £120.10

Transport Planning Traffic Count Data - Ped counts Full Cost Recovery £176.70 per data request £194.50

Transport Planning Highway and Road Adoption Enquiries Full Cost Recovery £129.90 per data request £143.00

CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Finance and Customer Services
Customer and Transactional Services

Registrars

Registrars Approval for worship Statutory £29.00 Per transaction £29.00

Registrars Approval for worship - advertising Statutory £128.00 Per transaction £128.00

Registrars Attendance Registered Building Statutory £150.00 Per transaction £150.00

Registrars Birth/Death Certificate Fees (Superintendent Archived ) Statutory £11.00 Per transaction £11.00

Registrars Birth/Death Certificate Fees (Registrar Archived) Statutory £11.00 Per transaction £11.00

Registrars Birth/Death Certificate Fees (Registrar Current) Statutory £11.00 Per transaction £11.00

Registrars Citizenship Group Statutory £80.00 Per transaction £80.00

Registrars General Search Fee Statutory £18.00 Per transaction £18.00

Registrars Notice of Marriage / CP Statutory £35.00 Per transaction £35.00

Registrars Notice of Marriage / CP Statutory £47.00 Per transaction £47.00

Registrars Admin Fee for Notices Full Cost Recovery £5.00 Per transaction £6.00

Page 28 of 31

Page 130



Appendix 3 - 2023/24 Draft Fees and Charges Schedule

2023/24 FEES & CHARGES SCHEDULE

 2022/23 Updated 

Charges 

 2023/24 Proposed 

Charge 

 £  £ 

(a) (b) (c)  (d)  (e)  (f) 

 Charge basis (e.g. per 

hour, per day etc) 
Service Description of Fee/Charge Charging Policy

Registrars Approval for Civil Ceremony Full Cost Recovery £825.00 Per transaction £908.00

Registrars Approved  Wedding  Fees (Mon-Thur) Full Cost Recovery £425.00 Per transaction £468.00

Registrars Approved  Wedding  Fees (Fri) Full Cost Recovery £475.00 Per transaction £523.00

Registrars Approved  Wedding  Fees (Sat) Full Cost Recovery £500.00 Per transaction £551.00

Registrars Approved  Wedding  Fees (Sun) Full Cost Recovery £625.00 Per transaction £688.00

Registrars Naming Ceremonies (Mon-Thur) Full Cost Recovery £195.00 Per transaction £215.00

Registrars Naming Ceremonies (Fri) Full Cost Recovery £225.00 Per transaction £248.00

Registrars Naming Ceremonies (Sat) Full Cost Recovery £310.00 Per transaction £341.00

Registrars Naming Ceremonies (Sun) Full Cost Recovery £395.00 Per transaction £435.00

Registrars Amendment Fee - Appointment Full Cost Recovery £15.00 Per transaction £17.00

Registrars Amendment Fee - Appointment Full Cost Recovery £35.00 Per transaction £39.00

Registrars Priority Cert Full Cost Recovery £15.00 Per transaction £17.00

Registrars Priority Cert - 1 hour Full Cost Recovery £25.00 Per transaction £28.00

Registrars Admin Fee for certificate Full Cost Recovery £5.00 Per transaction £6.00

Registrars Private Citizenship Ceremony Full Cost Recovery £140.00 Per transaction £154.00

Registrars Private Citizenship Ceremony Saturday Full Cost Recovery £175.00 Per transaction £193.00

Registrars Renewal of vows (Mon-Thur) Full Cost Recovery £195.00 Per transaction £215.00

Registrars Renewal of vows (Fri) Full Cost Recovery £225.00 Per transaction £248.00

Registrars Renewal of vows (Sat) Full Cost Recovery £310.00 Per transaction £341.00

Registrars Renewal of vows (Sun) Full Cost Recovery £395.00 Per transaction £435.00

Registrars Wedding /CP   Fees (Mon-Thur) Full Cost Recovery £195.00 Per transaction £215.00

Registrars Wedding /CP   Fees (Fri) Full Cost Recovery £225.00 Per transaction £248.00

Registrars Wedding /CP   Fees (Sat) Full Cost Recovery £310.00 Per transaction £341.00

Registrars Wedding /CP   Fees (Sun) Full Cost Recovery £395.00 Per transaction £435.00

Registrars Wedding /CP   Fees (Housebound) Statutory £195.00 Per transaction £195.00

Registrars Change of Name Deed Full Cost Recovery £65.00 Per transaction £72.00

Registrars Correction - Local Statutory £75.00 Per transaction £75.00

Registrars Correction - GRO Statutory £32.00 Per transaction £32.00

Registrars Foreign Divorce - Local Statutory £50.00 Per transaction £50.00

Registrars Foreign Divorce - GRO Statutory £28.00 Per transaction £28.00

Registrars Forename- Space 17 Statutory £40.00 Per transaction £40.00

Registrars Assisted NCS Applications Full Cost Recovery Quote on request Quote on request

Registrars Assisted SCS Applications Full Cost Recovery Quote on request Quote on request

Registrars Immigration Consultation Full Cost Recovery £61.90 per hour £68.00

Registrars Assisted EPRS Applications Full Cost Recovery £23.20 per hour £26.00

Registrars Visa Applications Full Cost Recovery Quote on request per hour Quote on request

Transactional Services

Court Costs Council Tax Court Summons (incl court fee) Statutory £113.50 Per Summons £113.50

Court Costs Council Tax Liability Order Statutory £9.00 Per Liability Order £9.00

Court Costs Business Rates Court Summons (incl court fee) Statutory £147.50 Per Summons £147.50

Court Costs Business Rates Liability Order Statutory £23.00 Per Liability Order £23.00

Internal Audit

Internal Audit Schools Internal Audit Full Cost Recovery £516.00 Flat Fee Per School £516.00

ICT and Property Services

ICT

ICT Street Naming Full Cost Recovery £400.40 Per street £440.80

ICT Building Naming Full Cost Recovery £285.90 Per building £314.80

ICT Property Naming and Numbering Full Cost Recovery £171.30 Per property £188.60

Property Services

Greenford Hire of Halls - Greenford Hall (mid-week hourly rate) Full Cost Recovery £190.00 per hour £210.00

Greenford Hire of Halls - Greenford Hall (community hourly rate) Subsidised £95.00 per hour £105.00

Greenford Hire of Halls - Greenford Hall (peak hourly rate) Full Cost Recovery £365.00 per hour £400.00

Greenford Hire of Halls - Greenford Hall (additional time hourly rate after 12am) Full Cost Recovery £415.00 per hour £455.00

Page 29 of 31

Page 131



Appendix 3 - 2023/24 Draft Fees and Charges Schedule

2023/24 FEES & CHARGES SCHEDULE

 2022/23 Updated 

Charges 

 2023/24 Proposed 

Charge 

 £  £ 

(a) (b) (c)  (d)  (e)  (f) 

 Charge basis (e.g. per 

hour, per day etc) 
Service Description of Fee/Charge Charging Policy

Greenford Hire of Halls - Greenford Hall (hospitality package rate) - commercial Full Cost Recovery £2,825.00 per package £3,110.00

Greenford Hire of Halls - Greenford Hall (hospitality package rate) - community Full Cost Recovery £1,300.00 per package £1,430.00

Greenford Hire of Halls - Greenford Hall - Ruislip / Ravenor meeting rooms (community rate 9am - 5pm) Subsidised £18.00 per hour £20.00

Greenford
Hire of Halls - Greenford Hall - Ruislip / Ravenor meeting rooms (peak hourly rate 9am - 5pm, Sat, 

Sun & Bank Hols)
Subsidised £33.00 per hour £36.00

Greenford Hire of Halls - Greenford Hall - Ruislip / Ravenor meeting rooms (mid-week hourly rate 5pm - 12am) Subsidised £28.50 per hour £31.50

Greenford
Hire of Halls - Greenford Hall - Ruislip / Ravenor meeting rooms (peak hourly rate 5pm - 12am, Sat, 

Sun & Bank Hols)
Subsidised £57.00 per hour £63.00

CCTV Search Fee for CCTV recording Full Cost Recovery £105.00 Per search £115.60

Legal and Democratic Services

Democratic Services

Democratic Services Sale of Electoral Register Statutory £641.50 per register £641.50

Legal Services

Legal Service to Schools Charge to school for lawyer time (per hour) - Director/Head of Legal/Principal Lawyer Full Cost Recovery £117.00 per hour £128.82

Legal Service to Schools Charge to school for lawyer time (per hour)  - Senior Lawyer Full Cost Recovery £108.00 per hour £118.91

Legal Service to Schools Charge to school for lawyer time (per hour)  - Contract Lawyer Full Cost Recovery £96.00 per hour £105.70

Legal Service to Schools Charge to school for lawyer time (per hour)  - Lawyer Full Cost Recovery £88.00 per hour £96.89

Legal Service to Schools Charge to school for lawyer time (per hour) - Paralegal Full Cost Recovery £45.00 per hour £49.55

Legal Service to Schools Charge to school for lawyer time (per hour) - Legal Assistant Full Cost Recovery £36.10 per hour No longer Offered

Legal Service to Schools Charge to school for lawyer time (per hour) - Student Full Cost Recovery £23.00 per hour £25.32

Human Resources (HR)

HR Core HR provide HR consultancy services to schools, at a fixed rate per employee. Full Cost Recovery £74.00 per employee £77.00

HR Core HR provide HR consultancy services to HIGH schools, at a fixed rate per employee. Full Cost Recovery £68.00 per employee £71.00

Payroll Recharges to Schools for Payroll  (1 year option) - stand alone Full Cost Recovery £40.00 per employee £42.00

Payroll Recharges to Schools for Payroll  (1 year option) Full Cost Recovery £37.50 per employee £39.00

Occupational Health Recharges to Schools for OHU  (1 year option) Full Cost Recovery £44.00 per employee £39.50

HR Full Recruitment and HR Admin, pre employment checks inclusive (1 year option) Full Cost Recovery £46.00 per employee £48.00

HR
Full Recruitment and HR Admin, without checking and uploading of pre employment checks (1 year 

option)
Full Cost Recovery £35.00 per employee £37.00

Payroll Emergency Payment Facility (per payment) Full Cost Recovery £26.50 per payment £27.50

Payroll HMRC Compliance Advice Service per status check Full Cost Recovery £27.00 per payment £28.00

DBS Checks DBS enhanced check (as part of Core Services) Full Cost Recovery £53.00 per check £55.00

DBS Checks Section 128 Checks Full Cost Recovery £7.50 per check £8.00

DBS Checks DBS enhanced check (stand alone) Full Cost Recovery £74.50 per check £77.50

DBS Checks DBS volunteer check (as part of Core Services) Full Cost Recovery £12.00 per check £12.50

DBS Checks DBS volunteer check (stand alone) Full Cost Recovery £21.50 per check £22.50

HR Certificate of Sponsorship (not applicable for Academies) (Stand alone) Full Cost Recovery £263.00 per employee £250.00

HR Advertising on Council website per job advert Full Cost Recovery £180.00 per advert No longer Offered

HR Advert Adjustments e.g. changes, extensions – standalone Full Cost Recovery £26.00 per advert No longer Offered

HR Advertising on Council website per job advert - External Full Cost Recovery £271.50 per advert No longer Offered

HR Advertising on Ealing Council's job website - Schools who buy Option 1 HR Administration free

HR Schools who buy Option 2 HR Administration £25.00

HR Schools who do not buy into HR Administration but buy in to Ealing Learning Partnership £102.00

HR Schools that do not buy either HR Administration or ELP £187.00

HR Pensions Administration (compulsory charge for all schools) £12.00

Payroll Redundancy Estimate (for schools not buying into Ealing Payroll services) Full Cost Recovery £22.00 per estimate £23.00

Payroll Redundancy and Pension Benefit Entitlement (for schools not buying into Ealing Payroll Services) Full Cost Recovery £44.50 per advert £46.50

Payroll Teachers Redundancy Estimate (for schools not buying into Ealing Payroll services) Full Cost Recovery £21.70 per estimate £23.00

Payroll
Teachers Redundancy and Pension Benefit Entitlement (for schools not buying into Ealing Payroll 

Services)
Full Cost Recovery £44.50 per estimate £46.50

Strategy & Engagement

Film Unit
Charges vary for filming at different locations in the Borough.  Charges also depend on number of 

crew, hours, location and day/night time
Full Cost Recovery Quote on request Per Quote Quote on request

Advertising Advertisements in Around Ealing Magazine (full page) Full Cost Recovery £1,742.00 Per Page £1,917.90

Advertising Advertisements in Around Ealing Magazine (inside front cover) Full Cost Recovery £1,900.30 Per Page £2,092.20

Advertising Advertisements in Around Ealing Magazine (back cover) Full Cost Recovery £2,005.90 Per Page £2,208.50

Advertising Advertisements in Around Ealing Magazine (half page) Full Cost Recovery £950.20 Per Page £1,046.20

Advertising Advertisements in Around Ealing Magazine (quarter page) Full Cost Recovery £527.90 Per Page £581.20

Advertising Advertisements in Around Ealing Magazine (inserts page) Full Cost Recovery £2,913.90 Per Page £3,208.20

Advertising Charge to advertsise on council website single space 20,000 impressions Full Cost Recovery £168.90 Per impression £186.00

Advertising Charge to advertsise on council website single space 25,000 impressions Full Cost Recovery £200.60 Per impression £220.90

Page 30 of 31

Page 132



Appendix 3 - 2023/24 Draft Fees and Charges Schedule

2023/24 FEES & CHARGES SCHEDULE

 2022/23 Updated 

Charges 

 2023/24 Proposed 

Charge 

 £  £ 

(a) (b) (c)  (d)  (e)  (f) 

 Charge basis (e.g. per 

hour, per day etc) 
Service Description of Fee/Charge Charging Policy

Advertising Charge to advertsise on council website single space 50,000 impressions Full Cost Recovery £380.10 Per impression £418.50

Advertising Charge to advertsise on council website single space 75,000 impressions Full Cost Recovery £538.40 Per impression £592.80

Advertising Charge to advertsise on council website single space 100,000 impressions Full Cost Recovery £675.70 Per impression £743.90

Advertising Charge to advertsise on council website single space 150,000 impressions Full Cost Recovery £950.20 Per impression £1,046.20

Advertising Charge to advertsise on council website double space 20,000 impressions Full Cost Recovery £211.10 Per impression £232.40

Advertising Charge to advertsise on council website double space 25,000 impressions Full Cost Recovery £263.90 Per impression £290.60

Advertising Charge to advertsise on council website double space 50,000 impressions Full Cost Recovery £485.70 Per impression £534.80

Advertising Charge to advertsise on council website double space 75,000 impressions Full Cost Recovery £717.90 Per impression £790.40

Advertising Charge to advertsise on council website double space 150,000 impressions Full Cost Recovery £834.00 Per impression £918.20

Advertising Charge to advertsise on council website double space 100,000 impressions Full Cost Recovery £1,108.50 Per impression £1,220.50

Page 31 of 31

Page 133



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 17 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 4 
  

 

Proposed Change to Ealing Council’s 

Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

Effective April 2023 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

September 2022 
 
 

 

 

Page 135



Page 2 of 17 

 

 

Contents 

1. Introduction to the Council Tax Reduction Scheme ............................................. 3 

2. Glossary of Terms ............................................................................................... 4 

3. Applications ......................................................................................................... 7 

4. Evidence and Information .................................................................................... 8 

5. Classes of Persons Within the Scheme .............................................................. 9 

6. Income .............................................................................................................. 11 

7. Non-Dependants ............................................................................................... 13 

8. Students ............................................................................................................ 13 

9. Extended reductions .......................................................................................... 13 

10. Calculating Council Tax Reduction .................................................................. 13 

11. Minimum Council Tax Reduction ..................................................................... 15 

12. Transitional Capping ........................................................................................ 15 

13. Temporary absence ........................................................................................ 15 

14. Date on Which Awards Begin .......................................................................... 15 

15. Decisions ......................................................................................................... 16 

16. Overpayments .................................................................................................. 16 

17. Appeals ........................................................................................................... 17 

18. Discretionary Reductions................................................................................. 17 

19. Uprating ........................................................................................................... 17 

Page 136



Page 3 of 17 

 

 

1. Introduction to the Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

Council Tax Benefit, a national scheme, was abolished by the Government in April 

2013. 

From this time, local authorities in England have been required to operate their own 

scheme, subject to the Council Tax Reduction Schemes (prescribed requirements) 

(England) Regulations 2012 (SI 2885) which prescribes elements that must be 

included within a local reduction scheme. 

Persons of pension age must be protected by local Authorities and receive no less 

Benefit than they received under the Council Tax Benefit scheme. 

The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) 

Regulations 2012 as amended prescribe a number of matters which must be 

included in a scheme and this scheme is to be interpreted and applied in accordance 

with those regulations. The council has based its Local Council Tax Reduction 

Scheme for working age persons on The Council Tax reduction schemes (Default 

scheme) England regulations 2012 SI 2886 but has replaced the calculation 

methodology with one of its own. 

The Ealing Council Tax Support scheme and amendments between 2013 and 2019 

have been based around the original Council Tax Benefit regulations due to the 

continued administration of Housing Benefit within Local Authorities which duplicates 

much of the original Council Tax Benefit regulations. 

The gradual introduction of Universal Credit across the United Kingdom, which 

replaces Housing Benefit has meant that the Council is administering fewer and 

fewer Housing Benefit cases. 

This has allowed the Council to move away from the old system based on needs 

allowances and tapers and move to a simpler and more streamlined system of 

support. 

The new scheme is based on income bands and it will greatly reduce the number of 

recalculations required if a change in the applicant’s income does not result in them 

moving to a different income band. 

Non-dependant deductions are still applied within the scheme, but the number of 

bands have been reduced to three. 

The change to a banded scheme will inevitably result in some significant changes to 

entitlement. To reduce the potential impacts of this, transitional capping has been 

introduced for the years 2020/2021 and 2021/22. No applicant will see a change of 

more than £2 per week to their reduction. 

The transitional cap will stop as soon as the customer’s underlying entitlement to 

CTR is less than £2 per week, i.e. customer entitled to £1.99 per week under the 

rules of the local scheme cannot have a Transition Cap so they will not quality for a 

reduction. 

Page 137

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2885/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2885/contents/made


Page 4 of 17 

 

 

2. Glossary of Terms 
 

Term Definition 

1992 Act The Local Government Finance Act 
1992 

AFIP Armed Forces Independence Payment 

All classes Classes A to E pension and working 
age 

Affected person The applicant, official appointed to act 
for the applicant or person agreed to act 
for the applicant by the council 

Applicant A person applying for Council Tax 
Reduction (CTR) 

Application An application for CTR made in the 
approved manner 

Assessment period The applicant’s income is assessed 

Authority (local) Ealing council 

Backdating Requests by a CTR applicant for the 
commencement of a claim to begin prior 
to the application date 

Banded scheme The calculation of Council Tax 
Reduction for working age applicants by 
the use of income bands 

Capital Money or other assets singly or jointly 
held by a person 

Child A person under the age of 16 

Circumstances in which a person is to 
be treated as responsible or not for 
another 

As defined by regulation 7 of the 
prescribed scheme 

Council The London Borough of Ealing 

Council Tax Payer Person liable to pay Council Tax on a 
dwelling 

Couple As defined by regulation 4 of the 
prescribed scheme regulations 

CTS Ealing Council’s Council Tax Support 
scheme 

CTR Ealing Council’s Council Tax Reduction 
scheme 

Default regulations The Council Tax Reduction Schemes 
(Default scheme) England regulations 
2012 SI 2886/2012 (as amended) 

Designated office Ealing Council may select one or more 
offices as its designated office for 
written Council Tax Reduction claims 
and notification of changes including but 
not limited to Ealing’s Benefit office, 
offices of the DWP, or the office of a 
hostel or social landlord. 

Page 138



Page 5 of 17 

 

 

Term Definition 

Dispute A state where a CTR applicant 
disagrees with the award of CTR or its 
refusal 

Dwelling As defined in Part 1 chapter 1 regulation 
3 of the 1992 act 

Earned income As defined by schedule 1 of the 
prescribed scheme regulations for 
pensioners and chapter 5 paragraphs 
51 and 53 of the default regulations 

Family As defined in Part 1 regulation 6 of the 
The Council Tax Reduction Schemes 
(Prescribed Requirements) (England) 
Regulations 2012 

General interpretation of terms in the 
scheme 

As described in The Council Tax 
Reduction Schemes (Prescribed 
Requirements) (England) Regulations 
2012 

Households As defined in by Part 1 paragraph 8 of 
The Council Tax Reduction Schemes 
(Prescribed Requirements) (England) 
Regulations 2012 

Income (taken into account) The income used for the calculation of 
any award 

Living expenses Food, ordinary clothing and footwear, 
household fuel, rent or other housing 
costs including Council Tax 

Lone Parent A person without a partner who is also 
responsible for and a member of the 
same household as a child or young 
person. 

Maximum Council Tax reduction The amount determined by the 
application of this scheme. 

Maximum liability The band used for calculation 
entitlement to CTR after any Council 
Tax discounts or band reductions under 
the 1992 Act 

Non-dependant Any member of the applicant’s 
household who is not the applicant’s 
partner, dependent child or tenant 

Non-dependant deduction An amount deducted from any CTR 
award 

Overpayment Any amount of CTR to which there is no 
entitlement to under then scheme 

Passported Benefits Income Support, Job Seekers 
Allowance (income based), Employment 

 

Page 139

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2885/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2885/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2885/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2885/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2885/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2885/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2885/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2885/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2885/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2885/contents/made


Page 6 of 17 

 

 

Term Definition 

 and Support Allowance (income related) 
and Pension Credit (guarantee credit) 

Pension Age/ Pensioner As defined by Part 1 regulation 3(a) The 
Council Tax Reduction Schemes 
(Prescribed Requirements) (England) 
Regulations 2012 
Generally, someone who has reached 
the qualifying age for state pension 
credit 

Prescribed requirements CTR schemes (prescribed 
requirements) England) Regulations 
2012 SI 2885 2012 (and as amended) 

Qualifying person As defined in regulation 2 of the 
prescribed scheme 

Remunerative work As defined by the The Council Tax 
Reduction Schemes (Prescribed 
Requirements) (England) Regulations 
2012 

Polygamous marriage 
 
  

As defined in part 1 regulation 5 of The 
Council Tax Reduction Schemes 
(Prescribed Requirements) Regulations 
2012 

Single applicant A person who does not have a partner 
nor is a lone parent 

SSCBA The Social Security Contributions and 
Benefits Act 1992 

Universal Credit As defined by section 1 of the welfare 
reform act 

Week A period of 7 days commencing on a 
Monday 

Work 
  

A person who is either employed or self 
employed 

Working Age / Non-pensioner 
 

 
 

As defined by Part 1 regulation 3(b) The 
Council Tax Reduction Schemes 
(Prescribed Requirements) (England) 
Regulations 2012 
Generally, someone who has not 
reached the qualifying age for state 
pension credit. 

Young Person A person who falls within the definition 
of qualifying young person in section 
142 of the SSCBA 

 

Page 140

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2885/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2885/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2885/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2885/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2885/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2885/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2885/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2885/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2885/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2885/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2885/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2885/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2885/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2885/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2885/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2885/contents/made


Page 7 of 17 

 

 

3. Applications 

The procedure for applications applies to all classes (pension and working age) and 

will follow the prescribed requirements 

Who may claim 

(a) In the case of a single adult that person 

(b) In the case of a couple or polygamous marriage the person agreed between 

them or if no agreement has been reached the Council will determine who the 

applicant shall be. 

(c) Where a person is unable to act, and someone has officially been appointed to 

act on their behalf, that person can apply. Where there is no official appointment the 

Council may, upon written request, appoint that person who may then claim. The 

Council will advise the appointee of their responsibilities. 

Where the Council has made an appointment, it can revoke this at any time and will 

accept resignations by appointees after 4 weeks’ notice. 

Time and manner of claiming 

Applications must be made either in writing to the Council’s designated office(s), 

electronically (in accordance with schedule 7 part 4 of the prescribed regulations and 

the council’s electronic collection of data process) through the Councils customer 

portal or by telephone to the telephone number published for the purpose. 

Where a claim has been made for Housing Benefit and the person is also liable for 

Council Tax at the same address the Housing Benefit claim will be treated as a claim 

for Council Tax Reduction. 

Defective claims 

Where an application is considered defective by the Council because 

(a) The form is incorrectly completed 

(b) It is not on an approved form 

(c)  Information and evidence requested on the form/ at the time of the telephone 

claim has not been fully provided 

The Council will inform the applicant of the defect and allow them one calendar 

month of being asked to remedy the defect. 

Withdrawal of claims 

Where the applicant does not correct defects in the claim notified to them within the 

designated timescales, and the Council has not agreed further time to remedy the 

defect, the Council will determine that the applicant no longer wishes to claim 

Council Tax Reduction. 

Page 141

https://www.ealing.gov.uk/info/201103/housing_benefit_and_council_tax_support/1666/electronic_collection_of_data


Page 8 of 17 

 

 

Where a Housing Benefit claim has been treated as a claim for Council Tax 

Reduction the applicant may withdraw their claim within 14 days of receipt of their 

Council Tax Reduction decision. 

Date of application 

The date on which a claim is made at the Council or designated office will be taken 

in accordance with schedule 8, part 2 paragraph 5 of the prescribed requirements 

and the council’s electronic collection of data process. 

4. Evidence and Information 

The requirements for evidence and information applies to pensioners and working 

age applicants. 

National Insurance numbers 

The applicant and partner (if present) are required to provide either 

(A) Their national insurance number(s) 

(B) Information to allow the Council to ascertain it 

(C) Proof that an application for a national insurance number has been 

made with evidence that would allow it to be allocated. 

This requirement shall not apply in the following circumstances: 

(a) in the case of a child or young person in respect of whom an application for a 
reduction is made; 

(b) to a person who: 

(i) is a person treated as not being in Great Britain for the purposes of these 

Regulations; 

(ii) is subject to immigration control within the meaning of section 115(9)(a) of the 

Immigration and Asylum Act 1999; and 

(iii) has not previously been allocated a national insurance number. 

Claims and questions arising 

(A) Any person making an application or who is in receipt of a reduction under the 

CTR must provide any certificates, documents, information and evidence as the 

Council may require in order to determine initial or ongoing entitlement. 

(B) Any requests made under (A) above must be fulfilled within one month of being 

asked to do so, unless the Council has agreed to an extension before the completion 

of the initial month. 

Page 142

https://www.ealing.gov.uk/info/201103/housing_benefit_and_council_tax_support/1666/electronic_collection_of_data


Page 9 of 17 

 

 

Changes of circumstances 

The applicant must, within one calendar month of a change they can reasonably 

expect to affect their entitlement, notify the Council in writing, electronically or to the 

published telephone number. 

5. Classes of Persons Within the Scheme 

Classes of persons excluded from the scheme 

The Government has prescribed those persons to be excluded from local schemes. 

This includes persons not treated as in Great Britain and persons subject to 

immigration control. These are defined within the prescribed requirements. 

Any person falling within the definition are not eligible for a reduction under the 

Ealing CTR scheme. 

Classes of persons entitled to a reduction under this scheme 

Persons of pensionable age 

The Government has described those persons considered to be of pensionable age 

within the prescribed requirements. 

Any applicant falling under the definition within the prescribed requirements, classes 

A, B and C, will have any entitlement administered in accordance with the prescribed 

requirements. 

Payments of war pensions, war disablement pensions, war widows’ pensions, war 

widower’s pensions and payments under the Armed Forces Compensation Scheme 

all payments will be disregarded. 

Working age persons only 

Class D: Working age, Non-protected persons 

The applicant and or partner must: 

• Be liable to pay Council Tax, in respect of a property within Ealing, in which 

the person is solely or mainly resident. 

• Be of working age who has not reached the qualifying age for state pension 

credit 

• Have made a claim for Council Tax Reduction 

• Not be in receipt of Pension Credit 

• Not fall within a class of person not entitled to a reduction under this scheme 

or the prescribed regulations 

• Not to have capital equal to or in excess of £6000 

• Be a person in receipt of a passported Benefit or have income (taken into 

account) of less than the weekly limit shown in band 8. 

• Not be a lone parent with a child, in their household, under 5 years of age 

Page 143



Page 10 of 17 

 

 

• Not be in receipt of a disability benefit, carers allowance, Employment and 

Support Allowance, Personal independence payment or disability living 

allowance. 

• Not be in receipt of Universal Credit which includes one of the following 

elements: limited capability for work, limited capability for work related activity, 

disabled child or carer. 

• Not be a care leaver under the age of 25 

• Not be in receipt of an Armed Forces Independence Payment 

• Not to be a carer in receipt of carers allowance or have an underlying 

entitlement to it. 

• Not be in receipt of Attendance Allowance 

Class E Working Age, Protected persons 

The applicant and or partner must: 

• Be liable to pay Council Tax, in respect of a property within Ealing, in which 

the person is solely or mainly resident. 

• Be of working age who has not reached the qualifying age for state pension 

credit 

• Have made a claim for Council Tax Reduction 

• Who does not fall within a class of person not entitled to a reduction under this 

scheme or the prescribed regulations 

• Not be in receipt of Pension Credit 

• Not have capital equal to or in excess £6000 

• Be a person in receipt of a passported benefit or income (taken into account) 

of less than the weekly limit shown in band 9. 

• Be one or more of the following: 

1 A lone parent with a child under 5 years of age 

2 In receipt of a disability benefit, carers allowance, Employment and 

Support Allowance, Personal independence payment, Attendance 

Allowance or disability living allowance 

3 In receipt of Universal Credit which includes one of the following 

elements: limited capability for work, limited capability for work related 

activity, disabled child or carer 

4 A care leaver under the age of 25 

5 In receipt of an Armed Forces Independence Payment 

6 A carer in receipt of carers allowance or have an underlying entitlement 

to it 

Page 144



Page 11 of 17 

 

 

6. Income 

For pensioners, income will be calculated in accordance with the prescribed 

requirements. 

For working age customers, earned income will be calculated in accordance with the 

default regulations. 

Where the applicant has unearned income, the following will be taken into account. 

(a) Retirement pension 

(b) Payments made towards the maintenance of the person by their spouse, civil 

partner, former partner, former civil partner under a court agreement. 

(c) A payment received under an insurance policy to insure against - 

(1) The risk of losing income due to illness, accident or redundancy or 

(2) The risk of being unable to make payments on a loan, but only to the extent 

that payment is in respect of owner occupier payments 

where an amount has been added for Housing Costs. 

(d) Income from an annuity (other than retirement pension income) unless 

disregarded for personal injury 

(e) Income from a trust unless disregarded for personal injury compensation or 

special schemes compensation 

(f) Capital deemed to be income 

(g) Income from subtenants and/or borders 

(h) Income not included above which is taxable under part 5 of the income tax act 

2005. 

Other income 

Other unearned income not included in (a) to (h) above will be disregarded. 

Earnings disregard 

The default regulations on earnings disregards will not be applied to working age 

claims. 

The following in relation to earnings disregards will apply instead. 

There is no earnings disregard for single applicants. 

A single £34.22 per week deduction will be taken from earnings in all other cases. 

No earnings disregards will be applied to Universal Credit cases as the earning 

disregards would have already been applied by DWP. 

Self-employed minimum income floor 

For council tax reduction purposes once you have been self-employed for 12 

months and your income is below the UK minimum hourly wage, your council tax 

reduction will be calculated in one of the following ways: 

• for single people and members of couples – hourly minimum wage (25 years 

+) x 35 hours per week 

Page 145



Page 12 of 17 

 

 

• for lone parents – hourly minimum wage (25 years +) x 16 hours per week 

Couples with dependent children where both are self-employed: 

• hourly minimum wage (25 years +) x 35 hours per week for one member 

and hourly minimum wage (25 years +) x 16 hours per week for the other 

member. 

The earnings figures resulting from these calculations will be reduced by the 

appropriate tax and national insurance amounts. 

If your self-employed income is higher than the hourly minimum wage, then we will 

use your actual income to calculate your council tax reduction. 

The self-employed minimum income floor figure will be aligned with the national 

Living wage on April 1st each year and the tax and National insurance rates used will 

be those current on the previous day -31st March in the same calendar year. 

Start-up period 

(A) A start-up period” is a period of 12 months during which the applicant first 

commenced gainful self-employment, in the 12 months preceding the 

beginning of the assessment period. 

(B) No start-up period will be applied in relation to an applicant where a start-up 

period has previously been applied in the last five years, whether in relation 

to the current or previous award. 

(C) A start-up period will be terminated if the person is no longer in gainful self- 

employment. 

Universal Credit 

Where the person is on Universal Credit the Council will take into account the 

income used in the Universal Credit calculation unless the Council has evidence that 

the person has income different to that used within the Universal Credit calculation in 

which case the Council may at its own discretion use that income in calculating any 

CTR. 

Where DWP have calculated Universal Credit entitlement that includes earned 

income, no additional earnings disregard will be applied under the local scheme as 

the DWP would have already applied one. 

Capital 

Capital is to be calculated for pensioners under the prescribed requirements and for 

working age under the default regulations and in addition to include any charitable 

disregarded capital or compensation payments provided for under the prescribed 

pensioner regulations. 

Capital limit 

For classes A to C (pensioners) the capital limit is as the prescribed requirements 

Page 146



Page 13 of 17 

 

 

For classes D and E there will be no entitlement to Council Tax Reduction where the 

applicant(s) capital exceeds £6000. 

7. Non-Dependants 

Non-dependant deductions for Pensioners are as the prescribed requirements. 

Non-dependant deductions for working age will be made according to the table 

below. 

Non-dependent deductions 
 

Category Amount 

Full time Student £00.00 

Not in employment £7.41 

Working with gross earnings less £189.62 per week £13.69 

Working with gross earnings more £189.62 per week £20.53 

 

Non-dependant deductions will not be taken where no deduction would, due to the 

applicant’s circumstances, are met within the prescribed scheme. (e.g. 

claimant/partner receives DLA or PIP then no non-dependant deduction will be 

made). 

8. Students 

Pensioner and Working age Students will be administered in accordance with the 

default regulations unless the contrary is indicated. 

9. Extended reductions 

The following applies to both pensioners and working age 

Where an application is made to the Council for Council Tax Reduction and 

the applicant or partner of the applicant is in receipt of an extended reduction 

from another billing authority in England or Wales. 

The Council will reduce any reduction to which the applicant is entitled under this 

scheme by the amount of that extended reduction. 

10. Calculating Council Tax Reduction 

The maximum Council Tax Reduction for classes A to C (pension age) are set out in 

the prescribed scheme. 

Working age awards are as follows: 

For Class D the CTR will be: 

The maximum Council Tax Liability 

(1)  Less the class D contribution level for band 1 where the person is in receipt 

of a passported benefit or 

(2)  Less the class D contribution level applicable to the band in which the 

persons income falls 

Page 147



Page 14 of 17 

 

 

Less any non-dependant deductions 

Less or plus transitional capping 

For Class E, the reduction will be: 

The maximum Council Tax liability 

(1)  Less the class E contribution level for band 1 where the person is in receipt of 

a passported benefit or 

(2)  Less the class E contribution level applicable to the band in which the 

persons income falls. 

Less any non-dependant deductions 

Less or plus any transitional capping 

Council Tax Reduction Calculation Table 
 

 Protected   Non- 

protected 

  

Band Income 

Bands £ 

Customer’s 

contribution 

to Council 

Tax 

CTR 

Award 

Income 

Bands 

Customer’s 

contribution 

to Council 

Tax 

CTR 

Awar 

d 

1 0.00 -136.89 0% 100% 0.00 -136.89 20% 80% 

2 136.90 - 25% 75% 136.90 - 40% 60% 
 159.70   159.70   

3 159.71 - 40% 60% 159.71 - 50% 50% 
 182.51   182.51   

4 182.52 - 50% 50% 182.52 - 60% 40% 
 205.34   205.34   

5 205.35 - 60% 40% 205.35 - 70% 30% 
 228.15   228.15   

6 228.16- 70% 30% 228.16- 80% 20% 
 250.96   250.96   

7 250.97 - 80% 20% 250.97- 90% 10% 
 273.79   273.79   

8 273.80 – 90% 10% 273.80+ 100% 0.00 
 296.60     % 

9 296.61+ 100% 0.00%    

Page 148



Page 15 of 17 

 

 

11. Minimum Council Tax Reduction 

No reduction will be awarded to an applicant if their entitlement is less than £2 per 

week. 

12. Transitional Capping 

Where a person was entitled to Council Tax Support on March 31st, 2020, 

transitional capping will be applied to limit the amount of loss or increase in an 

applicant’s reduction from 1 April 2020 so that the loss or gain will not exceed £2 per 

week at the point of transfer to the new scheme. Transitional capping will last for a 

maximum of 2 years. 

Transitional capping will not apply to claims where there is no entitlement at 31 

March 2020. 

Where a person is better off on 1 April upon transferring to the new scheme, any 

reduction applied to cap their entitlement will cease as soon as they have one or 

more of the following a change of circumstances: 

• any change on or after 1 April 2020 which changes the amount of their 

award/entitlement. 

• change in protected status 

• change of address 

• change of circumstances received after 1 April 2020 which nullifies 

entitlement on or before 31 March 2020 

Where a person’s entitlement is reduced from 1 April under the new scheme and 

their loss is capped to not exceed £2 per week at the point of transfer, any capping 

applied to their entitlement may cease when any of the following changes occur: 

• a change of circumstances is received after 1 April 2020 which nullifies 

entitlement on or before 31 March 2020. 

• A change which results in an award equivalent to the individual’s full weekly 

council tax liability, so capping of the reduction is no longer needed. 

Transitional capping will not be restored if the customer has a subsequent 

change of circumstances which results in an award less than the individual’s 

full weekly council tax liability maximum. 

13. Temporary absence 

For pensioner cases temporary absence will be administered under the prescribed 

requirements 

For working age, there will be no entitlement to CTR where the applicant is absent 

from the dwelling for more than 13 weeks. 

14. Date on Which Awards Begin 

A person who makes a claim for CTR, and who is determined to be entitled, will be 

entitled from the Monday following the date on which their claim is made or treated 

as made, 

Page 149



Page 16 of 17 

 

 

Backdating 

Backdating for pensioners is applied under the rules of the prescribed scheme. 

There is no backdating of applications for working age persons. 

Effective date of change of circumstances 

The effective date of change of circumstances for pensioners will follow the 

prescribed scheme. 

The effective date of change of circumstances for working age will follow the default 

regulations except where the applicant is required to notify a change and: 

(a) The change has been notified more than one month after the change 

occurred, or as long as the Council considers to be reasonable and 

(b) It was reasonable to notify the change within the period and 

(c) The new CTR determination advantageous to the applicant the effective date 

of change will be, the Monday following, the date of notification by the 

applicant 

15. Decisions 

The following applies to pensioners and working age 

Decision 

The Council will make a determination on properly completed applications within 14 

days of proper completion or as soon as possible thereafter. 

Notifications 

Persons will be notified of the decision on a claim as soon as possible, in other 

cases the Council will aim to provide a decision within 14 days or as soon as 

possible thereafter. 

CTR awards 

Where the Council determines an award of CTR, the person affected will be advised 

of: 

(A) Their duty to report appropriate changes of circumstances, the consequences of 

failing to do so and guidance on changes likely to affect entitlement. 

(B) How the CTR will be paid. 

(C) All decisions will inform of the appeals process. 

(D) The right to request a written statement of reasons, within a month. 

16. Overpayments 

Pensioner overpayments are administered in accordance with the prescribed 

requirements 

Page 150



Page 17 of 17 

 

 

In working age cases where a person has received CTR to which there is no 

entitlement, it will be recovered in all cases, and treated as an underpayment of 

Council Tax. 

The person will be written to advise the amount, dates and method of recovery and 

provided with a substitute Council Tax bill. 

17. Appeals 

The following applies to pensioners and working age 

If a person disagrees with the Council’s decision in relation to whether there is an 

entitlement to CTR or the amount of CTR the affected person must write to the 

Council stating why they believe the decision is wrong. 

The Council will within 2 months consider the appeal and notify the person as to why 

the appeal is considered unfounded or what steps are been taken to deal with the 

appeal. 

• Where the person remains aggrieved or has not heard within 2 months from 

the Council the person may appeal to the Valuation Tribunal. 

Information relating to how to appeal to the Valuation Tribunal will be posted on the 

Council’s website. 

18. Discretionary Reductions 

The following applies to pensioners and working age 

A person may apply for a discretionary reduction under section 13A (1) (c) of the 

1992 Act. 

Any request must be made  

(a) In writing 

(b) Electronically in accordance with part 4 of schedule 7 of the prescribed 

requirements, or 

(c) To the Council’s published phone number 

The person must state why the request is being made and supply any evidence and 

information that the Council requires to decide the request. 

19. Uprating 

The following items will be increased by the September CPI (or equivalent 

replacement) each year and applied to CTR calculations the following April. 

Earnings disregard 

Non-Dependant deductions 

Banded incomes 

Page 151



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix  5 - 2023 24 Parking Account Budget Estimate

2022/23 

(Revised 

Estimate)

2023/24 

(Proposed 

Estimate)

Income (23.425) (26.154)

Expenditure:

Management 6.096 6.165

Enforcement, including CCTV 2.415 2.415

London Tribunal & TEC charges 0.968 0.968

Sub-Total: Expenditure 9.479 9.549

Contributions from the Parking Account:

Contribution to Concessionary Fares 9.271 10.220
Contribution to Local Improvement Plan (LIP) 0.298 0.000
Contribution towards other eligible expenditure such as Highways, Transport etc 3.484 4.271
Capital and revenue investment in parking and transport-related initiatives 0.000 0.000

Sub-Total: Contributions from the Parking Account 13.053 14.491

Net Surplus (-) / Deficit (+) for the year (0.893) (2.115)

Transfer to(+) / from (-) Parking Reserve 0.893 2.115

Net Surplus (-) / Deficit (+) 0.000 0.000

2022/23 

(Revised 

Estimate)

2023/24 

(Proposed 

Estimate)

Original income budget (22.142) (23.425)

Savings (1.282) (2.729)

Total Income Budget (23.425) (26.154)

£M

Income Movement

£M

Parking Budget 2023/24

Page 153



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 6A - CAPITAL ADDITIONS

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 Total
£M £M £M £M £M £M £M

0.000 8.525 1.990 1.065 1.270 0.000 12.850

(0.355) (12.219) 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 (12.574)

(0.355) (3.694) 1.990 1.065 1.270 0.000 0.276

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 Total
£M £M £M £M £M £M £M

Refurbishment and works on 6 Group Homes to ensure health and 
safety compliant

Borrowing 0.130 0.030 0.020 0.180

Health & Safety Compliance Borrowing 0.325 0.325

Total Property Compliance / Health & Safety Growth  0.130 0.030 0.020 0.325 0.000 0.505

New Charging Reforms Readiness Borrowing 0.080 0.080
Parks Infrastructure works Borrowing 0.300 0.300 0.300 0.300 1.200
Playground Infrastructure works Borrowing 0.275 0.275 0.275 0.275 1.100
Leisure Centres Repairs & Maintenance Borrowing 0.455 0.325 0.780
Libraries Repairs & Maintenance and Health & Safety Works Borrowing 0.162 0.065 0.100 0.327
Jubilee Gardens - Meeting pod sound proof Borrowing 0.000 0.025 0.025
Children's Residential Home Grant 0.604 0.604
Children's Residential Home Capital Receipts 0.526 0.526
Children's Residential Home Borrowing 0.079 0.079
Nutanix server replacement Borrowing 0.950 0.950

Replacement Service management Tool - ICT portal and incident 
management system (current system to be retired)

Borrowing 0.271 0.271

Total Council Assets Growth 3.701 0.990 0.675 0.575 0.000 5.941

Digital Switch for Telecare Borrowing 0.300 0.300 0.600

Digital Switch for Telecare Other Contribution 0.300 0.300 0.600

Home Improvement Grant Scheme Borrowing 0.200 0.200 0.200 0.200 0.800

Unattended Cameras to monitor traffic restrictions Parking Reserve 0.170 0.170 0.170 0.170 0.680

Disabled Facilities Grants (Improvements) Grant 3.724 3.724

Total Other Growth 4.694 0.970 0.370 0.370 0.000 6.404

Total Capital Additions 8.525 1.990 1.065 1.270 0.000 12.850

Total

Capital Programme Change Summary

Table 1: Capital Additions

Table 2: Decommissioning 

Funded byScheme Name

P
age 155



APPENDIX 6B - CAPITAL SCHEMES TO BE DECOMMISSIONED 

Table 2: Decommissioning 

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 Total
£M £M £M £M £M £M £M

Children's & Schools - SEND / Synergy 
ICT development plan

Borrowing (0.355) (0.639) (0.994) Budget unallocated - not required

LACTO - Waste & Street Service
Borrowing (11.580) (11.580)

Budget relates to assets acquired under a lease; the expenditure is 
already reflected so the capital budget can be removed

Total Decommissioning (0.355) (12.219) 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 (12.574)

Scheme Name Funded by Narrative

P
age 156



APPENDIX 7 - 2022/23 TO 2027/28 APPROVED CAPITAL PROGRAMME BUDGET AND FUNDING

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 Total Future Years Total

Schools Planning, Development & Resources 33.795 33.735 19.117 0.000 0.000 0.000 86.646 0.000 86.646
Total Children's Services 33.795 33.735 19.117 0.000 0.000 0.000 86.646 0.000 86.646
Business Support & Integrated Commissioning 0.571 0.390 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.961 0.000 0.961
Total Adults & Public Health 0.571 0.390 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.961 0.000 0.961
Arts & Culture Leisure/ Libraries 2.016 7.678 0.750 0.750 0.000 0.000 11.194 0.000 11.194
Land Charges/ Building Control & Surveying 3.855 3.140 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 6.995 0.000 6.995
Major Projects 3.344 20.267 30.600 26.619 1.443 0.792 83.065 -1.348 81.717
Regeneration Growth Climate Change 28.582 40.382 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 68.965 0.000 68.965
Total Economy & Sustainability 37.797 71.467 31.350 27.369 1.443 0.792 170.219 -1.348 168.871
Safer Communitiies 0.384 0.886 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 1.270 0.000 1.270
Homelessness 21.949 1.500 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 23.449 0.000 23.449
Transport, Highways & Parking 15.750 33.017 7.228 6.458 0.000 0.000 62.453 0.000 62.453
Waste & Recycling (GEL) 1.273 12.056 0.117 0.000 0.000 0.000 13.447 0.000 13.447
Housing Development 17.037 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 17.037 0.000 17.037
Total Environment & Housing 56.393 47.459 7.345 6.458 0.000 0.000 117.656 0.000 117.656
ICT/ FM Property Services 4.784 5.733 4.625 0.350 0.000 0.000 15.492 0.000 15.492
Finance 30.200 141.852 92.000 20.426 18.636 14.667 317.781 78.582 396.363
Total Corporate Resources 34.984 147.585 96.625 20.776 18.636 14.667 333.273 78.582 411.855
Cabinet Office 1.188 1.822 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 3.010 0.000 3.010
Total Strategy & Change 1.188 1.822 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 3.010 0.000 3.010
Corporate Budget 0.000 0.994 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.994 0.000 0.994
Total Corporate Budget 0.000 0.994 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.994 0.000 0.994
Total General Fund 164.728 303.452 154.437 54.603 20.079 15.460 712.759 77.234 789.993
Total HRA 82.240 137.741 153.790 98.754 50.148 61.201 583.874 0.000 583.874
Total Capital Programme 246.968 441.193 308.227 153.357 70.227 76.660 1,296.633        77.234 1,373.867         

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 Total Future Years Total

Mainstream Funding 83.991 206.343 135.824 54.603 -18.690 15.460 477.530 56.589 534.119
Capital Receipts 0.878 11.622 8.966 0.000 38.769 0.000 60.236 13.235 73.470
Specific Funding
(Split as Follows)

79.859 85.488 9.647 0.000 0.000 0.000 174.994 7.410 182.404

-Grant 72.159 52.488 7.387 0.000 0.000 0.000 132.034 0.000 132.034
-Revenue Contribution 0.000 0.011 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.011 7.410 7.421
-Reserve Drawdown 0.275 0.317 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.592 0.000 0.592
-Parking Revenue Account 1.026 2.570 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 3.595 0.000 3.595
-Invest to Save 0.000 0.013 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.013 0.000 0.013
-Partnership Contributions 3.535 20.361 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 23.896 0.000 23.896
-S106 2.699 9.728 2.260 0.000 0.000 0.000 14.687 0.000 14.687
-HRA Contribution 0.166 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.166 0.000 0.166
Total Funding - General Fund 164.728 303.452 154.437 54.603 20.079 15.460 712.759 77.234 789.993

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 Total Future Years Total

Mainstream Funding 35.818 78.691 124.534 49.122 31.367 34.396 353.929 0.000 353.929
Capital Receipts 23.173 9.199 6.683 21.645 0.294 8.593 69.586 0.000 69.586
Specific Funding
(Split as Follows)

23.249 49.851 22.573 27.987 18.487 18.211 160.358 0.000 160.358

-Grant 11.899 33.478 6.275 11.484 0.000 0.000 63.136 0.000 63.136
-Revenue Contribution 0.193 0.000 0.060 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.253 0.000 0.253
-Reserve Drawdown 10.157 15.454 15.329 15.003 14.987 14.711 85.641 0.000 85.641
-Partnership Contributions 0.500 0.500 0.500 0.500 0.500 0.500 3.000 0.000 3.000
-HRA Contribution 0.500 0.419 0.409 1.000 3.000 3.000 8.328 0.000 8.328
Total Funding - HRA 82.240 137.741 153.790 98.754 50.148 61.201 583.874 0.000 583.874

Total Programme Funding 246.968 441.193 308.227 153.357 70.227 76.660 1,296.633 77.234 1,373.867

HRA Capital Programme Funding - 2022/23 to 2027/28
£m £m

Capital Programme - 2022/23 to 2027/28
£m £m

General Fund Capital Programme Funding - 2022/23 to 
2027/28

£m £m

Page 157



APPENDIX 7 - 2022/23 TO 2027/28 APPROVED CAPITAL PROGRAMME BUDGET AND FUNDING

Description

Approved 
Budget 
2022/23      

£m

Approved 
Budget 
2023/24      

£m

Approved 
Budget 
2024/25      

£m

Approved 
Budget 
2025/26     

£m

Approved 
Budget 
2026/27     

£m

Approved 
Budget 
2027/28      

£m

Total 
Approved 

Budget 
2022/23 - 
2027/28     

£m

Future 
Years        

£m

Total         
£m

HIGH PRIORITY CONDITION WORKS 5.793 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 5.793 0.000 5.793

PRIMARY SCHOOLS EXPANSIONS - TEMPORARY SCHOOL PLACES 0.031 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.031 0.000 0.031

PRIMARY SCHOOL EXPANSION 14/15-16/17 MAYFIELD 0.260 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.260 0.000 0.260

PRIMARY SCHOOLS EXPANSIONS 2014/15-16/17 BEACONSFIELD 0.014 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.014 0.000 0.014

PRIMARY SCHOOL REBUILD/EXPANSION 0.300 10.640 9.730 0.000 0.000 0.000 20.670 0.000 20.670

REDWOOD COLLEGE REPLACEMENT CLASSROOM BLOCK 0.008 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.008 0.000 0.008

RE-BUILD VINCENT BLOCK AT NORTHOLT HIGH 0.554 3.495 2.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 6.048 0.000 6.048

SEN PRIMARY PERMANENT - MANDEVILLE 0.019 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.019 0.000 0.019

SEN PRIMARY PERMANENT SOUTH ACTON CC 0.004 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.004 0.000 0.004

SECONDARY SCHOOL SEN EXPANSION  ARP 0.000 0.565 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.565 0.000 0.565

PRIMARY PHASE SEN 0.030 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.030 0.000 0.030

SECONDARY SCHOOLS EXPANSION - BULGE 0.094 1.103 2.805 0.000 0.000 0.000 4.001 0.000 4.001

SECONDARY SCHOOLS EXPANSIONS BASED ON TWO FREE SCHOOLS OBTAINING A SITE 12.750 9.299 4.582 0.000 0.000 0.000 26.631 0.000 26.631

SEN EXPANSION PROGRAMME 13.840 8.031 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 21.871 0.000 21.871
Carmelita House Refurbishment 0.100 0.301 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.401 0.000 0.401

Young Adults Centre Relocation 0.000 0.300 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.300 0.000 0.300

 33.795 33.735 19.117 0.000 0.000 0.000 86.646 0.000 86.646

MAINSTREAM FUNDING 0.909 3.134 2.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 6.043 0.000 6.043

CAPITAL RECEIPTS (SPLIT AS FOLLOWS) 0.150 10.350 7.470 0.000 0.000 0.000 17.970 0.000 17.970

-CAPITAL RECEIPTS 0.150 10.350 7.470 0.000 0.000 0.000 17.970 0.000 17.970

GRANTS 31.748 17.350 7.387 0.000 0.000 0.000 56.485 0.000 56.485

S106 0.238 0.290 2.260 0.000 0.000 0.000 2.788 0.000 2.788

PARTNERSHIP CONTRIBUTIONS 0.750 2.611 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 3.361 0.000 3.361

33.795 33.735 19.117 0.000 0.000 0.000 86.646 0.000 86.646

Adults Rostering Programme 0.021 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.021 0.000 0.021

HEALTH INEPENDENCE AND EFFICIENCY 0.550 0.390 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.940 0.000 0.940

0.571 0.390 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.961 0.000 0.961

MAINSTREAM FUNDING 0.571 0.390 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.961 0.000 0.961

0.571 0.390 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.961 0.000 0.961

JUBILEE GARDENS 2010 IT & FURNITURE 0.000 0.011 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.011 0.000 0.011

HANWELL COMMUNITY CENTRE - HERITAGE FARIC WORK 0.000 3.483 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 3.483 0.000 3.483

COMMUNITY CENTRE WORKS PROGRAMME 0.210 0.205 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.415 0.000 0.415

GROUND MAINTENANCE NEW IT SYSTEM 0.012 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.012 0.000 0.012

INVESTMENT IN NEW BINS IN PARK 0.035 0.102 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.137 0.000 0.137

ENERGY EFFICIENCY IN PARK BUILDINGS 0.000 0.063 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.063 0.000 0.063

GREENFORD CEMETERY EXTENSON 0.450 2.386 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 2.836 0.000 2.836

PARKS & OPEN SPACES IMPROVEMENT PROJECTS 0.015 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.015 0.000 0.015

GREENFORD TO GURNELL GREENWAY 0.021 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.021 0.000 0.021

Climate Change - Tree Planting 0.500 1.000 0.750 0.750 0.000 0.000 3.000 0.000 3.000

PARKS SECTION 106 WORKS 0.327 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.327 0.000 0.327

SLM Gym Equipment & Signage 0.046 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.046 0.000 0.046

LET´S GO SOUTHALL 0.400 0.427 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.827 0.000 0.827

 2.016 7.678 0.750 0.750 0.000 0.000 11.194 0.000 11.194

MAINSTREAM FUNDING 1.268 5.012 0.750 0.750 0.000 0.000 7.780 0.000 7.780

GRANTS 0.321 2.641 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 2.962 0.000 2.962

S106 0.427 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.427 0.000 0.427

REVENUE RESERVES (SPLIT AS FOLLOWS) 0.000 0.013 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.013 0.000 0.013

-INVEST TO SAVE RESERVE 0.000 0.013 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.013 0.000 0.013

REVENUE CONTRIBUTION 0.000 0.011 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.011 0.000 0.011

2.016 7.678 0.750 0.750 0.000 0.000 11.194 0.000 11.194

DISABLED FACILITIES GRANTS (IMPROVEMENT GRANTS) 3.600 3.140 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 6.740 0.000 6.740

OTHER GRANTS (IMPROVEMENT GRANTS) 0.255 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.255 0.000 0.255

3.855 3.140 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 6.995 0.000 6.995

MAINSTREAM FUNDING 0.255 2.546 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 2.801 0.000 2.801

GRANTS 3.600 0.594 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 4.194 0.000 4.194

3.855 3.140 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 6.995 0.000 6.995

GUNNERSBURY PARK 0.072 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.072 0.000 0.072

GUNNERSBURY PARK PHASE 3 SPORTS HUB 0.327 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.327 0.000 0.327

PITZHANGER MANOR DEVELOPMENT 0.414 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.414 0.000 0.414

GURNELL LEISURE CENTRE RE-DEVELOPMENT 0.000 6.075 4.775 1.061 0.000 0.000 11.910 0.000 11.910

DURDANS PARKS CRICKET GROUND 0.014 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.014 0.000 0.014

NORWOOD HALL SPORTS GROUNDS 0.000 0.399 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.399 0.000 0.399

EALING TOWN HALL -  DEVELOPMENT 0.000 1.496 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 1.496 0.000 1.496

PERCEVAL HOUSE - REDEVELOPMENT - DECANT & MOVE TO NEW OFFICE 2.516 (0.991) 0.116 (0.027) (0.027) (0.214) 1.373 (1.347) 0.026

PERCEVAL HOUSE - REDEVELOPMENT - NEW CIVIC OFFICES 0.000 13.289 25.710 25.585 1.470 1.006 67.060 (0.001) 67.059

3.344 20.267 30.600 26.619 1.443 0.792 83.065 (1.348) 81.717

MAINSTREAM FUNDING 3.025 20.267 29.104 26.619 -37.326 0.792 42.481 -21.993 20.488

CAPITAL RECEIPTS (SPLIT AS FOLLOWS) 0.000 0.000 1.496 0.000 38.769 0.000 40.266 13.235 53.500

-CAPITAL RECEIPTS 0.000 0.000 1.496 0.000 38.769 0.000 40.266 13.235 53.500

GRANTS 0.155 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.155 0.000 0.155

PARTNERSHIP CONTRIBUTIONS 0.163 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.163 0.000 0.163

REVENUE CONTRIBUTION 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 7.410 7.410

3.344 20.267 30.600 26.619 1.443 0.792 83.065 -1.348 81.717

MAJOR PROJECTS  

FUNDED BY:

MAJOR PROJECTS TOTAL FUNDING

LAND CHARGES/ BUILDING CONTROL & SURVEYING TOTAL FUNDING

SCHOOLS PLANNING, DEVELOPMENT & RESOURCES

FUNDED BY:

SCHOOLS PLANNING, DEVELOPMENT & RESOURCES TOTAL FUNDING

BUSINESS SUPPORT & INTEGRATED COMMISSIONING

FUNDED BY:

BUSINESS SUPPORT & INTEGRATED COMMISSIONING TOTAL FUNDING

ARTS & CULTURE LEISURE/ LIBRARIES

FUNDED BY:

ARTS & CULTURE LEISURE/ LIBRARIES TOTAL FUNDING

LAND CHARGES/ BUILDING CONTROL & SURVEYING

FUNDED BY:

Page 158



APPENDIX 7 - 2022/23 TO 2027/28 APPROVED CAPITAL PROGRAMME BUDGET AND FUNDING

Description

Approved 
Budget 
2022/23      

£m

Approved 
Budget 
2023/24      

£m

Approved 
Budget 
2024/25      

£m

Approved 
Budget 
2025/26     

£m

Approved 
Budget 
2026/27     

£m

Approved 
Budget 
2027/28      

£m

Total 
Approved 

Budget 
2022/23 - 
2027/28     

£m

Future 
Years        

£m

Total         
£m

SCHOOLS PLANNING, DEVELOPMENT & RESOURCES

DELIVERY OF SOUTHALL BIG PLAN 3.677 23.005 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 26.682 0.000 26.682

LRF WEST EALING WORKSPACE HUB 0.044 0.023 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.067 0.000 0.067

NEW HOME BONUS - WORKSPACES 0.005 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.005 0.000 0.005

NORTH ACTON STATION SQUARE 0.003 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.003 0.000 0.003

HSF - ACTON 0.001 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.001 0.000 0.001

NHB - HIGH STREETS 0.020 0.076 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.096 0.000 0.096

GREEN HOMES GRANT 17.206 17.279 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 34.485 0.000 34.485

Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme 7.627 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 7.627 0.000 7.627

28.582 40.382 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 68.965 0.000 68.965

GRANTS 24.693 17.355 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 42.048 0.000 42.048

S106 1.374 5.277 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 6.652 0.000 6.652

PARTNERSHIP CONTRIBUTIONS 2.350 17.750 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 20.100 0.000 20.100

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT CONTRIBUTIONS 0.166 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.166 0.000 0.166

28.582 40.382 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 68.965 0.000 68.965

ALLEY GATING   & DOMESTIC VIOLENCE SANCTUARY 0.105 0.074 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.180 0.000 0.180

CCTV IMPROVEMENTS OR ACQUISITIONS 0.174 0.123 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.297 0.000 0.297

EMPTY HOMES-CONV FLATS 0.105 0.189 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.294 0.000 0.294

EMPTY PROPERTIES CPO 0.000 0.500 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.500 0.000 0.500

0.384 0.886 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 1.270 0.000 1.270

MAINSTREAM FUNDING 0.224 0.763 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.987 0.000 0.987

GRANTS 0.160 0.123 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.283 0.000 0.283

0.384 0.886 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 1.270 0.000 1.270

REPLACEMENT OF CS10 UPGRADE OF THE DOCUMENT MANAGEMENT SYSTEM 0.160 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.160 0.000 0.160

TEMPORARY ACCOMMODATION ACQUISITION (PHASE 2) 21.789 1.500 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 23.289 0.000 23.289

21.949 1.500 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 23.449 0.000 23.449

MAINSTREAM FUNDING 16.927 1.500 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 18.427 0.000 18.427

GRANTS 5.022 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 5.022 0.000 5.022

21.949 1.500 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 23.449 0.000 23.449

LED STREET LIGHTING UPGRADE 0.550 1.080 0.770 0.000 0.000 0.000 2.400 0.000 2.400

CPZ PROGRAMME 0.445 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.445 0.000 0.445

SHOPPING PARADE STREETSCAPE, RENEWAL PROGRAMME 0.118 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.118 0.000 0.118

TRANSFORMATION OF WEST EALING 0.400 1.558 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 1.958 0.000 1.958

TFL - CORRIDORS 0.635 0.457 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 1.092 0.000 1.092

TFL - SMARTER TRAVEL 0.582 1.487 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 2.069 0.000 2.069

SOUTHALL BRIDGE WIDENING 0.350 8.263 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 8.613 0.000 8.613

TFL - NEIGHBOURHOODS 0.350 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.350 0.000 0.350

PRINCIPAL ROAD ENHANCEMENT 0.500 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.500 0.000 0.500

BUS PRIORITY 0.550 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.550 0.000 0.550

GULLY RENEWAL PROGRAMME 0.225 0.225 0.225 0.225 0.000 0.000 0.900 0.000 0.900

DISABLED BAYS AND LINE REPLACEMENT PROGRAMME 0.146 0.280 0.200 0.200 0.000 0.000 0.825 0.000 0.825

TFL - MAJOR SCHEMES 0.650 0.400 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 1.050 0.000 1.050

CROSSRAIL COMPLEMENTARY MEASURES 1.425 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 1.425 0.000 1.425

INFRASTRUCTURE RENEWAL CARRIAGE & FOOTWAYS 5.648 6.206 5.750 5.750 0.000 0.000 23.354 0.000 23.354

HIGHWAYS S106 WORKS 0.660 4.160 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 4.820 0.000 4.820

CAPITALISATION OF BOROUGH ROADS 0.207 0.150 0.075 0.075 0.000 0.000 0.507 0.000 0.507

IMPROVED PLACES FOR PEOPLE 0.110 0.474 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.584 0.000 0.584

TRANSFORMATION OF EALING 0.061 1.909 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 1.971 0.000 1.971

LEVELLING UP FUND PROGRAMME 1.200 5.919 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 7.119 0.000 7.119

Bridget Infrastructure 0.180 0.090 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.270 0.000 0.270

Climate Change - Bike Hangers 0.208 0.208 0.208 0.208 0.000 0.000 0.832 0.000 0.832

Climate Change - School Streets 0.356 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.356 0.000 0.356

PARKING ENFORCEMENT CAMERA 0.179 0.150 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.329 0.000 0.329

PARKING INVESTMENT IN BACK OFFICE AUTOMATION 0.015 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.015 0.000 0.015

15.750 33.017 7.228 6.458 0.000 0.000 62.453 0.000 62.453

MAINSTREAM FUNDING 7.378 11.545 7.228 6.458 0.000 0.000 32.608 0.000 32.608

GRANTS 6.459 14.426 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 20.885 0.000 20.885

S106 0.660 4.160 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 4.820 0.000 4.820

REVENUE RESERVES (SPLIT AS FOLLOWS) 1.253 2.886 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 4.139 0.000 4.139

-PARKING RESERVE 1.026 2.570 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 3.595 0.000 3.595

-REVENUE RESERVE 0.228 0.317 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.544 0.000 0.544

15.750 33.017 7.228 6.458 0.000 0.000 62.453 0.000 62.453

WASTE AND RECYCLING 0.411 0.117 0.117 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.645 0.000 0.645

LACTO - WASTE & STREET SERVICE 0.862 11.939 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 12.802 0.000 12.802

1.273 12.056 0.117 0.000 0.000 0.000 13.447 0.000 13.447

MAINSTREAM FUNDING 1.002 12.056 0.117 0.000 0.000 0.000 13.175 0.000 13.175

PARTNERSHIP CONTRIBUTIONS 0.272 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.272 0.000 0.272

1.273 12.056 0.117 0.000 0.000 0.000 13.447 0.000 13.447

GENUINELY AFFORDABLE HOMES 17.037 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 17.037 0.000 17.037

17.037 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 17.037 0.000 17.037

FUNDED BY:

MAINSTREAM FUNDING 17.037 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 17.037 0.000 17.037

17.037 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 17.037 0.000 17.037

HOUSING DEVELOPMENT

HOUSING DEVELOPMENT TOTAL FUNDING

TRANSPORT, HIGHWAYS & PARKING

FUNDED BY:

TRANSPORT, HIGHWAYS & PARKING TOTAL FUNDING

WASTE & RECYCLING (GEL)

FUNDED BY:

WASTE & RECYCLING (GEL) TOTAL FUNDING

HOMELESSNESS TOTAL FUNDING

REGENERATION GROWTH CLIMATE CHANGE

FUNDED BY:

REGENERATION GROWTH CLIMATE CHANGE TOTAL FUNDING

SAFER COMMUNITIES

FUNDED BY:

SAFER COMMUNITIES TOTAL FUNDING

HOMELESSNESS

FUNDED BY:

Page 159



APPENDIX 7 - 2022/23 TO 2027/28 APPROVED CAPITAL PROGRAMME BUDGET AND FUNDING

Description

Approved 
Budget 
2022/23      

£m

Approved 
Budget 
2023/24      

£m

Approved 
Budget 
2024/25      

£m

Approved 
Budget 
2025/26     

£m

Approved 
Budget 
2026/27     

£m

Approved 
Budget 
2027/28      

£m

Total 
Approved 

Budget 
2022/23 - 
2027/28     

£m

Future 
Years        

£m

Total         
£m

SCHOOLS PLANNING, DEVELOPMENT & RESOURCES

CONTRACT TRANSITION 0.980 0.003 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.983 0.000 0.983

IT TRANSITION - DUE DILIGENCE 0.040 0.090 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.130 0.000 0.130

ESSENTIAL SQL SERVER UPGRADES 0.070 0.005 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.075 0.000 0.075

CONTINUED VIRTUALISATION 0.449 0.023 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.472 0.000 0.472

APPLICATION UPGRADES 0.020 0.205 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.225 0.000 0.225

DESKTOP UPGRADE & SOFTWARE IMPLEMENTATION 0.895 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.895 0.000 0.895

MASTER DATA MANAGEMENT 0.054 0.046 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.100 0.000 0.100

GCSX SERVER 2012 AND EXPANSION 0.000 0.075 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.075 0.000 0.075

BUSINESS OBJECTS UPGRADE / REPLACEMENT 0.210 0.004 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.214 0.000 0.214

Electric Vehicle Fleet Purchase 0.548 0.193 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.741 0.000 0.741

Health & Safety 0.000 0.350 0.350 0.350 0.000 0.000 1.050 0.000 1.050

RE:FIT ALLOCATION FOR ENERGY CONSERVATION MEASURES 0.071 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.071 0.000 0.071

PROPERTY COMPLIANCE 1.447 4.738 4.275 0.000 0.000 0.000 10.460 0.000 10.460

4.784 5.733 4.625 0.350 0.000 0.000 15.492 0.000 15.492

FUNDED BY:

MAINSTREAM FUNDING 4.784 5.733 4.625 0.350 0.000 0.000 15.492 0.000 15.492

4.784 5.733 4.625 0.350 0.000 0.000 15.492 0.000 15.492

BROADWAY LIVING CAPITAL LOAN 30.000 141.552 92.000 20.426 18.636 14.667 317.281 78.582 395.863

Financial System Development & Implementation 0.200 0.300 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.500 0.000 0.500

30.200 141.852 92.000 20.426 18.636 14.667 317.781 78.582 396.363

FUNDED BY:

MAINSTREAM FUNDING 30.200 141.852 92.000 20.426 18.636 14.667 317.781 78.582 396.363

30.200 141.852 92.000 20.426 18.636 14.667 317.781 78.582 396.363

WARD FORUMS - SOUTH    0.048 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.048 0.000 0.048

WARD FORUM CAPITAL - EALING SOUTHALL 0.123 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.123 0.000 0.123

WARD FORUM CAPITAL - EALING NORTH 0.179 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.179 0.000 0.179

WARD FORUM CAPITAL - EALING CENTRAL & ACTON 0.110 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.110 0.000 0.110
TRANSFORMATIONAL PROGRAMME (TO BE FUNDED BY FLEX REC) 0.728 1.272 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 2.000 0.000 2.000
LEADERS  FUND 0.000 0.550 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.550 0.000 0.550

1.188 1.822 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 3.010 0.000 3.010

FUNDED BY:

MAINSTREAM FUNDING 0.412 0.550 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.962 0.000 0.962

CAPITAL RECEIPTS (SPLIT AS FOLLOWS) 0.728 1.272 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 2.000 0.000 2.000

-FLEXIBLE USE CAPITAL RECEIPTS 0.728 1.272 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 2.000 0.000 2.000

REVENUE RESERVES (SPLIT AS FOLLOWS) 0.048 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.048 0.000 0.048

-REVENUE RESERVE 0.048 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.048 0.000 0.048

1.188 1.822 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 3.010 0.000 3.010

Unallocated Capital Growth 0.000 0.994 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.994 0.000 0.994

DIGITAL STRATEGY 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

0.000 0.994 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.994 0.000 0.994

FUNDED BY:

MAINSTREAM FUNDING 0.000 0.994 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.994 0.000 0.994

0.000 0.994 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.994 0.000 0.994

ADAPTATIONS FOR THE DISABLED 1.000 1.599 1.600 1.600 1.600 1.600 8.999 0.000 8.999

HOUSING MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS (0.000) (0.000) 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 (0.000) 0.000 (0.000)

EXTERNAL REFURBISHMENTS 5.100 2.148 6.043 4.522 0.000 0.000 17.813 0.000 17.813

CAPITALISED WORKS 2.000 2.820 3.000 3.000 0.000 0.000 10.820 0.000 10.820

GREENMAN LANE EST REGENERATION 6.399 (0.000) 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 6.399 0.000 6.399

SPECIALIST ADVICE 0.250 0.250 0.300 0.300 0.000 0.000 1.100 0.000 1.100

HEALTH & SAFETY & DDA 5.000 6.097 3.261 3.190 0.000 0.000 17.548 0.000 17.548

REGENERATION ESTATES 0.500 0.250 0.250 0.250 0.000 0.000 1.250 0.000 1.250

RECTORY PARK REGENERATION (0.000) 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 (0.000) 0.000 (0.000)

SOUTH ACTON REGENERATION 3.167 6.874 10.548 9.131 3.254 0.000 32.974 0.000 32.974

INTERNAL REFURBISHMENT 3.500 1.001 1.600 1.500 0.000 0.000 7.601 0.000 7.601

MECHANICAL AND ELECTRICAL WORKS 4.225 3.310 0.109 0.299 0.000 6.679 14.622 0.000 14.622

COUNCIL NEW BUILD ROUND3 2.924 34.497 18.648 10.674 0.000 0.000 66.743 0.000 66.743

DEAN GARDENS 2.200 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 2.200 0.000 2.200

HAVELOCK ESTATE 1.540 1.500 0.000 8.129 8.129 4.866 24.163 0.000 24.163

LIFT REPLACEMENT 2.200 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 2.200 0.000 2.200

ESTATE REMODELLING AND MODERNISATION 0.500 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.500 0.000 0.500

LEASEHOLDER ASSISTANCE SCHEME 0.639 0.350 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.989 0.000 0.989

COPLEY CLOSE REGENERATION 9.151 8.089 7.320 12.368 10.500 12.087 59.515 0.000 59.515

STREET PROPERTIES ROUND 2 0.005 (0.000) 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.005 0.000 0.005

HIGH LANE ESTATE REGENERATION 13.417 8.752 14.068 11.513 5.417 0.000 53.167 0.000 53.167

Energy & Sustainability (0.000) 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 (0.000) 0.000 (0.000)

HOUSING STOCK IMPROVEMENTS 0.500 0.000 (0.000) 0.000 19.954 16.929 37.384 0.000 37.384

LOCAL AUTHORITY HOUSING GRANT - REGISTERED PROVIDERS 2.955 1.700 0.332 0.000 0.000 0.000 4.987 0.000 4.987

COMPLIANCE 0.500 0.500 0.500 0.500 0.000 0.000 2.000 0.000 2.000

CARBON/ ENERGY EFFICIENCY 0.250 1.284 1.000 1.000 1.000 0.000 4.534 0.000 4.534

ENERGIESPRONG 5.000 6.800 6.700 6.700 0.000 0.000 25.200 0.000 25.200

BL - TBC - Perceval House Phase 1-3 0.424 13.451 24.000 9.918 0.035 19.039 66.867 0.000 66.867

BL - TBC - Lexden Rd, Sussex Cr, Northold Grange Community Cntr 8.895 36.468 54.511 14.161 0.259 0.000 114.294 0.000 114.294

82.240 137.741 153.790 98.754 50.148 61.201 583.874 0.000 583.874

FUNDED BY:

MAINSTREAM FUNDING 35.818 78.691 124.534 49.122 31.367 34.396 353.929 0.000 353.929

CAPITAL RECEIPTS (SPLIT AS FOLLOWS) 23.173 9.199 6.683 21.645 0.294 8.593 69.586 0.000 69.586

-CAPITAL RECEIPTS 20.219 6.874 2.065 18.756 0.000 5.287 53.200 0.000 53.200

-CAPITAL RECEIPTS RIGHT TO BUY 2.954 2.325 4.618 2.889 0.294 3.306 16.386 0.000 16.386

GRANTS 11.899 33.478 6.275 11.484 0.000 0.000 63.136 0.000 63.136

PARTNERSHIP CONTRIBUTIONS 0.500 0.500 0.500 0.500 0.500 0.500 3.000 0.000 3.000

REVENUE CONTRIBUTION 0.193 0.000 0.060 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.253 0.000 0.253

MAJOR REPAIRS RESERVE CONTRIBUTIONS 10.157 15.454 15.329 15.003 14.987 14.711 85.641 0.000 85.641

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT CONTRIBUTIONS 0.500 0.419 0.409 1.000 3.000 3.000 8.328 0.000 8.328

82.240 137.741 153.790 98.754 50.148 61.201 583.874 0.000 583.874

CORPORATE BUDGET TOTAL FUNDING

HRA PROGRAMME

HRA TOTAL FUNDING

FINANCE

FINANCE TOTAL FUNDING

STRATEGY & CHANGE

STRATEGY & CHANGE TOTAL FUNDING

CORPORATE BUDGET

ICT/ FM PROPERTY SERVICES

ICT/ FM PROPERTY SERVICES TOTAL FUNDING

Page 160



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Appendix 8 

 
 
Capital Strategy 
 
2023/24 to 2027/28 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 February 2023 

Page 161



Capital Strategy 
 

P a g e  1 | 47 
 

 

Page 162



Capital Strategy 

P a g e  2 | 47 
 

Contents 

Section 1 – Overview 4 

1. Introduction 4 
2. Legislation and Guidance 4 
3. Purpose 5 
4. Key Objectives 6 
5. Principles 6 

Section 2 – Governance 8 

6. Current Governance and Approval Process 8 
7. Review of Current Governance and Approval Process 9 

Section 3 – Budget Strategy 10 

8. The Link Between Revenue and Capital Budgets 10 
9. Budget Approach 10 
10. Identification and Prioritisation of Capital Investment Needs 13 

Section 4 – Relevant Policies and Strategies 15 

11. Corporate Plan 15 
12. Asset Management 16 
13. Treasury Management Strategy 17 
14. Sustainability           17 
15. Procurement 189 
16. Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 30-Year Business Plan 20 
17. Broadway Living 20 
18. Greener Ealing Limited (GEL) 24 

Section 5 – Capital Expenditure and Funding 27 

19. Capital Expenditure 27 
20. Capital Resource Strategy 28 
21. Capital Funding Options 29 
22. Capital Receipts Policy 30 

Section 6 – Investment Strategy 31 

23. Non-Treasury Investments 31 

Section 7 – Capital Programme 33 

24. Approved Capital Programme 33 
25. Additions to the Capital Programme 34 
26. Decommissioning of Capital Projects 35 

Section 8 – Other Long-Term Liabilities 38 

27. Service / Policy Investments 38 

Section 9 – Risk Management 39 

28. Risk Management Overview 39 
29. Managing Risk Effectively 39 
30. Risk Profile 40 
31. Other Assurance Frameworks 40 

Page 163



Capital Strategy 
 

P a g e  3 | 47 
 

Section 10 – Knowledge and Skills 41 

32. Knowledge and Skills 41 

Annex A – Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy 40 

 
 
 

Page 164



Capital Strategy 

P a g e  4 | 47 
 

Section 1 – Overview 
 

1. Introduction 
 

1.1 Before the start of each financial year, local authorities are legally required to 
have in place a Capital Strategy which has been approved by the Full Council. 
 

1.2 The Capital Strategy is applicable for both General Fund and Housing 
Revenue Account (HRA) activities. 

 

2. Legislation and Guidance 
 

2.1 The Capital Strategy has been prepared in accordance with the following 
statutory regulations and Code of Practice: 
 
a) Part 1 of the Local Government Act 20031; 
b) Statutory guidance issued by the Department for Levelling Up, Housing 

and Communities (formerly MCHLG) on: 
(i) Local Government Investments2; and 
(ii) Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP)3; and 

c) Code of Practices issued by Chartered Institute of Public Finance & 
Accountancy (CIPFA): 
(i) The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities; and 
(ii) Treasury Management in the Public Services. 

 
2.2 Changes to the Prudential and Treasury Management Codes 

 
2.2.1 CIPFA published a revised Prudential Code on 20 December 2021. Formal 

adoption is required for the 2023/24 financial year. 
 
2.2.2 The Prudential Code has been significantly updated to incorporate changes 

to restrict councils from using borrowing to invest primarily in order to generate 
yield. The key changes clarify and update CIPFA's position on local authority 
commercial investment. The changes to the Prudential Code are set out 
below: 

 
Borrowing to Invest 

 
 A local authority must not borrow to invest primarily for financial return; 
 It is not prudent to make any investment or spending decision that will 

increase the capital financing requirement (CFR), and so may lead to 

 
1 Statutory Instrument 2003 No. 3146 The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) 
Regulations 2003 
2 Statutory Guidance on Local Government Investments issued under section 15(1)(a) of the Local Government 
Act 2003 
3 Statutory Guidance on the Minimum Revenue Provision issued by the Secretary of State in 2018 under Section 
21(1A) of the Local Government Act 2003 and Statutory Instrument 2008 No. 414 The Local Authorities 
(Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) Regulations 2003 

Page 165



Capital Strategy 
 

P a g e  5 | 47 
 

new borrowing unless directly and primarily related to the local 
authority’s functions; and 

 The Code does not require existing commercial investments to be sold 
but options to exit investments as an alternative to borrowing should be 
reviewed in the Treasury Management Strategy. 

 
Risk Management  

 
 Proportionality - investment risks should be proportionate to financial 

capacity and plausible losses can be absorbed in budgets or reserves 
without unmanageable detriment to local services; 

 Investment counterparty policy should include Environmental, Social & 
Governance (ESG) considerations; and 

 Arrangement should cover detailed requirements on knowledge and 
skills including policy, schedules, monitoring and review. 

 
Reporting 

 
 Capital strategy requirements were expanded – moving away from 

being a short summary; 
 Prudential indicators should be reported to Members quarterly – but not 

necessarily to Full Council; and  
 New indicators need to be reported: liability benchmark and income 

from service and commercial investments 
 
2.2.3 The main changes to the updated Treasury Management Code and the 

accompanying guidance for local authorities are as follows: 
 

 Investment management practices and other recommendations 
relating to non-treasury investments are included within the Treasury 
Management Practices (TMPs); 

 Introduction of the Liability Benchmark as a treasury management 
indicator for local government bodies; 

 Incorporation of Environmental, Social and Governance risks; and 
 The purpose and objective of each category of investments should be 

described within the Treasury Management Strategy. 
 

3. Purpose 
 

3.1 The purpose of the Capital Strategy is to provide: 
 

 a high-level long-term overview of how capital expenditure, capital 
financing and treasury management activity contributes to the provision 
of services; 

 an overview of how the associated risk is managed; and 
 the implications for future financial sustainability. 

 

Page 166



Capital Strategy 
 

P a g e  6 | 47 
 

3.2 The Capital Strategy provides a framework for the Council to ensure that all 
its capital expenditure and investment plans are affordable, prudent and 
sustainable regardless of how they are being financed. 

 
3.3 The Capital Strategy is an evolving document which aligns with the Council 

Plan and other key council strategies. The strategy is also an integral part of 
the Council’s strategic planning process and therefore, should be read 
alongside and/or in conjunction with the following: 
 

 Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS); 
 Investment Strategy; 
 Treasury Management Strategy; and 
 Asset Management Strategy. 

 

4. Key Objectives 
 
4.1 The overarching objective of Ealing’s Capital Strategy is to provide the Council 

with a strategic planning and a decision-making framework to deliver a capital 
programme that: 
 

 is affordable, financially prudent and sustainable; 
 ensures the Council’s capital assets are used to support the delivery of 

services according to priorities within the Council Plan and the 
Council’s vision; 

 links with the Council’s asset management plan; 
 ensures that the most cost-effective use is made of existing assets and 

new capital investment delivers value for money; and 
 supports other Ealing service specific plans and strategies. 

 
4.2 The resources to deliver the Capital Strategy are allocated through the annual 

budget process that sets the five-year rolling capital programme. Many 
councils are at a point where capital resources are becoming increasingly 
scarce and as such investment in assets, where funded from borrowing, is 
likely to have implications for revenue budgets. 

 

5. Principles 
 
5.1 Set out below are the key principles which have regard to the objectives of the 

Capital Strategy in achieving the Council’s priorities whilst maintaining focus 
on capital resources in order to gain the maximum benefit: 
 
1. The capital programme will only include schemes which assist in delivery 

of Council priorities. They should identify all possible external 
contributions from government, partners and other grant providers and 
eligible developer contributions. Where funded from borrowing wherever 
possible the scheme should generate a saving or income stream to fund 
the revenue costs of that borrowing so as not to increase the gap 
between expenditure and resources. 

Page 167



Capital Strategy 
 

P a g e  7 | 47 
 

2. The funding of the capital programme must be considered alongside the 
revenue budget and balance sheet position as part of the Council's 
MTFS. 

3. The evaluation of capital schemes for inclusion in the programme will 
follow an agreed process which allows scrutiny whilst not limiting 
innovation and adaptability. This will be applicable to schemes that 
involve companies that are either wholly/partly owned by the Council or 
where the Council holds an interest (i.e. PFIs, partnerships). 

4. Capital scheme sponsors must demonstrate that a rigorous process of 
options appraisal has been followed, requiring evidence of need, cost, 
risk and outcomes. Capital investment proposals with a neutral revenue 
impact are encouraged. 

5. Any optional appraisal must be undertaken in consultation with finance 
using agreed proformas/templates. Where any options are proposing to 
fund the scheme from borrowing or capital receipts then these must be 
agreed and approved at the outset by the Strategic Director of Corporate 
Resources (Section 151 Officer). 

6. When applying for external grant funds, bids should reflect the Council’s 
priorities. 

7. Capital schemes with unsecured funding (i.e. government grants, 
partner contributions, or Section 106 receipts) will only be incorporated 
within the capital programme when either: 
i) a written confirmation setting out the value of external funding is 

secured including the agreed funding conditions; and/or 
ii) funding has been received by the Council. 

8. All un-ringfenced capital funding and other non-specific Council capital 
resources that are not required to support existing commitments will be 
held corporately. 

9. There will be no ring-fencing of capital receipts to specific schemes, 
unless specific approval has been sought either as part of the annual 
MTFS and budget process or through a separate report approved by 
Cabinet. 

10. Any capital schemes that underspend will see a budget reduction being 
applied to reflect the revised capital expenditure and resourcing 
requirements.  

11. Capital scheme sponsors are required to ensure that schemes do not 
overspend, and where overspends are identified then the appropriate 
Strategic Directors are required to identify savings through either 
exploring external funding opportunities and/or re-purposing 
uncommitted capital budgets. 

12. Capital projects will be monitored and reported by the Strategic Director 
of Corporate Resources (Section 151 Officer) to Cabinet on a quarterly 
basis. 

 
5.2 As well as using traditional funding mechanisms to finance capital schemes, 

the Strategic Director of Corporate Resources (Section 151 Officer) will also 
consider the use of new initiatives and develop these options if it is considered 
financially advantageous in the context of the Council’s Treasury Management 
Strategy. 
 

Page 168



Capital Strategy 
 

P a g e  8 | 47 
 

5.3 The Council will work in a collaborative manner with the Greater London 
Authority (GLA), London Councils and NHS partners. Bids to the GLA or other 
organisations which may have a match-funding requirement will be prioritised. 
Regard will be had during the appraisal process to ensure that the Council’s 
objectives and capital investment priorities are achieved. 

Page 169



Capital Strategy 

P a g e  9 | 47 
 

Section 2 – Governance 
 

6. Current Governance and Approval Process 
 
6.1 The Council’s Capital Programme involves the expenditure and financing of 

£1,373.867m of capital schemes over the period 2022/23 to 2027/28.  It is 
important therefore given the risks surrounding capital projects that 
appropriate governance arrangements are in place. For the Council these 
governance arrangements encompass: 

 
 The Capital Strategy is approved annually at Full Council. 
 The Cabinet, which approves all capital schemes in line with the 

delegations set out in the Council’s Constitution. 
 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee is responsible for scrutinising the 

annual Budget Report (including the Capital Programme) and relevant 
Cabinet Reports. 

 The Strategic Leadership Team (SLT), which has overall responsibility for 
the management and monitoring of the Capital Programme. 

 The Financial Strategy Group (FSG) comprises the Strategic Director of 
Corporate Resources (Section 151 Officer), Assistant Director of 
Accountancy, Assistant Director Technical Finance and Assistant Director 
Strategic Finance, and is responsible for scrutinising, reviewing and 
managing financial strategies. Budget changes and/or additions to the 
capital programme are considered by FSG and agreed by the Strategic 
Director of Corporate Resources (Section 151 Officer) and, where relevant 
Cabinet, (in accordance with the Constitution) before formally being 
incorporated into the budget. 

 Directorate Management Teams oversee and agree business cases for 
capital schemes prior to submission to FSG, SLT and/or Cabinet for 
approval. 

 The Constitution (including Financial Regulations, the Scheme of 
Delegation and Contract Procedure Rules) sets out the powers of the 
Executive and senior officers with regard to capital expenditure. 

 Cabinet receives and approves budget update reports quarterly which 
identify any variation to the approved capital programme arising either from 
the re-phasing of schemes, changes in resource availability and 
requirements or new capital schemes. 

 All capital expenditure is guided by the Council’s financial accounting 
framework which ensures that only expenditure that properly falls as 
capital expenditure in accordance with accounting convention and / or 
statutory guidance is capitalised. 

 The Capital Programme is subject to both internal and external audit 
scrutiny. 

 The Council have set up a separate governance processes regarding 
Broadway Living (BL) and Broadway Living Registered Provider (BLRP). 
Section 17 below has further details. 
 

 

Page 170



Capital Strategy 
 

P a g e  10 | 47 
 

 
 

7. Review of Current Governance and Approval Process 
 
7.1 To support the on-going delivery of both the Capital and Budget Strategy, the 

current process will be reviewed on an ongoing basis to establish an updated 
governance and approval process to provide for a greater emphasis on the 
link to strategic priorities and achievement of benefits and outcomes this will 
include the introduction of a Corporate Landlord model and arrangements to 
oversee Major Projects. 

 
7.2 The outcome of the review and proposed changes will be taken through SLT. 

The aim of establishing any new governance, approval processes will be to 
ensure that decisions on capital expenditure and investment plans are aligned 
to the Council Plan, MTFS, treasury and investment strategies and have 
effective subsequent monitoring of performance once capital schemes and 
projects are approved.  As part of this process, there will be clearly defined 
roles and responsibilities for all key stakeholders involved in the capital 
management process. 

 
7.3 It is important that Cabinet considers the medium-term and longer-term capital 

strategy through the MTFS process each year, the annual budget for the 
forthcoming year through the budget setting process and the in-year delivery 
of the capital programme through the regular financial monitoring reports. 

 
 

 

Page 171



Capital Strategy 

P a g e  11 | 47 
 

Section 3 – Budget Strategy 
 

8. The Link Between Revenue and Capital Budgets 
 

8.1 Capital and revenue expenditure are separate components of local authority 
budgets and funding for each is considered separately. However, a vital 
component of successful financial planning is that revenue and capital 
budgets are intrinsically linked as the impact of capital expenditure must be 
reflected in revenue budgets. Therefore, this capital strategy forms a key part 
of the Council’s MTFS and budget process. 

 
8.2 It is a statutory requirement under Section 33 of the Local Government 

Finance Act 1992 for the Council to produce a balanced budget.  In particular, 
the Council is legally required to calculate its budget requirement for each 
financial year to include the revenue costs that flow from capital financing 
decisions. This means that any increases in capital expenditure must be 
limited so that increases in charges to the revenue budget are kept to a level 
that is affordable and sustainable within the projected income of the Council 
for the foreseeable future. Such charges to revenue arise from increases in 
debt charges (both external interest and Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP)) 
caused by increased borrowing to finance additional capital expenditure, and 
from any increases in running costs from new capital projects. 
 

8.3 The impact and affordability of capital expenditure must be considered in the 
assessment of capital projects at the business case stage. Effective financial 
planning must fully reflect the impact of capital plans on the Council’s revenue 
budgets. 

 

9. Budget Approach 
 
9.1 Budget Strategy 

 
9.1.1 The budget process is priority-led; aligning the allocation of resources with the 

priorities of the Council and priority areas included in the Council Plan.   
 

9.1.2 Contributing to the achievement of the Council’s Plan and  objectives and 
outcomes are a number of significant capital programmes of activity that are 
now in delivery, notably: 

 
 The Housing Delivery Programme, that along with partners has delivered 

2,500 genuinely affordable homes (2018-22 target) and is on track for 
1,375 start on sites during 2022/23 as part of the 4,000 genuinely 
affordable homes target for 2022-26.  

 Broadway Living and Broadway Living Registered Provider have a 
significant role in delivering 4,000 additional affordable homes (2022-26 
target). 

 The Perceval House programme to redevelop the Council’s headquarters 
delivering housing and a more efficient operating environment for staff. 

Page 172



Capital Strategy 
 

P a g e  12 | 47 
 

 The Climate and Ecological Emergency Strategy (CEES) and Action 
Plan, noting the climate commitments made by the Council to work 
toward the aim of becoming a carbon neutral borough by 2030 

 Green Homes Grant: the Government awarded £4.780m grant to Ealing 
Council to deliver private-sector home energy retrofits on behalf of a 
seven-borough consortium included within the HRA programme (Phase 
1); £12.014m on behalf of 12 boroughs in to undertake retrofits on both 
private sector homes and the Council’s own housing stock (Phase 2), and 
£15.036m for capital energy efficiency and heat decarbonisation projects 
within public sector non-domestic buildings, on behalf of a consortium of 
13 boroughs (Phase 3).   

 Greener Ealing Limited (GEL): £14.100m capital investment was 
approved in 2019/20 by Cabinet, of which c.£10m was in relation to 
leasing of vehicles for street cleansing and waste service.  

 Highways: the impact of the pandemic on TfL’s finances including 
substantial loss of fare revenue has resulted in a reduction in grant 
income.  The service has mitigated this partly, by allocating some funds 
from elsewhere, such as the Government's Active Travel Fund and the 
Levelling Up Fund, to deliver the agreed or new projects. 

 
9.1.3 All capital investment must be sustainable in the long-term through revenue 

support by the Council or its partners. All capital investment decisions consider 
the revenue implication both in terms of servicing the finance and running 
costs of the new assets. The impact of the revenue implications is a significant 
factor in determining approval of projects. The use of capital resources has 
been fully taken into account in the production of the Council's MTFS. 

 
9.2 Capital Programme Planning Assumptions 
 
9.2.1 The planning assumption for the capital programme from 2023/24 onwards 

has been for the Council to invest its limited resource against schemes funded 
through mainstream (borrowing), which contribute towards the Council’s key 
priorities and ensure that any cost of investment is affordable from a revenue 
budget perspective through identification of savings or income streams.   

 
9.2.2 There are certain capital expenditure items that will be unavoidable such as 

Health and Safety. If growth proposals to deal with these areas are put forward 
these will need to be funded by finding additional savings and increasing the 
MTFS budget gap. 

 
9.3 Invest to Save Proposals 

 
9.3.1 The Council's invest-to-save mechanism remains in place and will be during 

the year. It allows services to drive innovation in service provision, by 
delivering budget savings that are allocated in part to replenish the Invest-To-
Save Reserve. Proposals will need to be developed as part of the budget 
setting process and timescales. 

 

Page 173



Capital Strategy 
 

P a g e  13 | 47 
 

10. Identification and Prioritisation of Capital Investment Needs 
 
10.1 Investment Proposals 

 
10.1.1 The basis of the capital programme is driven by the budget and service 

planning process. This process begins in the early stages of the financial year 
(June/July). The size of the capital programme is determined by: 
 
 The need to incur capital expenditure; 
 Capital resources available; and 
 The revenue implications flowing from the capital expenditure. 

 
10.1.2 As part of the budget planning process, services submit capital proposals to 

be considered by Members for investment decisions. In general, a capital 
investment appraisal process for a significant investment will focus on: 

 

Strategic Case Policy and strategic fit 

Economic Case Value for money, cost/benefit context 

Financial Case Affordability and resource 

Commercial Case 
Commercially viable e.g.  
redevelopment / regeneration 
opportunity 

Management Case 
Capabilities and capacity within the 
Council to be able to manage and 
deliver such a project 

Sustainability Case 
Impact on Council’s sustainability 
objectives 

 
10.1.3 Capital investment proposals are either submitted as individual detailed 

business cases to SLT or, for smaller investments, submitted by services 
using an agreed template that includes the following sections: 
 
 description of the project; 
 project outcomes (including how it supports the Council’s key priorities); 
 key dates and milestones; 
 costs of the scheme; 
 revenue implications; 
 funding source; 
 risks and dependencies (factors/events that need to happen before the 

project can proceed); 
 sustainability considerations. 

 
10.1.4 Capital investment decisions may be made outside of the annual budget 

planning process e.g. large investment programmes, within specifically 
agreed timescales and within relevant governance arrangements. 

Page 174



Capital Strategy 
 

P a g e  14 | 47 
 

 
10.2 Capital Projects Evaluation  
 
10.2.1 Members determine the projects to be included within the capital programme 

in light of the relative priorities and the overall impact on the revenue budget. 
 

10.2.2 All capital investment must be sustainable in the long-term through revenue 
support by the Council or its partners. All capital investment decisions consider 
the revenue implications both in terms of servicing the financing, and the 
running costs of the new assets. 
 

10.2.3 The impact of the revenue implications is a significant factor in determining 
approval of projects. The use of capital resources has been fully taken into 
account in the production of the Council’s MTFS. 

 
10.2.4 The Council’s policy is to agree the rolling capital programme on an annual 

basis at the Budget Council meeting as part of the annual budget setting 
process. 

Page 175



Capital Strategy 

P a g e  15 | 47 
 

Section 4 – Relevant Policies and Strategies 
 

11. Council Plan 
 
11.1 Strategic Objectives 
 
11.1.1 Ealing’s latest Council Plan 2022-261 sets out three cross cutting strategic 

objectives for the borough: 
 
 Creating good jobs 
 Tackling the climate crisis  
 Fighting inequality 
 

11.2 Priorities 
 
11.2.1 The three strategic objectives are supported by nine priority areas which have 

been agreed with local partners in health, education, policing, employment, 
housing, local business and voluntary and community sector. The nine ways 
to make the borough better are: 

 
1) Tackling inequality and crime - Relentlessly focusing on reducing poverty 

and inequality for those that most need support and promoting wellbeing 
and safety for all.  

2) Climate action - Greening and keeping Ealing clean, achieving net zero 
carbon, and ensuring our parks, open spaces and nature are protected 
and enhanced. 

3) Healthy lives - Protecting and enhancing the physical and mental health 
of all, supporting our older residents to enable them to remain independent 
and resilient and dealing with the ongoing impact of Covid-19. 

4) A fairer start - Ensuring all our children and young people get the best start 
in life, from their earliest years through to a great education. 

5) Decent living incomes - Bringing new and well-paid jobs back to Ealing 
and ensuring good businesses can thrive. 

6) Inclusive economy - Building wealth within the community by ensuring 
everything the council does increases social value and contributes to 
making Ealing a fairer place to live and work. 

7) Genuinely affordable homes - Delivering our radical programme of social 
rent council house building, affordable homes and ensuring our tenants 
are empowered and have ownership of their communities. 

8) Good growth - Making sure the growth that takes place in Ealing enhances 
its character, conserves its future and makes great place, where people 
want to live. 

9) Thriving communities - Bringing people together to build strong 
neighbourhoods, empowering volunteers, encouraging community 
activism, engaging civic and faith leaders, and delivering well-loved 
community facilities and services. 

 
1 Council Plan 2022-26 https://www.ealing.gov.uk/downloads/download/233/council_plan 

Page 176



Capital Strategy 
 

P a g e  16 | 47 
 

12. Asset Management 
 
12.1 Asset management is the process by which the Council effectively and 

efficiently utilises its assets as a balanced portfolio to ensure their optimal use, 
benefiting residents through direct delivery of services, generation of revenue 
to deliver services and support the delivery of the Council Plan objectives such 
as the creation of genuinely affordable housing. This process may identify 
several different outcomes for assets including: 
 
 Change in use to meet the change in demands of services; 
 Change in use to meet Council priorities or financial requirements; 
 Investment is required to improve or maintain the condition of an asset; 
 A new asset is required to better meet the Council’s priorities; 
 Where no use for a building is identified or significant repairs are 

uneconomic to complete, dispose of the asset to realise its value in 
monetary terms; 

 The requirement to purchase an asset to make revenue savings; 
 Redevelopment of surplus properties to meet Council objectives. 

 
12.2 The Council will regularly review its assets to ensure continued optimal use, 

whilst the capital programme will be used to bridge the gap to ensure that the 
Council has sufficient assets in the long-term.  
 

12.3 Ealing’s approach to Asset Management 
 

12.3.1 The Council is in the process of moving to a Corporate Landlord model. 
Departments will be supported by Strategic Property and Property Services to 
review the use and condition of assets and establishing asset management 
priorities. There is regular liaison throughout the year between Strategic 
Directors, Directors, Service Heads, Property Services and the Corporate 
Landlord (Strategic Property) team through SLT and other boards and teams.  

 
12.4 Ealing’s Asset Management Objectives 
 
12.4.1 The Council’s general objectives with respect to asset management is outlined 

below: 
 
 To effectively and efficiently utilise its assets as a balanced portfolio to 

ensure their optimal use; 
 To ensure the safety and wellbeing of occupants; 
 To minimise carbon emissions and energy consumption from buildings; 
 To reduce underlying expenditure on maintenance and repairs by 

focussing on planned, as opposed to reactive maintenance; 
 To have a complete, comprehensive and up-to-date picture of the 

condition and compliance of all buildings; and 
 To obtain best consideration for any disposals.  

 

Page 177



Capital Strategy 
 

P a g e  17 | 47 
 

12.4.2 Officers are currently working on an updated Land and Property Strategy with 
the aim of taking this to Cabinet in 2023 and detailed asset management plans 
will be developed as the Council implements its Corporate Landlord model. 
 

12.4.3 Alongside the Land and Property Strategy, the Council is also developing its 
Property Purchase Policy to support the acquisition of land or property to meet 
Council objectives where it does not have a suitable or viable alternative within 
its portfolio. Properties will need to meet a service need or Council priority and/ 
or deliver financial savings for a service. 

 
12.4.4 The Property Purchase Policy will include proposals for specific governance 

and approval arrangements for property and land to allow decisions where  
the purchase may be time critical. These arrangements will ensure a clear and 
robust framework for business case and financial requirements, risk 
assessment, management and mitigation. Purchases will only be made within 
the strict parameters and financial envelope of the Policy which will be 
approved by Cabinet during 2023. 
 

13. Treasury Management Strategy 
 
13.1 Link between Capital and Treasury Management Strategies 

 
13.1.1 There are close links between the Capital Strategy and Treasury Management 

Strategy. The capital programme determines the borrowing need of the 
Council, essentially the longer-term cash flow planning, to ensure that the 
Council can meet its capital spending obligations. This management of longer-
term cash may involve arranging long or short-term loans or using cash flow 
surpluses. On occasion any debt previously drawn may be restructured to 
meet Council risk or cost objectives.  
 

13.1.2 Treasury Management and its capital financing revenue budget, has an 
intrinsic link to the Capital Programme and will change with every capital 
budget decision requiring borrowing. 
 

13.1.3 Ealing’s Capital Strategy and Treasury Management Strategy have been 
reviewed to ensure compliance with the updated requirements.  The Capital 
Strategy should be considered alongside the Treasury Management Strategy 
which between them provide the following: 
 
 A high-level long-term overview of how capital expenditure, capital 

financing and treasury management activity contribute to the provision of 
services; 

 An overview of how the associated risk is managed and 
 The implications for future financial sustainability. 
 

13.1.4 The following is detailed within Ealing’s Treasury Management Strategy: 
 

 A long-term projection of external debt, internal borrowing and the use of 
cash backed reserves; 

Page 178



Capital Strategy 
 

P a g e  18 | 47 
 

 Sensitivity analysis around capital expenditure, borrowing levels and 
capital receipts; 

 How debt will be repaid over the life of the underlying debt; 
 The authorised limit and operational boundary; 
 Local Prudential Indicators; 
 Treasury management governance procedures supporting decision 

making and risk management; and 
 Arrangements for the scrutiny of treasury management.  

 
13.2 Community Bonds (Local Climate Bonds) 

 
13.2.1 The Treasury Management Strategy has been updated to enable the Council 

to borrow by way of Community Bonds, i.e. individuals lending via a peer-to-
peer platform where any necessary counterparty checks (for example proof of 
identity or money laundering requirements) are conducted by the platform, as 
well as investors in capital market bonds and retail bonds issued by the 
Council. Projects will be assessed individually to determine appropriateness 
and ensure alignment to the Council’s Climate and Ecological Strategy. 
 

13.2.2 Appendix 9 sets out in detail Ealing’s Treasury Management Strategy. 
 

14. Sustainability 
 

14.1 Ealing Council declared a climate emergency in April 2019, committing to treat 
the climate and ecological emergency as a crisis requiring immediate and vital 
action. The aim is to become carbon neutral as a borough and an organisation 
by 2030.  

 
14.2 The Climate and Ecological Emergency Strategy (CEES) was agreed by 

Cabinet in January 2021, and this set out a number of climate commitments 
made by the Council to work toward the aim of becoming a carbon neutral 
borough by 2030. The strategy sets out a plan to reduce the Council’s 
produced emissions and outlines a commitment to use our influence to reduce 
emissions emitted across the borough.  

 
14.3 The carbon neutral 2030 objectives include: 

 
14.4 Energy Objectives 

1) Future proof the energy performance of all existing buildings; 
2) All new residential and commercial buildings will be built to zero carbon 

standards; and 
3) Invest in renewable energy generation. 

 
14.5 Food Objectives 

1) Ealing’s food community will become more connected by creating a 
partnership to bring greater visibility to healthy, seasonal, local and 
sustainable food across the borough; 

2) Increase access to healthy, seasonal, local and sustainable food; and  

Page 179



Capital Strategy 
 

P a g e  19 | 47 
 

3) Increase access to more information about healthy, seasonal, local and 
sustainable food systems. 

 
14.6 Nature Objectives 

1) Increase in tree canopy cover across Ealing by 2030; 
2) Manage green spaces to increase biodiversity, increase natural carbon 

capture and reduce carbon emissions; and 
3) Utilise green infrastructure to capture carbon, mitigate surface water 

flooding and improve biodiversity and water quality. 
 

14.7 Waste Objectives 
1) Reduce overall borough waste; 
2) Maximise use of materials: reuse, repair, recycle – and promote the 

circular economy; and 
3) Reduce environmental impact of our operations. 

 
14.8 Travel Objectives 

1) Reduce number of vehicles travelling in and through Ealing; 
2) Increase active travel (mode shift); and 
3) Cleaner motor vehicles. 

 
14.9 Funding to meet the Council’s climate commitments 

 
14.9.1 A recent analysis on behalf of UK Cities Climate Investment Commission 

(UKCCIC)1 states, “The transition of our existing carbon intensive systems to 
Net Zero will require significant up-front capital and presents unique 
challenges for the UK’s cities…The quantity of capital that must be deployed 
is beyond the reach of public finances. If this funding gap is met only by 
citizens and businesses there will be damaging impacts on the poorest 
sections of society, counter to the levelling up agenda.” Delivering the 
Council’s net zero by 2030 ambition therefore requires financial resourcing 
from the Council and external sources. Addressing the scale of the climate 
challenge will not be met with a “business as usual” approach, and officers are 
actively searching for resources to support activities across all strategic 
themes. 

 
14.9.2 In some cases, the business case for funding is more straightforward because 

of the clear financial benefit for the council. In the majority of projects, and 
especially behaviour change programmes, the cost savings and other co-
benefits such as improved mental and physical health or the adaptation to 
future extreme weather are more difficult to identify.  

 
14.9.3 Currently, the Council relies on external sources, often originating from central 

government, to fund these investments. While officers will continue to 
maximise these bids, innovation is becoming essential. Officers are working 

 
1 *The United Kingdom Cities Climate Investment Commission is a collaboration of the Catapult Connected 
Places, London Councils and Core Cities. Together, this is a coalition of 12 of the UK’s largest cities 
representing 60% of the UK’s population and over half its economy. The Commission aims to engage with all 
parts of local and regional government as well as the financial community in every nation of the UK to find 
investable solutions for our Net Zero challenges. 

Page 180



Capital Strategy 
 

P a g e  20 | 47 
 

on community investment models, such as climate bonds and community 
energy models, and collaborating with other councils (via the UKCCIC and 
West London subregion) to consider collaborative and private sector finance 
solutions. We expect the Council will need to be agile and open to working in 
new ways to achieve the monumental and immensely rewarding task ahead. 
 

14.9.4 There are a number of externally funded schemes currently within the capital 
programme that will contribute towards the Council’s sustainability objectives, 
such as schemes relating to corporate and domestic energy efficiency and 
retrofit. 

 
14.9.5 Recently the Council commissioned a study to help put costs against the 

delivery of its forthcoming action plan for the CEES. This information will be 
used identify the current budgets and funding sources being used to deliver 
climate change actions and to highlight investment requirements and prioritise 
the deployment of resources in tackling the climate crisis. 

 
14.9.6 It is intended that the capital decision-making process will be reviewed in the 

coming year and that as part of this updated process, sustainability 
considerations will be fully embedded into the decision-making process in 
future with regards to evaluating and assessing new capital schemes. 

 

15. Procurement 
 
15.1 The purchase of capital assets should be conducted in accordance with the 

Contract Procedure Rules, ensuring value for money, legality and 
sustainability at all times. Contract standing orders and rules governing the 
disposal or write-off of assets are contained in the Constitution which is 
continually reviewed. 
 

15.2 The Council recognises that effective procurement lies at the heart of 
delivering value for money and is essential if the Council is to obtain real 
improvements to quality and service costs. The Council seeks to achieve 
value for money by applying rigorous procurement standards in the selection 
of suppliers and contractors, to ensure that efficiency, economy and 
effectiveness is received throughout the life of a contract. The significant 
resources applied to capital expenditure require the adopted principles of 
value for money to be at the heart of its Capital Strategy. Through use of our 
significant spending power, particularly on capital schemes, we will work with 
our partners and suppliers to advance social, economic and environmental 
outcomes for our residents and communities in line with the Council’s Social 
Value policy.  
 

16. Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 30-Year Business Plan  
 

16.1 HRA 30 Year Business Plan 
 

16.1.1 On 25 January 2023, Cabinet approved the HRA 30-year business plan, which 
sets out a 30-year capital programme, creating an investment capacity of 

Page 181



Capital Strategy 
 

P a g e  21 | 47 
 

£987.797m, which will be continually reviewed and updated to ensure that 
affordability is maintained. The HRA will seek to utilise capital receipts and 
grants before resorting to borrowing to minimise any future revenue impact 
 

16.1.2 There will be a close relationship between Broadway Living, the Broadway 
Living Registered Provider, and the Council to ensure cost effective delivery 
of the planned 30-year capital programme.  

 
16.2 5-Year HRA Capital Programme 

 
16.2.1 On 25 January 2023, Cabinet approved a 5-year capital programme for the 

HRA of £501.634m consisting of existing and new schemes which include 
expenditure associated with the GLA grant funded affordable housing 
programme. 
 

16.2.2 Together with regeneration, improving existing council properties and 
ensuring the safety or tenants and leaseholders is a key focus of the Council’s 
HRA capital programme, i.e. ensuring that the existing stock is maintained to 
a decent standard and health and safety requirements are met; this is 
demonstrated by the allocation of £121.046m to these home improvement 
works between 2023/24 and 2027/28. 

Page 182



Capital Strategy 

P a g e  22 | 47 
 

17. Broadway Living  
 
17.1 Broadway Living Governance Process 

 
17.1.1 Local Authorities may make investment decisions for service purposes, where 

such investments are undertaken, governance arrangements for the approval, 
monitoring and ongoing risk management should be established. The 
following provides an overview of the role of the Council and councillors in the 
decision-making process for Broadway Living (BL): 
 
a) Full Council 

 
An important part of the Council’s oversight and scrutiny specifically in 
relation to financial implications of major capital investment is the Treasury 
Management Strategy and Prudential Indicators (PIs). These set out and 
monitor the Council’s capital investment plans and actuals to ensure they 
remain prudent, affordable and sustainable. 
 
The Treasury Management Strategy is required to be approved by Full 
Council (and is undertaken as part of Budget Setting at Full Council) with 
subsequent in-year amendments requiring the same approval. The 
Treasury Management Strategy and PIs are required to be scrutinised by 
the Audit Committee during the year alongside Full Council receiving mid-
year and outturn updates. 
 
Significant changes including those related to BL and Broadway Living 
Registered Provider (BLRP) will therefore be reported and scrutinised 
through these routes and offer Members the opportunity to review the 
affordability, deliverability and impact of such proposals. 

 
b) Cabinet  

 
 Agrees the Housing & Homelessness Strategy which sets the 

framework for BL/BLRP delivery; 
 Approves the BL and BLRP Business Plans and BL Operational 

Business Plan; 
 Agrees funding for BL/BLRP within the framework of the Treasury 

Management Strategy; 
 Receives quarterly update reports on the delivery of the BLRP 

Business Plan; 
 Appoints and removes directors to and from the board of BL; and 
 Has agreed a scheme of delegations with BL and BLRP.  

 
c) Overview and Scrutiny Committee (OSC) and Scrutiny Panels  

 
 At OSC discretion, it may operate a programme of scrutiny of the 

delivery of the Housing & Homelessness Strategy; and 
 Deal with any relevant call-ins of Cabinet or other key decisions.  
 

Page 183



Capital Strategy 
 

P a g e  23 | 47 
 

d) Housing Delivery Cabinet Committee (HDCC) 
 

The HDCC has been formally established within the Constitution. Its 
responsibilities are to: 

 
 Consider and determine matters relating to individual affordable 

housing schemes and their funding; 
 Consider and determine issues of land disposal, acquisition, and 

related matters, as appropriate to achieve individual affordable housing 
schemes; and 

 Keep Cabinet informed on the work of the Committee. 
 

Membership of the HDCC comprises the Leader and the two Cabinet 
members with responsibility for finance and housing.  
 
The intention behind the HDCC is to provide a more focussed and agile                   
decision-making forum for the key strategic objective of the delivery of 
4,000 genuinely affordable homes. The HDCC is also responsible to the 
often complex and fast-moving housing and regeneration matters and 
where necessary the need for the Council to match the pace of its wholly 
owned company (Broadway Living).  

 
e) Individual Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Housing 

 
 Meets regularly with key officers to maintain oversight and give 

direction to officers in accordance with the Housing Strategy.  
 

f) Audit Committee 
 
 Scrutinises the Treasury Management Strategy and Pls in year. 

 
17.2 Broadway Living Investment Programme 

 
17.2.1 The BLRP business plan was approved by Cabinet in November 2020 and set 

out in detail its plan to deliver and manage 1,471 new homes (plus the transfer 
of 42 existing rented homes from BL) of which the majority are genuinely 
affordable.  BL’s business plan to be the development manager for the Council 
and BLRP Housing Development and Regeneration programmes was 
approved by Cabinet in February 2021.  BL’s fees are included within the HRA 
and BLRP capital programmes. 
 

17.2.2 The BLRP development programme was estimated to cost £476m and is 
funded through a combination of a lending facility from the Council, GLA 
affordable housing grant (the GLA’s 2018-2023 programme) and private sale 
and shared ownership receipts. 

 
17.2.3 Since the approval of the original Business Plan the programme had to change 

in response to a number of external pressures that effected the viability of the 
original programme which was presented in the 2021 Capital Strategy Report. 

 

Page 184



Capital Strategy 
 

P a g e  24 | 47 
 

17.2.4 Following an extensive review by officers and consultation Cabinet approved 
a revised programme in 3 tranches.  Tranche 1 approved by Cabinet on 14 
July 2021 and tranche 2 on 6 April 2022. The combined programme would 
deliver 1,155 homes funded by GLA affordable housing grant and up to £320m 
loan funding from the Council. The below tables set out the homes to be 
delivered and the programme cost and funding profile. 

 
Table 2a: Tranche 1 Homes to be Delivered 

 
 

Table 2b: Tranche 2 Homes to be Delivered 

 
 

Table 3a: BLRP Tranche 1 & 2 Acquisition & Development Programme and Funding 

BLRP Acquisition & Development Programme & Funding 
Total 
£M 

Acquisition & Development Capital Expenditure 375.826 
GLA Affordable Housing Grant (67.828) 

Total Loan Funding Requirement 307.998 

Capacity for Scheme Variations 12.267 
Total Loan Funding Facility 320.265 

 
17.2.5 The receipts set out in the table below from the shared ownership and 

private sale elements of the programme will flow back to the Council to help 
manage the debt exposure. 

Scheme Name

LAR:
London 

Affordable 
Rent

SO:
Shared 

Ownership

DMR:
Discount 
Market 

Rate

MS:
Market 

Sales TOTAL HOMES
Copley Phase 6 0 0 35 0 35
Southall Market Car Park 101 24 0 0 125
Chesterton & Evesham Close 25 0 0 0 25
Wood End Library 11 0 0 0 11
Shackleton Road 10 0 0 0 10
Norwood Road 6 0 0 0 6
Arden Road Car Park 0 15 0 14 29
Dean Gardens Car Park 21 10 0 22 53
Buckingham Avenue 24 16 0 0 40
Westgate House 26 0 0 0 26
Broadway Living Properties 0 0 42 0 42

224 65 77 36 402

Scheme Name

LAR:
London 

Affordable 
Rent

LLR:
London 
Living 
Rent

SO:
Shared 

Ownership

DMR:
Discount 
Market 

Rate

MS:
Market 

Sales TOTAL
Perceval House Phase 1 67 0 0 0 0 67
Perceval House Phase 2 3 0 0 91 0 94
Perceval House Phase 3 0 0 0 65 0 65
Broomcroft & Canberra 80 0 0 0 0 80
Lexden Road 71 0 90 0 27 188
Mandeville Road 25 0 57 0 0 82
Northolt Grange Community Centre 84 0 8 0 0 92
Sussex Crescent 26 0 0 0 0 26
Park View Road 28 0 31 0 0 59

384 0 186 156 27 753

Page 185



Capital Strategy 
 

P a g e  25 | 47 
 

 
 

  Table 2c: BLRP Tranche 1 Development Programme Capital Receipts 
BLRP Development Programme Capital 
Receipts 

Total 
£M 

Shared Ownership Initial Sale Receipts 37.2491 
Market Sale Receipts 33.542 

Total Receipts 70.791 
1 The 50-year BLRP Business Plan assumes a further £40.444m shared ownership receipts from 

leaseholders purchasing additional equity (staircasing) 
 
17.2.6 However, as the economic climate worsened during 2022, the increased cost 

of borrowing, building materials and labour without sufficient increases in rents 
and property values has resulted in the programme approved in April 2022 
being no longer being financially viable.  Following an extensive review of the 
programme and negotiations with the GLA for increased grant the programme 
was changed in the following ways: 
 
 Perceval House: As per the development agreement with Countryside, 

the Council will purchase the affordable homes within the wider Perceval 
House scheme.  This scheme is now to be delivered through the Council’s 
HRA capital programme as approved by Cabinet in December 2022 and 
included in the HRA Business Plan and Capital Programme approved by 
cabinet in January 2023 and will be subsequently removed from the BLRP 
business plan at its next update. 

 
 Lexden Road, Northolt Grange and Sussex Crescent: Following the 

HRA Business Plans approval on 25 January 2022 these schemes are 
now being delivered though the Council’s HRA capital programme and are 
on course to start on site by the GLA grant claim deadline of March 2023. 

 
 Broomcroft Road, Canberra Drive and Mandeville Road:  These 

schemes have not progressed sufficiently in terms of delivery and viability 
to be delivered through the GLAs 2018-2023 programme and will now form 
part of the 2021-2026 programme which Cabinet approved in principle in 
December 2022.  A decision will be taken to Cabinet during 2023 to 
determine the delivery and funding of these schemes. 

 
 Park View Road: The Young Adults Centre has been retained with 

residential redevelopment now cancelled.  
 

17.2.7 As such there is both a scaling back and slippage to the original programme.  
However the remaining tranche 2 schemes and the schemes that will make 
up tranche 3 of BLRP’s programme will be progressed in 2023 with delivery 
subject to financial viability being demonstrated which will have a significant 
reliance on the £109.5m GLA grant awarded for the 2021-2026 programme 
and on the cost of borrowing the Council is able to provide to BLRP.   
 

17.2.8 An update on the revised BLRP business plan will be taken to Cabinet during 
2023. 

 

Page 186



Capital Strategy 
 

P a g e  26 | 47 
 

 

18. Greener Ealing Limited (GEL) 
 
18.1 Greener Ealing Limited (GEL) is a company wholly owned by the Council set 

up in July 2020 to provide Refuse Collection, Street Cleaning and other related 
services within the borough.  This follows a £14.100m investment for the long-
term improvement of services providing a new fleet of trucks to support a more 
consistent, responsive and reliable service that will build on the borough’s 
recycling rate (which is the second highest in London).  At present GEL leases 
Greenford Depot from the Council and has a fleet of leased vehicles. 
 

18.2 The Company’s Board is responsible for making any capital investment 
decisions, however there is close working with the Council, given that it is the 
primary customer and key stakeholder , and the Council provides loan facilities 
for this purpose, for which it charges interest in accordance with the subsidy 
control requirements.  As this is a relatively new arrangement, the capital need 
has developed and evolved over the course of the past year, in particular the 
decision to move from purchasing vehicles outright to leasing them. 

 

Page 187



Capital Strategy 

P a g e  27 | 47 
 

Section 5 – Capital Expenditure and Funding 
 

19. Capital Expenditure 
 
19.1 Capital spend is expenditure incurred in acquiring, constructing or enhancing 

physical assets such as buildings, land, vehicles, plant and machinery that 
have an estimated useful asset life in excess of one year. 
 

19.2 The Council applies a de-minimis level of £10,000. 
 

19.3 Where expenditure qualifies to be supported by a capital grant and in 
accordance with relevant funding conditions, the Council can in this 
circumstance suspend the de-minimis rule. 

 
19.4 Capital Expenditure Plans 

 
19.4.1 The Council determines the areas where it may need to incur capital 

expenditure from the following: 
 
a) Identification of urgent health and safety requirements; 
b) Review and delivery of Council priorities (Council Plan and other service 

plans); 
c) Review of current and future asset management plans; and 
d) Changes in service areas where a change in need and/or demand may 

require additional facilities etc. 
 
19.4.2 Aligned to corporate and service priorities, individual schemes are included 

within the approved capital programme or are to be considered for a resource 
allocation over the period of the Capital Strategy, having regard to the MTFS 
and Budget Strategy. 

 
19.5 Factors Driving Spending Plans 

 
19.5.1 In addition to the Corporate Plan, Budget Strategy & MTFS which underpin 

the spending plans, they are also driven by various factors, some of which are 
listed below: 

 
 Council Plan priorities; 
 Asset condition survey; 
 Increased capacity required from capacity assessment; 
 Change in asset requirements, e.g. technological, environmental 

standards; 
 Retrofit and climate change improvements; 
 External funding requirements; and 
 Government legislation. 

 
 

Page 188



Capital Strategy 
 

P a g e  28 | 47 
 

20. Capital Resource Strategy 
 

20.1 Context of Capital Resource Strategy 
 

20.1.1 The Council’s strategy for deploying resources is to ensure that all resources 
are utilised to achieve Council objectives. Whilst the aims and priorities of the 
Council will shape decisions around capital expenditure, there is recognition 
that the financial resources available to meet priorities are constrained as a 
result of the current economic and political climate. 

 
20.1.2 The Council’s MTFS shows a funding gap for 2024/25. At present, the Council 

is working to close the gap. Any additional capital expenditure which is not 
funded through other capital resources will increase this gap unless that 
expenditure delivers revenue savings or income. 

 
20.1.3 In light of the above, it is imperative that capital expenditure plans are 

affordable, prudent and sustainable. Given the Council’s MTFS position, the 
aim is to minimise any impact of capital expenditure on the Council’s 
General Fund. 

 
20.2 Utilisation of Capital Resources 
 
20.2.1 Wherever possible the Capital Programme will utilise and maximise external 

funding provided either by central government capital grants, or contributions 
from third parties (e.g. developers). Whilst grants and other contributions will 
reflect government and partner-led priorities they will nevertheless be 
deployed to address priority needs for the Council. 
 

20.2.2 The capital programme is also reliant on internal or locally generated funding 
in the form of capital receipts from asset sales, direct revenue funding and 
prudential borrowing. In more recent years, and as a result of central 
government cuts to grant funding, capital investment plans have become 
increasingly reliant on capital receipts and prudential borrowing.  
 

20.2.3 The Council has a substantial land and property estate. Where assets are 
identified as surplus to operational requirements they may be disposed of, 
resulting in a capital receipt. Capital receipts are generally not ring-fenced and 
will be used to maximise the achievement of corporate priorities (including 
revenue efficiencies arising from capital receipts flexibilities) or to finance 
capital schemes. Capital receipts may also be used to repay amounts 
borrowed when there are clear benefits from doing so; this is set out further in 
the Minimum Revenue Provision Policy.  

 
20.2.4 Typically, the most expensive option for financing capital expenditure is 

prudential borrowing so the Council will do what it can to avoid that unless that 
borrowing yields income or delivers savings beyond the cost of borrowing.  
 

20.2.5 The Council has a number of different funding sources available to use for 
capital expenditure. The different sources of funding are detailed below. 

Page 189



Capital Strategy 
 

P a g e  29 | 47 
 

20.3 Priority of resources to fund the Capital Programme 
 

20.3.1 The Capital Programme will use the resources available as follows: 
 
 Maximising the use of External Funding; 
 Utilising Capital Receipts; 
 Invest to Save schemes; 
 Contribution from Revenue; and 
 Borrowing. 
 

20.3.2 The revenue cost of borrowing for capital schemes, where unavoidable, will 
be built into the revenue budget for the appropriate year and MTFS period and 
approval will be considered as part of the annual budget report. 

 
20.4 Consideration of Capital Proposals with Mixed Funding Sources 
 
20.4.1 Schemes attracting partial external funding, such as grants for private sector 

housing, will be assessed in the same way as those schemes which require 
100% of funding to be met from borrowing and will only be included within the 
capital programme if they meet the Council’s needs, objectives and priorities. 
Schemes that are 100% funded from external funding would normally be 
included automatically within the capital programme, subject to confirmation 
of the external funding and the scheme meeting the Council’s priorities. Such 
schemes are usually supported by capital grants or developer contributions 
from agreements under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990. A capital bid still needs to be completed for these proposals. 

 

21. Capital Funding Options 
 

21.1 The availability, affordability and financial sustainability of capital funding will 
limit the number and value of capital schemes, funded through borrowing 
without any compensation savings or income, which can be progressed. 
 

21.2 The main sources of capital funding for the General Fund and HRA are 
summarised below. 


21.3 Capital Grants 
 
21.3.1 The Council mainly receives capital grants from Government but on occasions 

may receive grants from other government agencies such as the Heritage 
Lottery Fund, the Greater London Authority (GLA) and Transport for London 
(TfL).  
 

21.3.2 Capital grants can be split into two categories: 
 
1. Non-ring fenced: grants that can be utilised on any project (albeit that there 

may be an expectation of use for a specific purpose); and  
2. Ring-fenced: resources which are ring-fenced to particular areas and 

therefore have restricted uses. 

Page 190



Capital Strategy 
 

P a g e  30 | 47 
 

 
21.3.3 Grants can be awarded to the Council either via; 

 
 Government allocation i.e. Disabled Facilities Grant; or 
 Specific invitation through an earmarked grant funding pot. 

 
21.3.4 Where there is a requirement to make an application to an external body for 

funding and, when appropriate, to commit Council resources as match funding 
to any bid for external resources, a business case and/or External Funding 
Gateway 1 form will need to be completed and considered by FSG and/or SLT 
for approval, and depending on the value may also require approval from 
Cabinet. The business case must justify the bid for external resources and any 
Council match funding prior to submission of the bid. 

 
21.4 Section 106 developer contributions (S106) 

 
21.4.1 In considering an application for planning permission, the Council may seek 

to secure benefits to an area or restrict uses or activities related to a proposed 
development through the negotiation of a ‘planning obligation’ with the 
developer which must be:  
 
i) Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;  
ii) Directly related to the development; and  
iii) Fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.  

 
21.4.2 The planning obligation is known as the Section 106 1(S106) contribution. 

Unless there are service specific conditions on the use of the S106 
contribution, the monies should be used to support eloigible existing Council 
infrastructure priorities and commitments rather than allocated to new 
schemes. 

 
21.5 Other External Contributions 
 
21.5.1 Other external funding that the Council may receive to fund specific capital 

schemes may be from partners such as other local authorities and Integrated 
Care Boards (ICBs)2 or partners with whom the Council may be jointly 
undertaking a capital project. 
 

21.5.2 Where a capital scheme is reliant on external contributions, service 
departments will be required to have in place signed funding agreements 
before the capital scheme or associated budget can be approved and 
incorporated into the programme. Depending on the scheme and value of the 
overall project, the department may also require Cabinet approval. 

 
 

 
1 Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
2 Under the Health and Social Care Act (2022) Integrated Care Board (ICB)s have replaced Clinical 
Commissioning Groups (CCGs) 

Page 191



Capital Strategy 
 

P a g e  31 | 47 
 

21.6 Revenue Contributions 
 
21.6.1 Revenue budgets can be used to fund the capital programme, either via a 

one-off contribution to fund a project, or an annual sum to repay Prudential 
Borrowing debt costs. Ongoing use of revenue should be assessed in relation 
to the impact on council tax through the prudential indicators outlined in the 
Treasury Management Strategy.  
 

21.6.2 Although the opportunities to fund capital expenditure directly from the 
General Fund revenue budget are limited, there are examples of revenue 
funding contribution to capital e.g. funds are allocated from the schools’ 
individual revenue budgets to supplement the capital resources allocated to 
school’s improvement and expansion projects and contributions from the 
parking reserve to fund eligible highways capital works. 
 

21.6.3 The HRA revenue budgets contribute towards specific capital schemes to 
supplement the capital resources allocated to housing improvement and 
regeneration schemes.  

 
21.7 Earmarked Reserves 
 
21.7.1 Reserves are set aside from revenue resources and earmarked for particular 

purposes. The approved capital programme currently contains expenditure 
which is funded from a combination of the following reserves including the 
Invest to Save and Major Repairs Reserve. 

 
21.8 Capital Receipts 
 
21.8.1 The Council’s policy on capital receipts is set out in Section 22 below. 
 
21.9 Private Finance Initiatives (PFI) 
 
21.9.1 PFI schemes involve partnerships between the public and private sector to 

fund public sector infrastructure projects with private capital. Under a PFI, a 
private sector contractor agrees to accept the risks associated with the design, 
construction and maintenance of the asset over the contract term, which is 
typically for a 25 year period. The public sector partner pays an annual fixed 
price (the unitary charge) during the contract term, part of which is subject to 
inflation. At the end of the term, the asset is wholly owned by the Council.  
 

21.9.2 Details of the Council’s PFI liabilities are detailed in the annual Statement of 
Accounts.  

 
21.10 Leasing 
 
21.10.1 Services may enter into finance leasing agreements to fund capital 

expenditure. However, a full options appraisal and comparison of other 
funding sources must be made and the Strategic Director of Corporate 

Page 192



Capital Strategy 
 

P a g e  32 | 47 
 

Resources (Section 151 Officer) must be certain that leasing provides the best 
value for money method of funding the scheme.  
 

21.10.2 Under the Prudential Code, finance leasing agreements are counted against 
the overall borrowing levels when considering the prudence and affordability 
of the Council’s borrowing.  
 

21.10.3 Details of the Council’s material lease liabilities are detailed in the annual 
Statement of Accounts. 
 

21.11 Borrowing 
 
21.11.1 The Council’s borrowing strategy is detailed in the Treasury Management 

Strategy (Appendix 9). 
 

22. Capital Receipts Policy 
 

22.1 Overview 
 
22.1.1 A capital receipt is an amount of money exceeding £10,000, which is 

generated from the sale of an asset. The rationalisation of the asset portfolio 
is a consideration within the asset management strategy and provides benefits 
such as a reduction in revenue costs (such as maintenance and security) 
relating to surplus assets, as well as releasing assets for disposal. Capital 
receipts can be an important funding source for the Capital Programme. 
 

22.1.2 The Council’s policy is to treat all capital receipts as a corporate resource, 
enabling investment to be directed towards those schemes or projects with 
the highest corporate priority. This means that individual services are not 
reliant on their ability to generate capital receipts. 
 

22.1.3 The timing and value of asset sales is the most volatile element of funding. As 
a result, the Strategic Director of Corporate Resources (Section 151 Officer) 
closely monitors progress on asset disposals. Any in-year shortfalls against 
forecasts will need to be met from increased borrowing, up to the ‘Authorised 
Borrowing Limit’ which is agreed annually by Council as part of the Treasury 
Management Strategy. 
 

22.2 Flexible Use of Capital Receipts 
 

22.2.1 The Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (formerly 
MCHLG) issued a directive in 2016 providing councils with the flexibility to use 
capital receipts for qualifying revenue expenditure, initially 2021/22 was the 
final year for this directive, but on 4 April 2022 the department announced an 
extension to the policy by a further three yearsending in 2024/25.  Ealing’s 
strategy is set out in Annex A. 

Page 193



Capital Strategy 

P a g e  33 | 47 
 

Section 6 – Investment Strategy 
 

23. Non-Treasury Investments 
 
23.1 CIPFA defines investment properties as properties held solely to earn income 

and/or for capital appreciation i.e. the returns from property ownership can be 
both income driven (through the receipt of rent) and through appreciation of 
the asset value (capital growth).  
 

23.2 The Council does not make capital investments primarily for financial return.  
The Council has made a number of policy loans to third parties (e.g. Broadway 
Living) which are listed in the Treasury Management Strategy and reported 
separately in the prudential indicators under Housing loan/Equity to Broadway 
Living Registered Provider (BLRP). 

 
23.3 The strategy proposes that the Council continues to consider investing 

prudently in non-treasury investments i.e. policy investments, taking 
advantage of opportunities as they present themselves, ensuring that any 
decisions are made following robust analysis and strong governance process. 

 
23.4 The updated Prudential Code requires all investments and investment income 

to be attributed to one of the following three purposes: 
 

(i) Treasury Management Investments 
 

Are investments that arise from the organisation’s cash flows or treasury 
risk management activity, and ultimately represent balances which need 
to be invested until the cash is required for use in the course of business.  
Treasury investments may also arise from other treasury risk 
management activity which seeks to prudently manage the risks, costs or 
income relating to existing or forecast debt or treasury investments. 

 
(ii) Service Investments 

 
Are investments held primarily and directly for the delivery of public 
services including housing, regeneration and local infrastructure.  Returns 
on this category of investment, which are funded by borrowing, are 
permitted only in cases where the income is “either related to the financial 
viability of the project in question or otherwise incidental to the primary 
purpose”. 

 
(iii) Commercial Investments – including commercial property  

 
Are investments held primarily for financial return with no treasury 
management or direct service provision purpose. Risks on such 
investments should be proportionate to a council’s financial capacity. 
‘Plausible losses’ should be able to be managed and absorbed in budgets 

Page 194



Capital Strategy 
 

P a g e  34 | 47 
 

or reserves without unmanageable detriment to local services.  An 
authority must not borrow to invest primarily for financial return. 

Page 195



Capital Strategy 

P a g e  35 | 47 
 

Section 7 – Capital Programme 
 

24. Approved Capital Programme 
 

24.1 The Council’s Capital Programme includes various programmes, including the 
Council housing estate improvement and new-build programme, development 
of the new Civic Centre and expansion works at various schools, as well as 
improvements to transport links. 
 

24.2 Details of the Council’s 5-year programme are included within Appendix 7, 
whilst the new schemes being recommended to be adopted in the General 
Fund by Cabinet and Full Council are set out in Appendix 6. 

 
24.3 The tables below provide a summary of the Capital Programme, which reflects 

the scheme slippage from Quarter 3 of 2022/23. 
 

Table 2a: Approved Capital Programme Spend 

Capital Programme -  
2022/23 to 2027/28 

£m 

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 Total 
Future 
Years 

Total 

Children's Services 33.795 33.735 19.117 0.000 0.000 0.000 86.646 0.000 86.646 
Adults Services & Public 
Health  0.571 0.390 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.961 0.000 0.961 

Economy & Sustainability 37.797 71.467 31.150 27.369 1.443 0.792 170.219 (1.348) 168.871 

Housing & Environment 56.393 47.459 7.345 6.458 0.000 0.000 117.656 0.000 117.656 

Corporate Resources 34.984 147.585 96.625 20.776 18.636 14.667 333.273 78.582 411.855 

Strategy & Change 1.188 1.822 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 3.010 0.000 3.010 

Corporate Budget 0.000 0.994 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.994 0.000 0.994 

Total General Fund 164.728 303.452 154.437 54.603 20.079 15.460 712.759 77.234 789.993 

HRA 82.240 137.741 153.790 98.754 50.148 61.201 583.874 0.000 583.874 

Capital Programme Total 246.968 441.193 308.227 153.357 70.227 76.661 1,296.633 77.234 1,373.867 

 
Table 2b: Approved Capital Programme Funding for General Fund 

General Fund Capital 
Programme Funding -
2022/23 to 2027/28 

£m 

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 Total  
Future 
Years 

Total 

Mainstream Funding 83.991 206.343 135.824 54.603 (18.690) 15.460 477.530 56.589 534.119 

Capital Receipts 0.878 11.622 8.966 0.000 38.769 0.000 60.236 13.325 73.470 
Specific Funding 
(Split as Follows) 

79.859 85.488 9.647 0.000 0.000 0.000 174.994 7.410 182.404 

-Grant 72.159 52.488 7.387 0.000 0.000 0.000 132.034 0.000 132.034 
-Revenue Contribution 0.000 0.011 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.011 7.410 7.421 

-Reserve Drawdown 0.275 0.317 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0,592 0.000 0.592 

-Parking Revenue Account 1.026 2.570 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 3.595 0.000 3.595 

-Invest to Save 0.000 0.013 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.013 0.000 0.013 

-Partnership Contributions 3.535 20.361 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 23.896 0.000 23.896 

-S106 2.699 9.728 2.260 0.000 0.000 0.000 14.687 0.000 14,687 

-HRA Contribution 0.166 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.166 0.000 0.166 

Page 196



Capital Strategy 
 

P a g e  36 | 47 
 

General Fund Capital 
Programme Funding -
2022/23 to 2027/28 

£m 

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 Total  
Future 
Years 

Total 

Total Funding - General 
Fund  

164.728 303.452 154.437 54.603 20.079 15.460 712.759 77.234 789.993 

 
Table 2c: Approved Capital Programme Funding for HRA 

HRA Capital Programme 
Funding - 2021/22 to 
2026/27 

£M 

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 Total  
Future 
Years 

Total 

Mainstream Funding 35.818 78.691 124.534 49.122 31.367 34.396 353.929 0.000 353.929 

Capital Receipts 23.173 9.199 6.683 21.645 0.294 8.593 69.586 0.000 69.586 
Specific Funding 
(Split as Follows) 

23.249 49.851 22.573 27.987 18.487 18.211 160.358 0.000 160.358 

-Grant 11.899 33.478 6.275 11.484 0.000 0.000 63.136 0.000 63.136 

-Revenue Contribution 0.193 0.000 0.060 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.253 0.000 0.253 

-Reserve Drawdown 10.157 15.454 15.329 15.003 14.987 14.711 85.641 0.000 85.641 

-Partnership Contributions 0.500 0.500 0.500 0.500 0.500 0.500 3.000 0.000 3.000 

-HRA Contribution 0.500 0.419 0.409 1.000 3.000 3.000 8.328 0.000 8.328 

Total Funding - HRA 82.240 137.741 153.790 98.754 50.148 61.201 583.874 0.000 583.874 

 
 

25. Additions to the Capital Programme 
 

25.1 Appendix 6 of the Budget Strategy report sets out the new capital schemes 
that are being recommended to be adopted in the programme.  A total of 
£12.850m is being proposed to be added for the General Fund programme, 
of which £6.717m will be funded from borrowing and the remaining from 
other resources.  This is offset by a reduction in borrowing of £12.574m due 
to schemes to be decommissioned (section 26).  Table 3 below provides a 
summary of the capital additions. 

 
Table 3: Capital Programme Additions 

Department 
Capital Programme 2022/23 - 2027/28 £M 

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 Total 
Children’s Services 0.000 1.208 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 1.208 

Adults’ Service & Public Health 0.000 0.810 0.630 0.020 0.000 0.000 1.460 

Economy & Sustainability 0.000 5.116 1.190 0.875 0.775 0.000 7.956 

Environment & Housing 0.000 0.170 0.170 0.170 0.170 0.000 0.680 

Corporate Resources 0.000 1.221 0.000 0.000 0.325 0.000 1.546 

Capital Programme Additions 0.000 8.525 1.990 1.065 1.270 0.000 12.850 

Mainstream Funding 0.000 (3.202) (1.520 (0.895) (1.100) 0.000 (6.717) 

Capital Receipts 0.000 (0.526) 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 (0.526) 

Grant 0.000 (4.328) 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 (4.328) 

Parking Reserve 0.000 (0.170) (0.170 (0.170 (0.170 0.000 (0.680) 

Other Contribution 0.000 (0.300) (0.300) 0.000 0.000 0.000 (0.600) 

Total Funding 0.000 (8.525) (1.990) (1.065) (1.270) 0.000 (12.850) 

  

Page 197



Capital Strategy 
 

P a g e  37 | 47 
 

26. Decommissioning of Capital Projects 
 

26.1 A total of £12.574m is being decommissioned from the existing approved 
programme.  Appendix 6 of the Budget Strategy report sets out the capital 
scheme being recommended for decommissioning.  Table 4 below provides 
a summary by service department of the movements.  

 
     Table 4: Capital Programme Decommissioning 

Department 
Capital Programme 2022/23 - 2027/28 £M 

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 Total 
Corporate Budget 0.355 12.219 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 12.574 
Capital Programme 
Decommissioning 

0.355 12.219 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 12.574 

Mainstream Funding (0.355) (12.219) 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 (12.574) 

Total Funding (0.355) (12.219) 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 (12.574 

 
 

        

Page 198



Capital Strategy 

P a g e  38 | 47 
 

Section 8 – Other Long-Term Liabilities 
 

27. Service / Policy Investments 
 

27.1 The Council can lend money to third parties e.g. subsidiaries, special purpose 
vehicle, registered providers, suppliers, local business, local charities, housing 
associations, residents and its employees to support local public services and 
stimulate local economic growth. 
 

27.2 Details of the Council’s current service investment related loans are set out in 
the Treasury Management Strategy (Appendix 9). 

 
 
 

Page 199



Capital Strategy 

P a g e  39 | 47 
 

Section 9 – Risk Management 
 

28. Risk Management Overview 
 

28.1 This section considers the Council’s risk appetite in relation to its capital 
investments and commercial activities, i.e. the amount of risk that the Council 
is prepared to accept, tolerate, or be exposed to at any point in time. 
 

28.2 Risk will always exist and cannot be removed in its entirety; however, the 
Council should always perform a risk review to identify and understand any 
risks and how these can be mitigated and managed. 

 
28.3 Major capital schemes require careful management to mitigate, transfer or 

eliminate the potential risks which can arise. Where key risks or opportunities 
are identified they should be subject to the provisions and processes set out 
in the Council’s Corporate Risk Management Strategy. 

 

29. Managing Risk Effectively 
 
29.1 The Council recognises that maintaining a dynamic risk aware culture is vitally 

important as it goes through a period of significant change, with the increasing 
need to balance the effects of budget reductions, changes to services 
provided and possible increased demand. The benefits gained in managing 
risk effectively are improved strategic, operational and financial management, 
better decisions and outcome delivery, improved statutory compliance and 
ultimately improving the services that people receive. 

 
29.2 Risks specific to the delivery of the capital programme and Capital Strategy 

are managed by a range of processes and groups: 
 
 Financial risks (e.g. overspending, slippage and re-profiling) are managed 

through the Council’s financial monitoring process which is reported 
quarterly to SLT and Cabinet. 

 The progress of major projects is monitored through specific officer-led 
programme/project boards. 

 Any significant changes to the direction of financial or legal risks of any 
major scheme are reported to FSG, SLT and Cabinet. 
 

29.3 Risk Management Framework 
 

29.3.1 The Council has a strong risk management framework in place which provides 
a process for the identification, management and reporting of risks. The risk 
strategy, with the associated risk registers (strategic and departmental risk 
registers), plays an important part in the corporate governance structure of the 
Council. 
 

29.4 The above principle will also apply to Ealing’s wholly owned companies e.g. 
Broadway Living and Greater Ealing Ltd (GEL). 

Page 200



Capital Strategy 
 

P a g e  40 | 47 
 

30. Risk Profile 
 
30.1 Effective risk management means being risk aware, not risk averse. The 

Council believes that: 
 
 risk needs to be managed rather than avoided, and that its response to 

risk is proportionate; and 
 the amount of risk the Council is prepared to accept or be exposed to (its 

risk appetite) will vary according to the perceived significance of particular 
risks, as well as regulatory or legislative constraints. It may be prepared to 
take comparatively large risks in some areas and none at all in others. 

 

31. Other Assurance Frameworks 
 

31.1 In addition to the Council’s risk management framework, there are other 
assurance frameworks to provide management and Members the assurances 
required over processes and controls. 
 

31.2 The internal audit function has an audit programme whereby financial systems 
are reviewed on a rolling cycle. The findings and recommendations from these 
audits are reviewed and actioned by officers and Members are updated 
through the Audit Committee. 
 

31.3 External audit provides additional assurance over our capital processes, 
controls and management through their annual audit of our Statement of 
Accounts. 

Page 201



Annex A – Capitalisation Policy 

P a g e  41 | 47 
 

Section 10 – Knowledge and Skills 
 

32. Knowledge and Skills 
 
32.1 Both the Capital Programme and the Treasury Management Strategy are 

managed by teams of professionally qualified accountants with considerable 
experience of local government finance.  Officers maintain and develop their 
skills and knowledge through a programme of Continuous Professional 
Development and by attending various courses and conferences held by 
CIPFA and other sector experts on an ongoing basis.  
 

32.2 The Strategic Director of Corporate Resources in their capacity as Section 
151 has overall responsibility for ensuring the proper management of the 
Council’s capital programme, asset portfolio and treasury management 
activity and follows an ongoing CPD programme. 
 

 

Page 202



 

P a g e  42 | 47 
 

 

Annex A – Flexible Use of Capital Receipts 
Strategy 

Page 203



 

P a g e  43| 47 
 

1. Background 
 
1.1 The Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC), 

formerly MCHLG, direction1 gives councils the freedom to use capital receipts 
from the sale of their own assets (excluding Right to Buy receipts) to: 
 generate ongoing revenue savings in the delivery of public services;  
 transform service delivery to reduce costs; and/or 
 transform service delivery in a way that reduces costs or demand for 

services in future years for any of the public sector delivery partners. 
 
1.2 The key criteria is that the expenditure is forecast to generate ongoing savings 

to an authority’s net service expenditure. 
 

1.3 From 2018/19 Ealing has taken advantage of this flexibility.  
 

1.4 Extension from 1 April 2022 
 

1.5 The original policy ran until the end of 2021/22, however the then MHCLG 
announced in February 2021 that it would be extended for another three years. 

 
1.6 Updated guidance was subsequently published in August 2022, the main 

change being that it is not permitted to use capital receipts generated by a 
disposal to an entity within the authority’s ‘group structure’.  

 
2. Legislation and Guidance 
 
2.1 Under the updated guidance on flexible use of capital receipts issued under 

section 15 (1)(a) of the Local Government Act 2003 and effective from 1 April 
2016, local authorities have the freedom to use capital receipts from the sale 
of their own assets (excluded Right to Buy receipts) to help fund the revenue 
costs of transformation projects and release savings.  

 
2.2 The guidance is not prescriptive about the content of a council’s Flexible Use 

of Capital Receipts strategy but requires the strategy to be approved either as 
part of the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) or separately.  

 
2.3 Accountability 

 
2.3.1 Councils are required to disclose the individual projects that will be funded, or 

part-funded through the capital receipts flexibility to Full Council or the 
equivalent. This requirement can be satisfied as part of the annual budget 
setting process, through the MTFS or equivalent.  
 

2.3.2 The DLUHC guidance recommends that the Council produces a Flexible Use 
of Capital Receipts Strategy setting out details of projects to be funded through 
the flexible use of capital receipts, prior to the start of each financial year. 

 
1 Statutory Guidance on Flexible Use of Capital Receipts issued by the Department for Levelling Up, Housing 
and Communities (formerly MCHLG) (March 2016) and MCHLG Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Direction 
Issued February 2018 

Page 204



Annex A – Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy 
 

P a g e  46| 47 
 

Failure to meet this requirement does not mean that an authority cannot 
access the flexibility in that year, however, in this instance, the strategy should 
be presented to Full Council at the earliest possible opportunity.  The guidance 
allows councils to update their strategy during the year.  
 

2.3.3 It is a condition of the direction that authorities must send details setting out 
their planned use of the flexibility to the Secretary of State, in advance of its 
use for each financial year.  Authorities may, however, update their plans and 
resubmit to the Secretary of State during the financial year.  

 
3. Ealing’s Transformation Programme 
 
3.1 The strategy approved by Council in February 2022 was in respect of eligible 

costs on resourcing the service outcome reviews which have or will support 
the delivery of the savings plans in the MTFS.  
 

3.2 The projects within the Transformation Programme are included in the 
current capital programme. 
 

3.3 Current Transformation Programme Budget 
 

3.3.1 The Transformation Programme funding supports the delivery of a number of 
outcome reviews intended to deliver council priorities (at that time) of 
delivering efficiencies and value for money whilst mitigating the impact on 
outcomes for the community and improving these where possible. In March 
2022, Full Council approved the current transformation programme to support 
delivery of the £13.320m of approved saving plans detailed in the 2022/23 
Budget Strategy report to Council. These savings plans are summarised in 
the table below.  

 
Table 1: 2022/23 Savings Supported by Transformation Programme 

Saving Summary 
2022/23 

£M 
2023/24 

£M 
2024/25 

£M 
2025/26 

£M 
Savings 
Total £M 

 
             

Climate Action £0.000 £0.000 £0.000 £0.000 £0.000  

Healthy Lives £5.281 £0.683 £0.229 £0.000 £6.192  

Fairer Start £0.675 £0.000 £0.000 £0.000 £0.675  

Inclusive Economy £1.515 £0.495 (£0.124) £0.000 £1.886  

Genuinely affordable homes  £0.665 £0.479 (£0.219) £0.000 £0.925  

Good Growth £0.000 £0.000 £0.000 £0.000 £0.000  

             

Total Gross Savings £11.209 £2.100 (£0.050) £0.062 £13.320  

              

 

3.3.2 The table below sets out the current approved project funded through this 
programme.

Page 205



 

P a g e  45| 47 
 

 
Table 2: 2022/23 Transformation Programme Agreed Projects 

Transformation Programme Projects 
Cost 

Estimate 
£M 

Total Saving 
2022/23 - 

2025/26 (£M) 

Project 
Delivery 

Increasing the value realised from 
the council's reablement services 

1.200 (5.038) 
31 March 

2025 
 

3.3.3 Funding was also provided to support delivery of transformation work in the 
planning process. 
 

3.3.4 Delivery of the outcome reviews is supported by the central Project 
Management Office (PMO) and tracked through Project Delivery Boards, and 
reported to SLT and to Members. All of the programmes are currently in 
delivery.  
 

3.4 New Flexible Use of Capital Receipts programme from 2023/24 
 

3.4.1 It is proposed that the future Flexible Use of Capital Receipts programme 
would encompass work relating to supporting the delivery of the savings being 
recommended for approval at the February 2023 Cabinet meeting as 
summarised below. 

 
Table 3: 2023/24 Savings to be Supported by the Transformation Programme 

Saving Summary 
2023/24 

£M 
2024/25 

£M 
2025/26 

£M 
2026/27 

£M 

Savings 
Total 

£M  
             

Climate Action £3.167 £1.018 £0.954 £0.261 £5.400  

Fairer Start £3.017 £0.622 £2.246 £0.717 £6.602  

Inclusive Economy £0.265 £0.045 £0.045 £0.045 £0.400  

Genuinely affordable homes  £1.000 (£1.000) £0.000 £0.000 £0.000  

Good Growth £1.187 £0.020 £0.020 £0.020 £1.247  

Thriving Communities (£0.316) £0.509 £0.416 £0.122 £0.731  

Organisational Priorities £1.831 (£1.519) £0.018 £0.018 £0.348  

             

Total Gross Savings £10.151 (£0.305) £3.699 £1.183 £14.728  

              

 
3.4.2 The forecasted spend for the project will be contained with the previously 

approved £2m on resourcing service outcome reviews which have or will 
support the delivery of the savings plans detailed in the ‘Budget Strategy and 
MTFS 2023/24 to 2025/26’. 

 
3.4.3 There is no impact on the Council’s revenue treasury budgets from the use of 

capital receipts in this way. The Council has sufficient resources to set aside 
funds in-line with agreed spend profile for the relevant years in advance. SLT 
will be kept abreast of progress towards achieving the savings alongside the 
financial cost and funding position to allow for SLT to evaluate, pause and 
reassess the programme, where required. 

Page 206



Annex A – Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy 
 

P a g e  46| 47 
 

 
3.4.4 Full Council will be asked to approve in principle the programme at the 8 

March 2023 meeting and also to provide delegation to the Strategic Director 
of Corporate Resources (Section 151 Officer) to sign-off the programme 
meeting the published DLUHC criteria as set out in updated guidance. 
 

3.5 Updated Programme and Budget 
 

3.5.1 Overall, the updated programme is currently estimated to remain within the 
previously approved c£2m budget supporting to deliver in total c£28m of 
savings over 2022/23 to 2026/27.  
 

Table 4: 2022/23 to 2025/26 and 2023/24 to 2026/27 Savings Programme  

Saving Summary 
2022/23 

£M 
2023/24 

£M 
2024/25 

£M 
2025/26 

£M 
2026/27 

£M 
Savings 
Total £M  

               

MTFS Savings Programme 
Approved February 2022 

£11.209 £2.100 (£0.050) £0.062 n/a £13.320  

MTFS Savings Programme 
subject to approval by Cabinet 
in February 2023 

n/a £10.151 (£0.305) £3.699 £1.183 £14.728  

               

Total Gross Savings £11.209 £12.251 (£0.355) £3.761 £1.183 £28.048  

                

 
3.6 Eligible Capital Receipts 

 
3.6.1 The Council holds sufficient earmarked eligible capital receipts to fund this 

spend. Utilising general capital receipts for this purpose will mean that 
borrowing for the existing capital programme will need to increase and the 
associated borrowing costs will have an impact on revenue. However, the 
borrowing costs will have a lower impact on revenue than the existing revenue 
contribution required to the capital programme and will not take Ealing outside 
its existing prudential indicators (as set out in the Treasury Management 
Strategy) regarding the affordability of its borrowing. 

Page 207



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Appendix 9 

 
 

Treasury 
Management 

Strategy Statements, 
MRP Strategy and 
Annual Investment 
Strategy 2023/24 

 February 2023 

Page 209



Treasury Management Strategy Statements, MRP Strategy & Annual Investment Strategy 

P a g e  2 | 57 
 

 

Contents 

Section 1 – Overview 3 

1. Background 3 
2. Reporting Requirements 4 
3. Treasury Management Reporting 5 

Section 2 – Treasury Management Strategy for 2023/24 7 

4. 2023/24 Strategy Overview 7 
5. Money Market Funds (MMFs) 8 
6. Training 9 
7. Treasury Management Consultants 9 
8. Pension Fund Cash 10 
9. West London Waste Authority (WLWA) Cash 10 
10. MIFID II 10 
11. Prudential Indicators 11 
12. Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy Statement 11 
13. Core funds and expected investment balances 12 
14. Affordability Prudential Indicators 12 
15. Borrowing 12 
16. Liability Benchmark 15 
17. Treasury Indicators 16 
18. Economic Background and Interest Rate Forecasts 17 
19. Borrowing Strategy 2023/24 19 
20. Annual Investment Strategy 23 
21. Financial Implications 23 
22. Balanced Budget Requirement 23 

Annex 1 – Treasury Management Policy Statement 25 

Annex 2 – Treasury Management Scheme of Delegation 27 

Annex 3 – Prudential Indicators 30 

Annex 4 – MRP Policy Statement 37 

Annex 5 – Investment Strategy 42 

 
 
 

Page 210



Treasury Management Strategy Statements, MRP Strategy & Annual Investment Strategy 
 

P a g e  3 | 57 
 

 

Section 1 – Overview 
 

1. Background 
 
1.1 The Council is required to operate a balanced budget i.e. cash raised during 

the year will meet cash expenditure. In pursuit of this objective, amongst other 
things, the Council operates a treasury management function which 
incorporates the management of the Council’s cash flows, lending and 
borrowing activities and the control management and mitigation of the risks 
associated with these activities.  
 

1.2 Borrowing facilitates the funding of the Council’s capital programme. The 
Council’s capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing need of the Council, 
essentially the longer-term cash flow planning, to ensure that the Council can 
meet its capital spending obligations. This management of longer-term cash 
may involve arranging long or short-term loans or using longer term cash flow 
surpluses. If the right circumstances prevail, debt previously drawn may be 
restructured to meet Council risk or cost objectives.  
 

1.3 The contribution the treasury management function makes to the Council is 
critical, as the balance of debt and investment operations ensure liquidity and 
the ability to meet spending commitments as they fall due, either on day-to-
day revenue or for larger capital projects. The treasury operations will maintain 
the balance between the interest costs of debt and the investment income 
arising from cash deposits to manage the available budget. Since cash 
balances generally result from reserves and balances, it is paramount to 
ensure adequate security of the sums invested, as a loss of principal will in 
effect result in a loss to the General Fund balance 
 

1.4 Although policy spending initiatives or loans to third parties will impact on the 
treasury function, these activities are generally classed as non-treasury 
activities (arising usually from capital expenditure) and are separate from the 
day to day treasury management activities.  
 

1.5 The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) defines 
treasury management as: 
 
“The management of the local authority’s borrowing, investments and cash 
flows, its banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective 
control of the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum 
performance consistent with those risks.” 
 

1.6 Revised reporting has been required since 2018/19 due to revisions of the 
Ministry for Housing Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) (now the 
Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC)) 
Investment Guidance, the MHCLG Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) 
Guidance, the CIPFA Prudential Code and the CIPFA Treasury Management 
Code.  The primary reporting changes included the introduction of a 
requirement for all local authorities to have a capital strategy, to provide a 

Page 211



Treasury Management Strategy Statements, MRP Strategy & Annual Investment Strategy 
 

P a g e  4 | 57 
 

longer-term focus to the capital plans, and greater reporting requirements 
surrounding any commercial activity undertaken under the Localism Act 2011 
especially using the ‘General Powers of Competence’ provision.  The capital 
strategy is being reported separately, though some key prudential indicators 
will be retained within this document.  

 

2. Reporting Requirements 
 

2.1 CIPFA revised the Prudential and Treasury Management Codes in December 
2021,  these updates were implemented by the Council in 2022/23.  The 
Prudential Codes requires all local authorities to prepare an additional report, 
a capital strategy report, which will provide the following:  
 
 a high-level long-term overview of how capital expenditure, capital 

financing and treasury management activity contribute to the provision of 
services; 

 an overview of how the associated risk is managed; and 
 the implications for future financial sustainability. 

 
2.2 The aim is to ensure that all elected Members fully understand the long-term 

policy objectives and resulting capital strategy requirements, governance 
procedures and risk appetite. 
 

2.3 The expected income, costs and contributions, debt and associated interest 
costs and the MRP policy are included in the Treasury Management Strategy. 
The Capital Strategy and Treasury Management Strategy have been reviewed 
to ensure compliance with the updated requirements across the two 
strategies.   
 

2.4 Non-treasury investments are reported through the Capital Strategy. This 
ensures the separation of the core treasury function under security, liquidity 
and yield principles, and the service and policy investments usually driven by 
expenditure on an asset.  The capital strategy outlines: 
 
 the corporate governance arrangements for these types of activities; 
 any service objectives relating to the investments; 
 the expected income, costs and resulting contribution;  
 the debt related to the activity and the associated interest costs;  
 the payback period (Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) policy);  
 for non-loan type investments, the cost against the current market value; 

and 
 the risks associated with each activity. 

 
 

2.5 Should a physical asset be bought for investment purposes, details of market 
research, advisers used (and their monitoring), ongoing costs and investment 
requirements and any credit information will be disclosed, including the ability 
to sell the asset and realise the investment cash. 
 

Page 212



Treasury Management Strategy Statements, MRP Strategy & Annual Investment Strategy 
 

P a g e  5 | 57 
 

2.6 If any non-treasury investment sustains a loss this will be reported through the 
final accounts, outturn and audit process, including the strategy and revenue 
implications. 
 

2.7 To demonstrate the proportionality between the treasury operations and the 
non-treasury operation, high-level comparators are shown throughout this 
strategy document. 
 

3. Treasury Management Reporting 
 

3.1 The Local Government Act 2003 (the Act) and supporting regulations requires 
the Council to ‘have regard to’ the CIPFA Prudential Code and the CIPFA 
Treasury Management Code of Practice (Treasury Code) to set prudential and 
treasury indicators for the next three years to ensure that the Council’s capital 
investment plans are affordable, prudent and sustainable. The Council must 
also have regard to the DLUHC statutory guidance, Capital finance: guidance 
on minimum revenue provision.   
 

3.2 In pursuit of the above, the Council must produce as a minimum three treasury 
reports each year: 
 

a) Treasury Strategy, a requirement fulfilled by the production of this 
strategy document which includes: 
 capital plans (including prudential indicators);  
 minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy;  
 the treasury management strategy (including treasury indicators); and  
 an investment strategy; 

b) A mid-year report which updates members on treasury progress, the 
capital position, the prudential indicators (and any amendments) and 
whether any strategies or policies require revision; and 

c) An annual treasury outturn report (a backward looking review). 
 

3.3 Full Council approves the Treasury Strategy as part of the annual budget-
setting process. This appendix sets out the Treasury Strategy for 2023/24. 
 

3.4 The scrutiny of the treasury management function within the Council is 
undertaken by Audit Committee, which carries out quarterly reviews. 
 

3.5 The Council is also required to comply, and its Investment Strategy is 
compliant with, the  DLUHC investment guidance, revised in 2018.  
 

3.6 The Treasury Code was adopted by Council on the 9 March 2010. This 
strategy report complies with the revised Treasury Code. 
  

3.7 In addition to the reporting schedule outlined above the Code requires the:  
 
 Creation and maintenance of a treasury management policy statement 

which sets out the policies and objectives of the Council’s treasury 

Page 213



Treasury Management Strategy Statements, MRP Strategy & Annual Investment Strategy 
 

P a g e  6 | 57 
 

management activities. The Treasury Management Policy Statement is 
attached for reapproval as Annex 1. 
 

 Creation and maintenance of Treasury Management Practices (TMPs) 
which set out the way the Council will seek to achieve those policies and 
objectives; these are maintained and kept under review by officers.  
 

 Delegation by the Council of responsibilities for implementing and 
monitoring treasury management policies and practices and for the 
execution and administration of treasury management decisions. The 
scheme of delegation is attached as Annex 2. 

 
3.8 The Council complies with the necessary requirements and its governance 

process is strengthened by its Treasury Risk and Investment Board (TRIB), 
which meets regularly to support the Strategic Director of Corporate 
Resources (Section 151) in the execution of their delegated powers.  

 

Page 214



Treasury Management Strategy Statements, MRP Strategy & Annual Investment Strategy 

P a g e  7 | 57 
 

Section 2 – Treasury Management Strategy for 2023/24 
 

4. 2023/24 Strategy Overview 
 
4.1 The Treasury Management Strategy for 2023/24 addresses capital issues 

including capital expenditure plans, prudential indicators, MRP and other 
treasury management issues such as the investment strategy and 
creditworthiness policy. 
 

4.2 The proposed Treasury Management Strategy and Policy for the remainder of 
2022/23 and for financial year 2023/24 adheres to the Council’s policy on 
investments of “safety before returns” and investments are currently being 
placed with the following: 

 
 United Kingdom (UK) Government (Debt Management Office); 
 The Council’s banker (Lloyds Bank); 
 Nationwide; and 
 Money Market Funds (see point 5 for regulatory changes to MMFs 

introduced from 21 January 2019). 
 

4.3 Although current investments are per above, the investment parameters 
permissible under the Treasury Management Strategy are much broader as 
outlined in the Annual Investment Strategy (Annex 5) under specified and non-
specified investments.  After due consideration the Strategic Director of 
Corporate Resources (Section 151) can invest in any of the 
instruments/strategies if satisfied that the rewards are within acceptable risk 
parameters. 
 

4.4 The proposed Treasury Management Strategy for 2023/24 is based upon 
treasury officers’ views on interest rates and market forecasts (supplemented 
by forecasts provided by the Council’s treasury advisors, Link Asset Services). 
The proposals in this report will assist the Council in mitigating risk in the 
treasury management activities and allow the borrowing necessary to finance 
the capital programme. 

 
4.5 The strategy report covers: 

 
 Pension Fund and West London Waste Authority cash; 
 Capital Plans and Prudential Indicators;  
 MRP; 
 Borrowing (para 8); 
 Treasury Limits for 2023/24 to 2025/26; 
 Economic Background; 
 Borrowing Strategy;  
 Debt Rescheduling; 
 Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Self Financing; 
 Annual Investment Strategy; 
 Financial Implications; 

Page 215



Treasury Management Strategy Statements, MRP Strategy & Annual Investment Strategy 
 

P a g e  8 | 57 
 

 Balanced Budget Requirement; 
 Treasury Management Policy Statement; and 
 Scheme of Delegation. 

 
4.6 The strategy incorporates the requirements of the Local Government Act 

2003, the CIPFA Prudential Code, DLUHC MRP Guidance, the CIPFA 
Treasury Code and DLUHC Investment Guidance. 

 

5. Money Market Funds (MMFs) 
 
5.1 Officers have previously reported that some MMFs faced difficulty during the 

global financial crisis, so the European Commission proposed new rules to 
safeguard investors. The changes to MMFs came into effect from January 
2019. 
 
Summary of Revised Rules 

5.2 The revised regulations focus on the structure, composition, liquidity 
requirements, fees, redemption gates and understanding investor behaviour 
and information reporting. MMFs are categorised into structural options within 
the two categories below. 

 

Structural Options 
Short-Term 

Money Market 
Funds 

Standard 
Money Market 

Funds 

Government Constant Net Asset Value 
(CNAV) 

x  

Low Volatility Net Asset Value 
(LVNAV) 

x  

Variable Net Asset Value (VNAV) x x 

 

5.3 Until changes were introduced European MMFs had CNAV and VNAV funds 
and the Council only used only CNAV funds. CNAV funds have now been 
restricted to government portfolios while a revised structural option for non-
government funds, the Low Volatility Net Asset Value (LVNAV) MMF was 
introduced. 
 

5.4 LVNAV MMFs retain stable NAV to two decimal places provided the fund is 
managed to certain maturity and liquidity constraints. If these constraints are 
breached the funds must be marked to market. The board of the MMF can 
take protective action in times of market stress or when more than 10% of the 
fund is redeemed in one day. These include gating or restricting the amount 
that can be drawn down in one day and levying liquidity fees on investors.   
 

Page 216



Treasury Management Strategy Statements, MRP Strategy & Annual Investment Strategy 
 

P a g e  9 | 57 
 

5.5 Currently the Council restricts its use of MMFs to CNAV and LVNAV funds 
although the strategy permits the use VNAV MMF should this be deemed 
appropriate at a future date. 
 

6. Training 
 

6.1 The Treasury Code requires the responsible officer to ensure that members 
with responsibility for treasury management receive adequate training on 
treasury management and related issues. This especially applies to Members 
responsible for scrutiny, who regularly receive training.  
 

6.2 Audit Committee members are scheduled to receive training this financial year 
to be delivered by the Council’s treasury management advisers. The training 
needs of treasury management officers are met through attendance at 
relevant courses, conferences and forums and are periodically reviewed and 
addressed as part of the Council’s appraisal scheme.  

 

7. Treasury Management Consultants 
 

7.1 The Council uses Link Asset Services, as its external treasury management 
advisors. The Council recognises that responsibility for treasury management 
decisions remains with the organisation at all times and will ensure that undue 
reliance is not placed upon external service providers. All decisions will be 
undertaken with regards to all available information, including, but not solely, 
treasury advisers. 
 

7.2 The Council also recognises that there is value in employing external 
providers of treasury management services to access specialist skills and 
resources. The Council will ensure that the terms of their appointment and the 
methods by which their value will be assessed are properly agreed and 
documented and subjected to regular review.  

 
7.3 The scope of investments within the Council’s operations now includes both 

conventional treasury investments (the placing of residual cash from the 
Council’s functions) and more policy/ service driven investments, such as 
policy loans for housing.  The policy investments require specialist advisers, 
and the Council uses Link Asset Services and other commercial and legal 
advisors in relation to this activity. 

  

Page 217



Treasury Management Strategy Statements, MRP Strategy & Annual Investment Strategy 
 

P a g e  10 | 57 
 

8. Pension Fund Cash  
 

8.1 The Council’s arrangement for pension fund cash changed from 1 April 2011 
to meet the requirements of (then) MHCLG regulations. In the past all pension 
fund transactions flowed through the Council’s main bank account with 
monthly transfers to and from the Pension Fund bank account to manage 
surplus and deficit cash positions.  A separate Pension Fund ledger has been 
operational since December 2018, to enable comprehensive and ring-fenced 
use of the Pension Fund bank account. All money due to/owed by Pension 
Fund to the Council is treated as a Debtor/Creditor and cash transfers are 
made to/from Pension Bank account for settlement.  
     

8.2 All surplus Pension Fund cash will continue to be transferred monthly to the 
Custodian’s (BNY Mellon) bank account where it is swept for overnight 
investment into a money market bank account. Pension Fund cash retained 
locally to manage cash flow will be invested in either the Pension Fund MMF 
or fixed term deposits. 
 

8.3 The Council is responsible for managing the pension fund cash (that may be 
retained in house) in accordance with this Treasury Management Strategy. 
The Pension Fund Panel is updated of progress on a quarterly basis. 

 

9. West London Waste Authority (WLWA) Cash  
 

9.1 From 1 April 2014, the London Borough of Ealing started to carry out treasury 
management services for the WLWA. There are significant benefits in the 
WLWA engaging with one of the boroughs to provide treasury management 
services on their behalf. 
 

9.2 During 2022/23 WLWA transferred their excess funds to the Council to be 
invested jointly and to have investments with Nationwide (£18m). They will 
earn the average interest rate achieved by the Council based on their average 
balance and the rate invested directly with Nationwide on their behalf. The 
WLWA has also subscribed to Link Asset Management Services and they will 
mirror the Council’s investment strategy. 
 

9.3 The performance of the treasury management service is reviewed from time 
to time. The annual charge for the WLWA using the Council’s treasury 
management services has been agreed for at £7,700 and the current service 
contract will run to 2022/23. A contract extension of 2 years is expected to be 
signed in 2023. 

 

10. MIFID II 
 

10.1 As reported in previous years, on the 3 January 2018, the EU Market in 
Financial Instruments Directive II (MiFID II) came into effect and requires 
regulated bodies to classify Local Authorities as retail clients, unless they 
provide evidence that they should be opted up to ‘professional client’ status.   
 

Page 218



Treasury Management Strategy Statements, MRP Strategy & Annual Investment Strategy 
 

P a g e  11 | 57 
 

10.2 The Council has opted up to ‘professional client’ categorisation with all brokers 
and counterparties. In order to achieve this, the Council had to provide 
evidence that it held an investment balance of at least £10m and that the 
person(s) authorised to make investment decisions on behalf of the authority 
has at least one year’s relevant professional experience. The Council currently 
meets these criteria and training needs will be regularly monitored to ensure 
compliance. 

  

11. Prudential Indicators 
 

11.1 The Local Government Act 2003 and supporting regulations requires the 
Council to ‘have regard to’ the Prudential Code and to set Prudential Indicators 
for the next three years to ensure that the Council’s capital investment plans 
are affordable, prudent and sustainable. 

 
11.2 The Council’s Prudential Indicators for the period 2023/24 – 2025/26 are set 

out in Annex 3 and Full Council is asked to approve these. 
 

11.3 The benefit of the indicators are derived from monitoring them over time rather 
than the absolute value of each. A reporting schedule is maintained, with a 
mid-year report to Full Council to highlight any significant deviations from 
expectations. The indicators can be amended and reported to Full Council for 
approval at the earliest opportunity.  The updated Prudential Indicators 
schedule will be taken to Full Council in March 2023. 
 

11.4 The indicators for later years are broad estimates since a number of factors 
including the level of Government support beyond 2023/24 are not firmed up. 
These estimates will be revised, as more accurate information becomes 
available. 

 

12. Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy Statement   
 
12.1 Changes to statutory guidance for MRP were introduced effective from 

2019/20. 
 

12.2 The key changes were that: 
 
 The option to calculate MRP in retrospect thereby creating a credit or a 

reduction in MRP for future years was closed, though the ability to reset a 
provision prospectively remains – any changes should use the residual 
CFR at that point in time; 
 

 MRP should not be £nil in any year – unless CFR is nil or negative or a 
voluntary MRP is being clawed back; 
 

 Maximum asset life is 50 years unless supported by expert opinion; and 
 

Page 219



Treasury Management Strategy Statements, MRP Strategy & Annual Investment Strategy 
 

P a g e  12 | 57 
 

 Where the asset life methodology (option 3) is being used,  the guidance 
is prescriptive on the maximum number of years over which the type of 
expenditure can be written off – in the absence of a quantifiable asset life, 
25 years is considered the reasonable default. 

 
12.3 Full Council is asked to approve the MRP policy statement as set out in Annex 

4. 
 

13. Core funds and expected investment balances 
 

13.1 The application of resources (capital receipts, reserves etc.) to either finance 
capital expenditure or other budget decisions to support the revenue budget 
will have an ongoing impact on investments unless resources are 
supplemented each year from new sources (asset sales etc.). Outlined below 
are estimates of the year end balances on investments. 

 
Table 1: Estimate of Year End Balance  

 
 

14. Affordability Prudential Indicators 
 

14.1 Within this framework prudential indicators are required to assess the 
affordability of the capital investment plans. These provide an indication of the 
impact of the capital investment plans on the Council’s overall finances. Full 
Council is asked to approve the indicators as set out in Annex 3. 

 

15. Borrowing 
 

15.1 The capital expenditure plans set out in this strategy document outline service 
activity for the Council. The treasury management function ensures that the 
Council adheres to the relevant treasury codes of practice as well as 
organising the Council’s cash flow and borrowing needs to meet the 
requirements of service activity. It is a statutory requirement under the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992, for the Council to produce a balanced budget. 
Section 31A and S31B requires a local authority to calculate its budget 
requirement for each financial year to include the revenue costs that flow from 
capital financing decisions. This means that increases in capital expenditure 
must be limited to a level whereby increases in charges to revenue from: 
 
 increases in interest charges caused by increased borrowing to finance 

additional capital expenditure; and 
 any increases in running costs from new capital projects 
 
are limited to a level which is affordable, prudent and sustainable within the 
projected income of the Council for the foreseeable future.  

2021/22  
Outturn

2022/23 
Estimate

2023/24 
Estimate

2024/25 
Estimate

2025/26 
Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m

Expected Investments 410 574 340 300 310

Year End Resources

Page 220



Treasury Management Strategy Statements, MRP Strategy & Annual Investment Strategy 
 

P a g e  13 | 57 
 

 
15.2 The strategy document covers the relevant treasury/ prudential indicators, the 

current and projected debt positions and the annual investment strategy. 
 

15.3 The Council’s current treasury management portfolio position is set out in table 
2A and 2B below. The overall portfolio as at the 31 March 2022 and the 
position at 31 December 2022 are shown below for borrowing and 
investments. 

 
Table 2A: Treasury Management Portfolio 

 
 
15.4 The Council’s projections for borrowing are summarised below. Table 2B 

shows the actual external debt against the underlying capital borrowing need, 
(the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR)), highlighting any over or under 
borrowing. 

  

Actual Actual Current Current
31.3.2022 31.3.2022 31.12.2022 31.12.2022

£000 % £000 %
Treasury Investments

Banks 30,000 5.67% 22,000 3.97%
Building Societies - Unrated 0 0.00% 0 0.00%
Building Societies - Rated 3,000 0.57% 18,000 3.25%
Local Authorities 0 0.00% 0 0.00%
DMADF (HM Treasury) 492,000 93.05% 456,500 82.44%
Money Market Funds 0 0.00% 45,000 8.13%
Other 3,725 0.70% 12,252 2.21%
Certificate Of Deposit 0 0.00% 0 0.00%
Total Managed In House 528,725 100.00% 553,752 100.00%
Bond Funds - 0.00% 0 0.00%
Property Funds - 0.00% 0 0.00%
Total Managed Externally - 0.00% 0 0.00%
Total Treasury Investments 528,725 100.00% 553,752 100.00%

Treasury External Borrowing
Local Authorities
PWLB 773,130 87.09% 757,232 83.51%
LOBOs 78,000 8.79% 78,000 11.85%
Market Fixed Term Loan 10,000 1.13% 10,000 1.52%
Other 26,650 3.00% 32,125 3.12%
Total External Borrowing 887,780 100.00% 877,357 100.00%

Net Treasury Investments / 
(Borrowing)

(359,055) 100.00% (323,605) 100.00%

TREASURY PORTFOLIO

Page 221



Treasury Management Strategy Statements, MRP Strategy & Annual Investment Strategy 
 

P a g e  14 | 57 
 

Table 2B: Actual External Debt against Capital Borrowing Need 

 
Note: **The table shows the impact of not externally borrowing (using the Council’s cash 
balances/ investments to internally fund underlying borrowing). This policy is under constant 
review. 

 
15.5 Within the above figures the level of debt relating to non-treasury activities i.e. 

policy investment is: 
 
Table 3: External Debt for Policy Investments (including Housing Loans) / non-treasury 
investments  

 
 
15.6 Within the range of prudential indicators there are a number of indicators to 

ensure that the Council operates its activities within well-defined limits. One of 
these is that the Council needs to ensure that its gross debt does not, except 
in the short term, exceed the total of the CFR in the preceding year plus the 
estimates of any additional CFR for 2023/24 and the following two financial 
years. This allows some flexibility for limited early borrowing for future years 
but ensures that borrowing is not undertaken for revenue or speculative 
purposes. 

 
15.7 The Strategic Director of Corporate Resources (Section 151) reports that the 

Council complied with this prudential indicator in the current year and does 
not envisage difficulties for the future. This view considers current 
commitments, existing plans, and the proposals in this budget report.   

 

2021/22  
Outturn

2022/23 
Estimate

2023/24 
Estimate

2024/25 
Estimate

2025/26 
Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
External Debt
Debt at 1 April 658.499 887.780 877.357 872.301 861.944
Expected change in Debt +/- 229.281 (10.423) (5.056) (10.357) 39.104
Actual gross debt at 31 March 887.780 877.357 872.301 861.944 901.048
The Capital Financing 
Requirement (CFR)

729.813 830.344 1,082.510 1,319.185 1,369.057

Under / (Over) borrowing (157.967) (47.013) 210.209 457.241 468.009
Other long-term liabilities (OLTL) 100.968 95.151 94.401 82.168 74.959
Expected change in OLTL (5.817) (0.750) (12.233) (7.209) (7.792)
OLTL Total 95.151 94.401 82.168 74.959 67.167

 

2021/22  
Outturn

2022/23 
Estimate

2023/24 
Estimate

2024/25 
Estimate

2025/26 
Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
Actual debt at 31 March £m               90.98               30.00             141.55               92.00               20.43 
Percentage of total external debt 
%

10% 3% 16% 11% 2%

Page 222



Treasury Management Strategy Statements, MRP Strategy & Annual Investment Strategy 
 

P a g e  15 | 57 
 

16. Liability Benchmark 
 

16.1 A new prudential indicator for 2023/24 is the Liability Benchmark (LB).  The 
Council is required to estimate and measure the LB for the forthcoming 
financial year and the following two financial years, as a minimum. 

16.2 There are four components to the Liability Benchmark: - 

1. Existing loan debt outstanding: existing loans that are still outstanding in future 
years.   

2. Loans CFR: this is calculated in accordance with the loans CFR definition in the 
Prudential Code and projected into the future based on approved prudential 
borrowing and planned MRP.  

3. Net loans requirement: this will show the gross loan debt less treasury 
management investments at the last financial year-end, projected into the future 
and based on its approved prudential borrowing, planned MRP and any other major 
cash flows forecast.  

4. Liability benchmark (or gross loans requirement): this equals net loans 
requirement plus short-term liquidity allowance.  

 
16.3 Liability Benchmark charts for General Fund (GF) and HRA: 
 

 
 

16.3.1 For the GF liability benchmarking, the Council is showing an overborrowed 
position relative to its CFR, the reason for the overborrowing is that the Council 
took advantage of the low interest rates borrowings in 2021/22 to fund its 
planned capital programme. However, the overborrowing position will be 
reduced in the next couple years. 

Page 223



Treasury Management Strategy Statements, MRP Strategy & Annual Investment Strategy 
 

P a g e  16 | 57 
 

 

 
 

16.3.2 For the HRA liability benchmarking, the comparison between the current 
borrowing portfolio and the liability benchmark indicates a borrowing need. 
Currently the interest rates are not favourable for the new borrowings and 
interest rates are expected to fall in the coming years and at which point the 
Council will consider undertaking HRA borrowing. 
 

17. Treasury Indicators 
 

17.1 Treasury Limits for 2023/24 to 2025/26 
 

17.1.1 It is a statutory duty under Section 3 of the Local Government Act 2003 and 
supporting regulations for the Council to determine and keep under review 
how much it can afford to borrow. The amount so determined is termed the 
“Affordable Borrowing Limit”. In England and Wales, the Authorised Limit 
represents the legislative limit specified in the Act. 
 

17.1.2 The Council must have regard to the Prudential Code when setting the 
Authorised Limit, which essentially requires it to ensure that total capital 
investment remains within sustainable limits and that the impact upon its future 
council tax and council rent levels is ‘acceptable’. 

 
17.1.3 Whilst termed an “Affordable Borrowing Limit”, the capital plans considered 

for inclusion incorporate financing by both external borrowing and other forms 
of liability, such as credit arrangements. The Authorised Limit is to be set, on 
a rolling basis, for the forthcoming financial year and two successive financial 
years, details of the Authorised Limit are set out in Annex 3. 

 

Page 224



Treasury Management Strategy Statements, MRP Strategy & Annual Investment Strategy 
 

P a g e  17 | 57 
 

18. Economic Background and Interest Rate Forecasts 
 

18.1 Link Asset Services, as treasury adviser, assists the Council in formulating a 
view on interest rate forecasts. The following table outlines the Link Asset 
Services view. It should be noted that the Public Works Loans Board (PWLB) 
offers a certainty rate discount of 0.20% to local authorities who provide 
specified information on their plans for capital spending and the associated 
longer-term borrowing. The Council has applied and qualifies to borrow at the 
certainty rate. 

 
Table 4: Link Interest Rate Forecast  

 
 

18.2 The UK Gross Domestic Product (GDP) shrank 0.3% on quarter in the three 
months to September of 2022, slightly more than a preliminary estimate of a 
0.2% drop. Household expenditure dropped 1.1%, while business investment 
went down 2.5% and inventories fell by £5.2bn, mainly driven by reductions 
for retail and manufacturing. On the other hand, Government expenditure 
went up 0.5% and Government investment surged 17.3%, while exports 
jumped 8.9% compared to a 3.6% decline for imports. Nevertheless, the UK 
monthly GDP grew by 0.5% in October from September, the biggest increase 
in nearly a year and above forecasts of 0.4%. 

18.3 The Consumer Prices Index (CPI) rose by 10.5% in the 12 months to 
December 2022, down from 10.7% in November. On a monthly basis, CPI 
rose by 0.4% in December 2022, compared with a rise of 0.5% in December 
2021. The largest downward contribution to the change in the CPI annual 
inflation rates between November and December 2022 came from transport 
(particularly motor fuels), clothing and footwear, and recreation and culture, 
with rising prices in restaurants and hotels, and food and non-alcoholic 
beverages making the largest partially offsetting upward contributions. 
 

18.4 The Bank of England’s Monetary Policy Committee voted by a majority of 6-3 
to raise interest rates by 50 basis points to 3.5% during its December 2022 
meeting, pushing the cost of borrowing to the highest level since late-2008, as 
policymakers try to balance containing inflation amid rising concerns of a 
looming economic recession. Since then it raised interest rates to 4.00% at its 
February 2023 meeting.  

 
18.5 The UK employment rose by 27,000 in the three months to October, beating 

market estimates of a 17,000 decline and following a 53,000 drop in the 
previous month’s reading. The unemployment rate in the UK edged higher to 
3.7% in October from 3.6% in the previous period, matching market forecasts. 
The employment rate also went up to 75.6% from 75.4%, with the timeliest 
figures for on-payrol employees rising by 107,000 in November to a record of 
29.9m. Job vacancies however, fell by 65,000 to 1,187,000, a fifth consecutive 

Rate
Dec-22

%
Mar-23

%
Jun-23

%
Sep-23

%
Dec-23

%
Mar-24

%
Mar-25

%
Mar-26

%
Bank of England 3.50 4.25 4.50 4.50 4.50 4.00 3.00 2.50
5yr PWLB 4.30 4.30 4.20 4.10 4.00 3.90 3.40 3.10
10yr PWLB 4.50 4.50 4.40 4.30 4.20 4.00 3.50 3.20
25yr PWLB 4.70 4.70 4.60 4.50 4.40 4.30 3.70 3.50
50yr PWLB 4.30 4.40 4.30 4.20 4.10 4.00 3.40 3.20

Page 225



Treasury Management Strategy Statements, MRP Strategy & Annual Investment Strategy 
 

P a g e  18 | 57 
 

decline, and reflecting uncertainty across industries, as economic pressures 
hold back on recruitment. Average weekly earnings including bonuses in the 
UK increased by 6.1% year on year in the three months to October, above a 
6.0% gain in the three months to September but less than market forecasts of 
6.2%. Meanwhile, regular pay which excludes bonus payment also went up 
6.1%, the most since July 2021, exceeding forecasts of 5.9%. Adjusted for 
inflation, total pay fell 2.7%, and regular pay also dropped 2.7%, underlining 
the squeeze on households. In addition, retail sales unexpectedly declined 
0.4% month on month in November, after an upwardly revised 0.9% in the 
previous month when there was a bounce back from the impact of the 
additional Bank Holiday in September for the State Funeral. 
 

18.6 The Eurozone economy quarterly growth was revised slightly higher to 0.3% 
in the third quarter of 2022 from preliminary estimates of 0.2%. Fixed 
investment was the main driver of growth, rising by 3.6% during the quarter. 
The European Central Bank (ECB) raised interest rates by 50 basis points 
(bps) during its last monetary policy meeting of 2022, marking a fourth rate 
increase, following two consecutive 75bps hikes. In addition, household 
consumption advanced 0.9% and government spending increased slightly by 
0.1%. Among the biggest economies, Italy and Germany’s GDP grew fastest 
while France and Spain’s GDP showed slight growth and Netherlands 
contracted. Meanwhile, the annual inflation in the Euro Area was revised to 
10.1% in November, slightly up from a preliminary estimate of 10.0%. Energy 
prices rose at a softer rate compared to last month but remained the largest 
contributor to the overall price increase. 

 
18.7 The unemployment rate in the United States (US) was unchanged at 3.7% in 

November 2022, matching market expectations while non-farm payrolls rose 
by a larger than forecast 263,000. The number of unemployed persons fell 
from 6.059m to 6.011m in November, while the number of employed 
decreased by 138,000 to 158.5m. The labour force participation rate edged 
down to a four-month low of 62.1% in November from 62.2% in the previous 
month. The US economy grew an annualised 3.2% on quarter in Q3 2022, 
better than 2.9% in the second estimate, and rebounding from two straight 
quarters of contraction. Consumer spending rose more than anticipated as 
growth in health care and "other" services partially offset a decrease in 
spending on goods, namely motor vehicles and food and beverages. The 
biggest positive contribution to growth came from net trade, although exports 
rose slightly less than reported in the second estimate while imports were 
unrevised. Meanwhile, annual inflation rate in the US slowed for a fifth straight 
month to 7.1% in November, the lowest since December last year, and below 
forecasts of 7.3%. Finally, the Federal Reserve raised the Fed Funds Rate by 
50bps to 4.25%-4.5% during its last monetary policy meeting of 2022, pushing 
borrowing costs to the highest level since 2007. It was a seventh consecutive 
rate hike, following four straight three-quarter point increases. 

Page 226



Treasury Management Strategy Statements, MRP Strategy & Annual Investment Strategy 
 

P a g e  19 | 57 
 

19. Borrowing Strategy 2023/24 
 

19.1 The Council’s strategy is to achieve a low but stable cost of finance but 
retaining flexibility to alter its plans as circumstances change.  In this regard, 
the Council was maintaining an under-borrowed position up until this year 
when advantageous borrowing rates has led to the Council taking out some 
borrowing early. This means that the capital borrowing need CFR is now 
funded in advance. This strategy is prudent as borrowing interest rates were 
low and the Council has a sizeable borrowing requirement to fund its ambitious 
capital delivery programme. 
 

19.2 The Council has, to date, raised most of its long-term borrowing from the 
PWLB but will consider long-term loans from other sources including banks, 
pension funds and local authorities and will explore the possibility of issuing 
bonds and similar instruments to lower interest costs and reduce over-reliance 
on one source of funding in line with the CIPFA Code. PWLB loans are no 
longer available to local authorities planning to buy investment assets 
primarily for yield; this Council will continue to avoid this activity and ensure 
the Council retains its access to PWLB loans. 
 

19.3 Sensitivities of the forecast 
 

19.3.1 If officers’ felt there was a significant risk of a sharp fall in long and short term 
interest rates (e.g. due to a marked increase of risks around relapse into 
recession or of risks of deflation), then long term borrowing will be postponed, 
and potential rescheduling from fixed rate funding into short term borrowing 
will be considered. However, if there was a significant risk of a much sharper 
rise in long and short term rates than that currently forecast, then the portfolio 
position will be re-appraised with the likely action that fixed rate funding will be 
raised whilst interest rates are still lower than they will be in the foreseeable 
years ahead. The Council has, during 2021/22,raised borrowing in line with 
the latter strategy. All decisions and actions taken have or will be reported to 
Audit Committee or Full Council at the earliest opportunity. 
 

19.3.2 The Council’s borrowing strategy will consider new borrowing in the following 
priority as required: 
 
 Temporary borrowing from the money markets or other local authorities; 
 PWLB variable rate loans for up to 10 years; 
 Short dated borrowing from non PWLB and other sources; 
 PWLB borrowing for periods across all the durations when rates are at 

particularly good value; 
 Long term fixed rate market loans at rates significantly below PWLB rates 

for the equivalent maturity period (where available) and to maintaining an 
appropriate balance between PWLB and market debt in the debt portfolio; 

 Capital market bond investors; 
 UK Municipal Bonds Agency plc and other special purpose companies 

created to enable local authority bond issues; 

Page 227



Treasury Management Strategy Statements, MRP Strategy & Annual Investment Strategy 
 

P a g e  20 | 57 
 

 Individuals lending via peep-to-peer platform where necessary 
counterparty checks (for example proof of identity or money laundering 
requirements) are conducted by the platform; and 

 Investors in capital market bonds and retail bonds issues by the Council. 
 

19.3.3 Other sources of debt finance: In addition, capital finance may be raised by 
the following methods that are not borrowing, but may be classed as other 
debt liabilities: 

 
 Leasing – a contract outlining the terms under which one party agrees to 

lease /  rent a  property owned by another party; 
 Hire purchase – financing where monthly payments are made but 

ownership does not occur until     the last payment; 
 Private Finance Initiative –a procurement method which uses private 

sector  investment to deliver public infrastructure; and 
 Sale and leaseback – selling a property and entering a lease    arrangement 

with the purchaser to occupy. 
 

19.3.4 The Council will continue to borrow in respect of the following: 
 
 Maturing debt (net of MRP); 
 Approved unsupported (prudential) capital expenditure; and 
 To finance cash flow in the short term. 

 
19.3.5 The type, period, rate and timing of new borrowing will be determined by the 

Strategic Director of Corporate Resources (Section 151) under delegated 
powers, considering the following factors: 
 
 Expected movements in interest rates as outlined above; 
 Current maturity profile; 
 The impact on the medium term financial strategy; and 
 Prudential indicators and limits. 

 
19.4 New Financial Institutions as a source of borrowing and Types of 

Borrowing 
 

19.4.1 Following the decision by the PWLB on 9 October 2019 to increase their 
margin over gilt yields by 100 bps to 180 bps on loans lent to local authorities, 
officers began to explore alternative sources of borrowing.  However, in March 
2020, the Government started a consultation process for reviewing the 
margins over gilt rates for PWLB borrowing. The chancellor announced the 
conclusion which amongst other things reversed certainty rate increase for the 
GF. Options for the diversification of loan source will still be explored and the 
Council will look to: 
 
 Local authorities (primarily shorter dated maturities); 
 Financial institutions (primarily insurance companies and pension funds 

but also some banks, out of spot or forward dates); and 
 Municipal Bonds Agency. 

Page 228



Treasury Management Strategy Statements, MRP Strategy & Annual Investment Strategy 
 

P a g e  21 | 57 
 

 
19.4.2 Approved sources of borrowing include: 

 
 PWLB; 
 Any institution approved for investments; 
 Financial Institutions including Assurance and Insurance Companies and 

Banks ; 
 Local Authorities and Housing Associations; 
 UK public sector and private sector pension funds; 
 UK Municipal Bonds Agency plc and other special purpose companies 

created to enable local authority bond issues; 
 Any other public sector body; 
 Any other institution which is legally able to lend to local authorities; 
 Leasing; 
 Hire purchase; 
 Private Finance Initiative (PFI) and similar financing arrangements; and 
 Sale and leaseback. 

 
19.4.3 A range of organisations fall within the scope of the list and a range of financial 

instruments may be issued to evidence the borrowing including public or 
privately issued bonds, negotiable bonds, commercial paper, medium term 
notes etc. The Strategic Director of Corporate Resources (Section 151) will 
explore all options and determine the optimal source of borrowing for the 
Council. 

 
19.5 Treasury Management Limits on Borrowing Activity 

 
19.5.1 There are three debt related treasury activity limits. The purpose of these is to 

restrain the activity of the treasury function within a flexibly set remit, to 
manage risk, yet not impose undue restraints that constrain cost reduction or 
performance improvement. The indicators are: 

 

 Upper limits on variable interest rate exposure net of investments; 
 Upper limits on fixed interest rate exposure; and 
 Maturity structure of borrowing to manage refinancing risk.  

 
19.5.2 The proposed indicators are set out in Annex 3. 
 
19.6 Policy on borrowing in advance of need  
 
19.6.1 The Council needs to ensure that its total debt, does not, except in the short 

term, exceed the total of the CFR in the preceding year i.e. 2022/23 plus the 
estimates of any additional CFR for the year 2023/24 and the following two 
financial years. This allows some flexibility for limited early borrowing for future 
years but ensures that borrowing is not undertaken for revenue generation 
purposes. The Council has raised some future years borrowing taking 
advantage of low interest rates in 2021. 
 

Page 229



Treasury Management Strategy Statements, MRP Strategy & Annual Investment Strategy 
 

P a g e  22 | 57 
 

19.6.2 Any decision to borrow in advance will be considered carefully to ensure value 
for money can be demonstrated and that the Council can ensure the security 
of such funds. 
 

19.6.3 Borrowing in advance of need will ideally be limited to no more than 100% of 
the expected increase in borrowing need (CFR) over the three-year planning 
period. In determining whether borrowing will be undertaken in advance of 
need the Council will: 

 

 ensure that there is a clear link between the capital programme and 
maturity profile of the existing debt portfolio which supports the need to 
take funding in advance of need; 

 ensure the ongoing revenue liabilities created, and the implications for 
the future and budgets have been considered; 

 evaluate the economic and market factors that might influence the 
manner and timing of any decision to borrow; 

 consider the merits and demerits of alternative forms of funding; 
 consider the alternative interest rate bases available, the most 

appropriate periods to fund and repayment profiles to use; and 
 consider the pros and cons of the impact of borrowing in advance of need 

at attractive rates on the available cash balances the Council will hold 
and the risks associated with increased exposure to credit risk arising 
from investing this additional cash in advance of need. 

 
19.7 Debt Rescheduling 

 
19.7.1 As short-term borrowing rates can be considerably cheaper than longer term 

rates, there could have been potential to generate savings by switching from 
long term debt to short term debt.  Any savings will need to be considered in 
the light of the size of premiums to be incurred, their short-term nature, and 
the likely cost of refinancing those short-term loans, once they mature, 
compared to the current rates of longer-term debt in the existing debt portfolio. 
Any such rescheduling and repayment of debt is likely to cause a flattening of 
the Council’s maturity profile as in recent years there has been a skew towards 
longer dated PWLB. 
 

19.7.2 The business case for any rescheduling will include: 
 

 the generation of cash savings and / or discounted cash flow savings; 
 helping to fulfil the strategy outlined above; and 
 enhancing the balance of the portfolio (amend the maturity profile and/or 

the balance of volatility). 
 

19.7.3 Consideration will also be given to whether there is any potential for making 
savings by running down investment balances to repay debt prematurely as 
short-term rates on investments are lower than rates paid on current debt. 
 

Page 230



Treasury Management Strategy Statements, MRP Strategy & Annual Investment Strategy 
 

P a g e  23 | 57 
 

19.7.4 All rescheduling will be reported to Full Council at the earliest meeting 
following its implementation. 

 
19.8 Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Self Financing  

 
19.8.1 The housing subsidy system was dismantled and replaced by a system of self-

financing of the HRA from 1 April 2012. Since then, two separate pools are 
operating for the management of HRA and GF debt.  
 

19.8.2 Under the two pool approach legacy loans were notionally apportioned 
between the HRA and GF using the CFR split and loans since 2012 have been 
raised separately.   
 

19.8.3 An equitable means of apportioning debt management expenses is in 
operation. 
 

19.8.4 Until October 2018, HRA borrowing was capped by the government and the 
HRA needed to borrow within the parameters of its existing debt and the cap 
known as the headroom. In October 2018, the Government approved plans to 
remove the HRA borrowing cap, giving local authorities the flexibility to borrow 
prudentily up to levels that can be supported through their revenue streams.   

 

20. Annual Investment Strategy 
 

20.1 The annual Investment Strategy is set out in Annex 5 for approval by Full 
Council which covers: 

 

 Overview including durations bands for counterparties and minimum 
credit ratings (table 3 Annex 5); 

 Policy lending (non-treasury management investments); 
 Investment balances / liquidity of investments; and 
 Specified / unspecified investments. 

 

21. Financial Implications  
 

21.1 Investment income is currently forecast to be £8.1m for 2022/23. For 2023/24 
budgeted investment income is estimated at approximately £11.1m to reflect 
higher expected interest rates.  

 

22. Balanced Budget Requirement 
 

22.1 The Council complies with the provisions of the Local Government Finance 
Act 1992 to set a balanced budget. 
 

22.2 Risk management plays a fundamental role in treasury activities due to the 
value and nature of transactions involved. In order to mitigate risks on 
investment income the Council holds an Economic Volatility Reserve, which 

Page 231



Treasury Management Strategy Statements, MRP Strategy & Annual Investment Strategy 
 

P a g e  24 | 57 
 

can be used to manage unforeseen volatility of investment income or 
borrowing costs. 
 

22.3 Budgeting for MRP requires the Council to make provision for MRP linked to 
the life of the assets. This makes budgeting for MRP complex and sensitive to 
changes in assets being financed and the amount of unsupported borrowing 
used. 
 

22.4 Regulations and statutory guidance on MRP was issued in February 2018. 
 

22.5 Loans to third parties 
 

22.5.1 Expenditure on policy loans to third parties which constitute capital 
expenditure must have MRP set aside. In the past, some local authorities 
sought to justify not setting aside MRP for some investments as any borrowing 
would be repaid by selling the assets sometime in the future; this the statutory 
guidance now requires MRP will need to be set aside for these investment 
assets. 
 

22.5.2 Repayments included in annual PFI unitary payments or finance leases are 
applied as MRP. There is no requirement for the HRA to set aside MRP, 
although there is a requirement for depreciation to be applied. 
 

22.5.3 Acquisition of share capital can be written off over a maximum of 20 years.  
 
 

 
 

Page 232



 

P a g e  25 | 57 
 

 

 

Annex 1 – Treasury Management Policy 
Statement 

Page 233



Annex 1 – Treasury Management Policy Statement 

P a g e  26 | 57 
 

 

Treasury Management Policy Statement 

 
The Council defines the policies and objectives of its treasury management activities 
as follows: 

 
(i) The Council defines its treasury management activities as the 

management of the Council’s cash flows, its banking, money market and 
capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks associated 
with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent 
with those risks. 

 
(ii) The Council regards the successful identification, monitoring and control 

of risk to be the prime criteria by which the effectiveness of its treasury 
management activities will be measured. Accordingly, the analysis and 
reporting of treasury management activities will focus on their risk 
implications. 
 

(iii) The Council acknowledges that effective treasury management will 
provide support towards the achievement of its business and service 
objectives. It is therefore committed to the principles of achieving best 
value in treasury management, and to employing suitable performance 
measurement techniques, within the context of effective risk 
management. 

 
  

Page 234



Annex 2 – Treasury Management Scheme of Delegation 

P a g e  27 | 57 
 

 
 

 

 

Annex 2 – Treasury Management Scheme of 
Delegation 

Page 235



Annex 2 – Treasury Management Scheme of Delegation 

P a g e  28 | 57 
 

 

Treasury Management Scheme of Delegation 

 
The Council’s Treasury Management Scheme of Delegation is approved by Full 
Council annually as part of the overall Treasury Management Strategy, it was last 
approved by Council at its meeting of March 2022 and there are no proposals for any 
amendments to the current scheme, which is set out below:  
 

1. Full Council  
 
 Receiving and reviewing reports on treasury management policies, 

practices and activities; 
 Approval of/ amendments to the Council’s adopted clauses, treasury 

management policy statement; and 
 Approval of annual strategy. 
 

2. Strategic Director of Corporate Resources (Section 151) 
 

 Budget consideration and proposals to Full Council; 
 Approval of the division of finance and treasury management 

responsibilities; 
 Receiving and reviewing regular monitoring reports and acting on 

recommendations; and 
 Approving the selection of external service providers and advisers and 

agreeing terms of appointment. 
 

3. Audit Committee 
 

 Scrutiny of the Treasury Management function and arrangements; 
 Receive and review quarterly reports; and  
 Reviewing the treasury management policy and procedures and making 

recommendations to Full Council. 
 

4. The treasury management role of the Strategic Director of Corporate 
Resources (Section 151) is to: 
 
 Recommend the Treasury Management Strategy and related policies for 

approval; 
 Hold regular reviews, and monitor compliance with approved the approved 

Treasury Management Strategy; 
 Formulate, consult on and approve treasury management practices, 

outlining the detailed manner in which the treasury management function 
will operate; 

 Submit regular Treasury Management Strategy monitoring reports to Audit 
Committee and Full Council; 

Page 236



Annex 2 – Treasury Management Scheme of Delegation 
 

P a g e  29 | 57 
 

 Submit budgets and budget variations to the Strategic Leadership Team 
(SLT) Full Council and Cabinet; 

 Receive and review management information reports; 
 Review the performance of the treasury management function; 
 Ensure the adequacy of treasury management resources and skills, and 

the effective division of responsibilities within the treasury management 
function; 

 Ensure the adequacy of internal audit, and liaising with external audit; 
 Recommend the appointment of external service providers and advisors;  
 Preparation of the capital strategy that is prudent, sustainable and 

affordable and provides value for money; 
 Ensuring that due diligence has been carried out on all treasury and non-

treasury financial investments;  
 Ensuring proportionality of all investments to ensure risk is well managed;  
 Provision of a schedule of all non-treasury investments; 
 Ensuring that members are adequately informed and understand the risk 

exposures taken by the Council. 
 
 

 

Page 237



Annex 2 – Treasury Management Scheme of Delegation 

P a g e  30 | 57 
 

 
 

 

 

Annex 3 – Prudential Indicators 

Page 238



Annex 3 – Prudential Indicators 

P a g e  31 | 57 
 

 

Prudential Indicators 

  
1. Capital Prudential Indicators 

 
1.1 The Council’s capital expenditure plans are a key driver of treasury 

management activity. 
 

2. Capital Expenditure 
 

2.1 This prudential indicator is a summary of the Council’s capital expenditure 
plans, both those agreed previously, and those forming part of this budget 
cycle. Members are asked to approve the capital expenditure forecasts: 

 
Table 1: Capital Expenditure Forecast 

 
 
2.2 Other long-term liabilities – the above financing need excludes other long-term 

liabilities, such as PFI and leasing arrangements which are classified as 
borrowing instruments. 
 

2.3 Table 2 outlines how the capital expenditure plans are proposed to be financed 
by capital or revenue resources. Any shortfall of resources results in a funding 
need i.e. borrowing. 

2021/22  
Outturn

2022/23 
Estimate

2023/24 
Estimate

2024/25 
Estimate

2025/26 
Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m

Non-HRA 62.153 134.728 161.901 62.437 34.177
Housing Loan to BLRP 2.984 30.000 141.552 92.000 20.426
Policy investments / non-
financial investments 

0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

HRA 59.629 82.240 137.741 153.790 98.754
Total Capital Programme 124.765 246.968 441.193 308.227 153.357
Add : Capital Additions/ 
Repurpose/Decommissioning 
/Re-profiling of Mainstream 
Funding

0.000 (0.355) (3.694) 1.990 1.065

Total Capital Programme 
including proposed Growth 

124.765 246.613 437.499 310.217 154.422

 

Page 239



Annex 3 – Prudential Indicators 
 

P a g e  32 | 57 
 

Table 2: Capital Programme Funding Summary  

 
 
2.4 New borrowing made up as follows: 
 
Table 3: New borrowing breakdown 

 
 
Table 4: Loan to BLRP 

 
 
  

2021/22  
Outturn

2022/23 
Estimate

2023/24 
Estimate

2024/25 
Estimate

2025/26 
Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
Non-HRA 62.153 134.728 161.901 62.437 34.177
Housing Loan to BLRP 2.984 30.000 141.552 92.000 20.426
Policy investments / non-
financial investments 

0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

HRA 59.629 82.240 137.741 153.790 98.754
Total 124.765 246.968 441.193 308.227 153.357
Financed by:      
Capital receipts 0.871 0.878 11.622 8.966 0.000
Capital grants 24.043 72.159 52.488 7.387 0.000
Revenue Contribution 5.442 1.466 2.911 0.000 0.000
Other: Parking Reserve; Invest 
to Save; Partnership; S106 

2.840 6.235 30.088 2.260 0.000

HRA Direct Funding 41.029 46.422 59.050 29.256 49.632
Total Financed 74.225 127.159 156.159 47.869 49.632
Net Financing Need (General 
Fund & HRA - Borrowing) 

50.540 119.809 285.034 260.358 103.724

TOTAL FUNDING 124.765 246.968 441.193 308.227 153.357
Add : Capital Additions/ 
Repurpose of Mainstream 
Funding

0.000 (0.355) (3.694) 1.990 1.065

Total Capital Programme 
excluding Growth 

124.765 247.323 444.887 306.237 152.292

Capital Expenditure 

2021/22  
Outturn

2022/23 
Estimate

2023/24 
Estimate

2024/25 
Estimate

2025/26 
Estimate

New Year Borrowing GF 31.939 83.991 206.343 135.824 54.603
New Year Borrowing HRA 18.600 35.818 78.691 124.534 49.122
Housing Loan to BLRP 2.984 30.000 141.552 92.000 20.426
Adjustments for Leases 0.000 0.000 10.165 0.000 0.000
Total borrowing 53.523 149.809 436.750 352.358 124.150

2021/22  
Outturn

2022/23 
Estimate

2023/24 
Estimate

2024/25 
Estimate

2025/26 
Estimate

Borrowing for non-financial 
investments

2.984 30.000 141.552 92.000 20.426

Net financing need for the 
year

53.523 149.809 436.750 352.358 124.150

Percentage of total net financing 
need %

5.57% 20.03% 32.41% 26.11% 16.45%

Page 240



Annex 3 – Prudential Indicators 
 

P a g e  33 | 57 
 

3. The Council’s Borrowing Need (the Capital Financing Requirement) 
 

3.1 This prudential indicator is the Council’s Capital Financing Requirement (CFR), 
which is the total historic unfinanced capital expenditure, a measure of the 
Council’s underlying borrowing need. Any capital expenditure not immediately 
paid for, will increase the CFR. The requirement to set aside the minimum 
revenue provision (MRP) reduces the Council’s underlying need to borrow and 
the ensuing CFR.  
 

3.2 The CFR does not increase indefinitely, as the MRP is a statutory annual 
revenue charge which broadly reduces the indebtedness in line with each 
asset’s life, and so charges the economic consumption of capital assets as they 
are used (similar to a repayment). 
 

3.3 The CFR includes any other long-term liabilities (OLTL) such as PFI schemes 
and finance leases brought onto the balance sheet. Whilst these increase the 
CFR, and therefore the Council’s borrowing requirement, these types of 
scheme include a borrowing/ financing facility and so the Council is not required 
to separately borrow for these schemes. The Council currently has £95.151m 
of such schemes that forms part of the CFR. 
 

3.4 The Council is asked to approve the CFR projections below: 
 

Table 5: CFR - Capital Financing Requirement 

 

 
3.5 Movement in CFR inc OLTL is represented by: 

 
Table 5a: Movement in CFR inc OLTL 

 

2021/22  
Outturn

2022/23 
Estimate

2023/24 
Estimate

2024/25 
Estimate

2025/26 
Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
CFR – Non Housing 524.993 559.705 591.628 611.769 620.880
CFR – Housing 187.844 223.663 302.354 426.888 476.010
CFR – Housing Loan/Equity to 
BL/BLRP

16.976 46.976 188.528 280.528 272.167

OLTL 100.968 95.151 94.401 82.168 74.959
Total CFR 830.781 925.495 1,176.911 1,401.353 1,444.016
Movement in CFR 31.881 125.576 404.907 316.442 63.089

 

2021/22  
Outturn

2022/23 
Estimate

2023/24 
Estimate

2024/25 
Estimate

2025/26 
Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
Net financing need for the year 53.523 149.809 436.750 352.358 124.150
Less MRP and other financing 
movements

(21.642) (24.233) (31.843) (35.916) (61.062)

Less VRP* 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
Movement in CFR 31.881 125.576 404.907 316.442 63.089
*Voluntary Revenue Provision

 

Page 241



Annex 3 – Prudential Indicators 
 

P a g e  34 | 57 
 

4. International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS) 16 Leasing 
 

4.1 IFRS16 requires off balance sheet operating leases onto the balance sheet 
for closing of the accounts for 2024/25 deferred by CIPFA from 2021/22, 
although early adoption will be allowed. 

 
4.2 The CFR, external debt (OLTL), authorised limit and operational boundary, 

have been adjusted to allow for those leases which were previously off-
balance sheet, being brought onto the balance sheet at 31 March 2024.  It is 
not currently possible to be precise about the adjustment figures until detailed 
data gathering has been substantially completed in 2023/24 financial 
year.  The authorised limit and operational boundary have been increased to 
allow for a current initial estimate of the likely effect of this change. 
Notwithstanding this, the limits will be amended mid-year if the allowance is 
insufficient.  An assessment will also be made of the impact on the HRA share 
of the CFR.  

 
4.3 A key aspect of the regulatory and professional guidance is that elected 

members are aware of the size and scope of any commercial or policy 
investment activity in relation to the Council’s overall financial position.  The 
capital expenditure figures shown in 2.1 and the details above demonstrate 
the scope of this activity and, by approving these figures, consider the scale 
proportionate to the Council’s remaining activity. 

 
4.4 Under the capital finance regulations, local authorities are permitted to borrow 

up to three years in advance of need. The Council will only consider borrowing 
in advance of need if market conditions indicate that it is the best course of 
action. This Council raised some borrowing in advance in 2021/22 to take 
advantage of and lock in low long term interest rates, especially as officers 
believed that long term rates were likely to rise. There may be a short term 
carry cost to borrowing in advance of need if investment rates are considerably 
lower than long term borrowing rates. Borrowing in advance of need also 
increases the level of temporary investments and thus increases the exposure 
to loss of investment principal. However, the Council has put in place a 
prudent methodology to minimise this risk.  

 
5. Affordability Prudential Indicators 

 
5.1 Actual and estimates of the ratio of financing costs to net revenue 

stream 
 

5.1.1 This indicator identifies the trend in the cost of capital (borrowing and other 
long-term obligation costs net of investment income) against the net revenue 
stream.  

  

Page 242



Annex 3 – Prudential Indicators 
 

P a g e  35 | 57 
 

 
Table 6: Ratio of financing costs to revenue streams 

 
 
5.1.2 The estimates of financing costs include current commitments and the 

proposals in this budget report. 
 

Table 7: HRA Ratios 

 
 

 
 

6. Treasury Indicators: Limits on Borrowing Activity 
 

6.1 The Operational Boundary 
 

6.1.1 This is the limit beyond which external debt is not normally expected to 
exceed. In most cases, this would be a similar figure to the CFR, but may be 
lower or higher depending on the levels of actual debt and the ability to fund 
under-borrowing by other cash resources. 

 
Table 8: Treasury Indicators: Limits on borrowing activity 

 
    

  

 
2021/22  
Outturn

2022/23 
Estimate

2023/24 
Estimate

2024/25 
Estimate

2025/26 
Estimate

% % % % %
Non-HRA 12.40% 12.64% 9.13% 17.23% 16.66%
HRA (inclusive of settlement) 8.57% 8.55% 6.06% 13.33% 11.78%
Housing Loan to BLRP 0.01% 0.04% 0.35% 1.51% 0.89%

2021/22  
Outturn

2022/23 
Estimate

2023/24 
Estimate

2024/25 
Estimate

2025/26 
Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
HRA debt (£m) 187.844 223.663 302.354 426.888 476.010
HRA revenues (£m) 64.376 73.694 76.767 81.075 86.638
Ratio of debt to revenues 2.92:1 3.04:1 3.94:1 5.27:1 5.49:1

 

 
2021/22  
Outturn

2022/23 
Estimate

2023/24 
Estimate

2024/25 
Estimate

2025/26 
Estimate

HRA Debt (£m) 187.844 223.663 302.354 426.888 476.010
Number of HRA Dwellings 11,773 10,861 10,749 10,662 10,435
Debt per dwelling (£m) 0.016 0.021 0.028 0.040 0.046

2021/22  
Outturn

2022/23 
Estimate

2023/24 
Estimate

2024/25 
Estimate

2025/26 
Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
Debt 712.837 783.368 893.982 1,038.657 1,096.890
Other long term liabilities 95.151 94.401 82.168 74.959 67.167
Housing Loan to BLRP 16.976 46.976 188.528 280.528 272.167
Total 824.964 924.745 1,164.678 1,394.144 1,436.224

Operational Boundary – 
General Fund & HRA

Page 243



Annex 3 – Prudential Indicators 
 

P a g e  36 | 57 
 

6.2 The Authorised Limit for external debt 
 
6.2.1 A further prudential indicator represents a control on the maximum level of 

borrowing. This represents a limit beyond which external debt is prohibited, 
and this limit needs to be set or revised by the Full Council. It reflects the level 
of external debt which, while not necessarily desired, could be afforded in the 
short term, but is not sustainable in the longer term. 
 

6.2.2 This is the statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) of the Local 
Government Act 2003. The Government retains an option to control either the 
total of all councils’ plans, or those of a specific council, although this power 
has not yet been exercised. 

 
6.2.3 The authorised limit has built in a buffer in respect of operational leases to be 

brought on to the balance sheet in line with IFRS16. 
 

6.2.4 Full Council is asked to approve the following Authorised Limits: 
 

Table 9: Authorised Limits 

 
 

6.3 Maturity Structure of Borrowing 
 

6.3.1 These gross limits are set to reduce the Council’s exposure to large fixed 
rate sums falling due for refinancing and are required for upper and lower 
limits. Full Council is asked to approve the following treasury indicators and 
limits: 

 

2021/22  
Outturn

2022/23 
Estimate

2023/24 
Estimate

2024/25 
Estimate

2025/26 
Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
Debt 752.837 823.368 933.982 1,078.657 1,136.890
Other long term liabilities 95.151 94.401 82.168 74.959 67.167
Housing Loan to BLRP 16.976 46.976 188.528 280.528 272.167
Total 864.964 964.745 1,204.678 1,434.144 1,476.224

Authorised limit - General 
Fund & HRA

Lower Upper
Under 12 months 0% 10%
12 months to 2 years 0% 10%
2 years to 5 years 0% 20%
5 years to 10 years 0% 20%
10 years to 20 years 10% 30%
20 years to 30 years 10% 30%
30 years to 40 years 10% 30%
40 years to 50 years 10% 40%

Lower Upper
Under 12 months 0% 10%
12 months to 2 years 0% 10%
2 years to 5 years 0% 10%
5 years to 10 years 0% 10%
10 years to 20 years 0% 10%
20 years to 30 years 0% 10%
30 years to 40 years 0% 10%
40 years to 50 years 0% 10%

Maturity structure of fixed interest rate borrowing 2023/24

Maturity structure of variable interest rate borrowing 

Page 244



Annex 2 – Treasury Management Scheme of Delegation 

P a g e  37 | 57 
 

 
 

 

 

Annex 4 – MRP Policy Statement 

Page 245



Annex 4 – MRP Policy Statement 

P a g e  38 | 57 
 

 

MRP POLICY STATEMENT  

 
The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2008 require the Council to determine for the current financial year an 
amount of minimum revenue provision (MRP) which it considers to be prudent. This 
involves allowing the debt to be repaid over a period reasonably commensurate with 
that over which the capital expenditure provides benefit.   
 
MHCLG (now DLUHC) Guidance requires the Council to approve an annual MRP 
statement and requires the Council to make a prudent provision of MRP. The broad 
aim of the guidance is to ensure that capital is financed over a period for which it 
provides benefits.   
 
The first MRP charge will be made in the year following the date that an asset becomes 
operational. 
 
 
Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy Statement  
 
1. It was agreed at the Cabinet meeting of 24 February 2009 and Full Council 

meeting of 3 March 2009 that, the Council makes MRP charges to revenue in 
accordance with option 3, the asset life method as opposed to option 4 
depreciation, which would have required the additional resource and 
administrative expense of tracking and revaluing assets at regular intervals. 
There is no basis for a change in policy and in accordance with approval 
sought and received in 2009 the Council will continue to apply option 3.  

 
2. Asset Life Method 

 
2.1 MRP will be based on the estimated life of the assets, in accordance with the 

proposed regulations (this option must be applied for any expenditure 
capitalised under a capitalisation direction) (option 3); this option provides for 
a reduction in the borrowing need over approximately the asset’s life. 
 

2.2 Under this policy the total charge to the General Fund budget in 2022/23, 
excluding PFI and finance leases is expected to be approximately £12.125 m 
of which a significant element (£4.407m) is in relation to debt incurred prior to 
1 April 2008.  
 

2.3 The Council is required to pay off an element of the accumulated General 
Fund capital spend each year (the CFR) through a revenue charge, the MRP. 
It is also allowed to undertake additional voluntary payments if considered 
prudent, a voluntary revenue provision (VRP).  
 

2.4 DLUHC regulations require Full Council to approve an MRP Statement in 
advance of each financial year. Full Council is recommended to approve the 

Page 246



Annex 4 – MRP Policy Statement 
 

P a g e  39 | 57 
 

following MRP Statement: 
 

2.5 For capital expenditure incurred before 1 April 2008 or Supported Capital 
Expenditure after that date, the MRP policy will be:  
 
“the MRP policy is equal to an annual reduction of 2% of the outstanding debt 
at 1 April 2017 for the subsequent 50 years” 

 
2.6 From 1 April 2008, for all unsupported borrowing (excluding PFI and finance 

leases), the MRP policy will be: 
 
 Asset life method – MRP will be based on the estimated life of the assets, 

in accordance with the regulations (this option must be applied for any 
expenditure capitalised under a Capitalisation Direction) (option 3). 

 
2.7 These options provide for a reduction in the borrowing need over 

approximately the asset’s life. There is no requirement on the HRA to make a 
minimum revenue provision but there is a requirement for a charge for 
depreciation to be made.  

 
2.8 MRP Overpayments  

 
2.8.1 A change introduced by the revised MRP Guidance was the allowance that 

any charges made over the statutory MRP, voluntary revenue provision or 
overpayments, can, if needed, be reclaimed in later years if deemed 
necessary or prudent.  In order for these sums to be reclaimed for use in the 
budget, this policy must disclose the cumulative overpayment made each 
year. 
 

2.8.2 In 2020/21 a Voluntary Revenue Provision (VRP) of £4.034m was made, of 
which £0.740m was paid in 2021/22 and the balance as at 31st March 2022 
was £3.294m. In line with the asset life method adopted by the Council, this 
VRP has led to a recalculation and reduction of future MRP payments. It is 
estimated that the cumulative overpayments are as follows: 
 

 
 

2.9 MRP for Loans/Service Investments Deemed to be Capital Expenditure  
 

2.9.1 When making service/ policy investments the Council needs to consider the 
potential MRP implications where the loan is classed as capital spend. The 
Council currently provides service loans to third parties to facilitate the delivery 
of housing or services that advance the Council’s policy objectives. The cash 
advances will be used by the third parties to fund capital expenditure and this 

MRP Overpayments £m

Balance at 31 March 2022 3.294

Impact of recalculation in 2022/23 -0.74
Forecast Balance at 31 March 2023 2.554

Impact of recalculation in 2023/24 -0.74
Forecast Balance at 31 March 2024 1.814

Page 247



Annex 4 – MRP Policy Statement 
 

P a g e  40 | 57 
 

will be treated as capital expenditure and a loan to a third party. The CFR will 
increase by the amount of loans advanced (under the terms of contractual 
loan agreements). Once funds are returned to the Council, the returned funds 
are classed as a capital receipt, and off-set against the CFR, which will reduce 
accordingly. 

 
2.9.2 Expenditure on service loans to third parties which constitute capital 

expenditure must have MRP set aside. In respect of the following types of 
capital expenditure, the Council has established an alternative methodology 
for calculating the annual MRP charges: 
 

2.9.3 The housing loans to BLRP constitute capital expenditure and therefore must 
have MRP set aside, the Council has established an alternative and prudent 
methodology for setting the annual MRP charge. A loan facility repayment 
holiday will exist until completion of the development phase. This mirrors the 
Council policy which charges MRP in the year following the date that an asset 
becomes operational. MRP will then follow the loan agreement schedule, 
remaining within the overall 50-year BLRP business plan, thereby reducing 
the CFR accordingly. 
 

2.9.4 The Council will undertake an annual financial assessment of the third party’s 
ability to repay the debt and where any adverse changes are perceived a 
voluntary MRP provision will be made to cover any future potential financial 
losses. This arrangement will also be applied where a third party has 
committed to underwrite the debt costs of a specific project through amounts 
reserved for capital purposes. 
 

2.9.5 The Council takes a holistic view on prudence spanning the lifecycle of the 
service loan.  
 

2.10 Finance and Operational Leases 
 

2.10.1 For assets acquired by finance/ operational leases or Private Finance Initiative 
schemes, MRP will be equal to the portion of the rent or unitary charge that is 
applied to write down the balance sheet liability (the capital element), or over 
the life of the asset.  
 

2.11 Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital Under Statute (REFCUS) 
 

2.11.1 For capital expenditure under statute or incurred via the use of a Capitalisation 
Direction provision will be made over a period not exceeding 20 years. 
 

2.12 Equity Investments 
 

2.12.1 The Council will determine MRP on equity investments based on a 20-year 
life. However, for equity investments in asset backed companies, longer life 
may be assumed to match the Council’s policy for investment assets. 
 

2.12.2 The Strategic Director of Corporate Resources (Section 151) will determine 
alternative MRP approaches, in the interests of making prudent provision, 

Page 248



Annex 4 – MRP Policy Statement 
 

P a g e  41 | 57 
 

where this is material, taking account of local circumstances, including specific 
project timetables and revenue-earning projections. 
 

2.12.3 The Council has historic service loans to associated organisations for which 
MRP treatment is in line with the associated risk and prudence considerations 
and regulations at the time of issue. These arrangements may continue, 
however, the Strategic Director of Corporate Resources (Section 151) can 
vary the MRP methodology in line the parameters approved within this policy.  

 
 

 

Page 249



Annex 2 – Treasury Management Scheme of Delegation 

P a g e  42 | 57 
 

 
 

 

 

Annex 5 – Investment Strategy 

Page 250



Annex 5 – Investment Strategy 

P a g e  43 | 57 
 

 

INVESTMENT STRATEGY 

 
1. OVERVIEW 

 
1.1 Investments can be financial or non-financial.  This report deals with financial 

investments (as managed by the treasury management function) although 
prudential indicators in as much as they pertain to borrowing for non-financial 
investment are outlined in this report.  The purchase of non-financial income 
yielding assets are covered in the Capital Strategy report. 
 

1.2 Investments are made broadly in three different circumstances: 
 
 When excess cash is generated from the day to day activities(i.e. Treasury 

Management investments); 
 Lending to organisations or investing in the share capital of same to 

promote a local service or policy objective; and 
 To earn investment income, known as commercial investments. 
 

1.3 Treasury Management Investments 
 

1.3.1 The Council mostly receives income in cash (such as taxes and grants) and 
in turn funds its expenditure to pay salaries and invoices. the Council also 
holds reserves to manage risk. These activities, together with timing decisions 
surrounding borrowing can lead to surplus cash which is invested in line with 
statutory guidance. Treasury investment balance is expected to fluctuate 
between £300m and £500m during the 2023/24 financial year. 
 

1.4 Service/ Policy Investments 
 

1.4.1 The Council can lend money to third parties e.g. subsidiaries, special purpose 
vehicles (SPV), registered providers, its suppliers, local businesses, local 
charities, housing associations, residents and its employees to support local 
public services and stimulate local economic growth. 
 

1.4.2 In some circumstances the Council may have entered into a partnership 
arrangement with organisations or institutions for the provision of a service/ 
facility that will directly promote the Council’s policy objectives which either 
requires the Council to lend or jointly invest in a venture. The Council has 
provided loans to BL and BLRP, an arms-length company now a registered 
provider to increase the inadequate supply of high-quality affordable housing 
within the borough. 

 
1.4.3 These types of service investments do not form part of the treasury 

management strategy but are discussed in the Capital Strategy. 
 

Page 251



Annex 5 – Investment Strategy 
 

P a g e  44 | 57 
 

1.4.4 The lending activities outlined in Table 1 below have been either scheduled or 
have been undertaken to support the Council’s service objectives.  

 
Table 1: Loans for Policy Investments      

 
 
1.5 Security 

 
1.5.1 A key risk is the inability of the borrower to repay the principal lent and/or the 

interest due. The Council mitigates this risk by limiting the quantum of 
exposure to any single borrower and having recourse to underlying real assets 
should the lender default.  

 
1.5.2 Accounting standards now requires the Council to set aside loss allowance for 

loans, where it foresees the likelihood of default. Currently the Council does 
not expect any credit loss to arise from non-payment of the principal sum 
invested.   

 
1.6 Risk assessment 

 
1.6.1 The Council assesses the risk of loss before entering and whilst holding 

service loans. A business case is developed, and then external advisors are 
used to scrutinise and challenge the assumptions and projections presented. 
A risk analysis was carried out as part of the business case for loans to BL 
and BLRP. The performance of the companies is being kept under ongoing 
review via regular meetings with BL and BLRP Boards.  
 

1.7 Service/ Investments Equity 
 

1.7.1 The Council can and has invested in the shares of its subsidiaries or partner 
organisations to support local public services and stimulate local economic 
growth. 

  

Organisation £m Description

West London Waste Authority (WLWA) 28.000

An Invest to Save loan granted to West London Waste 
Authority (WLWA) towards the project for the development of 
a new Energy from waste facility. Interest payments for this 
loan commenced January 2017.

Broadway Living Limited 8.035
Two loans have been granted to Broadway Living Limited for 
£1.2m and £6.8m 

Future Ealing 0.563
This is an investment that LBE made, which was part of a PFI 
structure.

Gunnersbury CIC 0.120
This loan of £250k was granted to Gunnersbury Community 
Interest Company to assist with initial set up costs. As at 
December 2021 total of £78k principal has been repaid.

Broadway Living Registered Provider 
(BLRP)

15.390
Loans were granted to BLRP totalling £11.6m for Tranche 1 
Loan Utilisation and Westagte £3.8m.

Page 252



Annex 5 – Investment Strategy 
 

P a g e  45 | 57 
 

1.8 Security 
 

1.8.1 One of the risks of investing in shares is that they fall in value meaning that 
the initial outlay may not be recovered. The shares that Council invest in do 
not have a ready market and are not acquired with the intention of trading the 
shares.  
 

1.9 Risk assessment 
 

1.9.1 As outlined above, a risk analysis is carried out as part of any business plan. 
The objective is to invest in an affiliated company that will grow successfully. 
The performance of all investee companies will be kept under close review via 
regular meetings with the Boards, so that corrective action can be taken if 
necessary. 
 

1.10 Liquidity: 
 

1.10.1 Although this type of investment is fundamentally illiquid, the limit on the level 
of investment mitigates the risk to the Council. 

 
1.11 Commercial Investments Property 

 
1.11.1 The Council may invest in property with the intention of making a profit that 

will be spent on local public services which will fall under the category of 
Commercial Investments. To date the Council has not invested in commercial 
investments. 
 

1.11.2 Loan Commitments and Financial Guarantees: The Council may also make 
loan commitments or provide financial guarantees to third parties to further its 
service objective. 
 

1.11.3 The Council will have regard to the Guidance on Local Government 
Investments and the CIPFA Treasury Management in Public Services Code 
of Practice and Cross Sectoral Guidance Notes. The Council’s Treasury 
investment priorities remain:  

 

 security of the invested capital; 
 liquidity of the invested capital; and 
 an optimum yield which is commensurate with security and liquidity. 

 
All investments will be in sterling. 
 

1.11.4 In accordance with the above guidance, and to minimise the risk to 
investments, the Council applies minimum acceptable credit criteria to 
generate a list of highly creditworthy counterparties which also enables 
diversification and avoidance of concentration risk.   

  

Page 253



Annex 5 – Investment Strategy 
 

P a g e  46 | 57 
 

1.12 Other information 
 

1.12.1 Ratings will not be the sole determinant of the quality of an institution; it is 
important to continually assess and monitor the financial sector on both a 
micro and macro basis and in relation to the economic and political 
environments in which institutions operate. The assessment will also take 
account of information that reflects the opinion of the markets. To achieve this, 
the Council will engage with its advisors to maintain a monitor on market 
pricing such as “credit default swaps” and overlay that information on top of 
the credit ratings. 
 

1.12.2 Other information sources will also be used including the financial press, share 
price and other financial sector information metrics that aid the scrutiny 
process to establish the suitability of Counterparties. 
 

1.12.3 The Council has defined the types of investment instruments that the treasury 
management team are authorised to use. There are two lists in Table 3 and 
Table 7 under the categories of ‘specified’ and ‘non-specified’ investments. 
 

1.12.4 Specified investments are those with a high level of credit quality and subject 
to a maturity limit of one year. 
 

1.12.5 Non-specified investments are those with less high credit quality, may be for 
periods more than one year, and/ or are more complex instruments which 
require greater consideration by members and officers before being 
authorised for use. Once an investment is classed as non-specified, it remains 
non-specified all the way through to maturity i.e. an 18-month deposit would 
still be non-specified even if it has only 11 months left until maturity. 
 

1.12.6 Non-specified investments limit. The Council has determined that it will limit 
the maximum total exposure to non-specified investments as being 30% of 
the total investment portfolio. 
 

1.12.7 The Council will only use non-UK banks from countries with a minimum 
sovereign rating of -AA.  The sovereign rating of -AA must be assigned by one 
of the three credit rating agencies.  Transaction limits are set for each type of 
investment in 6.2.4. 
 

1.12.8 The Council has engaged external advisers, to provide expert advice on how 
to optimise an appropriate balance of security, liquidity and yield, given the 
risk appetite of the Council in the context of the expected level of cash 
balances and need for liquidity throughout the year. 

 
1.13 Pooled Investments 

 
1.13.1 As a result of the change in accounting standards for 2019/20 under IFRS 9, 

this Council will consider the implications of investment instruments which 
could result in an adverse movement in the value of the amount invested and 
resultant charges at the end of the year to the General Fund. A temporary 
statutory override to allow English local authorities time to adjust their portfolio 

Page 254



Annex 5 – Investment Strategy 
 

P a g e  47 | 57 
 

of all pooled investments was announced to delay implementation of IFRS 9 
for five years commencing 1 April 2018. The Council also has other options. 
 

1.13.2 The Council will explore all options to allow any pooled fund investments to be 
elected from the onset as fair value through other comprehensive income as 
they are not held primarily for trading. Hence fair value gains and losses can 
be taken to the Financial Instrument Revaluation Reserve and there will be no 
dependence on the statutory override which can be withdrawn. 
 

1.13.3 The Council will seek to achieve value for money from its treasury 
management activity and will monitor yield from investment income against 
appropriate benchmarks for investment performance.  As such investment 
performance monitoring will be carried out at regular intervals throughout the 
year. 

 
1.14 Creditworthiness policy 
 
1.14.1 The Council applies the creditworthiness service provided by Link Asset 

Services. This service employs a sophisticated modelling approach utilising 
credit ratings from the three main credit rating agencies - Fitch, Moodys and 
Standard and Poors. The credit ratings of counterparties are supplemented 
with credit watches and credit outlooks from credit rating agencies, Credit 
Default Swap (CDS) spreads to give early warning of likely changes in credit 
ratings and sovereign ratings to select counterparties from only the most 
creditworthy countries. 
 

1.14.2 This modelling approach combines credit ratings, credit watches and credit 
outlooks in a weighted scoring system which is then combined with an overlay 
of CDS spreads for which the end product is a series of colour coded bands 
which indicate the relative creditworthiness of counterparties. These colour 
codes are used by the Council to determine the suggested duration for 
investments that exist on Link’s recommended counterparty list. The Council 
will therefore use counterparties within the following durational (colour) bands. 

 
Table 2: Term deposits with nationalised banks and banks and building societies  

 
Minimum 
Credit Criteria 

Use 
Max. maturity 
period 

UK part 
nationalised 
banks 

Link Colour 
Bands 
 

In-house 1 year 

Banks part 
nationalised 
Non-UK 

Link Colour 
Bands 

In-house and 
Fund Managers 

1 year 

 
1.14.3 The Link Asset Services creditworthiness service uses a wider array of 

information other than just primary ratings. Furthermore, by using a risk 
weighted scoring system, it does not give undue preponderance to just one 
agency’s ratings. 
 

Page 255



Annex 5 – Investment Strategy 
 

P a g e  48 | 57 
 

1.14.4 Typically, the minimum credit ratings criteria the Council use based on this 
service will be a short term rating (Fitch or equivalents) of F1 and a long term 
rating of A-. There may be occasions when the counterparty ratings from one 
rating agency are marginally lower than these ratings but may still be used.  In 
these instances, consideration will be given to the whole range of ratings 
available, or other topical market information, to support their use. 

 
1.14.5 The Strategic Director of Corporate Resources (Section 151) can also provide 

working capital loans to unrated affiliated bodies, i.e. they would not need to 
have and external rating. 

 
Table 3: Durational and Monetary limits applying to Specified and Non-Specified Investments 

Counterparty 
Maximum Lending 
per institution 

Investment Duration  

UK Banks Term Deposits  £60m  Up to 5 years 
CDs £5m 
per 
institution 

The Council’s Banker Lloyds 
Banking Group 

£60m   

Non-UK Banks £30m 2 years  
Building Society £30m 1 year  
MMF – CNAV  £20m per Fund Instant Access  
MMF –  LVNAV £20m per Fund Instant Access  
MMF –  VNAV £5m per Fund Instant Access  
Debt Management Office 
Deposit Facility (DMADF) 

Unlimited 6 months (max available)  

Sterling Treasury Bills Unlimited 6 months (max available)  

Local Authorities 
Unlimited (Per 
authority £20m) 

3 years  

Ultra short dated bond funds £5m in total Tradable  
Corporate Bonds £5m in total Tradable   
Corporate Bond Funds £5m in total Tradable   
UK Government Gilts/ Gilt 
Funds 

£5m in total Tradable  

Multi Asset Funds £5m in total Tradable  
Property Funds £5m in total Tradable  
Collateralised Deposit £5m in total 1 year  
Bond Issuance (guaranteed by 
UK Government) 

£5m in total 1 year  

Unrated Affiliated Bodies 
working capital *  

Subject individual 
circumstance 

Case by Case   

Unrated Affiliated Bodies 
Capital Expenditure Loan 

Subject to individual 
circumstance 

Case by Case  

*unrated affiliated bodies such as: Charities, arm’s length companies and registered providers and service providers,  

 

Page 256



Annex 5 – Investment Strategy 
 

P a g e  49 | 57 
 

1.14.6 The Strategic Director of Corporate Resources (Section 151), as advised by 
TRIB, has delegated powers to make changes to local operational limits but 
remain within the parameters of the Treasury Strategy. 

 
1.14.7 The Council is alerted of changes to ratings of all three agencies through its 

use of its adviser’s creditworthiness service. In addition to the use of credit 
ratings the Council will be advised of information on movements in CDS 
spreads against the iTraxx benchmark and other market data on a weekly 
basis. Extreme market movements may result in downgrade of an institution 
or removal from the Council’s lending list. 
 

1.14.8 If a downgrade results in the counterparty/ investment scheme no longer 
meeting the Council’s minimum criteria, its further use as a new investment 
will be withdrawn immediately except in the circumstances out lined above 
where TRIB determines the counterparty can remain on the Council’s list. 
 

1.14.9 Sole reliance will not be placed on the use of this external service. In addition, 
the Council will also use market data and market information, information on 
government support for banks and the credit ratings of that supporting 
government.  

 
1.15 Country limits 
 
1.15.1 As outlined above, the Council has determined that it will only use approved 

counterparties from countries with a minimum sovereign credit rating from 
Fitch of AA- (or equivalent from other agencies if Fitch does not provide a 
rating). However, the most likely position is that any foreign institution the 
Council invests in should be as highly rated as the UK or better. Investments 
in the UK will not be subject to sovereign credit worthiness rating restriction. 

 
1.15.2 The list of countries which currently meet this criterion are outlined in Table 6. 

The Strategic Director of Corporate Resources (Section 151) will monitor and 
update the position under delegated powers and report back to Full Council at 
the earliest opportunity. 
 

1.15.3 Where institutions are not on the Council’s advisers list and the Council makes 
its own assessment, the Council will only lend to counterparties using the 
minimum criteria specified below. 
 

1.15.4 The minimum credit rating required for an institution to be included in the 
Council’s counterparty list (where adviser’s credit worthiness service is not 
being used) is as follows: 

  

Page 257



Annex 5 – Investment Strategy 
 

P a g e  50 | 57 
 

1.15.5  
Table 4: Minimum credit ratings 

 Long-Term Short-Term 

Fitch A F1 

Moody’s Aa3 P-2 

Standard & Poor’s A- A-2 
 

Sovereign Rating AA- 

Money Market Funds AAA 
The above does not apply to policy/ service investments.  

 
1.15.6 As outlined above officers also take any market intelligence into consideration 

to further determine whether to suspend institutions from the list even though 
the institution meets our minimum lending criteria.  
 

1.15.7 Setting and monitoring of the counterparty list and the agreed maximum limit 
per counterparty (and Council’s rating criteria) constitutes part of the execution 
and administration function and forms part of the authority to “determine the 
annual treasury strategy and carry out all treasury management activities” as 
per the Council’s scheme of delegation outlined in the financial regulations. 
The Strategic Director of Corporate Resources (Section 151) therefore has 
discretion to review and amend these minimum ratings in view of market 
conditions and report to Full Council at the earliest opportunity. 
 

1.15.8 Officers must respond quickly to counterparty rating changes and include or 
suspend institutions as their ratings fall in/ out of the Council’s minimum rating 
criteria. This ensures that investment risk continues to be spread across a 
range of creditworthy institutions. The lending list is under ongoing review by 
the Strategic Director of Corporate Resources (Section 151) under delegated 
authority. 
 

1.15.9 Institutions with which the Council currently can place funds are as follows: 
 

 Debt Management Office (DMO) – interest can be below equivalent money 
market rates with returns being an acceptable trade-off for security 
particularly in times of high market volatility although recently DMO rates 
have surpassed MMFs and officers will continue to monitor the position 
and invest in accordance with the Council’s risk appetite; 

 British institutions where the UK has a substantial stake, such as RBS; 
 Other UK institutions meeting our minimum credit rating criteria; 
 AAA rated money market funds; 
 Other local authorities (LAs) who are relatively risk-free counterparties are 

deemed to offer high security and liquidity – limita are set at £5m for district 
councils and £10m for other LAs, subject to a group limit of £180m, though 
the strategy permits higher limits; 

 Foreign institutions from countries with sovereign ratings equivalent to the 
UK’s sovereign rating or higher provided they meet our minimum criteria; 

Page 258



Annex 5 – Investment Strategy 
 

P a g e  51 | 57 
 

 Institutions that fall within Link Asset Services’ approved lending list having 
met the diverse criteria and who the Council assess as having sound credit 
worthiness; 

 Other UK Government (Gilts and Treasury Bills); 
 Property Funds where not classed as capital expenditure; 
 Ultra-Short Dates Bond Funds; 
 Corporate Bond Funds; and 
 Multi Asset Funds. 

 
2. INVESTMENT BALANCES / LIQUIDITY OF INVESTMENTS 

 
2.1 Based on cash flow forecasts, the Council anticipates balances in 2022/23 to 

average around £500m if no long-term borrowing is raised. Balances will be 
higher if external borrowing is undertaken. For treasury investments, it is 
considered that the maximum percentage of its overall investments that the 
Council should hold for more than 365 days (investments with a maturity 
exceeding a year) is £50m. The prudential indicator figure of £50m for 2023/24 
is therefore recommended. It should be noted that this indicator does not apply 
to investments made for policy/ service reasons. 
 

2.2 In addition, the Council may enter forward deals, but with an exposure that 
does not exceed 5 years, from the date the forward deal was effected. 
 

2.3 The actual amount available for investment in 2023/24 will fluctuate as a result 
of the timing of significant items such as: 
 
 expenditure on capital projects; 
 council tax, business rates, council house rents income; 
 receipt of government grants; 
 long-term loans taken out to fund capital expenditure; and 
 capital receipts in respect of major asset sales. 

 
2.4 The amounts available for investments consist of both cash flow and core 

balances made up of reserves not likely to be required for one to two years. It 
is possible for the Council to invest this core cash for longer term. The strategy 
is flexible and allows the Strategic Director of Corporate Resources (Section 
151) to take the decision to extend the duration of lending when market 
conditions are conducive to such lending. 
 

2.5 Investment Strategy and Interest Rate Outlook 
 

2.5.1 The Bank Rate increased to 4% on 1 February 2023 and is forecasted to 
increase slightly in the short term and expected to reduce in future years. The 
Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) will adjust Bank Rate as necessary to 
return inflation to the 2% target sustainably in the medium term, in line with its 
remit. 
 

2.5.2 Bank Rate forecasts for financial year ends (March) are: 
 

Page 259



Annex 5 – Investment Strategy 
 

P a g e  52 | 57 
 

 Q1 2023  4.25% 
 Q1 2024  4.00% 
 Q1 2025  3.00%   

 
2.6 In-house funds 

 
2.6.1 Investments will be made with reference to the core balance and cash flow 

requirements and the outlook for short-term interest rates (investments up to 
12 months). 

 
3. SPECIFIED/ UNSPECIFIED INVESTMENTS 
 
3.1 Specified Investments 

 
3.1.1 All such investments will be sterling denominated, with maturities up to 

maximum of 1 year meeting the minimum ‘high’ quality criteria where 
applicable. 

 
3.2 Non-Specified Investments 

 
3.2.1 These are investments with less high credit quality, may be for periods in 

excess of one year, and/ or are more complex instruments which require 
greater consideration by members and officers before being authorised for 
use. A maximum of £50m can be held in aggregate in non-specified 
investment. 
 

3.2.2 A variety of investment instruments will be used, subject to the credit quality 
of the institution, and depending on the type of investment made it will fall into 
one of the above categories. 
 

3.2.3 The criteria, time limits and monetary limits applying to institutions or 
investment vehicles are: 

 

Table 5: Term deposits with nationalised banks and banks and building societies  

 
Minimum 
Credit Criteria 

Use 
Max. maturity 
period 

UK part 
nationalised 
banks 

Link Colour 
Bands 
 

In-house 1 year 

Banks part 
nationalised 
Non-UK 

Link Colour 
Bands 

In-house and 
Fund Managers 

1 year 

 
 If forward deposits are to be made, the forward period plus the deal period 

should not exceed one year in aggregate.  
 Buy and hold may also include sale at a financial year end and repurchase 

the following day in order to accommodate the requirements of SORP. 

Page 260



Annex 5 – Investment Strategy 
 

P a g e  53 | 57 
 

 As collateralised deposits are backed by collateral of AAA rated local authority 
LOBOs, this investment instrument is regarded as being a AAA rated 
investment as it is equivalent to lending to a local authority. 

 CD = Certificates of Deposit 
 
LOCAL AUTHORITIES 

 Although most local authorities do not have credit ratings, investing with local 
authorities provides good security for the council.  

Page 261



Annex 5 – Investment Strategy 
 

P a g e  54 | 57 
 

 
3.3 Accounting treatment of investments 

 
3.3.1 The accounting treatment may differ from the underlying cash transactions 

arising from investment decisions made by this Council. To ensure that the 
Council is protected from any adverse revenue impact, which may arise from 
these differences, we will review the accounting implications of new 
transactions before they are undertaken. 
 

3.4 Blanket guarantees on all deposits 
 

3.4.1 Some countries may support their banking system by giving a blanket 
guarantee on all deposits, however; the Council will generally not rely on the 
guarantees provided by any government unless there are overriding reasons 
for doing so.  
 

3.5 Other Countries 
 

3.5.1 At present the Council will determine whether to include other countries by 
reference to credit rating of the sovereign together with financial news data on 
the sovereign. The minimum credit rating required for an institution to be 
included within the council’s list is AA-, although the Council will more likely 
invest in sovereigns that have a rating equivalent to or better than the UK 
Government’s rating. Currently the countries falling within this are as follows: 

 
Table 6: Credit Rating of other countries 

AAA AA+ AA AA- 

Australia Finland Abu Dhabi (UAE) Belgium 

Denmark USA France Qatar 

Germany Canada  Hong Kong 

Netherlands   UK 

Norway    

Singapore    

Sweden    

Switzerland    

 
  

Page 262



Annex 5 – Investment Strategy 
 

P a g e  55 | 57 
 

3.6 Non-Specified Investments 
 

Table 7: Non-Specified Investments 
A. Maturities of any period. 

Fixed term deposits 
with variable rate and 
variable maturities: 

Minimum Credit Criteria Use 

Callable deposits 
Falling within the Council’s 
criteria 

In-house 

Range trade 
Falling within the Council’s 
minimum criteria 

In-house 

Other debt issuance by 
UK banks covered by UK 
Government guarantee 

UK Government explicit 
guarantee 

In-house 
Fund Managers 

Term deposits with 
unrated counterparties 

Decision flowing through 
TRIB, or a delegated officer 

In-house 

Commercial Paper 
Fitch F1, AA aa1 or 
equivalent 

In-house 
Fund Managers 

Corporate Bonds 
Fitch F1, AA aa1 or 
equivalent 

In-house 
Fund Managers 

UK Floating Rate Notes 
Fitch F1, AA aa1 or 
equivalent 

In-house 
Fund Managers 

VNAV MMFs (where 
there is greater than 12-
month history of a 
consistent £1 Net Asset 
Value) 

High Credit Score 
In-house 
Fund Managers 

Bond Funds Long term AAA 
In-house 
Fund Managers 

Multi Asset Funds  
In house 
Fund Managers 

Gilt Funds Long Term AAA 
In-house 
Fund Managers 

Property Funds  
In-house 
Fund Managers 

 
B. Maturities more than 1 year 

 

Investments as specified above in specified investments, but for periods in excess 
of 1 year. 

 
  

Page 263



Annex 5 – Investment Strategy 
 

P a g e  56 | 57 
 

 
3.7 Investment Treasury Indicator and Limit 

 
3.7.1 Total principal funds invested for greater than 364 days limits are set with 

regard to the Council’s liquidity requirements and to reduce the need for the 
Council becoming a forced seller of an investment, and are based on the 
availability of funds after each year-end. 

 
3.7.2 Full Council is asked to approve the treasury indicator and limit as follows: 

Table 8: Investment Treasury Indicator and limit to be approved Maximum principal sums 
invested > 364 days 

 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 
 £m £m £m 

Principal sums invested 
> 364 days 

50 50 50 

Note: This durational limit excludes policy/ service investments, where the decision is made on a case 
by case basis.  

 
 

3.7.3 For its cash flow generated balances, the Council will seek to utilise money 
market funds, call accounts and short-dated deposits (overnight to three 
months), treasury bills and the DMO. 

 
3.8 Investment Risk Benchmarking 
 
3.8.1 These benchmarks are simple guides to maximum risk, so they may be 

breached from time to time, depending on movements in interest rates and 
counterparty criteria. The purpose of the benchmark is that officers will monitor 
the current and trend position and amend the operational strategy to manage 
risk as conditions change. Any breach of the benchmarks will be reported, with 
supporting reasons in the Mid-Year or Annual Report to Audit Committee and 
Full Council. 

 
3.9 Security 

 
3.9.1 The Council’s maximum-security risk benchmark for the current portfolio, 

when compared to these historic default tables, is: 
 

 <1% historic risk of default when compared to the whole portfolio. 
 

3.10 Liquidity 
 

3.10.1 In respect of liquidity the council seeks to maintain: 
 

 Bank overdraft - £0.5m 
 Liquid short-term deposits of at least £5m available with a week’s notice. 

Page 264



Annex 5 – Investment Strategy 
 

P a g e  57 | 57 
 

3.11 Yield 
 

3.11.1 The yield benchmark for investments are internal returns above the overnight 
Sterling Overnight index average (SONIA) rate. 
 

3.11.2 In addition, the security benchmark for each individual year is included in table 
9: 

 
Table 9: Security Benchmark for each individual year 

 1 year 2 years 3 years 4 years 5 years 

Maximum % 2% 2% 2% 2% 2% 

Note: This benchmark is an average risk of default measure, and would not constitute an expectation 
of loss against a particular investment.  

 
3.12 Provisions for Credit-related losses  
 
3.12.1 If any of the Council’s investments appeared at risk of loss due to default (i.e. 

this is a credit-related loss, and not one resulting from a fall in price due to 
movements in interest rates) then the Council will make revenue provision of 
an appropriate amount.  
 

3.13 End of Year Investment Report 
 
3.13.1 At the end of the financial year, the Council will prepare a report on its 

investment activity as part of its annual treasury management report to Full 
Council. 

 

Page 265



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 10 - Reserves Forecast and Analysis over MTFS Period

31 March 

2023

31 March 

2024

31 March 

2025

31 March 

2026

31 March 

2027

£M £M £M £M £M

Corporate Insurance Reserve (5.721) (5.721) (5.721) (5.721) (5.721)

Parking Account (5.817) (5.362) (5.362) (5.362) (5.362)

PFI Reserves (20.399) (20.399) (20.399) (20.399) (20.399)

Dedicated Schools Grant Balance 1.582 1.582 1.582 1.582 1.582

Subtotal: Controllable Ringfenced Reserves (30.355) (29.900) (29.900) (29.900) (29.900)

Corporate - Ealing Civic Improvement Fund (0.360) 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Corporate - Invest to Save Reserve (2.891) (2.946) (2.956) (2.956) (2.956)

Corporate - Economic Volatility Reserve (14.209) (17.709) (21.209) (24.709) (28.209)

Service Other (10.983) (10.907) (10.907) (10.907) (10.907)

Corporate Other (12.004) (12.053) (12.193) (12.333) (12.473)

Subtotal: Controllable Non-Ringfenced Reserves (40.447) (43.615) (47.265) (50.905) (54.545)

Total Reserves (70.802) (73.516) (77.166) (80.806) (84.446)

General Fund Balance (15.919) (15.919) (15.919) (15.919) (15.919)

Total General Fund Reserves And Balances (86.721) (89.435) (93.085) (96.725) (100.365)

31 March 

2023

31 March 

2024

31 March 

2025

31 March 

2026

31 March 

2027

£M £M £M £M £M

Housing Revenue Account Reserve (15.249) (13.041) (13.041) (13.041) (13.041)

Housing Revenue Account Balance (4.925) (4.925) (4.925) (4.925) (4.925)

Subtotal: HRA Reserve and Balances (20.175) (17.967) (17.967) (17.967) (17.967)

COVID-19 Grant Balance (2.091) (0.000) (0.000) (0.000) (0.000)

Collection Fund Equlisation Fund (8.303) (8.303) (8.303) (8.303) (8.303)

Subtotal: Ringfenced Technical Reserves (10.393) (8.303) (8.303) (8.303) (8.303)

Schools Balances (20.294) (20.294) (20.294) (20.294) (20.294)

Total Other Reserves and Balances (50.862) (46.563) (46.563) (46.563) (46.563)

MTFS Reserves Forecast

MTFS Reserves Forecast

P
age 267



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 11 - Equalities Analysis Assessment 

Page 1 of 13 
 

1.  Proposal Summary Information 

 

EAA Title  
Setting of 2023/24 revenue budgets and proposal to increase council 
tax by 4.99% 

Please describe 
your proposal? 

Council tax increase of 4.99% for 2023/24, including 2% for the adult 
social care precept 

Is it HR Related? Yes ☐ No ☒ 

Corporate Purpose Full Council Decision 

 

1. What is the proposal looking to achieve? Who will be affected? 

The Council is obliged to set a balanced budget and council tax in accordance with the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992. 
 
For 2023/24, a balanced budget is proposed based on investment in key priorities, savings and 
strengthening financial resilience. On the basis of the that budget, the Council proposes to apply 
for the maximum increase directed by government in the financial settlement of 4.99%; of which 
2.99% is in relation to the core Council Tax and 2% is in relation to the social care precept. 
Further information is set out in the accompanying report.  
 

Proposal for 2023/24 

 

Ealing is proposing a council tax increase of 4.99% (including 2% precept for Adult Social Care 

(ASC)) in line with government direction. The increase is estimated to generate an additional 

£8.131m of council tax in 2023/24, with the intention of using the additional resources to help 

balance the budget and protecting services over the short to medium term. This constitutes to an 

increase of £2.03 (Ealing element is £1.29) per week for residents in a band D property who do not 

receive any reductions or exemptions. 

 

The Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) has announced that an 

authority will be considered to have set an excessive increase in council tax in 2023/24 if the 

increase in the level of Band D council tax over 2022/23 is 5% or more. Changes in core council 

tax can only bring about an increase of up to 3% per annum without being deemed as excessive. 

Changes to the adult social care precept can bring about an additional increase of up to 2% in 

council tax for the 2022/23 financial year, and as such council tax is being raised by an additional 

2% through this precept. 

 

Any proposals to increase tax above the threshold of 5% would be deemed as excessive and 

require consent gained through a local referendum. The proposed 4.99% increase of the council 

tax does not give rise to an increase of 5% or more and is therefore not deemed as excessive. 

 

 

 

Page 269



Appendix 11 - Equalities Analysis Assessment 

Page 2 of 13 
 

Budget Consultation and Engagement 

 

Officers will be consulting with:  

• Ealing Business Partnership on 16 February 2023.  

• Overview and Scrutiny Committee will consider the Budget Strategy and MTFS 2023/24 to 

2025/26 report at its meeting on 21 February 2023 and comments will be tabled at the 

Cabinet meeting on 22 February 2023.  

 

Groups most likely to be affected 

 

All people eligible to pay either full or reduced council tax will be affected. Any household that is 

currently charged council tax will see their bill rise proportionally by 4.99%. 

 

Ealings’ Demographic Profile 

 

 

 
 

 
   

 
 

 
Source ONS Census 2021 

12%
6%

12%

33%

20%

12%
5%

0-9 10-15 16-24 25-44 45-59 60-74 75 plus

Population by age 51% 49%

M A L E  F E M A L E  

POPULATION BY GENDER 

43%

11%

30%

5%
11%

Whie Black Asian Mixed Other

Population by ethnic group

Christian 
37.80%

No Religion 
19.10%

Musil 
18.80%

Sikh 
7.80%

Hindu 
7.70%

Not 
Answered 

6.70%

Budhist 
1.10%

Other 
Religion 
0.70%

Jewish
0.30%

Religion

No Limiting …
Limiting Long Term Illness 

87.79%

Disability

Page 270



Appendix 11 - Equalities Analysis Assessment 

Page 3 of 13 
 

 

2. What will the impact of your proposal be? 

The impact of any council tax changes will be mitigated either entirely or in part should a 
resident be eligible for an exemption from council tax or for a reduction in their council tax. 
 
Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
 
Council Tax Benefit was abolished under the Welfare Reform Act 2012 and councils were 
required to develop their own local Council Tax Support schemes for working age customers 
to help people on low incomes and benefits to pay their council tax. Pensioners eligible for 
Council Tax Support are protected from any loss of support under local schemes. 
 
Ealing Council created its own local Council Tax Reduction Scheme (CTR Scheme) which 
is now in its tenth year. The working age scheme has become a local scheme and Councils 
are responsible for the design of the support and need to ratified the scheme every year.  
 
On 7 December 2022, Cabinet approved the following change to the Council Tax 
Reduction (CTR): to increase the maximum council tax reduction for the non-protected 
category from 75% to 80% for those who fall in the lowest income band (band 1) and their 
income is below £136.89 be approved by Full Council on 8 March 2023. This represents a 
5% increase in council tax reduction for the lowest income households. 
 
The change will increase the CTR entitlement for 4,933 households that currently receive 
75% council tax award.  Those in protected category are already entitled to up to 100% of 
CTR.  
 
The Council’s CTR scheme for working age residents will continue to keep the 100% discount 
for applicants who fall into the protected category. For those who fall into the non-protected 
category and on the lowest income band will receive 80% discount and all other income 
bands will remain the same. 
 
Key feature: This is an income banded scheme which will assess the maximum level of 

CTR based on the net income of the applicant and their partner (if they live with one).   

The proposed change to the scheme will keep the maximum 100% reduction for applicants 
who fall into the protected category.  
 
Applicants who fall in the non-protected category and the lowest income band (band 1) will 
receive a maximum of 80% reduction towards their council tax and all other applicants will not 
be affected. This represents a 5% increase in council tax reduction for the lowest income 
households. 
 
The change is proposed to help applicants who fall in the non-protected category and the 
lowest income band (band1) with the increase in the cost of living so they will have less to pay 
towards their council tax. 

 
Pensioners are not affected by the proposed change, and they will receive the same level 
of support they do now as required by law. 
 

Page 271



Appendix 11 - Equalities Analysis Assessment 

Page 4 of 13 
 

 
Under the income banded scheme, the calculation of entitlement has been simplified. All state 

benefits including tax credits are disregarded. Applicants receive a discount based upon the 

level of their net income as set out in the table below. 

 

Council Tax Reduction Calculation Table 

  Protected Non-protected 

Band Income Bands £ 
Customer’s 

contribution to 
Council Tax 

CTR 
Award 

Income Bands 
Customer’s 

contribution to 
Council Tax 

CTR 
Award 

1 0.00 -136.89 0% 100% 0.00 -136.89 20% 80% 

2 136.90 – 159.70 25% 75% 136.90 – 159.70 40% 60% 

3 159.71 – 182.51 40% 60% 159.71 – 182.51 50% 50% 

4 182.52 – 205.34 50% 50% 182.52 – 205.34 60% 40% 

5 205.35 – 228.15 60% 40% 205.35 – 228.15 70% 30% 

6 228.16 – 250.96 70% 30% 228.16 – 250.96 80% 20% 

7 250.97 – 273.79 80% 20% 250.97 – 273.79 90% 10% 

8 273.80 – 296.60 90% 10% 273.80+ 100% 0% 

9 296.61+ 100% 0% 
 

    

 

The income bands have been uprated for 2023/24 in line with September 2022 CPI which was 

10.1%. 

 

Claimant’s CTR entitlement changes only if their earned income change is sufficient to move 

them from one band to another. 
 

Council Tax Discounts and Exemptions 

 

Circumstances under which people are exempt from paying, or have their council tax liability 

reduced on the basis of grounds other than CTR schemes, are mainly laid out by the 

government. Authorities can decide on local discounts and exemptions. Examples of some 

particular exemptions follow. 

 

a) Single Person Discount: Households in which an adult lives on their own or in which no one 

else counts as an adult receive a 25% reduction on their council tax bill.  

 

b) Full-Time Students: Households where everyone is a full-time student don’t have to pay 

council tax. 

 
c) Care Leavers are provided an additional discount which ensures a il council tax liabillity. 

 

A discretionary relief will be awarded to Ealing care leavers aged between 18 and 24 years 

old who are liable for council tax in the borough as part of local offer for care leavers. To be 

eligible the care leaver must be liable for council tax in Ealing and have previously been in 

the care of Ealing Council. Relief will be applied after all other discounts are awarded and 

Page 272



Appendix 11 - Equalities Analysis Assessment 

Page 5 of 13 
 

only if an amount remains to be paid for council tax. Eligible care leavers are identified by 

the Council and relief is awarded automatically with no application needed. 

 

d) Discretionary Council Tax Discount: All residents will be able to apply for a discretionary 

discount if they are able to demonstrate that they are having difficulty paying their council 

tax. 

 
e) Empty Homes Exemption: The Council currently charges an extra 100% of council tax if a 

property has been empty for more than 2 years and 200% extra council tax if the property 

has been empty for between 2 – 5 years. Officers are recommending to continue with an 

additional premium on top of the standard council tax  for properties which have been empty 

for more than 2 years and to agree in principle to commence and additional 100% charge 

for the properties empty for more than one year from 1 April 2024. However, if someone is 

selling an empty property on behalf of an owner who has died, they are eligible, receiving 

an exemption from council tax liability. 

 
Some homes will receive an exemption from council tax for as long as they stay empty. They 

include homes: 

• belonging to someone in prison (except for not paying a fine or council tax) 

• belonging to someone who has moved into a care home or hospital 

• that have been repossessed 

• that cannot be lived in by law, e.g. if they are derelict 

• that are empty because they have been compulsorily purchased and will be demolished 

• dwelling left empty by a deceased person (up to and for 6 months after probate). 

 

f) Other exemptions are granted for properties which are occupied solely by: 

• Students 

• Severely mentally impaired residents. 

 

Any increases in council tax are matched by corresponding percentage increases in discounts 

or exemptions. 

 

Additional Council Tax Support Fund 2023/24 

 
On 23 December 2022, the government announced funding and guidance for its Council Tax 

Support Fund for 2023/24. This allows the Council to reduce council tax bills by up to £25 for 

those in receipt of Council Tax Support (CTS) and to use remaining funding as they see fit to 

further support households in need. 

 

The government has advised that the mechanism which should be used to make these 

reductions in Council Tax liability is by relying on section 13A(1)(c) of the Local Government 

Finance Act 1992 (“1992 Act”). Therefore, an amendment has been made to the Council’s 

existing 13A(1)(c) policy. 

 

The Council’s funding allocation for the additional Council Tax Support funding is £630,896. 

 

Page 273



Appendix 11 - Equalities Analysis Assessment 

Page 6 of 13 
 

The funding will be distributed under the policy which sets the way in which the Council’s 

discretion to make council tax reductions will be utilised in 2023/24 and in subsequent years.  

This is distinct from the Council’s Council Tax Reduction Scheme set out above.  

 

The policy sets out two classes of taxpayer as eligible for the funding:  

 

1) Those in receipt of CTS who will be entitled to an award of up to £40 off their council Tax 

bill for 2023/24 under the government’s CTS fund. This will apply to all awards of CTS for 

the 2023/24 financial year. These reductions are made to qualifying council tax accounts 

without the need for application.  

2) Any excess Council Tax Support Fund provided to the Council and not used in will be 
provided to supplement the Council’s Council Tax Discretionary Discount scheme from 
which households are able claim support under 13A(1)(c). 

 

The £40 award consists of £25 statutory maximum payment required by the government and 

additional £15 discretionary award which has been determined locally to support CTS claimants 

during the cost-of-living crisis. The award will be a maximum of £40, limited to the actual council 

tax liability of the individual CTS recipient.  

 

It is expected that the 2023/24 reductions under this policy will benefit around 9,926 households. 

This includes 1,934 pensioner households and 7,992 working age households. 

 

 

2.  Impact on Groups having a Protected Characteristic 

 
 

AGE: A person of a particular age or being within an age group. 

Neutral Impact 

Describe the Impact 

The age of the liable person is not recorded for council tax purposes, but as the chart below 
shows Ealing's population in 2019 was broadly similar to London with: 
 

• 64.7% - working age (16-64);  

• 21.9% - under-16’s; and  

• 13.4% - 65 and over  
 

Eligible pensioners receives support under the CTR.  

Page 274



Appendix 11 - Equalities Analysis Assessment 

Page 7 of 13 
 

 
 
 

Alternatives and mitigating actions which have been considered in order to reduce 
negative effect: 
 
Describe the Mitigating Action 

Not applicable. 

 
 

DISABILITY: A person has a disability if they have a physical, mental or sensory 
impairment which has a substantial and long term adverse effect on their ability to 
carry out normal day to day activities1. 

Neutral Impact 
 

Describe the Impact 

Under Ealing’s CTR scheme, those identified under ‘protected group’ are eligible for up to 100% 
discount. These will include residents who are in receipt of of a disability benefit (disability 
premium, severe disability premium, enhanced disability premium or carer premium when their 
award is calculated), Carer’s Allowance, Employment and Support Allowance, Personal 
Independence Payment, Attendance Allowance or Disability Living Allowance will qualify for a 
discount under the protected group. For details refer to Appendix 0 and 4 of the report. 
 
Though the level of discount available will be dependent on the household income (as 
summarised in the EAA above), it should be noted that a maximum award of up to 100% is 
available to those entitled to2: 
 

• a disability premium, severe disability premium, enhanced disability premium or carer 
premium when their award is calculated; and 

• to a disabled earnings disregard, a disabled person’s reduction for council tax purposes 
 
 

 
1 Due regard to meeting the needs of people with disabilities involves taking steps to take account of their disabilities and may 
involve making reasonable adjustments and prioritizing certain groups of disabled people on the basis that they are particularly 
affected by the proposal. 
2 Revised Council Tax Support Scheme for 2020/21 (Report to Cabinet December 2019) – Appendix 3 EAA  

Page 275



Appendix 11 - Equalities Analysis Assessment 

Page 8 of 13 
 

Alternatives and mitigating actions which have been considered in order to reduce 
negative effect: 
 
Describe the Mitigating Action 

Not applicable. 

 
 

GENDER REASSIGNMENT: This is the process of transitioning from one sex to 
another. This includes persons who consider themselves to be trans, transgender and 
transsexual. 

Neutral Impact 

Describe the Impact 

There is no council tax data regarding gender reassignment. 

Alternatives and mitigating actions which have been considered in order to reduce 
negative effect: 
 
Describe the Mitigating Action 

Not applicable. 

 
 

RACE: A group of people defined by their colour, nationality (including citizenship), 
ethnic or national origins or race. 

Neutral Impact 

Describe the Impact 

The race of the liable person is not recorded for council tax purposes, but there is no reason 
to believe that the increase will impact on any particular ethnic group disproportionately. 

Alternatives and mitigating actions which have been considered in order to reduce 
negative effect: 
 
Describe the Mitigating Action 

Not applicable. 

 
 

RELIGION & BELIEF: Religion means any religion. Belief includes religious and 
philosophical beliefs including lack of belief (for example, Atheism). Generally, a belief 
should affect a person’s life choices or the way you live for it to be included. 

Neutral Impact 

Describe the Impact 

Page 276



Appendix 11 - Equalities Analysis Assessment 

Page 9 of 13 
 

This is not recorded for council tax purposes, but there is no reason to believe that any 
particular religious group is likely to be disproportionately affected by the proposed changes. 
 

Alternatives and mitigating actions which have been considered in order to reduce 
negative effect: 
 
Describe the Mitigating Action 

Not applicable. 

 
 

SEX: Someone being a man or a woman. 

Neutral Impact 

Describe the Impact 

There is no council tax data regarding sex but Ealing's 2021 data profile shows the split to be 
50% male and 49% female. 
 
 

 
Source: ONS - Census 2021 

 

Alternatives and mitigating actions which have been considered in order to reduce 
negative effect: 
 
Describe the Mitigating Action 

Not applicable. 

 

Page 277



Appendix 11 - Equalities Analysis Assessment 

Page 10 of 13 
 

 

SEXUAL ORIENTATION: A person’s sexual attraction towards his or her own sex, the 
opposite sex or to both sexes, covering including all LGBTQ+ groups. 

Neutral Impact 

Describe the Impact 

There is no council tax data regarding sexual orientation. 

Alternatives and mitigating actions which have been considered in order to reduce 
negative effect: 
 
Describe the Mitigating Action 

Not applicable. 

 
 

PREGNANCY & MATERNITY: Description: Pregnancy: Being pregnant. Maternity: The 
period after giving birth - linked to maternity leave in the employment context. In the non-work 
context, protection against maternity discrimination is for 26 weeks after giving birth, including 
as a result of breastfeeding. 

Neutral Impact 

Describe the Impact 

There is no council tax data regarding pregnancy or maternity. 

Alternatives and mitigating actions which have been considered in order to reduce 
negative effect: 
 
Describe the Mitigating Action 

Not applicable. 

 
 

MARRIAGE & CIVIL PARTNERSHIP: Marriage: A union between a man and a woman. or of 
the same sex, which is legally recognised in the UK as a marriage 

Civil partnership: Civil partners must be treated the same as married couples on a range of 
legal matters. 

Neutral Impact 

Describe the Impact 

Council tax records do not show the marital status of the liable person. 

Alternatives and mitigating actions which have been considered in order to reduce 
negative effect: 
 
Describe the Mitigating Action 

Page 278



Appendix 11 - Equalities Analysis Assessment 

Page 11 of 13 
 

Not applicable. 

 
 

3.  Human Rights3 

3a. Does your proposal impact on Human Rights as defined by the Human Rights Act 1998? 
 

Yes ☐ No ☒ 

(If yes, please describe the effect and any mitigating action you have considered.) 

 

3b. Does your proposal impact on the rights of children as defined by the UN Convention on 
the Rights of the Child? 
 

Yes ☐ No ☒ 

(If yes, please describe the effect and any mitigating action you have considered.) 
 

3c. Does your proposal impact on the rights of persons with disabilities as defined by the UN 
Convention on the rights of persons with disabilities? 
 

Yes ☐ No ☒ 

(If yes, please describe the effect and any mitigating action you have considered.) 
 

 
 

4.  Conclusion 

Ealing is proposing a council tax increase of 4.99%, of which 2.99% relates to the core 
council tax and 2% is in relation to social care precept, in line with government direction as 
the increase forms part of Core Spending Power calculation within the local government 
finance settlement. The proposal is a key element to the Council being able to set a balanced 
budget in accordance with its legal duty.  
 
The desired outcome of the proposal is to:  
 

• To endeavour to ensure, as far as is reasonable and proportionate, that the 
implementation of the council tax increase does not adversely impact one group more 
than any other.  
 

• To give consideration to vulnerable groups whilst ensuring that this does not add to the 
burden of those left to pay.  
 

• To ensure that those who are entitled to discretionary council tax reductions in council 
tax are not disproportionately impacted by the 4.99% increase, in accordance with 
Council policy.  

 
From the information that is available the impact of any council tax changes will be mitigated 
either entirely or in part through council’s generous and flexible CTR scheme, should a 

 
3 For further guidance please refer to the Human Rights & URNC Guidance on the Council Equalities web page. 

Page 279

http://inside.ealing.gov.uk/downloads/download/89/equalities_templates


Appendix 11 - Equalities Analysis Assessment 

Page 12 of 13 
 

resident be eligible for an exemption from council tax or for a reduction in their council tax. 
Thereby achieving the outcomes set out above.  
By increasing council tax, the Council can prevent reductions in services to local  
residents and in so doing can continue to mitigate against adverse impacts facing  
individual households. 

4a. What evidence, data sources and intelligence did you use to assess the potential 
impact/effect of your proposal? Please note the systems/processes you used to collect 
the data that has helped inform your proposal. Please list the file paths and/or relevant 
web links to the information you have described. 

 

• Appendix 4 - EAA for CTR Scheme (Council Meeting February 2023) 

• Equalities in Ealing - Summary Needs Assessment (August 2020) 
 

 
 

5.  Action Planning: (What are the next steps for the proposal please list i.e. when it 

comes into effect, when mitigating actions linked to the protected characteristics above will 
take place, how you will measure impact etc.) 

Action Outcomes 
Success 
Measures 

Timescales / 
Milestones 

Lead Officer (Contact 
Details) 

Review CTR 
scheme to 
ensure that its 
still meets its 
key objective in 
supporting the 
most vulnerable 
people. 

CTR protected 
groups will not 
be impacted 
negatively by 
any increase in 
council tax. 

High levels of 
council tax 
receipts / low 
levels of council 
tax debt 

Annual CTR 
Scheme 
Review 

Joanna Pavlides 
 
Head of Financial 
Assessments, Finance 
 
PavlidesJ@ealing.gov.uk 
0208 825 9279 

Additional Comments: 

 
 
 

 
 

6.  Sign Off (All EAA’s must be signed off once completed) 

Completing Officer Sign Off: Service Director Sign Off: 
HR related proposal (Signed 
off by directorate HR officer) 

Signed: 
 
 
 

Signed: 

 

Signed: 

Name (Block Capitals): 
SHABANA KAUSAR 

Name (Block Capitals): 
EMILY HILL 

Name (Block Capitals): 

Date: 13/02/2023 Date: 13/02/2023 
 

Date: 
 

For EAA’s relating to Cabinet decisions: received by Committee Section for publication by 
(date): 31/01/2023 

Page 280

mailto:PavlidesJ@ealing.gov.uk


Appendix 11 - Equalities Analysis Assessment 

Page 13 of 13 
 

Annex A: Legal obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 

 

• As a public authority we must have due regard to the need to: 

a) Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited by or under this Act; 

b) Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it; 

c) Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 
and persons who do not share it. 

 

• The protected characteristics are: AGE, DISABILITY, GENDER REASSIGNMENT, RACE, 
RELIGION & BELIEF, SEX, SEXUAL ORIENTATION, PREGNANCY & MATERNITY, 
MARRIAGE & CIVIL PARTNERSHIP 

 

• Having due regard to advancing equality of opportunity between those who share a 
protected characteristic and those who do not, involves considering the need to: 

a) Remove or minimising disadvantages suffered by persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic 

b) Take steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant characteristic that are 
different from the needs of the persons who do not share it. 

c) Encourage persons who share a relevant protected characteristic to participate in 
public life or in any other activity in which participation by such persons is 
disproportionately low. 

 

• Having due regard to fostering good relations between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not, involves showing that you are tackling 
prejudice and promoting understanding. 

 

• Complying with the duties may involve treating some people more favourably than others; 
but this should not be taken as permitting conduct that would be otherwise prohibited 
under the Act. 

 

Page 281



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

 
 
Contains Confidential 
or Exempt Information 

NO 
 

Title Scheme of Members’ Allowances 2023-24 
Responsible Officer(s) Helen Harris, Director of Legal and Democratic Services 
Author(s) Sam Bailey, Head of Democratic Services  
Portfolio(s) Cllr Steve Donnelly – Cabinet Member for Inclusive Economy 
For Consideration By Council 
Date to be considered 8 March 2023 
Implementation Date if 
Not Called In  

n/a 

Affected Wards n/a 
Keywords/Index Members allowances 

 
Purpose of Report:  
This report seeks approval for the Members’ Allowances scheme for 2023/24. 
 

 
1. Recommendations 

 
1.1 To note and have regard to the report and recommendations of the London 

Councils’ independent panel, ‘The Remuneration of Councillors in London 
2022’. 

 
1.2 To approve the proposed Ealing Members’ Allowances Scheme for 2023/24, 

as set out in Appendix 1 to this report. 
 
2. Reason for Decision and Options Considered 

 
2.1 The Council is required to approve its Members’ Allowances Scheme. To 

assist the setting of setting the budget this is done on an annual basis at the 
same Council meeting where the budget is set. 
 

2.2 The Council adopted a Members’ Allowances Scheme for 2022/23 at its 
meeting of 1st March 2022; that scheme was comprehensively reviewed and 
amended in May 2022,  at the Annual Council meeting following the election.  

 
2.3 No further changes to the scheme are proposed, other than uprating all basic 

and special responsibility allowances by 4.04%, with effect from May 2023, 
which is in line with the pay settlement for 2022-23 for staff. 

 
2.4 Councils are required to establish and maintain an independent 

remuneration panel to provide advice on their own schemes and amounts to 

 Report for: 
ACTION 
 
 
Item Number: 
 
 

Page 283

Agenda Item 10



 

2 
 

be paid and the pensionability of allowances where relevant. Regulations 
provide for an independent remuneration panel to be established by London 
Councils to produce reports for authorities across London and the Council 
must have regard to its advice. 
 

2.5 The conclusions of the 2022 review and recommendations can be found in 
the report ‘The Remuneration of Councillors in London 2022’.  The Review 
Panel has had no direct involvement in the recommendations within this 
report. 

 
 

2.6 Staff on NJC terms and conditions have been awarded a flat rate payrise of 
£2,229. The IRP has considered this figure and concluded that it equates to 
an equivalent rise of 4.04% for Members’ Allowances. 
 

2.7 In order to match Staff pay increases, this percentage will be used to 
increase allowances for 2023/24. 

 
2.8 For the next three years, it is anticipated the Council will keep to this cycle of 

applying the previous year’s staff pay award figures to the following year’s 
members’ allowances figures. This has the advantage of being clear and 
transparent, and allows Council the opportunity to make the final decision on 
whether to apply it or not, as it is highly likely the previous year’s pay claim 
will have been settled by the time Budget Council is due to meet and agree 
the allowances scheme for the following year. 
 

2.9 The London wide IRP have begun undertaking a more fundamental review 
into Member’s Allowances. Once this report has been published the Council 
will take this into account when setting future allowances schemes. 

 
3. Key Implications 
 
3.1 The proposed scheme ensures that allowances keep pace with staff pay 

awards and that allowance values aren’t eroded over time due to inflation. 
3.2 The scheme requires that the Leader notify annual council each year of the 
intended working hours of each member of the cabinet, in relation to the hours to be 
worked by each member of the cabinet that year. 
 
 
4. Financial 

 
4.1 The costs of members allowances will be met from approved budgets. 
 
5. Legal 

 
5.1 Section 18 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 (as amended by 

section 99 of the Local Government Act 2000) makes provision in relation to 
basic, special responsibility and dependents’ carers’ allowances for members 
of local authorities. The Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) 
Regulations 2003, which have been made under these provisions, provide 

Page 284

http://www.londoncouncils.gov.uk/node/3784


 

3 
 

that it is for each local authority to decide its own scheme and the amounts 
paid under that scheme.  
 

5.2 Regulation 5 of the 2003 Regulations specifies that the council may pay 
special responsibility allowances for members carrying out any of the 
following categories of activity: 

 
(a) acting as leader or deputy leader of a political group within the council; 
(b) acting as a member of the cabinet; 
(c) presiding at meetings of a committee or sub-committee of the council, 

or a joint committee of the council and one or more other councils, or a 
sub-committee of such a joint committee; 

(d) representing the council at meetings of, or arranged by, any other body; 
(e) acting as a member of a committee or sub-committee of the council 

which meets with exceptional frequency or for exceptionally long 
periods; 

(f) acting as the spokesman of a political group on a committee or sub-
committee of the council; 

(g) acting as a member of the Adoption Panel; 
(h) acting as a member of any committee or sub-committee that deals with 

any function arising under any enactment authorising the council to 
license or control the carrying on of any activity; 

(i) carrying out such other activities in relation to the discharge of the 
council’s functions as require of the member an amount of time and 
effort equal to or greater than would be required of the member by any 
one of the activities mentioned above 

 
6. Value for Money 

 
6.1 The scheme of members’ allowance represents excellent value for money for 

the work carried out by members. The scheme  demonstrates that the 
Council is considering value for money when setting its allowances scheme 
by not over paying members for the valuable duties they carry out. 

 
7. Sustainability Impact Appraisal 

 
7.1 No sustainability impact appraisal has been carried out. 
 
8. Risk Management 

 
8.1 Any associated risks have been included in the body of the main report above. 

 
9. Community Safety 

  
9.1 There are no direct community safety implications as part of this report.  

Page 285



 

4 
 

 
10. Links to the 3 Key Priorities for the Borough 

  
10.1 The council’s administration has three key priorities for Ealing. They are: 
 

• Creating Good Jobs 
• Tackling the Climate Crisis 
• Fighting Inequality 

10.2 A fair allowances scheme helps to motivate and support members in their work 
for and on behalf of the council and encourages able candidates to put 
themselves forward for election. 

 
11. Equalities, Human Rights and Community Cohesion 

 
11.1 A full equalities impact assessment is not required and has not been carried    

out. 
 
12. Staffing/Workforce and Accommodation implications:  

 
12.1 There are none unless claims rise to such a level that we are unable to fund 

the shortfall from non-staffing elements of the Members Services budget. 
 
13. Property and Assets 

 
13.1 There are no property implications from this report. 

 
14. Consultation 

 
14.1 An advert will be placed in a local newspaper, as required by the 2003 

Regulations. 
 

15. Timetable for Implementation 
 

15.1 The new scheme once approved will take effect from 1 May 2023. 
 

16. Appendices 
  

 Appendix 1: Members’ Allowances Scheme 2023/24 
 Appendix 2: The Remuneration of Councillors in London 2022 

 
17. Background Information 

 
17.1 2022/23 Allowances Scheme, as agreed on 24 May 2022: 
 

https://ealing.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s985/Members%20Allowances%2
0Scheme%202022-
23%20Proposed%20Changes%20to%20the%20Constitution.pdf 
 

 
17.2 The remuneration of Councillors in London 2022: 

Page 286

https://ealing.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s985/Members%20Allowances%20Scheme%202022-23%20Proposed%20Changes%20to%20the%20Constitution.pdf
https://ealing.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s985/Members%20Allowances%20Scheme%202022-23%20Proposed%20Changes%20to%20the%20Constitution.pdf
https://ealing.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s985/Members%20Allowances%20Scheme%202022-23%20Proposed%20Changes%20to%20the%20Constitution.pdf


 

5 
 

 
https://www.londoncouncils.gov.uk/download/file/fid/28289  

Page 287

https://www.londoncouncils.gov.uk/download/file/fid/28289


 

6 
 

Consultation  

Name of  
consultee 

Post held  Date 
 sent to 
consultee 

Date 
response 
received  

Comments 
appear in 
paragraph: 

Internal     
Emily Hill Strategic Director of 

Corporate Resources 
23 Jan 23 28 Feb 23  

Helen Harris Director Legal & Democratic 
Services 

23 Jan 23 28 Feb 23  

Cllr Steve 
Donnelly 

Cabinet Member for Inclusive 
Economy 

23 Jan 23 28 Feb 23  

External No external parties were 
consulted  

   

 
Report History 

Decision type: Urgency item? 
Non-key decision No 
Report no.: Report author: Sam Bailey  
 Job title:  Head of Democratic Services 
 

Page 288



MEMBERS’ ALLOWANCES SCHEME 2023/24 
 
1. Introduction 
 

This Members’ Allowances Scheme has been made having regard to the 
recommendations of The London Councils’ Independent Panel on the 
Remuneration of Councillors in London and in accordance with the regulations 
made under the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and the Local 
Authorities (Members' Allowances) England Regulations 2003 No. 1021 (as 
amended). 

 
3. Principles 

The Members’ Allowances Scheme has been designed to meet the following 
principles: 
- To have regard to the London Councils Independent Panel on the 

Remuneration of Councillors in London recommendations. 
- To enable the effective execution of the council’s executive, governance, 

quasi-judicial, scrutiny, and other functions. 
- Fair recognition of the time, workload and responsibility of councillors, so as 

to enable people to take on these duties without being subject to hardship 
for doing so.  

 
4. Types of allowance 
  

There are five different types of allowance that may be paid to members: 
▪ Basic allowance 
▪ Special responsibility allowance 
▪ Travel allowance 
▪ Carers allowance 
▪ Subsistence allowance 

 
5. Basic allowance 
 

Basic allowance is paid equally to all members at the rate set out in Appendix 
A. If a member wishes to waive their right to receive a basic allowance or 
receive a lower sum they must notify the Monitoring Officer in writing. Where 
the term of office of a member begins or ends during a municipal year their 
basic allowance entitlement will be paid in proportion to the number of days as 
a member.  It is paid monthly. 
 
The basic allowance is £12,014£12,499.37 
 
The basic allowance includes: 

• Intra borough travel and subsistence costs  

• An allowance for basic office and associated costs 

• Registration for Data Protection  
 

 

Page 289



6. Special Responsibility Allowances  
 

The council has decided to pay special responsibility allowances (SRA) to 
those members whom it considers have special responsibilities for the 
discharge of the functions of the council.  The list of SRAs payable is set out 
in the table below.  The SRA is paid monthly.  If a member wishes to waive 
their SRA or receive a lower sum, they must notify the Monitoring Officer in 
writing.  
 
No member may receive more than one Special Responsibility Allowance. 
Where a member is appointed to more than one position that attracts a Special 
Responsibility Allowance, they will be paid only the highest rate Special 
Responsibility Allowance of those to which they’re entitled. 

 
 

Band 1a SRA 

Deputy Chief Whip x2 (Majority Party) 
Deputy Mayor 
Whip Main Opposition Group 
Whip Second Opposition Group 
Vice Chair - Licensing Committee 
Chair – Audit Committee  
Chair - General Purposes Committee 
Chair – Local Development Plan Advisory Committee 
Chair - SACRE 
Chair – Pensions Committee 

£2,807£2,920.40 

 

Band 1b SRA 

Leader - Second Opposition Group 
Chair - Scrutiny Panel x 3 
Vice chair - OSC & Opposition Scrutiny Panel 
Vice chair – Planning Committee 

£4,604£4,790 

 

Band 1c SRA 

Chair – Health and Adult Social Services Scrutiny 
Panel 
Chair – Licensing Committee 
 

£6,512£6,775.08 

 

Band 2 SRA 

Mayor 
Leader - Main Opposition Group 
Chair – Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
Chair – Planning Committee 
Chief Whip (Majority Group) 

£17,628£18,340.17 

 
 

Band 3* (see hours adjusted arrangements below) SRA 

Deputy Leader 
Cabinet Member 

£39,860* 
£41,470.34 

Page 290



(Capped at £23,916 
for 2022/2023) 

 

Band 4 (see hours adjusted arrangements below) SRA 

Leader  £54,860£57,076.34 

 
Where the Leader of the Council has appointed two members to cabinet in a 
job share, the SRA is split between the two members, with 50% payable to each 
member. 
 
The council recognises that members of cabinet are expected to perform duties 
in addition to statutory meetings held during evening, principally during normal 
working hours. Allowances are calculated against the average number of hours 
per week the member  is employed elsewhere, and set out below: 
 

• 14 hours or less elsewhere, full SRA 

• 15 to 27 hours elsewhere, four fifths SRA 

• 28 to 35 hours elsewhere, three fifths SRA 

• 35 or more hours elsewhere, two fifths SRA 
 
 The Leader will notify Annual Council of the intended working hours of each 
member of the cabinet and notify the next available full council during the year 
if the declared arrangements are varied.   

 
4. Suspension or withdrawal of allowances 
 

If payment of any allowance has already been made in respect of any period 
during which the member concerned: 

 
(a) Is suspended or partially suspended from his responsibilities or duties as a 

member of an authority; 
 

(b) Has ceased to be a member of the authority; or 
 

(c) Is in any way not entitled to receive the allowance in respect of that period  
 
then the allowance or relevant part of it will be repayable to the council. 
 
If a member of the council does not serve as an elected member for the whole 
of the twelve-month period or becomes disqualified, they will only be entitled 
to pro-rata payments for the period(s) during which they are actually a serving 
member of the council. 
 
The Standards Committee may withdraw, stop or suspend entitlement to 
allowances, for failure to attend or undertake required training. Withheld 
allowances are not payable / recoverable.  
 
 

 

Page 291



5.        Maternity / paternity / adoption or long term sick leave 

In the event of a member taking leave for any of the above they will continue 
to receive their basic allowance. However, where a member is in receipt of 
Special Responsibility Allowance (SRA) they are encouraged to claim any 
state entitlement as the SRA will only be paid to any substitute accepted by 
full council as carrying out the role for a specified period and only to the extent 
that additional funding is not required. 
 

6.         Electing to forgo allowances 

If a member does not wish to claim an allowance or a part thereof they should 
provide notice in writing to the Monitoring Officer electing to forgo his / her 
entitlement or any part of their entitlement to allowances. 
 

7. Travel Allowance 
 

Travel expenses incurred in the performance of "approved duties" (see 
paragraph 11 below) may only be claimed from the council for meetings held 
outside the borough subject to the conditions set out in Appendix A. 
 
Please note that all claims for travel must be made within three months and 
accompanied by receipts as a proof of payment. This is an audit requirement. 
 

8. Carers' Allowances 
 

Members may claim this allowance as reimbursement of costs they incur for 
carers looking after children or elderly, infirm or sick relatives while the 
Member is carrying out an "approved duty" (see paragraph 11 below). 
 
Members are entitled to claim the allowances for periods starting up to an 
hour after it finishes in order to allow for essential travelling time.  The 
Member is responsible for making the care arrangements and the council can 
accept no responsibility for anything that might happen as a result of those 
arrangements. 
 
Carers' allowances are not payable for carers who are normally resident in the 
member's home or are under 16 years of age.  Payment will only be made 
after the member has submitted a statement of claim for each use of a carer. 
 

9. Subsistence Allowances 
 

Details on subsistence allowance are set out in Appendix A. These 
allowances are not payable where the council has made arrangements for 
meals and / or accommodation for an approved duty. 
 
Please note that all claims for subsistence must be accompanied by receipts 
as proof of payment. This is required by Audit. 
 

Page 292



10. Approved Duties  
 (for the purpose of travel, subsistence and carers allowance only) 
 

An "approved duty" for a member means: 
 

(a) Attendance at a meeting of the council or of any committee of the 
council or of any other body to which the council makes appointments 
or nominations, or of any committee or sub-committee of such a body 
provided they are a member of the body concerned; 

(b) Any other meeting convened by the council (but not by an officer of the 
council). 

 
Provided that, when the council is divided into more than one political group, it 
is a meeting to which members of more than one political group have been 
invited; or in any other case, to which at least two members of the council 
have been invited. 
 
(c) A meeting of any association of authorities or body of that association 

of which the council is a member; 
 
            (d) Single member duties i.e. individual Cabinet member decisions, 

sealing, opening tenders etc. 
 

The following are not "approved duties". 
 

(a) Attendance at any conference in relation to which there is entitlement 
to payment of an allowance under Section 175 of the 1972 Act; or: 

 
(b) If such payment would be contrary to a provision of any enactment or 

instrument. 
 
 (c) Attendance at college and school governing bodies. 
 
 (d) Members’ surgeries. 
 

(d) Political group meetings. 
 
11. National Insurance 

 
HM Revenue and Customs requires national insurance contributions to be 
deducted where the allowance for a month exceeds specified levels (currently 
approximately £792 1,048 per month). 
 
Members may be entitled to an exemption from national insurance 
contributions if they are over the statutory age of retirement. Contact the 
Department of Work and Pensions for further information.  

 
If a member is employed elsewhere and earns above the specified level 
(currently approximately £4,189 67per month) they should send the relevant 

Page 293



HMRC form (CA2700) to the payroll team so that only the 2% deduction is 
made.  

 
12. Claims and Payment  
  
 Basic allowance and SRA are automatically paid monthly through the 

council’s payroll system (on 26th of each month) for as long as the councillor 
remains in office and holds a post of responsibility.  Other allowances should 
usually be claimed within two months of being incurred and in all cases, other 
than the serious illness / death of a member, the allowance for a financial year 
must be claimed by 30th June following. 

 
13. Payments to cabinet members for loss of office  
 

Members of the cabinet entitled to a full (defined in section 3 of the scheme as 
the full SRA, not a 4/5 payment or less) SRA will be entitled to a payment for 
loss of office when they cease to be eligible for a full band 3 or 4 allowance 
except if: 

 
a. The loss of office occurs during the last year of a member’s term of office 

and they are not seeking re-election in their current ward 
b. The loss of office occurs by reason of an incident that the Leader 

considers to be one of misconduct in office 
c. The member resigns from the council mid-term, or 
d. The member becomes disqualified to be a councillor 

 
Members must have served for at least one full civic year on cabinet to 
become eligible to claim a payment for loss of office. Members are eligible to 
claim a payment for loss of office no more than once in any 4-year council 
term. 
 
The level of payment is set at 4 weeks of the full SRA plus 1 additional week 
for every year of continuous full-time service as a cabinet member. The 
maximum loss of office payment any member can receive is 12 weeks of the 
full cabinet member SRA.  

 
For the avoidance of doubt, any payment for loss of office shall be reduced by 
the value of any other SRA to which the member becomes entitled within 
twelve months following the end of their term on the cabinet. 

 
Standards Committee will adjudicate on any dispute as to the entitlement and 
any allegation of abuse and shall be authorised to determine any reduction or 
withholding of a loss of office payment.  

 
14. Other authorities from which allowances may be claimed 
 

Payment of allowances can only be made by statutory prescribed bodies.  The 
council is a prescribed body and so are many other authorities and boards. 
Other statutory bodies may have their own schemes through which members 
can claim attendance allowances.  Members may claim attendance allowance 

Page 294



from more than one organisation in a 24-hour period, although only one 
allowance per approved duty may be claimed from each organisation. 
 

15. Review 
 
  The Council has decided that: 
 

(a) the level of travel and subsistence payments as set out in Appendix A: 
Travel & Subsistence Allowances should reflect allowances for staff; and 
 

(b) the carers’ allowance shall reflect the London Living Wage as at 1st April 
each year.  

 

(c) Allowances will be adjusted each year in line with the National Joint Council 
local government officer pay settlement. This will be calculated according to 
the indexed link general settlement and not take any account of any special 
provision, such as adjustments for low paid staff on lower banding. This will 
include the Basic Allowance and SRA levels. 

 
16.   Records of Allowances 
 

In accordance with the regulations a detailed record will be kept of the amount 
and nature of each payment made. This will be available for inspection at all 
reasonable times or copies supplied following the payment of a reasonable 
fee. 

 
As soon as is reasonably practicable after the end of the municipal year to 
which the scheme relates the total sum paid to each recipient in respect of 
basic allowances, special responsibility allowance, dependant carers 
allowance and travelling and subsistence allowance will be published on the 
Council’s website. 

 
17.    Attendance Records 
 

The records of attendance by all Ealing councillors at formally convened 
meetings of the council are all available on the council’s website. 

 
18.    Independent remuneration panel 

The Council has had regard to the recommendations made by the London 
Councils Independent Panel on remuneration for councillors in developing its 
Members Allowances Scheme. If the Panel recommends any changes they 
will be considered by the Council and ratified by full council.  

The Council is obliged to ensure that they discuss and consider the Panel 
recommendations before setting a new or amended scheme.   

The Council is not obliged to accept or implement the Panel’s 
recommendations, but it must pay regard and consider when agreeing 
changes to the scheme. 

Page 295



 

19. Annual Uplift 

All allowances in this scheme (basic and SRA) will be subject to an automatic 
annual increase at the same rate as the nationally agreed NJC pay rate for 
Local Authority Staff, with effect from the start of the following financial year. 
This increase will be subject each year to approval by full council. 

20.   Advice and assistance 
 

Members who require advice or assistance regarding their claims or access to 
the pension scheme should use the following contacts: 

 
 Director of Legal and Democratic Services (Monitoring Officer) 

Head of Democratic Services 
  

Page 296



Appendix A: Travel & Subsistence Allowances 
 
 

1. Travel allowances  
 

a) Private motor vehicle  
 

A member’s private motor vehicle (or one they have use of) may be 
used where its use: 
 

• Results in a substantial saving of the member’s time; 
 

• Is in the interest of the council; or 
 

• Is otherwise reasonable. 
 

 The cost of equivalent travel by public transport should be claimed for 
other than local journeys; the “public transport rate” for such journeys 
is 28.1p per mile.  A “local journey” is one undertaken within the Greater 
London area or within a radius of 20 miles of Ealing Town Hall.  Car 
mileage is not paid for journeys into central London. 

 
The rates for the first 8,500 miles are:                        After 8,500 miles: 

 

• Up to 999cc       36.9p per mile       13.7p per mile   

• Over 1000 cc  40.9p per mile     14.4p per mile  
 

 
b) Private solo motorcycle  

 
  The rate is: 

• Engines up to 125cc             18.45p per mile 

• Engines 125cc and over     36.9p per mile 
    

c) Bicycle  
 

The rate is 20p per mile 
 

d)  Hired vehicles 
 
  Only where this is necessary the actual cost of hiring will be paid. 
 

e)  Train, bus & coach 
 
 The rate for travel by public transport shall not exceed the amount of 

the ordinary fare or any available cheap fare.  Where more than one 
class of fare is available members may claim first-class fares but 
wherever possible claim standard class fares. 
 
The following additional expenditure may also be reimbursed: 

Page 297



 

• Pullman car or similar supplements, reservation of seats, 
deposit or porterage of luggage; and 

 

• Sleeping accommodation engaged by a member for an 
overnight journey. 

 
f) Oyster Cards 

 
Councillors that use oyster cards, or their contactless bank cards, for 
bus and tube travel are reminded to register their oyster cards with 
Transport for London so that proof of journey can be submitted with 
any claim.  This is a new and necessary audit requirement. 

 
g)  Taxi or mini-cab 

 
  The rate shall not exceed  
 

• In cases of urgency or, where no public transport is reasonably 
available, the amount of the actual fare and any reasonable 
gratuity paid; and  

 

• In any other case, the amount of the fare for travel by 
appropriate public transport. 

 
h)  Air travel 

 
 The rate for air travel shall not normally exceed the lower of the actual 

fare or the rate applicable to the alternative means of transport.  
   

i)  Subsistence allowance  
 

There is no fixed maximum amount. Reasonable expenses will be reimbursed 
for claims supported by receipts for meals, hotel accommodations and other 
necessary expenses. 

 
j)  Carers’ allowance 

 

• The London Living Wage per hour  

• Reimbursement of the babysitter’s/carer’s travelling expenses may be 
claimed 

 

 
 

Page 298



1

The Remuneration of 
Councillors in London 
2022
Report of the Independent Panel

Page 299



2

Contents

Summary……………………………………………………..................................................p3  

Background…………………………………………………...................................................p3 

The role of elected members ……………………………....................................................p3 

Recruitment of councillors ……………………………......................................................p4  

The current financial climate …………………....................................................………..p5  

Level of Basic Allowance…………………….....................................................…………..p5  

Special Responsibility Allowances…………......................................................…………p5  

Training and support……………....................................................……………………….p6  

Barriers to being a councillor……….....................................................………………….p6  

Travel and Subsistence Allowances……….......................................................…………p7  

Allowances for Mayor or Civic Head………......................................................…………p7

Update for inflation………………….................................................……………………..p7 

Appendix A: Special responsibilities – beyond the basic allowance  ……………………........ p8

Appendix B: On behalf of the community – a job profile for councilors………………………….p11 

Appendix C: The independent panel members……………………….......................………...p12 

Page 300



3

Summary
At the time of writing this report the country is still responding to the shock of the tragic death of Sir David Amess MP. 
It is a sad reminder of the vital role that all elected representatives play in the life of our country and how your roles 
are at the heart of our democratic and civic society. It is also a reminder of the risks that are linked to your roles. It is 
vital that we have a system of support in place that recognises the full scale of the responsibilities of councillors and 
one that supports residents in both wanting to come forward to undertake these roles and then when they are elected 
enables them to be effective. Our work as an independent remuneration panel can play a part in that endeavour.

The report below details our position as the output for the 2021 review. In short, we are very conscious about the 
huge changes that have taken place as a society during the last few years. Our residents, businesses and communities 
have been dealing with, and continue to deal with, major challenges. The feedback we have received supports our 
view that this has had a major impact on the demands placed on all councillors and of those councillors charged with 
special responsibilities. There is now greater than ever demands for time spent on wider partnership working, the 
situations faced by many residents are ever more challenging and complex, the ease of access afforded by technology 
has increased expectations for almost constant access and rapid responses. The burden of responsibility for effective 
government at a local level is extremely significant. 

At the same time, many aspects of the current situation are still relatively recent. It remains rather unclear how these 
recent patterns of demands and increased expectations will play out and settle over time. With this level of uncertainty, 
we do not believe that at the current time we have the evidence available to recommend any significant changes in the 
remuneration of councillors.

However, given the wider background, we have concluded that, instead of waiting four years to undertake the next 
review, it would be preferable to undertake a review commencing in the summer of 2022 with the aim of concluding it 
in the latter half of 2023. As well as enabling us to re-assess the situation, this timescale would enable us to undertake 
more detailed consultations and seek wider views as part of the evidence gathering that will be needed. 

As well as the substantive recommendations in the report, we therefore recommend that we undertake a further review 
of the remuneration of councillors during 2022-23.

Background
The Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003 (‘the Regulations’) authorise the 
establishment by the Association of London Government (now London Councils) of an independent remuneration 
panel to make recommendations in respect of the members’ allowances payable by London boroughs. Such a panel 
(‘the Panel’) was established and reported in 2001, 2003, 2006, 2010, 2014 and 2018. It now comprises Mike Cooke 
(Chair), Sir Rodney Brooke CBE DL and Anne Watts CBE.

The Regulations require a review of the scheme every four years as a minimum. The current Panel has therefore 
completed a review of remuneration for councillors in London. We present our findings and recommendations in 
this report.

As a preparation for our work, we invited all London boroughs to give their views on the operation of the existing 
scheme. We are grateful for the feedback, which confirms that the existing London scheme of members’ allowances is 
still fit for purpose. We make recommendations accordingly. However, where issues have arisen from the comments we 
received, we have addressed them in this report.

The role of elected members
In our previous reports we reflected on the importance of the role of elected members. We repeat at Appendix B the ‘job 
profile’ for councillors which we originally included in our 2010 report. 

Our last report reflected on research that identified that councillors oversee million-pound budgets, balancing 
complex financial pressures at a time of severe cutbacks in local authority spending, making decisions which will affect 
their areas for decades to come. These challenges continue and have been exacerbated by the impact of the Covid-19 

Page 301



4

Pandemic and the continuing recovery effort from it. 

In London, each borough is responsible for services crucial to its residents. Each has a revenue budget of up to £1.4bn as 
well as a substantial capital programme. The scale of their turnover and other financial activities are in many instances 
comparable with those of large publicly quoted companies.

Councillors are faced with difficult choices. Demand for local authority services continues to grow. In particular there 
is rapid growth in the number of old people with a corresponding increase in demand for social care. London itself 
faces acute housing problems coupled with higher levels of homelessness than other parts of the country. Councillors 
have an increased responsibility for local and place-based health outcomes. Thus, the strain on and competition for 
resources increase the demands made on elected members.

The feedback we received is that the workload and responsibilities of councillors continues to increase and that their role 
has become more complex, and not only in the areas of social care and housing. There has been a growth in other public 
sector activities including community safety with increasing engagement with the Police, increasing expectations for 
closer working with health services, and in some boroughs more involvement with joint venture partnerships and local 
authority trading companies. Since the start of the Pandemic, there has been an important and significant role for 
councillors in local welfare support and greater liaison with the voluntary sector. This all requires the commitment and 
time of leaders, cabinet members and front-line councillors. The Pandemic has also heightened the significant role of 
councillors as a point contact for information, advice and reassurance for communities. 

While valuable to democracy, the growth in digital connectivity and the availability and use of social media and other 
forms of messaging applications adds to the pressure on councillors by increasing demands from their constituents in 
several different ways. Communication with councillors is not only easier but immediate. The public expects a speedy 
response, so that it is now more difficult for councillors to deal with concerns as quickly as voters expect. Not only does 
social media make it easier for their constituents to access councillors, but they also enable an isolated concern to 
become an organised campaign. The expectations of the public continue to rise. 

Recruitment of councillors
We received feedback that it continues to be challenging to recruit candidates generally but also from a diverse 
background and of a high enough calibre who are prepared to stand for office as councillors. Though financial deterrents 
were cited amongst a number of reasons for this, a major disincentive is the time commitment required of a councillor. 
Time pressures (as well as finance) can make it difficult to combine the role with a job and caring responsibilities. As 
was pointed out in the responses we received, the problem is exacerbated in London, where councillors are on the 
whole younger than in other parts of the country and often in employment. They also face substantially higher costs of 
living which are continuing to rise.

Though the time commitment may be the main disincentive to service as a councillor, it is important that, as far as 
reasonably possible, financial loss does not prevent people from becoming councillors. Allowances are not shown by 
polls to be something which influences councillors to take on the role, though they are instrumental in making it 
possible for some people to do so. Allowances should be set at a level that enables people to undertake the role of 
councillor, while not acting as an incentive to do so. If it is important that there are no financial incentives to being a 
councillor, it is equally important that there should not be a financial disincentive. It is clearly desirable that service 
as a councillor is not confined to those who have retired or with independent means. 

In 2014 the Government removed the possibility of councillors joining the local government pension scheme. Almost 
half of the responses we received cited the lack of pension provision as a factor that influences people whether to run 
for council office. Access to the pension scheme can be an important factor in making service as a councillor financially 
possible for a wider range of people. It is particularly significant for those who, like elected mayors, leaders and portfolio 
holders, give most or all of their time to service in local government and lose the opportunity for advancement in their 
particular profession and to contribute to a pension scheme elsewhere. In view of the importance this could have for 
recruiting a diverse range of councillors in future and to wider issues for local democracy, the Panel intends to look at 
lobbying opportunities on this issue as part of its further review in 2022-23.

Page 302



5

The current financial climate 
Because of the financial climate over the last decade, the local government pay settlement over much of this period 
has been either frozen or severely limited. Since our last report there have been modest increases from 2% in 2018-19 
to 2.75% last year. 

Acutely sensitive to the ongoing financial austerity, our recent reports have made no recommendations for increasing 
the levels of members’ allowances other than continuing provision for annual adjustments in accordance with the 
annual local government pay settlement. 

Our recommendations have led to some convergence of members’ allowances across London. There is now considerable 
congruity in the basic allowance made by London boroughs. 

However, most London boroughs have not adopted our recommendations in their entirety and there remain substantial 
differences in the amount of special responsibility allowances. 

In reaching our views this year, we have been acutely conscious of the continuing financial challenges to council 
budgets including the impact from the Covid-19 Pandemic. This adds to the view that now is not the time to contemplate 
a general increase in councillors’ allowances. 

Level of Basic Allowance
In our last report we recommended that there should be a Basic Allowance paid to every councillor of £11,045. Updated 
for the local government staff pay awards since then (and including an indicative 1.75% award for 2021-22 which is 
still the subject of negotiation), the figure is now £12,014. Given all the circumstances including growth in the volume 
and complexity of the work of councillors and the limited increase in the Basic Allowance since our last report, we 
believe that there is a strong case for looking again at the level of the allowance. The basic allowance is now less than 
the allowances paid by many similar authorities outside London.  In our last report we highlighted that in Wales, for 
example, the government-appointed commission set the basic allowance at £13,400 for members of local authorities 
with populations which are generally substantially lower than those of London boroughs. In its most recent report, 
published in February 2021, this had increased to £14,368.

However, the wider context is one of considerable uncertainty including whether trends in demands will be sustained. 
If they are so, as seems likely, the consequences of the changing patterns of work remains unclear added to which is 
the current financial climate. All this suggests to us that now is not the right moment to recommend major changes to 
the current allowances (beyond the annual updating). Linking the alliances to an annual increase to staff pay awards 
will ensure that councillors can receive annual increases which are in line with those received by staff. We therefore 
recommend that the Basic Allowance be set at £12,014 pending the outcome of the 2021-22 award. We believe that it 
remains sensible to frame recommendations which are common across London.

Special Responsibility Allowances
Given the extent of the responsibilities of leaders of London boroughs, the Panel’s first report in 2001 recommended 
that their remuneration should equate to that of a Member of Parliament. [Our recommendations for other special 
responsibility allowances are related to that recommended for leaders.]  

Since then, the increase in the remuneration of Members of Parliament has substantially exceeded the annual local 
government pay increase to which we tied the special responsibility allowance for the leader of a London borough. At 
the time of our last report an MP received a salary of £76,011 while our recommendation for a borough leader (increases 
having been restricted to the local government staff pay increases) was for a total remuneration of £68,130, a difference 
of £7,881. Updated for the local government pay awards (and indicative 2021-22 award), our recommendation for the 
current total remuneration of a London borough leader would be £74,106. Meanwhile the salary of MPs has increased 
to £81,932, a difference of £7,826. Moreover, MPs continue to be entitled to a pension as well as to other benefits (such 
as termination payments) which are not available to leaders. 

Page 303



6

In our current consultation we enquired whether the remuneration of an MP remains a sound comparator to fix the 
remuneration of a borough leader. In general, the responses suggested that the comparator was appropriate with 
some feedback noting that the Leaders of London boroughs warranted a higher remuneration than an MP, because they 
had greater financial responsibility and legal burdens, and especially given the differential pension arrangements. 
Indeed, a couple of respondent authorities suggested that the direct responsibilities of a Leader should command the 
salary of a junior minister. 

We sympathise with the responses. Certainly, the way in which MPs’ remuneration has progressed compared to that of 
leaders could be argued to warrant a review of the Leaders’ allowances.

We are also aware of the very significant expectations on leaders and leading members to participate in wider cross 
borough, pan-London and partnership working, the demands of which (both in terms of time commitments but 
importantly in terms of responsibility and significance) appear to have increased dramatically over the last 18 months. 
Our report makes no recommendations in respect of remuneration for these roles at this stage but we propose to return 
to this issue as part of the further review that is proposed.

However, for the same reasons which prompt us to maintain the current Basic Allowance,    (namely a significant 
uncertainty over the long term implications of the changes we have been witnessing in the last 18 months, combined 
with the financial challenges faced at this time) we recommend that the special responsibility allowance for a Leader 
should be in accordance with our former recommendation, plus the subsequent local government staff pay awards 
(including an indicative uplift of 1.75% for 2021-22 which is still the subject of negotiation), ie £62,092. We recommend 
the maintenance of its relation to other special responsibility allowances, as set out in the Appendix to this report. 

However, we believe that it is important to undertake a more detailed review, along with the Basic Allowances, of the 
special responsibility allowances having allowed further time for the new patterns of demands and expectations to 
become even clearer. We envisage beginning this review in the summer of 2022 and concluding the review during the 
latter half of 2023.

Training and support
The responsibilities of councillors are substantial, extensive and complex.  We have mentioned the increased role that 
councillors have delivered particularly during the Pandemic. The Pandemic has also resulted in an acceleration of more 
flexible ways of working including greater use of digital technology. While this has provided a range of benefits including 
less travelling for work it has required councillors to have the necessary digital skills. Additionally, the move to audio-
visual conferencing has resulted in a growth in meetings for many contributing to an overall increase in ‘screen time’. 
Training and development is beyond the direct remit of our Panel but is an important part of ensuring that residents 
can step forward and become successful and effective elected local representatives. Addressing the financial aspects 
but not the support aspects would be counter-productive. For this reason, we believe that every borough should have 
an ongoing programme of member training and development and that members should be provided with the logistical 
and clerical support and the appropriate IT equipment to help them deal with their workload.

Barriers to being a councillor
It is important that obstacles to becoming a councillor should be removed wherever possible. Care costs can be a 
significant deterrent to service as a councillor. Our strong view is that in appropriate cases when they undertake their 
council duties, councillors should be entitled to claim an allowance for care of dependents. The dependents’ carers’ 
allowance should be set at the London living wage but (on presentation of proof of expense) payment should be made 
at a higher rate when specialist nursing skills are required. 

One respondent authority stressed that member allowances schemes present an opportunity to better support 
councillors by providing not just remuneration but wider support packages. Our view is that members’ allowances 
schemes should allow the continuance of Special Responsibility Allowances in the case of sickness, maternity and 
paternity leave in the same terms that the council’s employees enjoy such benefits (that is to say, they follow the 
same policies).

Page 304



7

Travel and Subsistence allowances
The Basic Allowance should cover basic out-of-pocket expenses incurred by councillors, including intra-borough travel 
costs and expenses. The members’ allowances scheme should, however, provide for special circumstances, such as 
travel after late meetings or travel by councillors with disabilities. The scheme should enable councillors to claim travel 
expenses when their duties take them out of their home borough, including a bicycle allowance.

Allowances for Mayor or Civic Head
Many councils include the allowances for the mayor (or civic head) and deputy in their members’ allowance scheme. 
However, these allowances do serve a rather different purpose from the ‘ordinary’ members’ allowances, since they are 
intended to enable the civic heads to perform a ceremonial role. There are separate statutory provisions (ss 3 and 5 of 
the Local Government Act 1972) for such allowances and councils may find it convenient to use those provisions rather 
than to include the allowances in the members’ allowance scheme. 

Update for inflation
We continue to recommend that all allowances should be updated annually in accordance with the headline figure in 
the annual local government pay settlement.  

We have been asked whether it is necessary for the annual updating to be formally authorised by the council each year. 
The Regulations do seem to make this obligatory.

Mike Cooke  Sir Rodney Brooke CBE DL       Anne Watts CBE

London, 6 January 2022

Page 305



8

Appendix A
Basic allowance £12,014

Special responsibilities – beyond the basic allowance

The case for special allowances 

The reasons for payment of additional special responsibility allowances should be clearly set out in local allowances 
schemes. Special allowances should come into play only in positions where there are significant differences in the time 
requirements and levels of responsibility from those generally expected of a councillor.

Calculation of special allowances 

The proposed amounts for each band are a percentage of the figure suggested for a council leader depending upon 
levels of responsibility of the roles undertaken and are explained below. We believe that the SRA, which the previous 
panel recommended for the leader of a London council (updated), continues to be appropriate.

Categories of special allowances

The regulations specify the following categories of responsibility for which special responsibility allowances may be paid:

• Members of the executive where the authority is operating executive arrangements 

• Acting as leader or deputy leader of a political group within the authority 

• Presiding at meetings of a committee or sub-committee of the authority, or a joint committee of the authority 
and one or more other authorities, or a sub-committee of such a joint committee 

• Representing the authority at meetings of, or arranged by, any other body 

• Membership of a committee or sub-committee of the authority which meets with exceptional frequency or for 
exceptionally long periods 

• Acting as spokesperson of a political group on a committee or sub-committee of the authority 

• Membership of an adoption panel

 • Membership of a licensing or regulatory committee

 • Such other activities in relation to the discharge of the authority’s functions as require of the member an 
amount of time and effort equal to or greater than would be required of him by any one of the activities 
mentioned above, whether or not that activity is specified in the scheme.

Local discretion

It is for the councils locally to decide how to allocate their councillors between the different bands, having regard 
to our recommendations and how to set the specific remuneration within the band. They must have regard to our 
recommendations. We believe these should have the merits of being easy to apply, easy to adapt, easy to explain and 
understand, and easy to administer.

BAND ONE 

The posts we envisage falling within band one, include: 

• Vice chair of a service, regulatory or scrutiny committee 

• Chair of sub-committee 

• Leader of second or smaller opposition group 

Page 306



9

• Service spokesperson for first opposition group 

• Group secretary (or equivalent) of majority group 

• First opposition group whip (in respect of council business)

 • Vice chair of council business 

• Chairs, vice chairs, area committees and forums or community leaders 

• Cabinet assistant 

• Leadership of a strategic major topic 

• Acting as a member of a committee or sub-committee which meets with exceptional frequency or for 
exceptionally long periods 

• Acting as a member of an adoption panel where membership requires attendance with exceptional frequency 
or for exceptionally long periods 

• Leadership of a specific major project.

Remuneration

We propose that band one special responsibility allowances should be on a sliding scale of between 20 – 30 per cent of 
the remuneration package for a council leader.

This would be made up as follows: 

Basic allowance: £12,014 

Band One allowance: £2,807 to £10,218

Total: £14,821 to £22,232

BAND TWO 

The types of office we contemplate being within band two are: 

• Lead member in scrutiny arrangements, such as chair of a scrutiny panel 

• Representative on key outside body 

• Chair of major regulatory committee e.g planning 

• Chair of council business (civic mayor) 

• Leader of principal opposition group 

• Majority party chief whip (in respect of council business).

Remuneration

We propose that band two allowances should be on a sliding scale between 40 – 60 per cent, pro rata of the remuneration 
package for a council leader.

This is made up as follows: 

Basic allowance £12,014 

Band two allowances: £17,628 to £32,450

Total: £29,642 to £44,464

Page 307



10

BAND THREE 

We see this band as appropriate to the following posts: 

• Cabinet member

• Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board 

• Chair of the main overview or scrutiny committee 

• Deputy leader of the council

Remuneration:

We propose that band three allowances should be between 70 – 80 per cent pro rata of the remuneration package for 
a council leader.

This is made up as follows: 

Basic allowance: £12,014 

Band three allowance: £39,860 to £47,271

Total: £51,874, to £59,285

BAND FOUR 

Leader of cabinet 

This is a full-time job, involving a high level of responsibility and includes the exercise of executive responsibilities. It 
is right that it should be remunerated on a basis which compares with similar positions in the public sector, while still 
retaining a reflection of the voluntary character of public service. 

Remuneration:

We propose that the remuneration package for a council leader under band four of our scheme should be £74,106.

This is made up as follows: 

Basic allowance: £12,014

Band four allowance: £62,092.

Total: £74,106

BAND FIVE 

Directly elected mayor 

A directly elected mayor has a full-time job with a high level of responsibility and exercises executive responsibilities 
over a fixed electoral cycle. It is right that it should be remunerated on a basis which compares with similar positions 
in the public sector, while still retaining a reflection of the voluntary character of public service. However, we believe 
this post remains different to that of the strong leader with cabinet model. The directly elected mayor is directly elected 
by the electorate as a whole. The strong leader holds office at the pleasure of the council and can be removed by the 
council. We believe that the distinction is paramount and this should be reflected in the salary level. 

Remuneration:

We propose that a directly elected mayor should receive a remuneration package of 25 per cent higher than that 
recommended for a council leader and that it should be a salary set at £92,633.

Page 308



11

Published: January 2022

Appendix B 
On behalf of the community – a job profile for councillors

Purposes:

1. To participate constructively in the good governance of the area. 

2. To contribute actively to the formation and scrutiny of the authority’s policies, budget, strategies and service 
delivery. 

3. To represent effectively the interests of the ward for which the councillor was elected, and deal with constituents’ 
enquiries and representations. 

4. To champion the causes which best relate to the interests and sustainability of the community and campaign for the 
improvement of the quality of life of the community in terms of equity, economy and environment. 

5. To represent the council on an outside body, such as a charitable trust or neighbourhood association.

Key Tasks:

1. To fulfil the statutory and local determined requirements of an elected member of a local authority and the authority 
itself, including compliance with all relevant codes of conduct, and participation in those decisions and activities 
reserved to the full council (for example, setting budgets, overall priorities, strategy). 

2. To participate effectively as a member of any committee or panel to which the councillor is appointed, including 
related responsibilities for the services falling within the committee’s (or panel’s) terms of reference, human resource 
issues, staff appointments, fees and charges, and liaison with other public bodies to promote better understanding 
and partnership working. 

3. To participate in the activities of an outside body to which the councillor is appointed, providing two-way 
communication between the organisations. Also, for the same purpose, to develop and maintain a working knowledge 
of the authority’s policies and practices in relation to that body and of the community’s needs and aspirations in 
respect of that body’s role and functions. 

4. To participate in the scrutiny or performance review of the services of the authority, including where the authority 
so decides, the scrutiny of policies and budget, and their effectiveness in achieving the strategic objectives of the 
authority. 

5. To participate, as appointed, in the area and in service-based consultative processes with the community and with 
other organisations. 

6. To represent the authority to the community, and the community to the authority, through the various forums 
available. 

7. To develop and maintain a working knowledge of the authority’s services, management arrangements, powers/
duties, and constraints, and to develop good working relationships with relevant officers of the authority.

8. To develop and maintain a working knowledge of the organisations, services, activities and other factors which 
impact upon the community’s well-being and identity.

9. To represent effectively the interests of the ward for which the councillor was elected, and deal with constituents’ 
enquiries and representations including, where required, acting as a liaison between the constituent and the local 
authority and where appropriate other public service providers.

10. To contribute constructively to open government and democratic renewal through active encouragement of the 
community to participate generally in the government of the area. 

11. To participate in the activities of any political group of which the councillor is a member. 

12. To undertake necessary training and development programmes as agreed by the authority. 

13. To be accountable for his/her actions and to report regularly on them in accessible and transparent ways.

Page 309



12

Appendix C 
The independent panel members

Mike Cooke 

Mike Cooke was the Chief Executive of the London Borough of Camden for seven years, where he had also been Director 
of Housing and Adult Social Care and HR Director. He has extensive experience of partnership working across London 
including as the CELC lead on children and chairing the London Safeguarding Children Board. Mike also has worked for 
seven years in financial services where he developed an expertise in remuneration. 

Until November 2020 Mike had been a Non-Executive Director of the Central and North West London NHS Foundation 
Trust where he was chair of the HR Committee. Mike’s current role is the independent Chair of the North Central London 
Integrated Health and Care System.

Sir Rodney Brooke CBE, DL

Sir Rodney Brooke has a long career in local government, including as chief executive of West Yorkshire County Council, 
Westminster City Council and the Association of Metropolitan Authorities. 

He was knighted in 2007 for his contribution to public service. 

Dr Anne Watts CBE

Anne Watts has an extensive career in governance, diversity and inclusion spanning commercial, public and voluntary 
sectors. She has held executive roles for HSBC and Business in the Community and was chair of the Appointments 
Commission. She has carried out reviews of Government departments and the Army. In addition she has been a member 
of Government Pay review bodies and Deputy Chair, University of Surrey where she chaired Remuneration Committee 
and the new Vet School.

She is a non-exec of Newable (previously Greater London Enterprise) where she chairs ESG Committee and is a non-exec 
of Newflex subsidiary. In addition she continues to sit on the Race and Gender Equality Leadership teams for Business 
in the Community.

Page 310



13

Published: January 2022
Published: January 2022

Page 311



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Report for: 
ACTION 
 
Item Number:  
 
 

 
Contains Confidential 
or Exempt Information 
 

NO. 
 

Title Pay Policy Statement 2023-2024 
Responsible Officer(s) Sue Evans, interim Director of Workforce and OD 
Author(s) Andrew Scully, HR Business Partner and Head of HR 

Operational Services 
Portfolio(s) Councillor Steve Donnelly, Inclusive Economy 
For Consideration By Full Council 
Date to be Considered Wednesday 8th March 2023 
Implementation Date if 
Not Called In  

Not applicable 

Affected Wards None 
Keywords/Index Localism Act 2011; Hutton Review of Fair Pay in the public 

sector: Final report (March 2011); Local Government 
Transparency code 2015; The Accounts and Audit (England) 
Regulations 2015; Local Government Pension Scheme – 
Discretions Policy, Ealing Council 2015; Pay Policy 
Statement; Statutory guidance on the making and disclosure 
of Special Severance Payments by local authorities in 
England – 12 May 2022; Living Wage Foundation; real Living 
Wage (rLW); London Living Wage (LLW), Openness and 
accountability in local pay (February 2012) 

 
Purpose of Report:  
 
Chapter 8 of the Localism Act 2011 (the “Act”) contains the requirement for an annual 
Pay Policy Statement to be approved by Full Council and then published.  Publication 
must include publication on the Council’s website.   
  
 
1. Recommendations 
 

1. That Full Council approve the attached Pay Policy Statement (appendix 1) 
and note the supporting appendices 2, 3, 4 and 5;  

2. That Full Council approve a policy, for 2023-24, to pay the rLW formerly 
known as the LLW rate or above to direct employees (whether permanent 
or fixed term) and to ensure agency workers are paid the rLW.  The rLW 
will be paid for the time periods during which employees are carrying out 
what might be described as (for example) the normal duties of the post.  
However, it will not be paid for the time periods on which employees are 
on a standby shift, or a sleep-in shift, and not carrying out the normal 

Page 313

Agenda Item 11

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/5956/2091042.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/5956/2091042.pdf


2 
 

duties of the post; 
3. That Full Council note that decisions on pay grades for chief officers will 

be determined by Chief Officer Panel, in accordance with their existing 
terms of reference; and 

4. That Full Council commend to Governing Bodies of Schools that they 
consider paying the rLW rate to schools-based employees (whether 
permanent or fixed term) and to agency workers working in Schools.  

 
 Reason for Decision and Options Considered 
 
2.1. The Act requires Full Council to approve a Pay Policy Statement for the 
financial year 2023-24.  It will also require a Pay Policy Statement to be approved for 
each future year. 
 
2.2. The Pay Policy Statement (appendix 1) and supporting appendices 2, 3, 4 
and 5 meets the requirements of the Localism Act 2011 and the Local Government 
Transparency Code 2015 and the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015.  
 
2.3. The Act requires that authorities include in their Pay Policy Statement, their 
approach to the publication of and access to information relating to the remuneration 
of chief officers. The Council already publishes information on its public website.  
This is set out in the Pay Policy Statement.  
 
2.4. Full Council is asked to approve a policy, for 2023-24, to pay the rLW 
[formerly known as the LLW] rate or above to direct employees, agency, and 
temporary workers, note that the Council has obtained Living Wage accreditation. 
  
2.5. The Pay Policy Statement is substantially unchanged except for the 
implications of the announced increase in the rLW on Thursday 22nd September 
2022 to £11.95 per hour from £11.05 per hour as described in paragraph 3.9. below. 
 

3. Key Implications 
 
Localism Act 2011 and Pay Policy Statement. 
 
3.1. The Act requires Full Council to approve a Pay Policy Statement for the 
financial year 2023-24. 
   
3.2. Full Council should note that the provisions of the Act do not apply to staff in 
the local authority’s schools.  
 
3.3. The Act states that: 
 
“A pay policy statement for a financial year must set out the authority’s policies for 
the financial year relating to: - 
the remuneration of its chief officers 
the remuneration of its lowest-paid employees, 
and 
the relationship between— 
(i) the remuneration of its chief officers, and 

Page 314



3 
 

(ii) the remuneration of its employees who are not chief officers. 
 
3.4. Furthermore, the Act specifies that: 
  
“the Statement must include the authority’s policies relating to: 
 
(a) the level and elements of remuneration for each chief officer; 
(b) remuneration of chief officers on recruitment; 
(c) increases and additions to remuneration for each chief officer; 
(d) the use of performance related pay for chief officers; 
(e) the use of bonuses for chief officers; 
(f) the approach to the payment of chief officers on their ceasing to hold office 

under or to be employed by the authority; and 
(g) the publication of and access to information relating to remuneration of chief 

officers. 
 
3.5. In addition, the Act states that: 
 
“A pay policy statement for a financial year may also set out the authority’s policies 
for the financial year relating to the other terms and conditions applying to the 
authority’s chief officers” 
 
3.6. Guidance produced under section 40 of the Act recommends that a pay 
multiple is included in these statements as a way of illustrating the authority’s 
approach to pay dispersion.   
 
Furthermore, Full Council is asked to note that the Local Government Transparency 
Code 2015 requires the publication of a pay multiple on the authority’s website 
defined as: 
 
“the ratio between the highest paid taxable earnings for the given year (including 
base salary, variable pay, bonuses, allowances and the cash value of any benefits in 
kind) and the median earnings figure of the whole of the authority’s workforce” 
 
The pay multiple as at 31st December 2022 is 5.15. This is well within what is 
regarded as good practice as described by Will Hutton* in his 2011 Fair Pay Review 
in the Public Sector which identified acceptable multiples at or around 8.00. 
 
*“William Nicolas Hutton is a British political economist, academic administrator, and 
journalist.  
3.7. The Act and Guidance make reference to remuneration packages of £100,000 
and above and Full Council are asked to note that decisions on pay grades of 
£100,000 and above will be determined by Chief Officer Panel (COP), in accordance 
with their existing terms of reference.  Government guidance is that Full Council 
takes decisions about remuneration packages of £100,000 per year or more (as well 
as severance packages of £100,000 or more). 
 
 
rLW formerly known as the LLW 
 

Page 315



4 
 

3.8. London has had a Living Wage campaign since 2001. Since March 2005 it 
has been independently calculated and published by the Greater London Authority 
(GLA).  The rLW formerly known as the LLW in London is currently £11.95 per hour 
announced on Thursday 22nd September 2022 (£11.05 per hour prior to the 22nd 
September 2022 increase) which is higher than the National Minimum Wage (NMW) 
and represents the minimum reasonable rate of pay in the Capital.  The rLW will be 
paid for the time periods during which employees are carrying out what might be 
described as (for example) the normal duties of the post.  However, it will not be paid 
for the time periods on which employees are on a standby shift, or a sleep-in shift, 
and not carrying out the normal duties of the post.   
 
3.9. In 2022-23 as a direct employer of staff the Council met the requirements of 
paying the rLW by means of implementing the Pay Policy Statement for 2022-23, 
with no employee paid on the Greater London Provincial Council (GLPC) or other 
(i.e., Soulbury) pay spines falling below the rLW.    
 
3.10. Where the contractual entitlement to salary for a post is lower than the rLW, 
then the proposal is that, for 2023-24, the difference be paid as a discretionary 
supplement.  Employees will not receive a contractual guarantee that the 
supplement will continue indefinitely.  Prior to 1 April in each subsequent financial 
year, the Council should decide as to whether the supplement will be paid in that 
forthcoming year or not. The supplement can also be withdrawn by the Council 
during a financial year. This arrangement has been applied in previous years and in 
previous Pay Policy Statements. 
 
3.11. Full Council is asked to approve continuation of a policy, for 2023-24, that no 
employee or agency worker is paid less than the rLW.  This policy will be reviewed 
annually and determined each year by Full Council.   
 
3.12. For schools-based employees it is up to each school to decide whether to 
adopt the rLW.  Full Council is asked to commend to Governing Bodies that they 
consider paying the rLW rate to schools-based employees (whether permanent or 
fixed term) and to agency workers working in schools. 
 
3.13. The payment of the rLW continues to be addressed during contract 
procurements. There is a Local Authority Toolkit produced by the Living Wage 
Foundation.  The Toolkit specifies that the move to paying a London Living Wage 
(LLW {rLW}) should be phased in over the life of the contract, not necessarily from 
day one. 
  
 
 
 
 
 Financial 
 
4.1. The Pay Policy Statement 2023-24 will have no impact on current budgets.  The 
rLW is already paid to employees of the Council and agency workers engaged 
through the contract with Adecco UK Limited.   
 

Page 316



5 
 

4.2.   The 2022-23 Pay Policy Statement mentioned that it was conceivable that the 
rLW Wage could rise during 2022-23 (see section headed “Low Pay”).  This did 
happen.  A new rate for rLW is likely to be announced in October/November 2023, 
however, this is set by an external organisation, the Living Wage Foundation, and 
the likely increase is not known at this time. 
 
4.3 Budget holders are expected to manage their resourcing (both employees and 
agency or contract resources) within their approved staffing budgets.  
 
5. Legal 

 
5.1. Full Council has to comply with the requirements contained in Chapter 8 of 
the Localism Act 2011 which require Full Council to approve a Pay Policy Statement. 
The Council must also comply with its obligations under the Accounts and Audit 
(England) Regulations 2015, Local Government Transparency Code and the 
Statutory guidance on the making and disclosure of Special Severance Payments by 
local authorities in England – 12 May 2022.   Statutory guidance on the Council’s 
Pay Policy Statement was provided by the DCLG in February 2012: “Openness and 
accountability in local pay: Guidance under section 40 of the Localism Act”. 

 
5.2. 5.2 The Local Government and Housing Act 1989 contains a definition of “chief 

officer” which is set out in the proposed policy.   
5.3.  

5.3 The Localism Act contains a requirement that the Council must decide upon a 
definition of “lowest paid employees” and must set out the reasons for that decision. 
 
5.4   The statement must articulate the Council’s policies towards workforce pay, 
particularly its chief officers and its lowest paid employees. 
 
5.5As per s112 of the Local Government Act 1972, the remuneration of employees 
may be such reasonable remuneration as the Council thinks fit, although section 
112(2A) stipulates that the terms and conditions for chief officers must comply with 
the pay policy statement. 
 
5.6 The proposed statement complies with the statutory requirements for pay policy 
statements as set out in the Localism Act 2011. 
 
5.7  The Council does not have an unfettered discretion to pay any amount of 
remuneration whatsoever. It must not pay a salary which is unreasonably high. It 
must ensure that it does not make payments to employees which could be seen as 
“gifts” (subject to certain specific, narrow exceptions). 
 
5.8  It is not unlawful for the Council to approve a policy of always paying at least the 
rLW to any employee, even where that salary exceeds the recommended salary 
arrived at by the use of a job evaluation scheme. This is subject to the proviso that 
the rLW must not be a salary which is unreasonably high for the post in question.  

 
5.9 If the Council having considered any factors which might appear relevant, 
decided that it was reasonable to ensure, for the year 2023-24, that no employee 

Page 317



6 
 

received a lower rate of pay, then that would not be an irrationally generous 
approach to determining the salary of its lowest paid employees for 2023-24. 

 
5.10  Where the contractual entitlement to salary for a post is, for any reason, lower 
than the rLW, then the proposal is that, for 2023-24, the difference be paid as a 
discretionary supplement. Employees will not receive a contractual guarantee that 
the supplement will continue indefinitely. Prior to 1 April in each subsequent financial 
year, the Council should decide as to whether the supplement will be paid in that 
forthcoming year or not. The supplement can also be withdrawn by the Council 
during a financial year. 

 
5.11 The 2012 statutory guidance recommends (at paragraph 14) that pay packages 
in excess of £100,000 are approved by full council before they are offered in respect 
of a new appointment.  This Council, having taken this Guidance into account, 
achieves this by way of the Chief Officer Panel approving all chief officer pay scales. 
All chief officer appointments are made by the Chief Officer Appointments Panel and 
it is clear at the point of appointment what pay scale is applied to each post. 
 
6. Value For Money 

 
6.1. No issues. 

 
7.  Sustainability Impact Appraisal 

 
7.1.  No issues. 
 
8. Risk Management 

 
8.1.  No issues.  

 
9. Community Safety 
 
9.1. No issues. 

 
10. Links to the Priorities for the Borough 

  
10.1. The council’s administration has three key priorities for Ealing.  They are: 

• Creating Good Jobs 
• Tackling the Climate Crisis 
• Fighting Inequality 

 
A fair and progressive Pay Policy helps motivate and support officers in their 
work for and on behalf of the Council. 

 
11. Equalities, Human Rights and Community Cohesion 

 
11.1. An Equality Analysis Assessment was undertaken when the Pay Policy 
Statement for 2012-13 was produced and was attached to the report on the Pay 
Policy Statement submitted to Council on Tuesday 3rd April 2012 and an Equality 
Analysis Assessment was undertaken when the London Living Wage was agreed by 

Page 318



7 
 

Cabinet on Tuesday 23rd October 2012.  An updated Equality Analysis Assessment 
is attached at appendix 5.  
 
12. Staffing/Workforce and Accommodation implications 

 
12.1. Throughout. 

 
13. Property and Assets 

 
13.1. No issues. 
 
14. Any other implications 

 
14.1. No issues. 
 
15. Consultation 

 
15.1. No issues. 
 
16. Timetable for Implementation 

 
16.1. After Full Council approval publication of Pay Policy Statement for the 
financial year 1st April 2023 to 31st March 2024 on the Council’s website. 

 
17.  Appendices 
 
17.1. Appendix 1 – “Ealing Council – Pay Policy Statement for the year 1st April 
2023 to 31st March 2024”; 
17.2. Appendix 2 – “Ealing Council – Pay Policy Statement for the financial year 1st 
April 2023 to 31st March 2024 – Salary Rates from 1st April 2022; 
17.3.  Appendix 3 – “Ealing Council – Pay Policy Statement for the financial year 1st 
April 2023 to 31st March 2024 – Policy Statement – Local Government Pension 
Scheme – Discretions Policy, Ealing Council 2015”; 
17.4. Appendix 4 – “Ealing Council – Pay Policy Statement for the financial year 1st 
April 2023 to 31st March 2024 – Pay Protection arrangements as at 12th February 
2013”; and 
17.5. Appendix 5 – “Ealing Council – Pay Policy Statement for the financial year 1st 
April 2023 to 31st March 2024 – Equality Analysis Assessment”. 

 
18.  Background Information 
 
Localism Act 2011; 
The Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015. 
Local Government Transparency code 2015. 
Hutton Review of Fair Pay in the public sector: Final report (March 2011).  
Local Government Pension Scheme – Discretions Policy, Ealing Council 2015.  
Statutory guidance on the making and disclosure of Special Severance Payments by 
local authorities in England – 12 May 2022. 
Openness and transparency in local pay (Statutory guidance from the DCLG) – 
February 2012). 

Page 319

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/5956/2091042.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/5956/2091042.pdf


8 
 

Openness and accountability in local pay: Guidance under section 40 of the 
Localism Act 2011 Supplementary Guidance (February 2013). 
 
  

Page 320



9 
 

Consultation  
Name of 

consultee 
Post held  Date 

 sent to 
consultee 

Date 
response 
received  

Comments 
appear in 

paragraph: 
Internal     
Tony Clements Chief Executive     
Sue Evans Interim Director of HR & 

OD 
   

Mark Nelson Head of Schools HR 
Consultancy 

   

Jenny Connett Pensions Manager    

Helen Harris Director of Legal and 
Democratic Services  

   

Emily Hill Interim Strategic Director of 
Corporate Resources 

   

Shabana Kausar Assistant Director – 
Strategic Finance 

   

Baljinder Sangha Finance Manager – 
Planning & Monitoring 

   

Zamil Ahmed Assistant Director – 
Commercial Hub 

   

Sam Bailey Head of Democratic 
Services 

   

 
Report History 
 
Decision 
type: 

Urgency item? 

Key decision  
 

No  

Report no.: Andrew Scully, HR Business Partner. 020-8825-6930. 
ScullyA@ealing.gov.uk 

 

Page 321



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 9 

Appendix “1” 
 

Ealing Council. 
 

Pay Policy Statement for the financial year 1st April 2023 to 31st March 2024. 
______________________________________________________________ 
 

1. Organisational context and principles for pay policy 
 
1.1 High quality public services require high calibre staff to deliver them. Maintaining 
and improving local public services during a period of radical public service reform 
and unprecedented budgetary constraint is a major challenge for the Council.  To 
succeed it is vital to ensure that our staff are fairly rewarded for their contributions, 
and that the shared commitment to public services - that motivates so many Council 
staff – is maintained. In this context, remuneration at all levels needs to be adequate 
to secure and retain a talented workforce but at the same time must not be 
excessive. 
 

2. Key elements of the Council’s pay policy 
 
▪ The Council participates in national pay bargaining and adopts staff terms and 

conditions agreed by national and regional negotiating bodies. 
▪ For schools-based employees, the Council provides advice to the school relating 

to the appropriate grade for the post, but ultimately the Governing Body makes 
the decision. 

▪ Pay grades for all other employees are determined by the use of externally 
developed job evaluation schemes. 

▪ No employee or agency worker will be paid less than the real Living Wage (rLW) 
formerly the London Living Wage (LLW). Where an employee’s/agency worker’s 
contractual entitlement is to a rate of pay lower than the rLW then, for 23/24, the 
Council will pay a discretionary supplement to bring their rate up to the rLW. The 
rLW will be paid for the time periods during which employees are carrying out 
what might be described as (for example) the normal duties of the post.  
However, it will not be paid for the time periods on which employees are on a 
standby shift, or a sleep-in shift, and not carrying out the normal duties of the 
post.     

▪ All staffing appointments are made on merit. 
▪ A published severance policy applies to all employees. 
 
For chief officers: - 
▪ A member body oversees employment matters, including pay, appointment, and 

severance. 
▪ Incremental progression is dependent upon a performance appraisal outcome of 

at least ‘successful.’ 
▪ There will be no performance related pay for the year 23/24. Performance related 

pay was last paid in respect of the year 09/10.  
 

Page 323



Page 2 of 9 

3. Pay Policy Statement 
 
3.1 Policies on pay and reward are intended to support and reinforce the 
organisational context, principles for pay policy and objectives of the workforce 
strategy. This pay policy statement also satisfies the specific requirements of the 
Localism Act 2011 particularly in relation to chief officers. 
 

4. Definition of “chief officer” 
 
4.1 The Localism Act 2011 defines “chief officer” (for the purposes of pay 
statements) as anyone within any of the following categories: 
(a) the head of paid service designated under section 4(1) of the Local Government 
and Housing Act 1989; 
(b) the monitoring officer designated under section 5(1) of that Act; 
(c) a statutory chief officer mentioned in section 2(6) of that Act; 
(d) a non-statutory chief officer mentioned in section 2(7) of that Act; 
(e) a deputy chief officer mentioned in section 2(8) of that Act. 
 
4.2 Thus, where the expression “chief officer” is used within this document, it refers 
to an officer within the above-mentioned definition unless otherwise stated. 
 

5. Determining grades and pay levels 
 
5.1 National and regional agreements 
 
The Council supports the system of collective bargaining. It applies the terms and 
conditions agreed by the Joint Negotiating Committee for Chief Officers of Local 
Authorities (“JNC”) to those within the scope of that agreement, which includes all 
employees who are chief officers. It applies the terms and conditions of service 
agreed by: the National Joint Council (“NJC”) for Local Government Services and the 
Greater London Provincial Council (“GLPC”); the Soulbury Committee; and the JNC 
for Youth and Community Workers to other employees. 
 
National agreements are a significant determinant of staff remuneration, notably 
through national negotiation of annual pay awards. 
 
5.2 London Weighting Allowance. 
 
National and regional agreements are also a determinant of staff remuneration, 
notably London Weighting Allowance.  This Allowance is consolidated into Chief 
Officer grades but shown as a separate payment for GLPC evaluated grades 
(grades 1 – 18), Soulbury Committee and JNC for Youth and Community Workers 
employees.  
 
5.3 Ealing Supplement. 
 
A local “Ealing” Supplement was paid to employees until 31st March 2013.   
 

Page 324



Page 3 of 9 

With effect from 1st April 2013 the Ealing Supplement of £141 per annum was 
removed from posts graded Grade 4 and above (including Chief Officers). This 
achieved savings of £0.5m.  
 
Posts graded Grade 1, 2 and 3 continue to be paid the Ealing Supplement of £282 
per annum. 
 
5.4 Job evaluation 
 
The pay grades of employees within the scope of the JNC are determined by the 
application of the Hay Group Job Evaluation Scheme (Hay Scheme).  The Hay 
Scheme is a market leading and widely used systematic process for ranking jobs 
logically and fairly by comparing job against job or against a pre-determined scale to 
determine the relative importance of jobs to an organisation. The conceptual 
framework underpinning the Hay Scheme is that all jobs need Know-How in order to 
undertake Problem Solving and discharge Accountability.   
 
For other employees, pay grades are determined by the application of the National 
Soulbury Committee arrangements, the Joint Negotiating Committee for Youth and 
Community Workers and the Greater London Provincial Council Job Evaluation 
Scheme (GLPCJES) designed specifically for use by London boroughs. The 
objective of the GLPCJES is to operate grading arrangements based on principles of 
fairness, transparency, and consistency and to operate free of gender bias and 
discrimination.  
 
Employees who have joined the Council as a result of a Transfer of Undertakings 
Protection of Employment (TUPE) transfer may have different arrangements.  In 
accordance with TUPE, the Council will comply with any such contractual 
arrangements in relation to the pay for such employees. 
 
5.5 Progression through pay grades 
 
Chief officer employees move through the pay scale via annual increments and this 
is dependent upon a performance appraisal outcome of at least ‘successful.’ 
 
Employees on grades 1 to 18 have incremental progression. 
 
Performance related pay, allowances and benefits in kind 
 
The Council does not pay performance related pay or bonuses to chief officers.  
 
A number of chief officers are paid a travel allowance but other than this no chief 
officer receives any allowances or benefits-in-kind. 
 
5.6 Payment of election fees 
 
In some years, when general, local, or European elections occur, the Chief 
Executive is entitled to receive election fees for organising and overseeing the 
election in the role of Returning Officer/Acting Returning Officer. The fee level for 
each election is determined by national or local scales for each type of election.  It is 

Page 325



Page 4 of 9 

for the Returning Officer / Acting Returning Officer to determine whether to share 
some of these fees with other senior elections workers. 
 
5.7 Market supplements and scarcity payments 
 
The Council has a scheme that provides for market scarcity supplement payments to 
be paid for recruitment and retention purposes.  Reports/business cases with internal 
and external evidence from the market are prepared for approval by the Director of 
Human Resources and Organisational Development who has delegated authority to 
approve such payments.  Market scarcity supplements are kept to a minimum and 
periodically reviewed.  For chief officers, remuneration must be approved by Chief 
Officers Panel. 
 

6. Transparency 
 
Senior officer pay grades 
 
For chief officers the following pay grades with minimum and maximum salary levels 
are derived from the application of the Hay Group Job Evaluation Scheme.  The 
rates are effective from 1st April 2022 are shown below: 
 

Pay Grade Minimum Salary 
£ 

Maximum Salary 
£ 

Chief Executive £187,212 £205,089 
Strategic Director £135,099 £179,001 
Director - CB1 £102,267 £123,480 
Director - CB2 £95,703 £101,109 
CB3 £90,078 £94,905 
CB4 £78,324 £82,488 
CB5 £72,384 £76,788 
CB6 £66,528 £70,935 

 
Information on “Organisation and pay” is published on the “Open and accountable” 
pages of the Council’s public website under the heading “Organisation and pay” at 
the following location: 
 
Open and accountable | Open and accountable | Ealing Council 
 
Home/Council services/Council & democracy/Council budgets and spending/Open 
and accountable 
 
This “Organisation and pay information” includes: 
 

• Political and management structures; 
• Senior staff pay information; 
• Senior salary count; 
• Pay multiples; 

Page 326

https://www.ealing.gov.uk/info/201041/council_budgets_and_spending/1256/open_and_accountable


Page 5 of 9 

• Organisational structure; 
• Trade Union facility time; and 
• Councillors allowances. 

 
The Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015 and the Local Government 
Transparency Code 2015 (England) categorise senior employees as including those 
whose remuneration exceeds £50,000. The Transparency Code introduces the 
requirement for a brief list of duties to be published alongside the salary details that 
had to be published anyway due to the Audit regulations. Information regarding staff 
earning more than £50,000 can be found in the “Organisation and pay information” 
above and have been updated. The obligation to publish the person’s name only 
applies if the salary is £150K.  
 
Efficiencies in management costs. 
 
Between 2010 and 31st March 2022 senior management costs (Director level or 
equivalent posts) were reduced by 34%, from £3.7M to £2.5M (reported to Full 
Council on 26th February 2013).  This included savings arising from ending the 
performance related pay scheme and from the deletion of ex-ALMO (Arm’s Length 
Management Organisation {for Ealing Homes}) posts after transfer to the Council. 
 
Comparison with other London Boroughs 
 
The Council participates in benchmarking exercise of senior management costs and 
structures (defined as the Chief Executive and the next two layers) coordinated by 
London Councils.   
 

7. Accountability 
 
Chief Officer and Chief Officers Appointments Panel 
 
The Council has established member bodies, the Chief Officer and Chief Officers 
Appointment Panels, to oversee employment matters, including pay, relating to its 
chief officers. The responsibilities of these Panels include: - 
 
▪ Reviewing current salaries and contractual arrangements and considering and 

agreeing the changes necessary to ensure Ealing is able to recruit and retain 
chief officers it needs now and in the future. 

▪ Agreeing recruitment arrangements, shortlisting & interviewing candidates 
and making appointments, if appropriate, to chief officer posts. 

▪ Re-appointment of existing Chief Officers into new posts and selection for 
redundancy. 

▪ Disciplinary, grievance, capability and termination arrangements in respect of 
chief officer posts.  

Council Role. 
 
Full Council are asked to note that decisions on pay scales for chief officers, 
including market supplements and scarcity payments and fees, of £100,000 and 

Page 327



Page 6 of 9 

above will be determined by Chief Officer Panel, in accordance with their existing 
terms of reference.  Government guidance is that full council  takes decisions about 
remuneration packages of £100,000 per year or more (as well as severance 
packages of £100,000 or more). 
   

8. Fairness 
 
Pay multiples 
 
As at 31st December 2022 the median earnings figure for all employees is £37,725 
per annum, equivalent to a grade Scale 9 (spinal column point {scp} 29).   As at 31st 
December 2021 the ratio between the taxable earnings for the highest paid 
employee – the Chief Executive - and the median earnings figure for all employees 
in the Council is 5.15.  This is well within what is regarded as good practice as 
described by Will Hutton* in his 2011 Fair Pay Review in the Public Sector which 
identified acceptable multiples at or around 8.00.” 
 
*” William Nicolas Hutton is a British political economist, academic administrator, and 
journalist. He is currently Principal of Hertford College, University of Oxford, and 
Chair of the Big Innovation Centre, an initiative from the Work Foundation, having 
been chief executive of the Work Foundation from 2000 to 2008. In May 2010 Will 
Hutton was appointed to lead an inquiry into cutting top public pay by Prime Minister, 
David Cameron”. 
 
The Council does not have a policy towards maintaining or reaching specific pay 
multiples. It will, however, explain the reasons for changes from year to year, and 
undertake comparisons within the local government sector and with other sectors. 
 
Remuneration of “lowest paid employees”. 
 
Lowest paid employees" refers to those employees employed on grades 1, 2 and 3 
of the Council's current pay grading structure, other than apprenticeships and 
traineeships.  This includes SCP's 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6 - see attached appendix "2" - 
"Ealing Council - Pay Policy Statement for the financial year 1st April 2023 to 31st 
March 2024- Appendix "2" – Corporate Rates from 1st April 2022”. 
 
The definition for the expression "lowest paid employees" has been adopted 
because the Council has traditionally treated grades 1, 2 and 3 differently for the 
purposes of the Ealing Supplement.  Employees on those grades receive the 
additional Ealing Supplement at the financial value of £282 per annum.  Prior to 1st 
April 2013 employees on grades 4 to 18 received the additional Ealing Supplement 
at a financial value of £141 per annum instead.  The Ealing Supplement was 
consolidated into Chief Officer grades but shown as a separate payment for grades 1 
to 18. 
 
From 1st April 2013 the Ealing Supplement of £141 per annum was removed from 
those posts graded 4 and above (including chief officers).  Posts currently graded 1, 
2 and 3 continue to receive the Ealing Supplement of £282 per annum. 
 

Page 328



Page 7 of 9 

 
 

9. Low pay 
 
For 23/24, the Council’s policy is that no employee is paid less than the rLW.  Where 
an employee’s contractual entitlement is to a rate of pay lower than the London 
Living Wage then, for 23/24, the Council will pay a discretionary supplement to bring 
their rate up to the rLW. If, as a result of an increase to rLW during 23/24, an 
employee’s contractual entitlement falls below the rLW then the temporary 
discretionary supplement will be paid for the remainder of 23/24 to that employee to 
ensure they receive an amount equivalent to the rLW.  The rLW will be paid for the 
time periods during which employees are carrying out what might be described as 
(for example) the normal duties of the post.  However, it will not be paid for the time 
periods on which employees are on a standby shift, or a sleep-in shift, and not 
carrying out the normal duties of the post.      
 
For schools-based employees it will be up to each school to decide whether to adopt 
the rLW.  For 23/24, Full Council is recommended to commend to Governing Bodies 
of Schools that they pay the rLW rate to schools-based employees (whether 
permanent or fixed term) and to agency workers working in Schools.  
 
At the meeting on Tuesday 23rd January 2007 Full Council agreed the following 
motion: 
 
“This Council notes that all employees subject to the pay and conditions of Ealing 
Council are paid at or above the level of the London Living Wage.  This Council 
believes that all members of our community have the right to earn a living wage.  As 
community leaders this Council will work with partners in seeking to deliver a living 
wage across Ealing” 
 
At the meeting on Tuesday 23rd October 2012 Cabinet resolved that Cabinet: 
 

i. “agrees to begin the process of Living Wage accreditation, noting the 
financial and legal issues set out in sections 3 and 4. 

ii. commits to paying the London Living Wage rate or above to all direct 
employees and agency and temporary staff as defined in Section 2.6, of 
the report and notes that this has already been achieved. 

iii. agrees that the affordability of moving to London Living Wage rates on 
new contracts as discussed in Section 3 of the report should be 
considered and reported upon in the Council’s 2013/14 budget process. 

Reason for Decisions  
 
To provide an update on the feasibility of adopting the London Living Wage as 
the minimum wage paid to all Council employees and contractors, and to seek 
agreement to submit an application for Living Wage accreditation to the 
Centre for Civil Society Limited subject to resolution of the legal and financial 
issues set out below.” 
 

Page 329



Page 8 of 9 

The payment of the rLW continues to be addressed during contract procurements.  
There is a Local Authority Toolkit produced by the Living Wage Foundation.  The 
Toolkit specifies that the move to paying a London Living Wage (LLW {rLW}) should 
be phased in over the life of the contract, not necessarily from day one. 
 

10. Severance payments and re-employment 
 
Severance payments 
 
The Council’s policy on pensions discretions payments applies to all employees 
including chief officers.  Please see appendix 3 to this Pay Policy Statement 2023-
24.   
 
Payments under this policy to a chief officer are also subject to authorisation by the 
Chief Officer Panel.  Government guidance is that full council takes decisions about 
remuneration packages of £100,000 per year or more (as well as severance 
packages of £100,000 or more). 
 
At times of reorganisation if a chief officer is redeployed to a lower graded post as 
suitable alternative employment to avoid a redundancy situation the Council’s 
arrangements in respect of pay protection for all staff apply.  The current 
arrangements are set out in the attached appendix “4” to this Pay Policy Statement.  
 
Chief officers previously employed by other public sector bodies 
 
All staff appointments, including chief officers, are made on merit. Pay and grading 
associated with each appointment is determined by the policies set out in this 
statement and is not varied to take account of salaries or other payments made 
under previous employments. 
 
With effect from 1st April 2014, where an individual already in receipt of a local 
government pension is re-employed by a Local Authority or associated body and has 
access to the local government pension scheme, on or after 1st April 2014 the 
council will no longer abate any pension benefits. 
 
Re-employment 
 
The Council has a policy that it will not re engage anyone made redundant within 6 
months of his or her termination date, either directly or through an agency or on a 
consultancy basis. 
 
Value for money. 
 
The Council’s policy in respect of remuneration for senior appointments is to ensure 
value for money. 
 
Conclusion 
 
The Council’s Pay Policy Statement must be approved by a meeting of the full 
Council.  Any variation to the content of this Pay Policy Statement for the duration of 

Page 330



Page 9 of 9 

the remainder of the financial year to which it currently applies will have to be 
submitted to a future meeting of the Council for approval.  The Statement will be 
published and shown on the Council’s website.  

Page 331



This page is intentionally left blank



Corporate salary rates from 1 April 2022

Grade

Spinal 

column 

points in use 

until 

31/03/2019

Spinal 

column 

points to be 

used after 

01/04/2019

Basic annual 

salary

London 

weighting 

(LW)

Ealing 

supplement 

(ES)

Salary 

including 

London 

weighting

Annual 

salary 

inclusive of 

ES & LW

Weekly 

salary

Inclusive 

hourly rate

Basic hourly 

rate

Overtime 

Rate 

*where 

highlighted 

use planned 

OT rates

1 7 1 21,363.00     2,094.00       282.00          23,457.00     23,739.00     455.27          13.0077        11.7058        11.7633        

1 8/9 2 21,534.00     2,094.00       282.00          23,628.00     23,910.00     458.55          13.1014        11.7995        11.8570        

1 10/11 3 21,918.00     2,094.00       282.00          24,012.00     24,294.00     465.91          13.3118        12.0099        12.0674        

2 10/11 3 21,918.00     2,094.00       282.00          24,012.00     24,294.00     465.91          13.3118        12.0099        12.0674        

2 12/13 4 22,314.00     2,094.00       282.00          24,408.00     24,690.00     473.51          13.5288        12.2268        12.2844        

3 14/15 5 22,710.00     2,094.00       282.00          24,804.00     25,086.00     481.10          13.7458        12.4438        12.5014        

3 16/17 6 23,118.00     2,094.00       282.00          25,212.00     25,494.00     488.93          13.9693        12.6674        12.7249        

4 18 7 23,535.00     2,094.00       -               25,629.00     25,629.00     491.52          14.0433        12.8959        12.9534        

4 19 8 23,952.00     2,094.00       -               26,046.00     26,046.00     499.51          14.2718        13.1244        13.1819        

4 20 9 24,378.00     2,094.00       -               26,472.00     26,472.00     507.68          14.5052        13.3578        13.4153        

4 21 10 24,819.00     2,094.00       -               26,913.00     26,913.00     516.14          14.7468        13.5995        13.6570        

11 THIS SPINAL POINT IS NOT USED

5 22 12 25,713.00     2,094.00       -               27,807.00     27,807.00     533.28          15.2367        14.0893        14.1468        

5 23 13 26,175.00     2,094.00       -               28,269.00     28,269.00     542.15          15.4899        14.3425        14.4000        

5 24 14 26,643.00     2,094.00       -               28,737.00     28,737.00     551.12          15.7463        14.5989        14.6564        

5 25 15 27,120.00     2,094.00       -               29,214.00     29,214.00     560.27          16.0077        14.8603        14.9178        

16 THIS SPINAL POINT IS NOT USED

17 THIS SPINAL POINT IS NOT USED

6 26 18 28,605.00     2,094.00       -               30,699.00     30,699.00     588.75          16.8214        15.6740        15.7315        

6 27 19 29,118.00     2,094.00       -               31,212.00     31,212.00     598.59          17.1025        15.9551        16.0126        

6 28 20 29,637.00     2,094.00       -               31,731.00     31,731.00     608.54          17.3868        16.2395        16.2970        

21 THIS SPINAL POINT IS NOT USED -               

22 THIS SPINAL POINT IS NOT USED -               

7 29 23 31,257.00     2,094.00       -               33,351.00     33,351.00     639.61          18.2745        17.1271        17.1847        

7 30 24 31,725.00     2,094.00       -               33,819.00     33,819.00     648.58          18.5310        17.3836        17.4411        

7 31 25 32,247.00     2,094.00       -               34,341.00     34,341.00     658.59          18.8170        17.6696        17.7271        

8 32 26 33,123.00     2,094.00       -               35,217.00     35,217.00     675.39          19.2970        18.1496        18.2071        

8 33 27 34,044.00     2,094.00       -               36,138.00     36,138.00     693.06          19.8016        18.6542        18.7118        

8 34 28 34,944.00     2,094.00       -               37,038.00     37,038.00     710.32          20.2948        19.1474        19.2049        

9 34 28 34,944.00     2,094.00       -               37,038.00     37,038.00     710.32          20.2948        19.1474        19.2049        

9 35 29 35,631.00     2,094.00       -               37,725.00     37,725.00     723.49          20.6712        19.5238        19.5814        

9 36 30 36,513.00     2,094.00       -               38,607.00     38,607.00     740.41          21.1545        20.0071        20.0647        

10 37 31 37,488.00     2,094.00       -               39,582.00     39,582.00     759.11          21.6888        20.5414        20.5989        

10 38 32 38,520.00     2,094.00       -               40,614.00     40,614.00     778.90          22.2542        21.1068        21.1644        

10 39 33 39,699.00     2,094.00       -               41,793.00     41,793.00     801.51          22.9003        21.7529        21.8104        

10 40 34 40,701.00     2,094.00       -               42,795.00     42,795.00     820.73          23.4493        22.3019        22.3595        

11 41 35 41,721.00     2,094.00       -               43,815.00     43,815.00     840.29          24.0082        22.8608        22.9184        

11 42 36 42,720.00     2,094.00       -               44,814.00     44,814.00     859.45          24.5556        23.4082        23.4658        

11 43 37 43,740.00     2,094.00       -               45,834.00     45,834.00     879.01          25.1145        23.9671        24.0247        

12 44 38 44,763.00     2,094.00       -               46,857.00     46,857.00     898.63          25.6751        24.5277        24.5852        

12 45 39 45,711.00     2,094.00       -               47,805.00     47,805.00     916.81          26.1945        25.0471        25.1047        

12 46 40 46,773.00     2,094.00       -               48,867.00     48,867.00     937.18          26.7764        25.6290        25.6866        

13 47 41 47,796.00     2,094.00       -               49,890.00     49,890.00     956.79          27.3370        26.1896        26.2471        

13 48 42 48,816.00     2,094.00       -               50,910.00     50,910.00     976.36          27.8959        26.7485        26.5600        

13 49 43 49,809.00     2,094.00       -               51,903.00     51,903.00     995.40          28.4400        27.2926        26.5600        

14 50 44 50,835.00     2,094.00       -               52,929.00     52,929.00     1,015.08       29.0022        27.8548        27.9123        

14 51 45 51,852.00     2,094.00       -               53,946.00     53,946.00     1,034.58       29.5595        28.4121        28.0800        

14 52 46 52,881.00     2,094.00       -               54,975.00     54,975.00     1,054.32       30.1233        28.9759        28.0800        

15 53 47 53,928.00     2,094.00       -               56,022.00     56,022.00     1,074.39       30.6970        29.5496        28.0800        

15 54 48 55,008.00     2,094.00       -               57,102.00     57,102.00     1,095.11       31.2888        30.1414        28.0800        

15 55 49 56,115.00     2,094.00       -               58,209.00     58,209.00     1,116.34       31.8953        30.7479        28.0800        

15 56 50 57,219.00     2,094.00       -               59,313.00     59,313.00     1,137.51       32.5003        31.3529        28.0800        

16 57 51 58,308.00     2,094.00       -               60,402.00     60,402.00     1,158.39       33.0970        31.9496        32.0071        

16 58 52 59,397.00     2,094.00       -               61,491.00     61,491.00     1,179.28       33.6937        32.5463        32.6038        

16 59 53 60,501.00     2,094.00       -               62,595.00     62,595.00     1,200.45       34.2986        33.1512        32.9200        

16 60 54 61,590.00     2,094.00       -               63,684.00     63,684.00     1,221.34       34.8953        33.7479        32.9200        

17 61 55 62,682.00     2,094.00       -               64,776.00     64,776.00     1,242.28       35.4937        34.3463        32.9200        

17 62 56 63,786.00     2,094.00       -               65,880.00     65,880.00     1,263.45       36.0986        34.9512        32.9200        

17 63 57 64,884.00     2,094.00       -               66,978.00     66,978.00     1,284.51       36.7003        35.5529        32.9200        

17 64 58 65,973.00     2,094.00       -               68,067.00     68,067.00     1,305.39       37.2970        36.1496        32.9200        

18 65 59 67,071.00     2,094.00       -               69,165.00     69,165.00     1,326.45       37.8986        36.7512        32.9200        

18 66 60 68,478.00     2,094.00       -               70,572.00     70,572.00     1,353.44       38.6696        37.5222        32.9200        

18 67 61 69,903.00     2,094.00       -               71,997.00     71,997.00     1,380.76       39.4504        38.3030        32.9200        

18 68 62 71,364.00     2,094.00       -               73,458.00     73,458.00     1,408.78       40.2510        39.1036        32.9200        

*Highlighted planned overtime rates indicate those that, as part of the April 13 Terms and Condition changes for cashable savings, are lower than the single time rate and so the lower planned overtime rate is used.

Page 333



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Appendix “3”  
 

Ealing Council 
Pay Policy Statement for the financial year 1st April 2023 to 31st March 2024 

 
Policy Statement 

Local Government Pension Scheme – Discretions Policy, Ealing Council 2015  
 
1. Introduction & Scope 
The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 (“the regulations”) quoted 
in sections 2 to 8 below require each local authority to formulate, publish and keep 
under review their policies on compensation. Where the regulations detailed in this 
policy statement cover current employees, this means applicable to all Ealing 
Council employees eligible for membership of the Local Government Pension 
Scheme (LGPS). Schools will be provided with a copy of this policy and can choose 
to adopt it or set their own policy. This policy will be effective from 1st November 
2015. 
 
2. Discretions from 1st April 2014 in relation to post 31st March 2014 active 
members (excluding councillor members) and post 31st March 2014 leavers 
(excluding councillor members), being discretions under:  
The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 [prefix R] 
The Local Government Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions, Savings and 
Amendment) Regulations 2014 [prefix TP] 
The Local Government Pension Scheme (Administration) Regulations 2008 [prefix 
A] 
The Local Government Pension Scheme (Benefits, Membership and Contributions) 
Regulations 2007 (as amended) [prefix B] 
The Local Government Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions) Regulations 2008 
[prefix T] 
The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 1997 (as amended) [prefix L] 
 

 Discretion Regulation Decision 
1. Whether to grant additional 

pension to an active member by 
up to £6500.00 (this figure will 
increase each year in line with 
pension increases) 

R31*  The council will not award 
additional pension apart from in 
exceptional circumstances*. 
The employer will be 
responsible for paying the full 
pension costs. 

2. Whether, how much and in what 
circumstances to contribute to a 
shared cost Additional Voluntary 
Contribution (AVC) scheme.  

R16(2)e* & 
R16(4)(d)*  

The council does not provide a 
shared cost AVC scheme. 

3. Whether all or some benefits 
can be paid if an employee 
reduces their hours or grade 
(flexible retirement)  
 

R30(6)* & 
TP11(2)  

Members who take a one grade 
reduction or reduce their working 
hours, by a minimum of 20%, of 
any employment may, with the 
Council’s consent, elect to receive 
their benefits if they are aged 55 
and above.  The decision whether 

Page 335



2 
 

 Discretion Regulation Decision 
to consent to flexible retirement is 
at the council’s sole discretion and 
will be related to factors such as 
costs and business service needs. 

4. Whether to waive, in whole or in 
part, actuarial reduction on 
benefits paid on flexible 
retirement 
 
Whether in addition to the 
benefits accrued prior to 
1/4/2008 (which the member 
must draw) to permit the 
member to choose to draw, 
i) All, part or none of the 

pension benefits they 
accrued after 31/03/2008 
and before 0 1/04/2014. 

ii) All, part or none of the 
pension benefits they 
accrued after 31/3/2014 
 

R30(8)*  The actuarial reduction will not be 
waived save in exceptional 
circumstances* and where a 
justifiable business case is in 
place. The decision whether to 
waive the actuarial reduction is at 
the council’s sole discretion and 
will be related to factors such as 
costs and business service needs.  
 
Discretion will be given to the 
member to draw some or all of their 
post 2008 benefit entitlement. 

5. Whether to waive, in whole or in 
part, actuarial reduction on 
benefits which a member 
voluntarily draws before normal 
pension age 

R30(8)*  Where agreement to immediate 
payment of the member’s benefits 
is approved, the council also has 
the discretion to waive the potential 
actuarial reduction. The actuarial 
reduction will not be waived save in 
exceptional circumstances* and 
where a justifiable business case is 
in place. The decision whether to 
waive the actuarial reduction is at 
the council’s sole discretion and 
will be related to factors such as 
costs and business service needs.  
 

6. Whether to require any strain on 
Fund costs to be paid “up front” 
by the employing authority, 
following payment of benefits 
under R30 (6) (flexible 
retirement), R30 (7) 
(redundancy / business 
efficiency).   
Or to waive (in whole or in part) 
under R30 (8) any actuarial 
reduction that would otherwise 
have been applied to benefits 
which a member voluntarily 
draws before normal pension 

R68(2)  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
TPSch 2, 
Para. 2(3) 

Departments have the choice of 
whether to have the full cost 
deducted from their budget in 
the current year or to spread the 
cost over the following five 
years. Please note there will be 
an additional charge determined 
by the pension fund actuaries if 
the cost is spread over more 
than one year. 
 
 
 
 

Page 336



3 
 

 Discretion Regulation Decision 
age, or to benefits drawn on 
flexible retirement. 
 
Whether to require any strain on 
Fund costs to be paid “up front” 
by employing authority following 
flexible retirement under R30 (6) 
or waiver of actuarial reduction 
under TPSch2, Para. 2 (1) or 
release of benefits before age 
60 under B30 of B30A   

 

7. Whether to “switch on” the 85 
year rule for a member 
voluntarily drawing benefits on 
or after age 55 and before age 
60. 

TPSch 2, 
Para. 1(2) 
and 2(2)*  

Save in  exceptional 
circumstances* and where a 
justifiable business case is in place 
the Council will not agree that 
paragraph 1(3) of TP Sch2 will 
apply to employees who are 55 or 
over, but under 60 at the time of 
making a request for benefits under 
regulation 30(5). The relevant 
department will fund any costs 
arising from switching on the 85 
year rule. 

8. Whether to waive any actuarial 
reduction on pre and/or post 
April 2014 benefits  (those 55 
years of age or over) 

TP3 (1), 
TPSch 2, 
Para. 2(1) 
and 2(2), 
B30(5) and  
B30A(5)*  

Waiving of actuarial reductions and 
the application of 85 year rule 
protections will be considered only 
where there is a clear financial or 
operational advantage in so doing. 
 
A request for early unreduced 
payment of benefits on 
compassionate grounds (i.e. 
waiving of percentage reduction in 
respect of early retirement on 
compassionate grounds) will 
normally be considered only where 
the former member is prevented 
from full-time working due to the 
need to provide long term care for 
a dependent. 

9. Whether, how much, and in 
what circumstances to 
contribute to shared cost AVC 
arrangement entered into on or 
after 1/4/2014. 
 
 
Whether, how much, and in 
what circumstances to 
contribute to shared cost AVC 
arrangement entered into before 

R17(1) & 
definition of 
SCAVC in 
RSch 1   
 
 
 
TP15(1)(d) 
& A25(3) 

The council does not provide a 
shared cost AVC scheme. 
 
 
 
 
 
The council does not provide a 
shared cost AVC scheme. 

Page 337



4 
 

 Discretion Regulation Decision 
1/4/2014. 
 

10. Extend normal time limits for 
acceptance of a transfer value 
beyond 12 months from joining 
the LGPS. 

 R100(6) Only where a service failure has 
occurred, will the council accept 
requests to transfer in previous 
service beyond one year of the 
members start date with the 
council. 

11. Whether to extend the 12 month 
option period for a member to 
elect that deferred benefits 
should not be aggregated with a 
new employment. 
 
Whether to extend the 12 month 
option period for a member to 
elect that deferred benefits 
should not be aggregated with 
an ongoing concurrent 
employment    
 

R22(8)(b) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
R22(7)(b) 

Only where a service failure has 
occurred, will the council accept 
elections beyond one year of the 
members start date with the 
council. 
 
 
Only where a service failure has 
occurred, will the council accept 
elections beyond one year of the 
members start date with the 
council. 
 

12. Determine the rate of 
employees’ contributions. 

R9(1) & 
R9(3) 

The council will review the 
contribution rate for all members 
on an annual basis, using the 
contractual earnings as at 1st 
April plus any additional 
payments as detailed in 
regulation 20 of the 2013 
regulations, whilst the employee 
remains in the same post. 
 
If an employee changes their 
post** within the year, the 
pension contribution rate will be 
determined using the new 
contractual earnings. 

13. Abatement  TP3(13) & 
A70(1)*  
& A71(4)(c)   

With effect from 1st April 2014, 
where an individual already in 
receipt of a local government 
pension is re-employed by a Local 
Authority or associated body and 
has access to the local government 
pension scheme, on or after 1st 
April 2014 the council will no longer 
abate any pension benefits. 

14. Certificate of Continuing 
Entitlement to Pension Benefits 

 The council will, in accordance 
with Section 151 of the Local 
Government Act 1972 send out 
annual certificates seeking 

Page 338



5 
 

 Discretion Regulation Decision 
confirmation of continued 
entitlement. Non receipt will 
result in suspension of benefits. 

15. Child in continuous education or 
vocational training    

RSch 1 & 
TP17(9) 

The council will not regard a 
period of less than 12 complete 
months as a break in the period 
of education or training. No 
benefits will be paid during the 
break in full time education or 
training. 

16. Death Grant   TP17(5) to 
(8) & 
R40(2), 
R43(2) &  
R46(2) 

The member’s nominated 
beneficiary shall, in all but 
exceptional cases, be the 
recipient of the death grant 

 
3. Discretions in relation to scheme members (excluding councillor members) 
who ceased active membership on or after 1st April 2008 and before 1st April 
2014, being discretions under: 
The Local Government Pension Scheme (Administration) Regulations 2008 [prefix 
A] 
The Local Government Pension Scheme (Benefits, Membership and Contributions)      
Regulations 2007 (as amended) [prefix B] 
The Local Government Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions) Regulations 2008 
[prefix T] 
The Local Government Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions and Savings) 
Regulations 2014 [prefix TP] 
The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 [prefix R] 
The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 1997 (as amended) [prefix L] 
 

 Discretion Regulation Decision 
17. Whether to grant 

application for early 
payment of deferred 
benefits on or after 
age 55 and before age 
60 

B30(2)* A request from a former member aged 
between 55 and 59 for the early payment 
of their deferred benefits other than on 
compassionate grounds or by the reason 
of permanent ill health, will only be 
accepted where there is no cost or other 
financial disadvantage to the council 
 
If discretion to release benefits is 
exercised, payment of the benefit will be 
effected from the date of the member’s 
application. 
 

18. Whether to waive, on 
compassionate 
grounds, the actuarial 
reduction applied to 

B30(5)*   Individual cases will be assessed on their 
own merits with the decision taken by the 
decision maker***. 

Page 339



6 
 

 Discretion Regulation Decision 
deferred benefits paid 
early under B30 

19. Whether to grant an 
application for early 
payment of a 
suspended tier 3 ill 
health pension on or 
after age 55 and 
before age 60 

B30A(3)*  The council will grant application for early 
payment of suspended tier 3 benefits  

20. Whether to waive, on 
compassionate 
grounds, the actuarial 
reduction applied to 
benefits paid early 
under B30A 
(suspended tier 3 ill 
health pension)  

B30A(5)*  Individual cases will be assessed on their 
own merits with the decision taken by the 
decision maker***. 

21. Whether, for a 
member leaving on 
the grounds of 
redundancy or 
business efficiency on 
or before 31st March 
2014, to augment 
membership (by up to 
10 years). The 
resolution to do so 
would have to be 
made within 6 months 
of the date of leaving. 
Hence this discretion 
is spent entirely after 
30th September 2014.   

B12*   Augmentation will not be considered by the 
council. 
 

 
4. Discretions under the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 1997 
(as amended) in relation to:  
a) Active councillor members,   
b) Councillor members who ceased active membership on or after 1st April 
1998,  
c) Any other scheme members who ceased active membership on or after 1st 
April 1998 and before 1st April 2008.   
 

 Discretion Regulation Decision 
22. Grant application from 

a post 31.03.98/pre 
01.04.08 leaver or 
from a councillor for 
early payment of 
benefits on or after 

31(2)*  A request from a former member aged 
between 55 and 59 for the early payment 
of their deferred benefits other than on 
compassionate grounds or by the reason 
of permanent ill health, will only be 
accepted where there is no cost or other 

Page 340



7 
 

 Discretion Regulation Decision 
age 50/55 and before 
age 60. 

financial disadvantage to the council. 
 
If discretion to release benefits is 
exercised, payment of the benefit will be 
effected from the date of the member’s 
application. 

23. Waive, on 
compassionate 
grounds, the actuarial 
reduction applied to 
benefits paid early for 
a post 31.03.98/pre 
01.04.08. leaver or a 
councillor leaver 

31(5)*  Individual cases will be assessed on their 
own merits with the decision taken by the 
decision maker***. 

 
5. Discretions under the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 1995 
(as amended), in relation to scheme members who ceased active membership 
before 1st April 1998.   
 

 Discretion Regulation Decision 
24. Grant application from 

a pre: 01.04.98 leaver 
for early payment of 
deferred benefits on or 
after age 50 on 
compassionate 
grounds. 

D11(2)(c) For members aged over 55, the employer 
had the discretion to allow early payment 
of benefits on compassionate grounds. In 
all cases, if the deferred member left prior 
to 1st April 1998 and the release of benefits 
is agreed, the benefits are paid on an 
“unreduced “basis.   
 
 

 
6. Discretions under the Local Government (Early Termination of Employment) 
(Discretionary Compensation) (England and Wales) Regulations 2006 (as 
amended) 
 

 Discretion Regulation Decision 
25. To base redundancy 

payments on actual 
weeks pay where this 
exceeds the statutory 
week’s pay limit.   

5 The council will calculate redundancy pay 
using the Government statutory 
entitlement table to assess the number of 
weeks of redundancy pay.  The payment 
will be then calculated using the actual 
weekly rate of pay for the individual as 
opposed to the statutory maximum weekly 
rate.  
 
For employees at or below spinal column 
point 17, a payment based on  
the rate at spinal column point 17 or the 
employee’s actual pay whichever is higher 
 

Page 341



8 
 

 Discretion Regulation Decision 
 

26. To award lump sum 
compensation of up to 
104 week’s pay in 
cases of redundancy, 
termination of 
employment on 
efficiency grounds, or 
cessation of a joint 
appointment.   

6 The maximum payment that can be 
awarded under the regulations is 104 
week’s pay. 
 
Any payment authorised includes (and is 
not in addition to) any entitlement to a 
redundancy payment. 
 
At its sole discretion, the council may 
decide that a payment is conditional upon 
the employee entering into a Settlement 
Agreement on the council’s standard 
terms. 

 
7. Discretions under the Local Government (Early Termination of Employment) 
(Discretionary Compensation) (England and Wales) Regulations 2000 (as 
amended)  
 

 Discretion Regulation Decision 
27. Whether and to what 

extent to reduce or 
suspend the member's 
annual compensatory 
added years payment 
during any period of 
re-employment in local 
government   
 
How to reduce the 
member's annual 
compensatory added 
years payment 
following the cessation 
of a period of re- 
employment in local 
government   

17 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
19 

In accordance with the Local Government 
(Early Termination of Employment) 
(Discretionary Compensation) (England 
and Wales) Regulations 2000 (as 
amended)  
 
 
 
 
 
In accordance with the Local Government 
(Early Termination of Employment) 
(Discretionary Compensation) (England 
and Wales) Regulations 2000 (as 
amended)  
 

28. How to apportion any 
surviving spouses or 
civil partner’s annual 
compensatory added 
years payment where 
the deceased person 
is survived by more 
than one spouse or 
civil partner 

21(4) An equal share of the payment will be 
made where there are multiple spouses or 
civil partners. 

29. Whether, in respect of 
the spouse of a 
person who ceased 

21(7) Payments will continue to be made. 

Page 342



9 
 

 Discretion Regulation Decision 
employment before 1st 
April 1998 and where 
the spouse or civil 
partner remarries, 
enters into a new civil 
partnership or 
cohabits after 1 April 
1998, the normal 
pension suspension 
rules should not be 
applied i.e. whether 
the spouse's or civil 
partner’s annual 
compensatory added 
years payments 
should continue to be 
paid 

 
8. Discretions under the Local Government (Discretionary Payments) 
(Injury Allowances) Regulations 2011  
 

 Discretion Regulation Decision 
30. Whether to grant an 

injury allowance 
following reduction in 
remuneration as a 
result of sustaining an 
injury or contracting a 
disease in the course 
of carrying out duties 
of the job. 
 
Whether to grant an 
injury allowance 
following cessation of 
employment as a 
result of permanent 
incapacity caused by 
sustaining an injury or 
contracting a disease 
in the course of 
carrying out duties of 
the job. 
 
Whether to grant an 
injury allowance to the 
spouse, civil partner, 
nominated co- habiting 
partner or dependent 

3(1) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4(1) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7(1) 

See the Council’s Injury Allowance Policy. 

Page 343



10 
 

 Discretion Regulation Decision 
of an employee who 
dies as a result of 
sustaining an injury or 
contracting a disease 
in the course of 
carrying out duties of 
the job. 

31. Amount of injury 
allowance following 
reduction in 
remuneration as a 
result of sustaining an 
injury or contracting a 
disease in the course 
of carrying out duties 
of the job. 
 
Amount of injury 
allowance following 
cessation of 
employment as a 
result of permanent 
incapacity caused by 
sustaining an injury or 
contracting a disease 
in the course of 
carrying out duties of 
the job. 
 
Determine amount of 
any injury allowance to 
be paid under 
regulation 7(1) 

3(4) and 8 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4(3) and 8 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7(2) and 8 

See the Council’s Injury Allowance Policy 

 
Glossary of Terms (for decisions section) 
* Exceptional Circumstances Discretions will only be granted with the prior 

approval of the decision maker and only where 
there is a clear financial or operational advantage 
to be gained by the Authority by doing so. 

** Change of Post Where a change in the duties, tasks or functions 
that were previously carried out under an existing 
employment contract, 
  

*** The Decision Maker Any decision to award a payment made under this 
policy will be authorised by: 
 

1. For the Head of Paid Service, Chief Officers 
and Deputy Chief Officers (as defined in the 
Local Government and Housing Act 1989), 

Page 344



11 
 

the Chief Officer Panel (to make decisions 
in accordance with its normal voting 
arrangements).  The power to make an 
award can only be exercised after 
consideration of a report prepared for this 
purpose by the Director of HR & OD and the 
Chief Finance Officer. 
 
In all cases for Chief Officers, the views of 
the Council’s appointed auditors will be 
sought in advance of any decision and their 
reply will be reported to the Chief Officer 
panel. 
 

2. For officers below Deputy Chief Officer level 
(as defined in the Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989), the Director of HR & OD 
in consultation with the Chief Finance 
Officer and the relevant service Director.  

 
Before reaching a decision, the decision maker 
must be satisfied that the employee has had a 
reasonable opportunity to supply written 
representations and relevant documents.  The 
decision maker must also consider any relevant 
contractual or statutory provisions.  Where 
consideration is given to exercise this power the 
decision maker will seek legal advice prior to 
entering into any commitment on behalf of the 
Council. 
 
For schools based staff the decision maker will be 
the School Governing Body. 
 

 

Page 345



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

Ealing Council. 
 

Pay Policy Statement for the financial year 1st April 2023 to 31st March 2024. 
 

Appendix “4” – Pay Protection.  
 

Pay protection  
 
If an employee is assimilated or redeployed to a new role (including medical  
redeployment) that is a lower grade than their most recent substantive grade, the  
Council will give pay protection for a period of two years as follows:  

 

a) Up to a maximum of two grades for the first year; and 
  
b) For the duration of the second year, pay protection will be reduced to pay  
protection of the salary difference between the new role and the next grade  
up. i.e. a one grade difference.  

 
After two years pay protection, the employee would revert to the appropriate grade  
and increment point of the new role. The tables below give examples of how this  
would work where the difference between the old and new grade is one grade, two  
grades and more than two grades.  
  

One grade 
difference 

Grade of 
Substantive role 

Grade of new 
redeployed role 

Grade paid to 
employee 

Year 1 10 9 10 

Year 2 N/A 9 10 

Year 3 onwards N/A 9 9 

 

Two grade 
difference 

Grade of 
Substantive role 

Grade of new 
redeployed role 

Grade paid to 
employee 

Year 1 10 8 10 

Year 2 N/A 8 9 

Year 3 onwards N/A 8 8 

 

 

Page 347



2 

 

 

 

More than two 
grade difference 

Grade of 
Substantive role 

Grade of new 
redeployed role 

Grade paid to 
employee 

Year 1 onwards 10 7 9 

Year 2 N/A 7 8 

Year 3 N/A 7 7 

 
If however, during the pay protection period, the employee voluntarily moves to a  
new post, that is at the same or a lower grade than the post to which they have been  
re-deployed, pay protection will cease.  

 

For the avoidance of doubt, temporary promotions, acting up arrangements,  
honoraria, secondments are not subject to any pay protection. Where an employee  
who is on a fixed term contract is entitled to pay protection as a result of this clause,  
then pay protection will not last beyond the date on which their fixed term contract  
would have come to an end. Pay protection will not apply where an employee has  
been demoted as a sanction arising from a disciplinary or appeals process. 
  
Where the possibility exists, the manager and the employee will share responsibility  
to attempt to develop the lower graded post by adding duties of a similar nature and  
level to the original grade and commensurate with the skills and abilities of the  
redeployed employee.  
 

 

 
 

 

Page 348



Appendix 5 
Pay Policy Statement for the financial year 1st April 2023 to 31st 

March 2024 
2023-24 Full Equalities Analysis Assessment 

 

 

 

EAA Title  Pay Policy Statement 2023-24 and real Living Wage (rLW) formerly the 
London Living Wage (LLW).  Appendix 5 – Equality Analysis Assessment 

Please describe 
your proposal? 

Policy 

Is it HR Related? Yes  

Corporate 
Purpose 

Full Council Decision  

 

1. What is the Policy looking to achieve? Who will be affected? 
 
The policy sets the Council’s Pay Policy for 2023-24 in the Pay Policy Statement 2023-24 and 5 
supporting appendices and approves a policy, for 2023-24, to pay the rLW rate or above to direct 
employees (whether permanent or fixed term) and to ensure agency workers are paid the rLW as set 
out in the Pay Policy Statement 2023-24. 

 

2. What will the impact of you proposal be? 
The impact is to apply the Pay Policy Statement 2023-24 and to pay the rLW rate or above to direct 
employees (whether permanent or fixed term) and to ensure agency workers are paid the rLW as set 
out in the Pay Policy Statement 2023-24.  The policy will apply to all existing & future employees and 
agency workers regardless of protected characteristics. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

1.  Proposal Summary Information 

Page 349



Appendix 5 
Pay Policy Statement for the financial year 1st April 2023 to 31st 

March 2024 
2023-24 Full Equalities Analysis Assessment 

 2.  Impact on Groups having a Protected Characteristic 
 

AGE: A person of a particular age or being within an age group. 
State whether the impact is positive, negative, a combination of both, or neutral: 

Describe the Impact 
Neutral.  The impact is to apply the Pay Policy Statement 2023-24 and to pay the rLW rate or above to 
direct employees (whether permanent or fixed term) and to ensure agency workers are paid the rLW 
as set out in the Pay Policy Statement 2023-24.  The policy will apply to all existing & future 
employees and agency workers regardless of protected characteristics. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Alternatives and mitigating actions which have been considered in order to reduce negative 
effect: 

Describe the Mitigating Action 
Not applicable. 
 
 
 

 

DISABILITY: A person has a disability if s/he has a physical or mental impairment which 
has a substantial and long term adverse effect on their ability to carry out normal day to day 
activities1. 
State whether the impact is positive, negative, a combination of both, or neutral: 

Describe the Impact 
Neutral.  The impact is to apply the Pay Policy Statement 2023-24 and to pay the rLW rate or above to 
direct employees (whether permanent or fixed term) and to ensure agency workers are paid the rLW 
as set out in the Pay Policy Statement 2023-24.  The policy will apply to all existing & future 
employees and agency workers regardless of protected characteristics. 
 
 
 
Alternatives and mitigating actions which have been considered in order to reduce negative 
effect: 

Describe the Mitigating Action 
Not applicable. 
 
 
 

 

 

 
1 Due regard to meeting the needs of people with disabilities involves taking steps to take account of their disabilities and may 
involve making reasonable adjustments and prioritizing certain groups of disabled people on the basis that they are particularly 
affected by the proposal. 

Page 350



Appendix 5 
Pay Policy Statement for the financial year 1st April 2023 to 31st 

March 2024 
2023-24 Full Equalities Analysis Assessment 

GENDER REASSIGNMENT: This is the process of transitioning from one sex to another. 
This includes persons who consider themselves to be trans, transgender and transsexual. 
State whether the impact is positive, negative, a combination of both, or neutral: 

Describe the Impact 
Neutral.  The impact is to apply the Pay Policy Statement 2023-24 and to pay the rLW rate or above to 
direct employees (whether permanent or fixed term) and to ensure agency workers are paid the rLW 
as set out in the Pay Policy Statement 2023-24.  The policy will apply to all existing & future 
employees and agency workers regardless of protected characteristics. 
 
 
 
 
Alternatives and mitigating actions which have been considered in order to reduce negative 
effect: 

Describe the Mitigating Action 
Not applicable.  
 

 

RACE: A group of people defined by their colour, nationality (including citizenship), ethnic or 
national origins or race. 
State whether the impact is positive, negative, a combination of both, or neutral: 

Describe the Impact 
Neutral.  The impact is to apply the Pay Policy Statement 2023-24 and to pay the rLW rate or above to 
direct employees (whether permanent or fixed term) and to ensure agency workers are paid the rLW 
as set out in the Pay Policy Statement 2023-24.  The policy will apply to all existing & future 
employees and agency workers regardless of protected characteristics. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Alternatives and mitigating actions which have been considered in order to reduce negative 
effect: 

Describe the Mitigating Action 
Not applicable.  
 
 
 

 

RELIGION & BELIEF: Religion means any religion. Belief includes religious and 
philosophical beliefs including lack of belief (for example, Atheism). Generally, a belief should 
affect a person’s life choices or the way you live for it to be included. 
State whether the impact is positive, negative, a combination of both, or neutral: 

Describe the Impact 
Neutral.  The impact is to apply the Pay Policy Statement 2023-24 and to pay the rLW rate or above to 
direct employees (whether permanent or fixed term) and to ensure agency workers are paid the rLW 
as set out in the Pay Policy Statement 2023-24.  The policy will apply to all existing & future 
employees and agency workers regardless of protected characteristics. 
 

Page 351



Appendix 5 
Pay Policy Statement for the financial year 1st April 2023 to 31st 

March 2024 
2023-24 Full Equalities Analysis Assessment 

 
Alternatives and mitigating actions which have been considered in order to reduce negative 
effect: 

Describe the Mitigating Action 
Not applicable.  
 
 

 

SEX: Someone being a man or a woman. 
State  whether the impact is positive, negative, a combination of both, or neutral: 

Describe the Impact 
Neutral.  The impact is to apply the Pay Policy Statement 2023-24 and to pay the rLW rate or above to 
direct employees (whether permanent or fixed term) and to ensure agency workers are paid the rLW 
as set out in the Pay Policy Statement 2023-24.  The policy will apply to all existing & future 
employees and agency workers regardless of protected characteristics. 
 
 
  
 
 
 
Alternatives and mitigating actions which have been considered in order to reduce negative 
effect: 

Describe the Mitigating Action 
Not applicable.  
 
 
 

 

SEXUAL ORIENTATION: A person’s sexual attraction towards his or her own sex, the 
opposite sex or to both sexes. 
State whether the impact is positive, negative, a combination of both, or neutral: 

Describe the Impact 
Neutral.  The impact is to apply the Pay Policy Statement 2023-24 and to pay the rLW rate or above to 
direct employees (whether permanent or fixed term) and to ensure agency workers are paid the rLW 
as set out in the Pay Policy Statement 2023-24.  The policy will apply to all existing & future 
employees and agency workers regardless of protected characteristics. 
 
  
Alternatives and mitigating actions which have been considered in order to reduce negative 
effect: 

Describe the Mitigating Action 
Not applicable.  
 
 

 

 

 

Page 352



Appendix 5 
Pay Policy Statement for the financial year 1st April 2023 to 31st 

March 2024 
2023-24 Full Equalities Analysis Assessment 

PREGNANCY & MATERNITY: Description: Pregnancy: Being pregnant. Maternity: The 
period after giving birth - linked to maternity leave in the employment context. In the non-work 
context, protection against maternity discrimination is for 26 weeks after giving birth, including 
as a result of breastfeeding. 
State whether the impact is positive, negative, a combination of both, or neutral: 

Describe the Impact 
Neutral.  The impact is to apply the Pay Policy Statement 2023-24 and to pay the rLW rate or above to 
direct employees (whether permanent or fixed term) and to ensure agency workers are paid the rLW 
as set out in the Pay Policy Statement 2023-24.  The policy will apply to all existing & future 
employees and agency workers regardless of protected characteristics. 
 
  
Alternatives and mitigating actions which have been considered in order to reduce negative 
effect: 

Describe the Mitigating Action 
Not applicable.  
 
 
 

 

MARRIAGE & CIVIL PARTNERSHIP: Marriage: A union between a man and a woman. 
or of the same sex, which is legally recognised in the UK as a marriage 
Civil partnership: Civil partners must be treated the same as married couples on a range of 
legal matters. 
State whether the impact is positive, negative, a combination of both, or neutral: 

Describe the Impact 
Neutral.  The impact is to apply the Pay Policy Statement 2023-24 and to pay the rLW rate or above to 
direct employees (whether permanent or fixed term) and to ensure agency workers are paid the rLW 
as set out in the Pay Policy Statement 2023-24.  The policy will apply to all existing & future 
employees and agency workers regardless of protected characteristics. 
 
  
Alternatives and mitigating actions which have been considered in order to reduce negative 
effect: 

Describe the Mitigating Action 
Not applicable.  
 
 
 

 

3. Human Rights2 
4a. Does your proposal impact on Human Rights as defined by the Human Rights Act 1998? 
 
 No   
4b. Does your proposal impact on the rights of children as defined by the UN Convention on 
the Rights of the Child? 
 

 
2 For further guidance please refer to the Human Rights & URNC Guidance on the Council Equalities web page. 

Page 353

http://inside.ealing.gov.uk/downloads/download/89/equalities_templates


Appendix 5 
Pay Policy Statement for the financial year 1st April 2023 to 31st 

March 2024 
2023-24 Full Equalities Analysis Assessment 

No   
4c. Does your proposal impact on the rights of persons with disabilities as defined by the UN 
Convention on the rights of persons with disabilities? 
 
No   
Not Applicable.  
 

 

4. Conclusion 
The impact is to apply the Pay Policy Statement 2023-24 and to pay the rLW rate or above to direct 
employees (whether permanent or fixed term) and to ensure agency workers are paid the rLW as set 
out in the Pay Policy Statement 2023-24 is neutral.  The policy will apply to all existing & future 
employees and agency workers regardless of protected characteristics. 
 
 
4a. What evidence, data sources and intelligence did you use to assess the potential 
impact/effect of your proposal? Please note the systems/processes you used to collect the 
data that has helped inform your proposal. Please list the file paths and/or relevant web links to 
the information you have described. 
Please see the report “Pay Policy Statement” and supporting appendices to Full Council on Tuesday 
8th March 2023 and the section Background Information.  
 
 
 
 

 

5. Action Planning: (What are the next steps for the proposal please list i.e. what it comes 
into effect, when migrating actions3 will take place, how you will measure impact etc.) 

Action  Outcomes Success  
Measures 

Timescales/ 
Milestones 

Lead Officer 
(Contact Details) 

Implement the 
Pay Policy 
Statement for 
2023-24 

Provisions of the 
Pay Policy 
Statement 2023-
24 implemented 
including 
payment of the 
rLW rate or 
above to direct 
employees 
(whether 
permanent or 
fixed term) and to 
ensure agency 
workers are paid 
as set out in the 
Pay Policy 
Statement 2023-

See outcomes 
section 

1st April 2023 to 
31st March 2024 

Andrew Scully, HR 
Business Partner and 
Head of HR 
Operational Services, 
ScullyA@ealing.gov.uk 
and 020-8825-6930 

 
3 Linked to the protected characteristics above  

Page 354

mailto:ScullyA@ealing.gov.uk


Appendix 5 
Pay Policy Statement for the financial year 1st April 2023 to 31st 

March 2024 
2023-24 Full Equalities Analysis Assessment 

24 
Additional Comments: The Pay Policy Statement has to be reviewed annually.  The next review 
will be in November 2023 and a report on the Pay Policy Statement 2024-25 will be submitted to 
Full Council in February/March 2024. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

6. Sign off: (All EAA’s must be signed off once completed) 

 

Completing Officer Sign Off: Service Director Sign Off: HR related proposal (Signed off by 
directorate HR officer) 

Signed: 
 

 
 
 
 
Name (Block Capitals): 
ANDREW SCULLY, HR 
BUSINESS PARTNER 
 
 
Date:     12th January 2023 
 
 
 

Signed: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Name (Block Capitals): 
SUE EVANS, Interim 
DIRECTOR of HR & OD 
 
Date:     2023 
 

Signed: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Name (Block Capitals): 
SUE EVANS, Interim DIRECTOR 
of HR & OD 
 
 
Date:     2023 
 

For EA’s relating to Cabinet decisions: received by Committee Section for publication by (date): 
 

Page 355



Appendix 5 
Pay Policy Statement for the financial year 1st April 2023 to 31st 

March 2024 
2023-24 Full Equalities Analysis Assessment 

Appendix 1: Legal obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010:  
 
 
• As a public authority we must have due regard to the need to: 

a) Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited by 
or under this Act; 

b) Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 
and persons who do not share it; 

c) Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and 
persons who do not share it. 

• The protected characteristics are: AGE, DISABILITY, GENDER REASSIGNMENT, RACE, 
RELIGION & BELIEF, SEX, SEXUAL ORIENTATION, PREGNANCY & MATERNITY, MARRIAGE 
& CIVIL PARTNERSHIP 

• Having due regard to advancing equality of opportunity between those who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not, involves considering the need to: 
a) Remove or minimising disadvantages suffered by persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic that are connected to that characteristic 
b) Take steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant characteristic that are different 

from the needs of the persons who do not share it. 
c) Encourage persons who share a relevant protected characteristic to participate in public life or 

in any other activity in which participation by such persons is disproportionately low. 
• Having due regard to fostering good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic and persons who do not, involves showing that you are tackling prejudice and 
promoting understanding. 

Complying with the duties may involve treating some people more favourably than others; but this 
should not be taken as permitting conduct that would be otherwise prohibited under the Act. 
 
 

 

 

Page 356


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Meeting held on 13 December 2022
	8 Questions from Members of the Council
	9 2023-24 Budget Strategy and Council Tax Resolution
	1.	Recommendations
	2.	Reason for Decision and Options Considered
	3.	Updates Since Cabinet Publication
	4.	Legal
	5.	Value for Money
	6.	Sustainability Impact Assessment
	7.	Risk Management
	8.	Community Safety
	9.	Links to Three Key Priorities for the Borough
	10.	Equalities, Human Rights and Community Cohesion
	11.	Staffing / Workforce and Accommodation Implications
	12.	Property and Assets
	13.	Consultation
	14.	Timetable for Implementation
	15.	Appendices
	16.	Background Information
	Appendix 0 - 2023-24 Budget Strategy
	1.	Recommendations
	2.	Reason for Decision and Options Considered
	3.	Approach to Budget Setting
	4.	Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS)
	5.	2023/24 General Fund Revenue Budget
	6.	Schools Budget
	7.	Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Budget
	8.	Capital Budget
	9.	Treasury Management
	10.	Statutory Declarations on Robustness of Budget Estimates and Adequacy of Reserves
	11.	Legal
	12.	Value for Money
	13.	Sustainability Impact Appraisal
	14.	Risk Management
	15.	Community Safety
	16.	Links to Three Key Priorities for the Borough
	17.	Equalities, Human Rights and Community Cohesion
	18.	Staffing / Workforce and Accommodation Implications
	19.	Property and Assets
	20.	Consultation
	21.	Timetable for Implementation
	22.	Appendices
	23.	Background Information

	Appendix 1 - Draft 2023-24 Revenue Budget
	Appendix 2 - New Savings 2023-2027
	Appendix 3 - 2023-24 Fees and Charges Schedule
	Appendix 4  - Ealing CTR 2023 scheme
	Appendix 5 - 2023-24 Parking Proposed Budget
	Appendix 6 - Capital Additions and Decommissioning
	Appendix 7 - 2023-24 5 Year Capital Prog (Cabinet)
	Appendix 8 - 2023-24 Capital Strategy
	Appendix 9 - 2023-24 Treasury Management Strategy
	Appendix 10 - Reserves Forecast
	Appendix 11 - EAA CTAX  2023-24

	10 2023-24 Members Allowances Scheme
	6.	Value for Money
	7.	Sustainability Impact Appraisal
	8.	Risk Management
	9.	Community Safety
	10.	Links to the 3 Key Priorities for the Borough
	11.	Equalities, Human Rights and Community Cohesion
	12.	Staffing/Workforce and Accommodation implications:
	13.	Property and Assets
	14.	Consultation
	15.	Timetable for Implementation
	16.	Appendices
	17.	Background Information
	Report History

	Appendix 1 - Members Allowances Scheme 23-24
	Appendix 2 - Remuneration of Councillors in 2022

	11 2023-24 Pay Policy Statement
	5.	Legal
	7. 	Sustainability Impact Appraisal
	7.1. 	No issues.
	8.	Risk Management
	9.	Community Safety
	10.1.	The council’s administration has three key priorities for Ealing.  They are:
	15.	Consultation

	16.	Timetable for Implementation
	Report History

	Appendix 1 - Pay Policy Statement
	1.	Organisational context and principles for pay policy
	2.	Key elements of the Council’s pay policy
	3.	Pay Policy Statement

	4.	Definition of “chief officer”
	5.	Determining grades and pay levels
	5.2 London Weighting Allowance.
	Reason for Decisions

	Chief officers previously employed by other public sector bodies
	Re-employment


	Appendix 2 - Corporate Salary Rates
	Appendix 3 - Local Government Pension Scheme – Discretions Policy
	Appendix 4 - Pay Protection
	Pay protection
	If an employee is assimilated or redeployed to a new role (including medical
	redeployment) that is a lower grade than their most recent substantive grade, the
	Council will give pay protection for a period of two years as follows:
	a) Up to a maximum of two grades for the first year; and
	b) For the duration of the second year, pay protection will be reduced to pay
	protection of the salary difference between the new role and the next grade
	up. i.e. a one grade difference.
	After two years pay protection, the employee would revert to the appropriate grade
	and increment point of the new role. The tables below give examples of how this
	would work where the difference between the old and new grade is one grade, two
	grades and more than two grades.
	If however, during the pay protection period, the employee voluntarily moves to a
	new post, that is at the same or a lower grade than the post to which they have been
	re-deployed, pay protection will cease.
	For the avoidance of doubt, temporary promotions, acting up arrangements,
	honoraria, secondments are not subject to any pay protection. Where an employee
	who is on a fixed term contract is entitled to pay protection as a result of this clause,
	then pay protection will not last beyond the date on which their fixed term contract
	would have come to an end. Pay protection will not apply where an employee has
	been demoted as a sanction arising from a disciplinary or appeals process.
	Where the possibility exists, the manager and the employee will share responsibility
	to attempt to develop the lower graded post by adding duties of a similar nature and
	level to the original grade and commensurate with the skills and abilities of the
	redeployed employee.

	Appendix 5 - EAA


